Invitation to higher local fields

Conference in Münster, August–September 1999

Editors: I. Fesenko and M. Kurihara

Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Pages iii–xi: Introduction and contents

Introduction

This volume is a result of the conference on higher local fields in Münster, August 29–September 5, 1999, which was supported by SFB 478 "Geometrische Strukturen in der Mathematik". The conference was organized by I. Fesenko and F. Lorenz. We gratefully acknowledge great hospitality and tremendous efforts of Falko Lorenz which made the conference vibrant.

Class field theory as developed in the first half of this century is a fruitful generalization and extension of Gauss reciprocity law; it describes abelian extensions of number fields in terms of objects associated to these fields. Since its construction, one of the important themes of number theory was its generalizations to other classes of fields or to non-abelian extensions.

In modern number theory one encounters very naturally schemes of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . A very interesting direction of generalization of class field theory is to develop a theory for higher dimensional fields — finitely generated fields over their prime subfields (or schemes of finite type over \mathbb{Z} in the geometric language). Work in this subject, higher (dimensional) class field theory, was initiated by A.N. Parshin and K. Kato independently about twenty five years ago. For an introduction into several global aspects of the theory see W. Raskind's review on abelian class field theory of arithmetic schemes.

One of the first ideas in higher class field theory is to work with the Milnor K-groups instead of the multiplicative group in the classical theory. It is one of the principles of class field theory for number fields to construct the reciprocity map by some blending of class field theories for local fields. Somewhat similarly, higher dimensional class field theory is obtained as a blending of higher dimensional *local* class field theories, which treat abelian extensions of *higher local fields*. In this way, the higher local fields were introduced in mathematics.

A precise definition of higher local fields will be given in section 1 of Part I; here we give an example. A complete discrete valuation field K whose residue field is isomorphic to a usual local field with finite residue field is called a two-dimensional local field. For example, fields $\mathbb{F}_p((T))((S))$, $\mathbb{Q}_p((S))$ and

$$\mathbb{Q}_p\{\!\{T\}\!\} = \left\{ \sum_{-\infty}^{+\infty} a_i T^i : a_i \in \mathbb{Q}_p, \inf v_p(a_i) > -\infty, \lim_{i \to -\infty} v_p(a_i) = +\infty \right\}$$

Published 10 December 2000: (c) Geometry & Topology Publications

(v_p is the p-adic valuation map) are two-dimensional local fields. Whereas the first two fields above can be viewed as generalizations of functional local fields, the latter field comes in sight as an arithmetical generalization of \mathbb{Q}_p .

In the classical local case, where K is a complete discrete valuation field with finite residue field, the Galois group $\operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{ab}}/K)$ of the maximal abelian extension of K is approximated by the multiplicative group K^* ; and the reciprocity map

$$K^* \longrightarrow \operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{ab}}/K)$$

is close to an isomorphism (it induces an isomorphism between the group $K^*/N_{L/K}L^*$ and $\operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$ for a finite abelian extension L/K, and it is injective with everywhere dense image). For two-dimensional local fields K as above, instead of the multiplicative group K^* , the Milnor K-group $K_2(K)$ (cf. Some Conventions and section 2 of Part I) plays an important role. For these fields there is a reciprocity map

$$K_2(K) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{ab}}/K)$$

which is approximately an isomorphism (it induces an isomorphism between the group $K_2(K)/N_{L/K}K_2(L)$ and Gal(L/K) for a finite abelian extension L/K, and it has everywhere dense image; but it is not injective: the quotient of $K_2(K)$ by the kernel of the reciprocity map can be described in terms of topological generators, see section 6 Part I).

Similar statements hold in the general case of an n-dimensional local field where one works with the Milnor K_n -groups and their quotients (sections 5,10,11 of Part I); and even class field theory of more general classes of complete discrete valuation fields can be reasonably developed (sections 13,16 of Part I).

Since $K_1(K) = K^*$, higher local class field theory contains the classical local class field theory as its one-dimensional version.

The aim of this book is to provide an introduction to higher local fields and render the main ideas of this theory. The book grew as an extended version of talks given at the conference in Münster. Its expository style aims to introduce the reader into the subject and explain main ideas, methods and constructions (sometimes omitting details). The contributors applied essential efforts to explain the most important features of their subjects.

Hilbert's words in Zahlbericht that precious treasures are hidden in the theory of abelian extensions are still up-to-date. We hope that this volume, as the first collection of main strands of higher local field theory, will be useful as an introduction and guide on the subject.

The first part presents the theory of higher local fields, very often in the more general setting of complete discrete valuation fields.

Section 1, written by I. Zhukov, introduces higher local fields and topologies on their additive and multiplicative groups. Subsection 1.1 contains all basic definitions and is referred to in many other sections of the volume. The topologies are defined in such a

way that the topology of the residue field is taken into account; the price one pays is that multiplication is not continuous in general, however it is sequentially continuous which allows one to expand elements into convergent power series or products.

Section 2, written by O. Izhboldin, is a short review of the Milnor K-groups and Galois cohomology groups. It discusses p-torsion and cotorsion of the groups $K_n(F)$ and $K_n^t(F) = K_n(F)/\cap_{l\geqslant 1} lK_n(F)$, an analogue of Satz 90 for the groups $K_n(F)$ and $K_n^t(F)$, and computation of $H_m^{n+1}(F)$ where F is either the rational function field in one variable F = k(t) or the formal power series F = k((t)).

Appendix to Section 2, written by M. Kurihara and I. Fesenko, contains some basic definitions and properties of differential forms and Kato's cohomology groups in characteristic p and a sketch of the proof of Bloch–Kato–Gabber's theorem which describes the differential symbol from the Milnor K-group $K_n(F)/p$ of a field F of positive characteristic p to the differential module Ω_F^n .

Section 4, written by J. Nakamura, presents main steps of the proof of Bloch–Kato's theorem which states that the norm residue homomorphism

$$K_q(K)/m \to H^q(K, \mathbb{Z}/m(q))$$

is an isomorphism for a henselian discrete valuation field K of characteristic 0 with residue field of positive characteristic. This theorem and its proof allows one to simplify Kato's original approach to higher local class field theory.

Section 5, written by M. Kurihara, is a presentation of main ingredients of Kato's higher local class field theory.

Section 6, written by I. Fesenko, is concerned with certain topologies on the Milnor K-groups of higher local fields K which are related to the topology on the multiplicative group; their properties are discussed and the structure of the quotient of the Milnor K-groups modulo the intersection of all neighbourhoods of zero is described. The latter quotient is called a topological Milnor K-group; it was first introduced by Parshin.

Section 7, written by I. Fesenko, describes Parshin's higher local class field theory in characteristic p, which is relatively easy in comparison with the cohomological approach.

Section 8, written by S. Vostokov, is a review of known approaches to explicit formulas for the (wild) Hilbert symbol not only in the one-dimensional case but in the higher dimensional case as well. One of them, Vostokov's explicit formula, is of importance for the study of topological Milnor K-groups in section 6 and the existence theorem in section 10.

Section 9, written by M. Kurihara, introduces his exponential homomorphism for a complete discrete valuation field of characteristic zero, which relates differential forms and the Milnor K-groups of the field, thus helping one to get an additional information on the structure of the latter. An application to explicit formulas is discussed in subsection 9.2.

Section 10, written by I. Fesenko, presents his explicit method to construct higher local class field theory by using topological K-groups and a generalization of Neukirch—

Hazewinkel's axiomatic approaches to class field theory. Subsection 10.2 presents another simple approach to class field theory in the characteristic p case. The case of characteristic 0 is sketched using a concept of Artin–Schreir trees of extensions (as those extensions in characteristic 0 which are twinkles of the characteristic p world). The existence theorem is discussed in subsection 10.5, being built upon the results of sections 6 and 8.

Section 11, written by M. Spieß, provides a glimpse of Koya's and his approach to the higher local reciprocity map as a generalization of the classical class formations approach to the level of complexes of Galois modules.

Section 12, written by M. Kurihara, sketches his classification of complete discrete valuation fields K of characteristic 0 with residue field of characteristic p into two classes depending on the behaviour of the torsion part of a differential module. For each of these classes, subsection 12.1 characterizes the quotient filtration of the Milnor K-groups of K, for all sufficiently large members of the filtration, as a quotient of differential modules. For a higher local field the previous result and higher local class field theory imply certain restrictions on types of cyclic extensions of the field of sufficiently large degree. This is described in 12.2.

Section 13, written by M. Kurihara, describes his theory of cyclic p-extensions of an absolutely unramified complete discrete valuation field K with *arbitrary* residue field of characteristic p. In this theory a homomorphism is constructed from the p-part of the group of characters of K to Witt vectors over its residue field. This homomorphism satisfies some important properties listed in the section.

Section 14, written by I. Zhukov, presents some explicit methods of constructing abelian extensions of complete discrete valuation fields. His approach to explicit equations of a cyclic extension of degree p^n which contains a given cyclic extension of degree p is explained.

Section 15, written by J. Nakamura, contains a list of all known results on the quotient filtration on the Milnor K-groups (in terms of differential forms of the residue field) of a complete discrete valuation field. It discusses his recent study of the case of a tamely ramified field of characteristic 0 with residue field of characteristic p by using the exponential map of section 9 and a syntomic complex.

Section 16, written by I. Fesenko, is devoted to his generalization of one-dimensional class field theory to a description of abelian totally ramified p-extensions of a complete discrete valuation field with arbitrary non separably-p-closed residue field. In particular, subsection 16.3 shows that two such extensions coincide if and only if their norm groups coincide. An illustration to the theory of section 13 is given in subsection 16.4.

Section 17, written by I. Zhukov, is a review of his recent approach to ramification theory of a complete discrete valuation field with residue field whose p-basis consists of at most one element. One of important ingredients of the theory is Epp's theorem on elimination of wild ramification (subsection 17.1). New lower and upper filtrations are defined (so that cyclic extensions of degree p may have non-integer ramification breaks, see examples in subsection 17.2). One of the advantages of this theory is its compatibility

with the reciprocity map. A refinement of the filtration for two-dimensional local fields which is compatible with the reciprocity map is discussed.

Section 18, written by L. Spriano, presents ramification theory of monogenic extensions of complete discrete valuation fields; his recent study demonstrates that in this case there is a satisfactory theory if one systematically uses a generalization of the function i and not s (see subsection 18.0 for definitions). Relations to Kato's conductor are discussed in 18.2 and 18.3.

These sections 17 and 18 can be viewed as the rudiments of higher ramification theory; there are several other approaches. Still, there is no satisfactory general ramification theory for complete discrete valuation fields in the imperfect residue field case; to construct such a theory is a challenging problem.

Without attempting to list all links between the sections we just mention several paths (2 means Section 2 and Appendix to Section 2)

```
1 \rightarrow 6 \rightarrow 7
                               (leading to Parshin's approach in positive characteristic),
2 \rightarrow 4 \rightarrow 5 \rightarrow 11
                               (leading to Kato's cohomological description
                               of the reciprocity map and generalized class formations),
8.3 \rightarrow 6 \rightarrow 10
                               (explicit construction of the reciprocity map),
5 \rightarrow 12 \rightarrow 13 \rightarrow 15.
                               (structure of the Milnor K-groups of the fields
1 \to 10 \to 14, 16
                               and more explicit study of abelian extensions),
8.9
                               (explicit formulas for the Hilbert norm symbol
                               and its generalizations),
1 \to 10 \to 17, 18
                               (aspects of higher ramification theory).
```

A special place in this volume (between Part I and Part II) is occupied by the work of K. Kato on the existence theorem in higher local class field theory which was produced in 1980 as an IHES preprint and has never been published. We are grateful to K. Kato for his permission to include this work in the volume. In it, viewing higher local fields as ring objects in the category of iterated pro-ind-objects, a definition of open subgroups in the Milnor K-groups of the fields is given. The self-duality of the additive group of a higher local field is proved. By studying norm groups of cohomological objects and using cohomological approach to higher local class field theory the existence theorem is proved. An alternative approach to the description of norm subgroups of Galois extensions of higher local fields and the existence theorem is contained in sections 6 and 10.

The second part is concerned with various applications and connections of higher local fields with several other areas.

Section 1, written by A.N. Parshin, describes some first steps in extending Tate–Iwasawa's analytic method to define an L-function in higher dimensions; historically

the latter problem was one of the stimuli of the work on higher class field theory. For generalizing this method the author advocates the usefulness of the classical Riemann–Hecke approach (subsection 1.1), his adelic complexes (subsection 1.2.2) together with his generalization of Krichever's correspondence (subsection 1.2.1). He analyzes dimension 1 types of functions in subsection 1.3 and discusses properties of the lattice of commensurable classes of subspaces in the adelic space associated to a divisor on an algebraic surface in subsection 1.4.

Section 2, written by D. Osipov, is a review of his recent work on adelic constructions of direct images of differentials and symbols in the two-dimensional case in the relative situation. In particular, reciprocity laws for relative residues of differentials and symbols are introduced and applied to a construction of the Gysin map for Chow groups.

Section 3, written by A.N. Parshin, presents his theory of Bruhat–Tits buildings over higher dimensional local fields. The theory is illustrated with the buildings for PGL(2) and PGL(3) for one- and two-dimensional local fields.

Section 4, written by E.-U. Gekeler, provides a survey of relations between Drinfeld modules and higher dimensional fields of positive characteristic. The main new result stated is the expression of vanishing orders of certain modular forms through partial zeta values.

Section 5, written by M. Kapranov, sketches his recent approach to elements of harmonic analysis on algebraic groups over functional two-dimensional local fields. For a two-dimensional local field subsection 5.4 introduces a Hecke algebra which is formed by operators which integrate pro-locally-constant complex functions over a non-compact domain.

Section 6, written by L. Herr, is a survey of his recent study of applications of Fontaine's theory of p-adic representations of local fields ($\Phi - \Gamma$ -modules) to Galois cohomology of local fields and explicit formulas for the Hilbert symbol (subsections 6.4–6.6). The two Greek letters lead to two-dimensional local objects (like $\mathfrak{O}_{\mathcal{E}(K)}$ introduced in subsection 6.3).

Section 7, written by I. Efrat, introduces recent advances in the zero-dimensional anabelian geometry, that is a characterization of fields by means of their absolute Galois group (for finitely generated fields and for higher local fields). His method of construction of henselian valuations on fields which satisfy some K-theoretical properties is presented in subsection 10.3, and applications to an algebraic proof of the local correspondence part of Pop's theorem and to higher local fields are given.

Section 8, written by A. Zheglov, presents his study of two dimensional local skew fields which was initiated by A.N. Parshin. If the skew field has one-dimensional residue field which is in its centre, then one is naturally led to the study of automorphisms of the residue field which are associated to a local parameter of the skew field. Results on such automorphisms are described in subsections 8.2 and 8.3.

Section 9, written by I. Fesenko, is an exposition of his recent work on noncommutative local reciprocity maps for totally ramified Galois extensions with arithmetically

profinite group (for instance *p*-adic Lie extensions). These maps in general are not homomorphisms but Galois cycles; a description of their image and kernel is included. Section 10, written by B. Erez, is a concise survey of Galois module theory links with class field theory; it lists several open problems.

The theory of higher local fields has several interesting aspects and applications which are not contained in this volume. One of them is the work of Kato on applications of an explicit formula for the reciprocity map in higher local fields to calculations of special values of the L-function of a modular form. There is some interest in two-dimensional local fields (especially of the functional type) in certain parts of mathematical physics, infinite group theory and topology where formal power series objects play a central role.

Prerequisites for most sections in the first part of the book are small: local fields and local class field theory, for instance, as presented in Serre's "Local Fields", Iwasawa's "Local Class Field Theory" or Fesenko–Vostokov's "Local Fields and Their Extensions" (the first source contains a cohomological approach whereas the last two are cohomology free) and some basic knowledge of Milnor K-theory of discrete valuation fields (for instance Chapter IX of the latter book). See also Some Conventions and Appendix to Section 2 of Part I where we explain several notions useful for reading Part I.

We thank P. Schneider for his support of the conference and work on this volume. The volume is typed using a modified version of osudeG style (written by Walter Neumann and Larry Siebenmann and available from the public domain of Department of Mathematics of Ohio State University, pub/osutex); thanks are due to Larry for his advice on aspects of this style and to both Walter and Larry for permission to use it.

Ivan Fesenko Masato Kurihara

September 2000

Contents

Some Conventions	1
Part I	3
1. Higher dimensional local fields (I. Zhukov)	5
2. p -primary part of the Milnor K -groups and Galois cohomology of fields of	
characteristic p (O. Izhboldin)	. 19
A. Appendix to Section 2 (M. Kurihara and I. Fesenko)	
4. Cohomological symbol for henselian discrete valuation fields of	
mixed characteristic (J. Nakamura)	. 43
5. Kato's higher local class field theory (M. Kurihara)	. 53
6. Topological Milnor K -groups of higher local fields (I. Fesenko)	
7. Parshin's higher local class field theory in characteristic p (I. Fesenko)	. 75
8. Explicit formulas for the Hilbert symbol (S. V. Vostokov)	. 81
9. Exponential maps and explicit formulas (M. Kurihara)	. 91
10. Explicit higher local class field theory (I. Fesenko)	
11. Generalized class formations and higher class field theory (M. Spieß)	
12. Two types of complete discrete valuation fields (M. Kurihara)	109
13. Abelian extensions of absolutely unramified complete discrete	
valuation fields (M. Kurihara)	
14. Explicit abelian extensions of complete discrete valuation fields (I. Zhukov)	117
15. On the structure of the Milnor K -groups of complete discrete valuation	
fields (J. Nakamura)	
16. Higher class field theory without using K -groups (I. Fesenko)	
17. An approach to higher ramification theory (I. Zhukov)	
18. On ramification theory of monogenic extensions (L. Spriano)	
Existence theorem for higher local class field theory (K. Kato)	165
Part II	197
1. Higher dimensional local fields and L-functions (A. N. Parshin)	199
2. Adelic constructions for direct images of differentials and symbols (D. Osipov)	
3. The Bruhat–Tits buildings over higher dimensional local fields (A. N. Parshin)	
4. Drinfeld modules and local fields of positive characteristic (EU. Gekeler)	239
5. Harmonic analysis on algebraic groups over two-dimensional local fields of	
equal characteristic (M. Kapranov)	255
6. Φ-Γ-modules and Galois cohomology (L. Herr)	263
7. Recovering higher global and local fields from Galois groups —	
an algebraic approach (I. Efrat)	
8. Higher local skew fields (A. Zheglov)	
9. Local reciprocity cycles (I. Fesenko)	
10. Galois modules and class field theory (B. Erez)	299

Some Conventions

The notation $X \subset Y$ means that X is a subset of Y.

For an abelian group A written additively denote by A/m the quotient group A/mA where $mA = \{ma : a \in A\}$ and by $_mA$ the subgroup of elements of order dividing m. The subgroup of torsion elements of A is denoted by Tors A.

For an algebraic closure F^{alg} of F denote the separable closure of the field F by F^{sep} ; let $G_F = \text{Gal}(F^{\text{sep}}/F)$ be the absolute Galois group of F. Often for a G_F -module M we write $H^i(F,M)$ instead of $H^i(G_F,M)$.

For a positive integer l which is prime to characteristic of F (if the latter is non-zero) denote by $\mu_l = \langle \zeta_l \rangle$ the group of l th roots of unity in F^{sep} .

If l is prime to $\operatorname{char}(F)$, for $m \geqslant 0$ denote by $\mathbb{Z}/l(m)$ the G_F -module $\mu_l^{\otimes m}$ and put $\mathbb{Z}_l(m) = \lim_r \mathbb{Z}/l^r(m)$; for m < 0 put $\mathbb{Z}_l(m) = \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Z}_l, \mathbb{Z}_l(-m))$.

Let A be a commutative ring. The group of invertible elements of A is denoted by A^* . Let B be an A-algebra. $\Omega^1_{B/A}$ denotes as usual the B-module of regular differential forms of B over A; $\Omega^n_{B/A} = \wedge^n \Omega^1_{B/A}$. In particular, $\Omega^n_A = \Omega^n_{A/\mathbb{Z}1_A}$ where 1_A is the identity element of A with respect to multiplication. For more on differential modules see subsection A1 of the appendix to the section 2 in the first part.

Let $K_n(k) = K_n^M(k)$ be the Milnor K-group of a field k (for the definition see subsection 2.0 in the first part).

For a complete discrete valuation field K denote by $\mathfrak{O} = \mathfrak{O}_K$ its ring of integers, by $\mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{M}_K$ the maximal ideal of \mathfrak{O} and by $k = k_K$ its residue field. If k is of characteristic p, denote by \mathfrak{R} the set of Teichmüller representatives (or multiplicative representatives) in \mathfrak{O} . For θ in the maximal perfect subfield of k denote by $[\theta]$ its Teichmüller representative.

For a field k denote by W(k) the ring of Witt vectors (more precisely, Witt p-vectors where p is a prime number) over k. Denote by $W_r(k)$ the ring of Witt vectors of length r over k. If $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$ denote by $\mathbf{F}: W(k) \to W(k)$, $\mathbf{F}: W_r(k) \to W_r(k)$ the map $(a_0, \ldots) \mapsto (a_0^p, \ldots)$.

Denote by v_K the surjective discrete valuation $K^* \to \mathbb{Z}$ (it is sometimes called the normalized discrete valuation of K). Usually $\pi = \pi_K$ denotes a prime element of K: $v_K(\pi_K) = 1$.

Denote by K_{ur} the maximal unramified extension of K. If k_K is finite, denote by $Frob_K$ the Frobenius automorphism of K_{ur}/K .

For a finite extension L of a complete discrete valuation field K $\mathcal{D}_{L/K}$ denotes its different.

If char(K) = 0, $char(k_K) = p$, then K is called a field of *mixed characteristic*. If $char(K) = 0 = char(k_K)$, then K is called a field of *equal characteristic*.

If k_K is perfect, K is called a *local field*.



Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 1, pages 5–18

1. Higher dimensional local fields

Igor Zhukov

We give here basic definitions related to n-dimensional local fields. For detailed exposition, see [P] in the equal characteristic case, [K1, $\S 8$] for the two-dimensional case and [MZ1], [MZ2] for the general case. Several properties of the topology on the multiplicative group are discussed in [F].

1.1. Main definitions

Suppose that we are given a surface S over a finite field of characteristic p, a curve $C \subset S$, and a point $x \in C$ such that both S and C are regular at x. Then one can attach to these data the quotient field of the completion $\widehat{(\mathfrak{O}_{S,x})}_C$ of the localization at C of the completion $\widehat{\mathfrak{O}}_{S,x}$ of the local ring $\mathfrak{O}_{S,x}$ of S at x. This is a two-dimensional local field over a finite field, i.e., a complete discrete valuation field with local residue field. More generally, an n-dimensional local field F is a complete discrete valuation field with (n-1)-dimensional residue field. (Finite fields are considered as 0-dimensional local fields.)

Definition. A complete discrete valuation field K is said to have the structure of an n-dimensional local field if there is a chain of fields $K = K_n, K_{n-1}, \ldots, K_1, K_0$ where K_{i+1} is a complete discrete valuation field with residue field K_i and K_0 is a finite field. The field $K_K = K_{n-1}$ (resp. K_0) is said to be the *first* (resp. the *last*) residue field of K.

Remark. Most of the properties of n-dimensional local fields do not change if one requires that the last residue K_0 is *perfect* rather than finite. To specify the exact meaning of the word, K can be referred to as an n-dimensional local field *over* a finite (resp. perfect) field. One can consider an n-dimensional local field over an arbitrary field K_0 as well. However, in this volume mostly the higher local fields over finite fields are considered.

Published 10 December 2000: © Geometry & Topology Publications

Examples. 1. $\mathbb{F}_q((X_1)) \dots ((X_n))$. 2. $k((X_1)) \dots ((X_{n-1}))$, k a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p .

3. For a complete discrete valuation field F let

$$K = F\{\{T\}\} = \left\{ \sum_{-\infty}^{+\infty} a_i T^i : a_i \in F, \text{ inf } v_F(a_i) > -\infty, \lim_{i \to -\infty} v_F(a_i) = +\infty \right\}.$$

Define $v_K(\sum a_i T^i) = \min v_F(a_i)$. Then K is a complete discrete valuation field with residue field $k_F(t)$.

Hence for a local field k the fields

$$k\{\{T_1\}\} \dots \{\{T_m\}\} ((T_{m+2})) \dots ((T_n)), \quad 0 \leq m \leq n-1$$

are n-dimensional local fields (they are called *standard fields*).

Remark. $K((X))\{\{Y\}\}$ is isomorphic to K((Y))((X)).

Definition. An n-tuple of elements $t_1, \ldots, t_n \in K$ is called a *system of local parameters* of K, if t_n is a prime element of K_n , t_{n-1} is a unit in \mathcal{O}_K but its residue in K_{n-1} is a prime element of K_{n-1} , and so on.

For example, for $K = k\{\{T_1\}\} \dots \{\{T_m\}\} ((T_{m+2})) \dots ((T_n))$, a convenient system of local parameter is $T_1, \dots, T_m, \pi, T_{m+2}, \dots, T_n$, where π is a prime element of k.

Consider the maximal m such that $\operatorname{char}(K_m) = p$; we have $0 \le m \le n$. Thus, there are n+1 types of n-dimensional local fields: fields of characteristic p and fields with $\operatorname{char}(K_{m+1}) = 0$, $\operatorname{char}(K_m) = p$, $0 \le m \le n-1$. Thus, the mixed characteristic case is the case m = n-1.

Suppose that $char(k_K) = p$, i.e., the above m equals either n-1 or n. Then the set of Teichmüller representatives \mathcal{R} in \mathcal{O}_K is a field isomorphic to K_0 .

Classification Theorem. Let K be an n-dimensional local field. Then

- (1) K is isomorphic to $\mathbb{F}_q((X_1)) \dots ((X_n))$ if $\operatorname{char}(K) = p$;
- (2) K is isomorphic to $k((X_1)) \dots ((X_{n-1}))$, k is a local field, if $\operatorname{char}(K_1) = 0$;
- (3) K is a finite extension of a standard field $k\{\{T_1\}\}$... $\{\{T_m\}\}$ $((T_{m+2}))$... $((T_n))$ and there is a finite extension of K which is a standard field if $\operatorname{char}(K_{m+1}) = 0$, $\operatorname{char}(K_m) = p$.

Proof. In the equal characteristic case the statements follow from the well known classification theorem for complete discrete valuation fields of equal characteristic. In the mixed characteristic case let k_0 be the fraction field of $W(\mathbb{F}_q)$ and let $T_1, ..., T_{n-1}, \pi$ be a system of local parameters of K. Put

$$K' = k_0 \{\{T_1\}\} \dots \{\{T_{n-1}\}\}.$$

Then K' is an absolutely unramified complete discrete valuation field, and the (first) residue fields of K' and K coincide. Therefore, K can be viewed as a finite extension of K' by [FV, II.5.6].

Alternatively, let t_1, \ldots, t_{n-1} be any liftings of a system of local parameters of k_K . Using the canonical lifting $h_{t_1,\ldots,t_{n-1}}$ defined below, one can construct an embedding $K' \hookrightarrow K$ which identifies T_i with t_i .

To prove the last assertion of the theorem, one can use *Epp's theorem on elimination* of wild ramification (see 17.1) which asserts that there is a finite extension l/k_0 such that e(lK/lK') = 1. Then lK' is standard and lK is standard, so K is a subfield of lK. See [Z] or [KZ] for details and a stronger statement.

Definition. The *lexicographic order* of \mathbb{Z}^n : $\mathbf{i} = (i_1, \ldots, i_n) \leq \mathbf{j} = (j_1, \ldots, j_n)$ if and only if

$$i_l \leq j_l, \ i_{l+1} = j_{l+1}, \dots, i_n = j_n \text{ for some } l \leq n.$$

Introduce $\mathbf{v}=(v_1,\ldots,v_n)$: $K^*\to\mathbb{Z}^n$ as $v_n=v_{K_n}$, $v_{n-1}(\alpha)=v_{K_{n-1}}(\alpha_{n-1})$ where α_{n-1} is the residue of $\alpha t_n^{-v_n(\alpha)}$ in K_{n-1} , and so on. The map \mathbf{v} is a valuation; this is a so called discrete valuation of rank n. Observe that for n>1 the valuation \mathbf{v} does depend on the choice of t_2,\ldots,t_n . However, all the valuations obtained this way are in the same class of equivalent valuations.

Now we define several objects which do not depend on the choice of a system of local parameters.

Definition.

 $O_K = \{\alpha \in K : \mathbf{v}(\alpha) \geqslant 0\}, \ M_K = \{\alpha \in K : \mathbf{v}(\alpha) > 0\}, \text{ so } O_K/M_K \simeq K_0.$ The group of *principal units* of K with respect to the valuation \mathbf{v} is $V_K = 1 + M_K$.

Definition.

$$P(i_1, ..., i_n) = P_K(i_1, ..., i_n) = \{\alpha \in K : (v_l(\alpha), ..., v_n(\alpha)) \ge (i_1, ..., i_n)\}.$$

In particular,
$$O_K = P(\underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{n})$$
, $M_K = P(1, \underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{n-1})$, whereas $\mathfrak{O}_K = P(0)$,

 $\mathcal{M}_K = P(1)$. Note that if n > 1, then

$$\cap_i M_K^i = P(1, \underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{n-2}),$$

since $t_2 = t_1^{i-1}(t_2/t_1^{i-1})$.

Lemma. The set of all non-zero ideals of O_K consists of all

$$\{P(i_1,\ldots,i_n):(i_1,\ldots,i_n)\geqslant (0,\ldots,0), 1\leqslant l\leqslant n\}.$$

The ring O_K is not Noetherian for n > 1.

8 I. Zhukov

Proof. Let J be a non-zero ideal of O_K . Put $i_n = \min\{v_n(\alpha) : \alpha \in J\}$. If $J = P(i_n)$, then we are done. Otherwise, it is clear that

$$i_{n-1} \coloneqq \inf\{v_{n-1}(\alpha) : \alpha \in J, v_n(\alpha) = i_n\} > -\infty.$$

If $i_n = 0$, then obviously $i_{n-1} \ge 0$. Continuing this way, we construct $(i_l, \ldots, i_n) \ge (0, \ldots, 0)$, where either l = 1 or

$$i_{l-1} = \inf\{v_{l-1}(\alpha) : \alpha \in J, v_n(\alpha) = i_n, \dots, v_l(\alpha) = i_l\} = -\infty.$$

In both cases it is clear that $J = P(i_1, \ldots, i_n)$.

The second statement is immediate from $P(0,1) \subset P(-1,1) \subset P(-2,1) \dots$

For more on ideals in O_K see subsection 3.0 of Part II.

1.2. Extensions

Let L/K be a finite extension. If K is an n-dimensional local field, then so is L.

Definition. Let t_1, \ldots, t_n be a system of local parameters of K and let t_1', \ldots, t_n' be a system of local parameters of L. Let \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}' be the corresponding valuations. Put

$$E(L|K) := (v'_j(t_i))_{i,j} = \begin{pmatrix} e_1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \dots & e_2 & \dots & 0 \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $e_i = e_i(L|K) = e(L_i|K_i)$, $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Then e_i do not depend on the choice of parameters, and $|L:K| = f(L|K) \prod_{i=1}^n e_i(L|K)$, where $f(L|K) = |L_0:K_0|$.

The expression "unramified extension" can be used for extensions L/K with $e_n(L|K)=1$ and L_{n-1}/K_{n-1} separable. It can be also used in a narrower sense, namely, for extensions L/K with $\prod_{i=1}^n e_i(L|K)=1$. To avoid ambiguity, sometimes one speaks of a "semiramified extension" in the former case and a "purely unramified extension" in the latter case.

1.3. Topology on K

Consider an example of n-dimensional local field

$$K = k \{\{T_1\}\} \dots \{\{T_m\}\} ((T_{m+2})) \dots ((T_n)).$$

Expanding elements of k into power series in π with coefficients in \Re_k , one can write elements of K as formal power series in n parameters. To make them convergent power

series we should introduce a topology in K which takes into account topologies of the residue fields. We do not make K a topological field this way, since multiplication is only sequentially continuous in this topology. However, for class field theory sequential continuity seems to be more important than continuity.

1.3.1.

Definition.

(a) If F has a topology, consider the following topology on K = F((X)). For a sequence of neighbourhoods of zero $(U_i)_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$ in F, $U_i = F$ for $i \gg 0$, denote $U_{\{U_i\}} = \left\{\sum a_i X^i : a_i \in U_i\right\}$. Then all $U_{\{U_i\}}$ constitute a base of open neighbourhoods of 0 in F((X)). In particular, a sequence $u^{(n)} = \sum a_i^{(n)} X^i$ tends to 0 if and only if there is an integer m such that $u^{(n)} \in X^m F[[X]]$ for all n and the sequences $a_i^{(n)}$ tend to 0 for every i.

Starting with the discrete topology on the last residue field, this construction is used to obtain a well-defined topology on an n-dimensional local field of characteristic p.

(b) Let K_n be of mixed characteristic. Choose a system of local parameters $t_1, \ldots, t_n = \pi$ of K. The choice of t_1, \ldots, t_{n-1} determines a canonical lifting

$$h = h_{t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}} \colon K_{n-1} \to \mathcal{O}_K$$

(see below). Let $(U_i)_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ be a system of neighbourhoods of zero in K_{n-1} , $U_i=K_{n-1}$ for $i\gg 0$. Take the system of all $U_{\{U_i\}}=\left\{\sum h(a_i)\pi^i,\ a_i\in U_i\right\}$ as a base of open neighbourhoods of 0 in K. This topology is well defined.

(c) In the case $\operatorname{char}(K) = \operatorname{char}(K_{n-1}) = 0$ we apply constructions (a) and (b) to obtain a topology on K which depends on the choice of the coefficient subfield of K_{n-1} in \mathcal{O}_K .

The definition of the canonical lifting $h_{t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}}$ is rather complicated. In fact, it is worthwhile to define it for any (n-1)-tuple (t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}) such that $v_i(t_i)>0$ and $v_j(t_i)=0$ for $i< j\leqslant n$. We shall give an outline of this construction, and the details can be found in [MZ1, $\S 1$].

Let $F = K_0((\overline{t_1})) \dots ((\overline{t_{n-1}})) \subset K_{n-1}$. By a lifting we mean a map $h \colon F \to \mathcal{O}_K$ such that the residue of h(a) coincides with a for any $a \in F$.

Step 1. An auxiliary lifting $H_{t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}}$ is uniquely determined by the condition

$$H_{t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}}\left(\sum_{i_1=0}^{p-1}\dots\sum_{i_{n-1}=0}^{p-1}\overline{t_1}^{i_1}\dots\overline{t_{n-1}}^{i_{n-1}}a^p_{i_1,\dots,i_{n-1}}\right)$$

$$=\sum_{i_1=0}^{p-1}\dots\sum_{i_{n-1}=0}^{p-1}t^{i_1}_1\dots t^{i_{n-1}}_{n-1}(H_{t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}}(a_{i_1,\dots,i_{n-1}}))^p.$$

Step 2. Let k_0 be the fraction field of $W(K_0)$. Then $K' = k_0\{\{T_1\}\}\dots\{\{T_{n-1}\}\}$ is an n-dimensional local field with the residue field F. Comparing the lifting $H = H_{T_1,\dots,T_{n-1}}$ with the lifting h defined by

$$h\left(\sum_{\mathbf{r}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}}\theta_{\mathbf{r}}\overline{T}_{1}^{r_{1}}\dots\overline{T}_{n-1}^{r_{n-1}}\right)=\sum_{\mathbf{r}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n-1}}[\theta_{\mathbf{r}}]T_{1}^{r_{1}}\dots T_{n-1}^{r_{n-1}},$$

we introduce the maps $\lambda_i \colon F \to F$ by the formula

$$h(a) = H(a) + pH(\lambda_1(a)) + p^2H(\lambda_2(a)) + \dots$$

Step 3. Introduce $h_{t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}}\colon F\to \mathcal{O}_K$ by the formula

$$h_{t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}}(a) = H_{t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}}(a) + pH_{t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}}(\lambda_1(a)) + p^2H_{t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}}(\lambda_2(a)) + \dots$$

Remarks. 1. Observe that for a standard field $K = k\{\{T_1\}\}\dots\{\{T_{n-1}\}\}$, we have

$$h_{T_1,\dots,T_{n-1}} \colon \sum \theta_{\mathbf{i}} \overline{T_1}^{i_1} \dots \overline{T_{n-1}}^{i_{n-1}} \mapsto \sum [\theta_{\mathbf{i}}] T_1^{i_1} \dots T_{n-1}^{i_{n-1}},$$

where $\overline{T_j}$ is the residue of T_j in k_K , $j=1,\ldots,n-1$.

2. The idea of the above construction is to find a field $k_0\{\{t_1\}\}\dots\{\{t_{n-1}\}\}$ isomorphic to K' inside K without a priori given topologies on K and K'. More precisely, let t_1,\dots,t_{n-1} be as above. For $a=\sum_{-\infty}^{\infty}p^ih(a_i)\in K'$, let

$$f_{t_1,...,t_{n-1}}(a) = \sum_{-\infty}^{\infty} p^i h_{t_1,...,t_{n-1}}(a_i)$$

Then $f_{t_1,...,t_{n-1}}: K' \to K$ is an embedding of n-dimensional complete fields such that

$$f_{t_1,\ldots,t_{n-1}}(T_j) = t_j, \qquad j = 1, \ldots, n-1$$

(see [MZ1, Prop. 1.1]).

3. In the case of a standard mixed characteristic field the following alternative construction of the same topology is very useful.

Let $K = E\{\{X\}\}$, where E is an (n-1)-dimensional local field; assume that the topology of E is already defined. Let $\{V_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ be a sequence of neighbourhoods of zero in E such that

- (i) there is $c \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $P_E(c) \subset V_i$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$;
- (ii) for every $l \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have $P_E(l) \subset V_i$ for all sufficiently large i. Put

$$\mathcal{V}_{\{V_i\}} = \{ \sum b_i X^i : b_i \in V_i \}.$$

Then all the sets $\mathcal{V}_{\{V_i\}}$ form a base of neighbourhoods of 0 in K. (This is an easy but useful exercise in the 2-dimensional case; in general, see Lemma 1.6 in [MZ1]).

4. The formal construction of $h_{t_1,...,t_{n-1}}$ works also in case char(K) = p, and one need not consider this case separately. However, if one is interested in equal

characteristic case only, all the treatment can be considerably simplified. (In fact, in this case $h_{t_1,...,t_{n-1}}$ is just the obvious embedding of $F \subset k_K$ into $\mathcal{O}_K = k_K[[t_n]]$.)

1.3.2. Properties.

- (1) K is a topological group which is complete and separated.
- (2) If n > 1, then every base of neighbourhoods of 0 is uncountable. In particular, there are maps which are sequentially continuous but not continuous.
- (3) If n > 1, multiplication in K is not continuous. In fact, UU = K for every open subgroup U, since $U \supset P(c)$ for some c and $U \not\subset P(s)$ for any s. However, multiplication is sequentially continuous:

$$\alpha_i \to \alpha, \quad 0 \neq \beta_i \to \beta \neq 0 \Longrightarrow \alpha_i \beta_i^{-1} \to \alpha \beta^{-1}.$$

- (4) The map $K \to K$, $\alpha \mapsto c\alpha$ for $c \neq 0$ is a homeomorphism.
- (5) For a finite extension L/K the topology of L = the topology of finite dimensional vector spaces over K (i.e., the product topology on $K^{|L:K|}$). Using this property one can redefine the topology first for "standard" fields

$$k\{\{T_1\}\} \dots \{\{T_m\}\} ((T_{m+2})) \dots ((T_n))$$

using the canonical lifting h, and then for arbitrary fields as the topology of finite dimensional vector spaces.

(6) For a finite extension L/K the topology of K = the topology induced from L. Therefore, one can use the Classification Theorem and define the topology on K as induced by that on L, where L is taken to be a standard n-dimensional local field.

Remark. In practical work with higher local fields, both (5) and (6) enables one to use the original definition of topology only in the simple case of a standard field.

1.3.3. About proofs. The outline of the proof of assertions in 1.3.1–1.3.2 is as follows. (Here we concentrate on the most complicated case char(K) = 0, $char(K_{n-1}) = p$; the case of char(K) = p is similar and easier, for details see [P]).

Step 1 (see [MZ1, §1]). Fix first n-1 local parameters (or, more generally, any elements $t_1, \ldots, t_{n-1} \in K$ such that $v_i(t_i) > 0$ and $v_j(t_i) = 0$ for j > i).

Temporarily fix $\pi_i \in K$ ($i \in \mathbb{Z}$), $v_n(\pi_i) = i$, and $e_j \in P_K(0)$, $j = 1, \ldots, d$, so that $\{\overline{e_j}\}_{j=1}^d$ is a basis of the F-linear space K_{n-1} . (Here F is as in 1.3.1, and $\overline{\alpha}$ denotes the residue of α in K_{n-1} .) Let $\{U_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ be a sequence of neighbourhoods of zero in F, $U_i = F$ for all sufficiently large i. Put

$$\mathcal{U}_{\{U_i\}} = \{ \sum_{i \geqslant i_0} \pi_i \cdot \sum_{j=1}^d e_j h_{t_1, \dots, t_{n-1}}(a_{ij}) : a_{ij} \in U_i, i_0 \in \mathbb{Z} \}.$$

The collection of all such sets $\mathcal{U}_{\{U_i\}}$ is denoted by B_U .

Step 2 ([MZ1, Th. 1.1]). In parallel one proves that

- the set B_U has a cofinal subset which consists of subgroups of K; thus, B_U is a base of neighbourhoods of zero of a certain topological group $K_{t_1,...,t_{n-1}}$ with the underlying (additive) group K;

- $-K_{t_1,...,t_{n-1}}$ does not depend on the choice of $\{\pi_i\}$ and $\{e_j\}$;
- property (4) in 1.3.2 is valid for $K_{t_1,...,t_{n-1}}$.

Step 3 ([MZ1, $\S 2$]). Some properties of $K_{t_1,...,t_{n-1}}$ are established, in particular, (1) in 1.3.2, the sequential continuity of multiplication.

Step 4 ([MZ1, §3]). The independence from the choice of t_1, \ldots, t_{n-1} is proved.

We give here a short proof of some statements in Step 3.

Observe that the topology of $K_{t_1,\dots,t_{n-1}}$ is essentially defined as a topology of a finite-dimensional vector space over a standard field $k_0\{\{t_1\}\}\dots\{\{t_{n-1}\}\}$. (It will be precisely so, if we take $\{\pi_i e_j : 0 \le i \le e-1, 1 \le j \le d\}$ as a basis of this vector space, where e is the absolute ramification index of K, and $\pi_{i+e} = p\pi_i$ for any i.) This enables one to reduce the statements to the case of a standard field K.

If K is standard, then either K = E((X)) or $K = E\{\{X\}\}$, where E is of smaller dimension. Looking at expansions in X, it is easy to construct a limit of any Cauchy sequence in K and to prove the uniqueness of it. (In the case $K = E\{\{X\}\}$) one should use the alternative construction of topology in Remark 3 in 1.3.1.) This proves (1) in 1.3.2.

To prove the sequential continuity of multiplication in the mixed characteristic case, let $\alpha_i \to 0$ and $\beta_i \to 0$, we shall show that $\alpha_i \beta_i \to 0$.

Since $\alpha_i \to 0, \beta_i \to 0$, one can easily see that there is $c \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $v_n(\alpha_i) \ge c$, $v_n(\beta_i) \ge c$ for $i \ge 1$.

By the above remark, we may assume that K is standard, i.e., $K = E\{\{t\}\}$. Fix an open subgroup U in K; we have $P(d) \subset U$ for some integer d. One can assume that $U = \mathcal{V}_{\{V_i\}}$, V_i are open subgroups in E. Then there is m_0 such that $P_E(d-c) \subset V_m$ for $m > m_0$. Let

$$\alpha_i = \sum_{-\infty}^{\infty} a_i^{(r)} t^r, \quad \beta_i = \sum_{-\infty}^{\infty} b_i^{(l)} t^l, \quad a_i^{(r)}, b_i^{(l)} \in E.$$

Notice that one can find an r_0 such that $a_i^{(r)} \in P_E(d-c)$ for $r < r_0$ and all i. Indeed, if this were not so, one could choose a sequence $r_1 > r_2 > \ldots$ such that $a_{i_j}^{(r_j)} \notin P_E(d-c)$ for some i_j . It is easy to construct a neighbourhood of zero V'_{r_j} in E such that $P_E(d-c) \subset V'_{r_j}$, $a_{i_j}^{(r_j)} \notin V_{r_j}$. Now put $V'_r = E$ when r is distinct from any of r_j , and $U' = \mathcal{V}_{\{V'_r\}}$. Then $a_{i_j} \notin U'$, $j = 1, 2, \ldots$ The set $\{i_j\}$ is obviously infinite, which contradicts the condition $\alpha_i \to 0$.

Similarly, $b_i^{(l)} \in P_E(d-c)$ for $l < l_0$ and all i. Therefore,

$$\alpha_i\beta_i \equiv \sum_{r=r_0}^{m_0} a_i^{(r)} t^r \cdot \sum_{l=l_0}^{m_0} b_i^{(l)} t^l \mod U,$$

and the condition $a_i^{(r)}b_i^{(l)} \to 0$ for all r and l immediately implies $\alpha_i\beta_i \to 0$.

1.3.4. Expansion into power series. Let n=2. Then in characteristic p we have $\mathbb{F}_q((X))((Y)) = \{\sum \theta_{ij} X^j Y^i\}$, where θ_{ij} are elements of \mathbb{F}_q such that for some i_0 we have $\theta_{ij} = 0$ for $i \le i_0$ and for every i there is j(i) such that $\theta_{ij} = 0$ for $j \le j(i)$.

On the other hand, the definition of the topology implies that for every neighbourhood of zero U there exists i_0 and for every $i < i_0$ there exists j(i) such that $\theta X^j Y^i \in U$ whenever either $i \ge i_0$ or $i < i_0, j \ge j(i)$.

So every formal power series has only finitely many terms $\theta X^j Y^i$ outside U. Therefore, it is in fact a *convergent* power series in the just defined topology.

Definition. $\Omega \subset \mathbb{Z}^n$ is called admissible if for every $1 \leq l \leq n$ and every j_{l+1}, \ldots, j_n there is $i = i(j_{l+1}, \ldots, j_n) \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$(i_1, \ldots, i_n) \in \Omega, \ i_{l+1} = j_{l+1}, \ldots, i_n = j_n \Rightarrow i_l \geqslant i.$$

Theorem. Let t_1, \ldots, t_n be a system of local parameters of K. Let s be a section of the residue map $O_K \to O_K/M_K$ such that s(0) = 0. Let Ω be an admissible subset of \mathbb{Z}^n . Then the series

$$\sum_{(i_1,\ldots,i_n)\in\Omega}b_{i_1,\ldots,i_n}t_1^{i_1}\ldots t_n^{i_n}\ converges\quad (b_{i_1,\ldots,i_n}\in s(O_K/M_K))$$

and every element of K can be uniquely written this way.

Remark. In this statement it is essential that the last residue field is finite. In a more general setting, one should take a "good enough" section. For example, for $K = k\{\{T_1\}\} \dots \{\{T_m\}\} ((T_{m+2})) \dots ((T_n))$, where k is a finite extension of the fraction field of $W(K_0)$ and K_0 is perfect of prime characteristic, one may take the Teichmüller section $K_0 \to K_{m+1} = k\{\{T_1\}\} \dots \{\{T_m\}\}$ composed with the obvious embedding $K_{m+1} \hookrightarrow K$.

Proof. We have

$$\sum_{(i_1, \dots, i_n) \in \Omega} b_{i_1, \dots, i_n} t_1^{i_1} \dots t_n^{i_n} = \sum_{b \in s(O_K/M_K)} \left(b \cdot \sum_{(i_1, \dots, i_n) \in \Omega_b} t_1^{i_1} \dots t_n^{i_n} \right),$$

where $\Omega_b = \{(i_1,\ldots,i_n) \in \Omega: b_{i_1,\ldots,i_n} = b\}$. In view of the property (4), it is sufficient to show that the inner sums converge. Equivalently, one has to show that given a neighbourhood of zero U in K, for almost all $(i_1,\ldots,i_n) \in \Omega$ we have $t_1^{i_1}\ldots t_n^{i_n} \in U$. This follows easily by induction on n if we observe that $t_1^{i_1}\ldots t_{n-1}^{i_{n-1}} = h_{t_1,\ldots,t_{n-1}}(\overline{t_1}^{i_1}\ldots\overline{t_{n-1}}^{i_{n-1}})$.

14 I. Zhukov

To prove the second statement, apply induction on n once again. Let $r = v_n(\alpha)$, where α is a given element of K. Then by the induction hypothesis

$$\overline{t_n^{-r}\alpha} = \sum_{(i_1,\dots,i_{n-1})\in\Omega_r} \overline{b_{i_1,\dots,i_n}} \left(\overline{t_1}\right)^{i_1} \dots \left(\overline{t_{n-1}}\right)^{i_{n-1}},$$

where $\Omega_r \subset \mathbb{Z}^{n-1}$ is a certain admissible set. Hence

$$\alpha = \sum_{(i_1, \dots, i_{n-1}) \in \Omega_r} b_{i_1, \dots, i_n} t_1^{i_1} \dots t_{n-1}^{i_{n-1}} t_n^r + \alpha',$$

where $v_n(\alpha') > r$. Continuing this way, we obtain the desired expansion into a sum over the admissible set $\Omega = (\Omega_r \times \{r\}) \cup (\Omega_{r+1} \times \{r+1\}) \cup \dots$

The uniqueness follows from the continuity of the residue map $\mathcal{O}_K \to K_{n-1}$. \square

1.4. Topology on K^*

1.4.1. 2-dimensional case, char $(k_K) = p$.

Let A be the last residue field K_0 if $\operatorname{char}(K) = p$, and let $A = W(K_0)$ if $\operatorname{char}(K) = 0$. Then A is canonically embedded into \mathcal{O}_K , and it is in fact the subring generated by the set \mathcal{R} .

For a 2-dimensional local field K with a system of local parameters t_2, t_1 define a base of neighbourhoods of 1 as the set of all $1 + t_2^i \mathcal{O}_K + t_1^j A[[t_1, t_2]], \ i \geqslant 1, \ j \geqslant 1$. Then every element $\alpha \in K^*$ can be expanded as a convergent (with respect to the just defined topology) product

$$\alpha = t_2^{a_2} t_1^{a_1} \theta \prod (1 + \theta_{ij} t_2^i t_1^j)$$

with $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^*, \theta_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}, a_1, a_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$. The set $S = \{(j, i) : \theta_{ij} \neq 0\}$ is admissible.

1.4.2. In the general case, following Parshin's approach in characteristic p [P], we define the topology τ on K^* as follows.

Definition. If char $(K_{n-1}) = p$, then define the topology τ on

$$K^* \simeq V_K \times \langle t_1 \rangle \times \cdots \times \langle t_n \rangle \times \mathfrak{R}^*$$

as the product of the induced from K topology on the group of principal units V_K and the discrete topology on $\langle t_1 \rangle \times \cdots \times \langle t_n \rangle \times \mathbb{R}^*$.

If $\operatorname{char}(K) = \operatorname{char}(K_{m+1}) = 0$, $\operatorname{char}(K_m) = p$, where $m \leq n-2$, then we have a canonical exact sequence

$$1 \to 1 + P_K(1, \underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{n-m-2}) \to O_K^* \to O_{K_{m+1}}^* \to 1.$$

Define the topology τ on $K^* \simeq O_K^* \times \langle t_1 \rangle \times \cdots \times \langle t_n \rangle$ as the product of the discrete topology on $\langle t_1 \rangle \times \cdots \times \langle t_n \rangle$ and the inverse image of the topology τ on $O_{K_{m+1}}^*$. Then the intersection of all neighbourhoods of 1 is equal to $1 + P_K \left(1, \underbrace{0, \ldots, 0}_{n-m-2} \right)$ which

is a uniquely divisible group.

Remarks. 1. Observe that K_{m+1} is a mixed characteristic field and therefore its topology is well defined. Thus, the topology τ is well defined in all cases.

2. A base of neighbourhoods of 1 in V_K is formed by the sets

$$h(U_0) + h(U_1)t_n + \dots + h(U_{c-1})t_n^{c-1} + P_K(c),$$

where $c \geqslant 1$, U_0 is a neighbourhood of 1 in V_{k_K} , U_1, \ldots, U_{c-1} are neighbourhoods of zero in k_K , h is the canonical lifting associated with some local parameters, t_n is the last local parameter of K. In particular, in the two-dimensional case τ coincides with the topology of 1.4.1.

Properties.

- (1) Each Cauchy sequence with respect to the topology τ converges in K^* .
- (2) Multiplication in K^* is sequentially continuous.
- (3) If $n \leq 2$, then the multiplicative group K^* is a topological group and it has a countable base of open subgroups. K^* is not a topological group with respect to τ if $m \geq 3$.

Proof. (1) and (2) follow immediately from the corresponding properties of the topology defined in subsection 1.3. In the 2-dimensional case (3) is obvious from the description given in 1.4.1. Next, let $m \ge 3$, and let U be an arbitrary neighbourhood of 1. We may assume that n = m and $U \subset V_K$. From the definition of the topology on V_K we see that $U \supset 1 + h(U_1)t_n + h(U_2)t_n^2$, where U_1, U_2 are neighbourhoods of 0 in k_K , t_n a prime element in K, and h the canonical lifting corresponding to some choice of local parameters. Therefore,

$$UU + P(4) \supset (1 + h(U_1)t_n)(1 + h(U_2)t_n^2) + P(4)$$

= $\{1 + h(a)t_n + h(b)t_n^2 + h(ab)t_n^3 : a \in U_1, b \in U_2\} + P(4).$

(Indeed, $h(a)h(b) - h(ab) \in P(1)$.) Since $U_1U_2 = k_K$ (see property (3) in 1.3.2), it is clear that UU cannot lie in a neighbourhood of 1 in V_K of the form $1 + h(k_K)t_n + h(k_K)t_n^2 + h(U')t_n^3 + P(4)$, where $U' \neq k_K$ is a neighbourhood of 0 in k_K . Thus, K^* is not a topological group.

Remarks. 1. From the point of view of class field theory and the existence theorem one needs a stronger topology on K^* than the topology τ (in order to have more open subgroups). For example, for $n \ge 3$ each open subgroup A in K^* with respect to the topology τ possesses the property: $1 + t_n^2 \mathcal{O}_K \subset (1 + t_n^3 \mathcal{O}_K)A$.

A topology λ_* which is the sequential saturation of τ is introduced in subsection 6.2; it has the same set of convergence sequences as τ but more open subgroups. For example [F1], the subgroup in $1 + t_n \mathcal{O}_K$ topologically generated by $1 + \theta t_n^{i_n} \dots t_1^{i_1}$ with $(i_1, \dots, i_n) \neq (0, 0, \dots, 1, 2)$, $i_n \geqslant 1$ (i.e., the sequential closure of the subgroup generated by these elements) is open in λ_* and does not satisfy the above-mentioned property.

One can even introduce a topology on K^* which has the same set of convergence sequences as τ and with respect to which K^* is a topological group, see [F2].

- 2. For another approach to define open subgroups of K^* see the paper of K. Kato in this volume.
- **1.4.3. Expansion into convergent products.** To simplify the following statements we assume here char $k_K = p$. Let B be a fixed set of representatives of non-zero elements of the last residue field in K.

Lemma. Let $\{\alpha_i : i \in I\}$ be a subset of V_K such that

(*)
$$\alpha_i = 1 + \sum_{\mathbf{r} \in \Omega_i} b_{\mathbf{r}}^{(i)} t_1^{r_1} \dots t_n^{r_n},$$

where $b \in B$, and $\Omega_i \subset \mathbb{Z}_+^n$ are admissible sets satisfying the following two conditions:

- (i) $\Omega = \bigcup_{i \in I} \Omega_i$ is an admissible set;
- (ii) $\bigcap_{j \in J} \Omega_j = \emptyset$, where J is any infinite subset of I.

Then $\prod_{i \in I} \alpha_i$ converges.

Proof. Fix a neighbourhood of 1 in V_K ; by definition it is of the form $(1+U)\cap V_K$, where U is a neighbourhood of 0 in K. Consider various finite products of $b_{\bf r}^{(i)}t_1^{r_1}\dots t_n^{r_n}$ which occur in (*). It is sufficient to show that almost all such products belong to U.

Any product under consideration has the form

$$(**) \gamma = b_1^{k_1} \dots b_s^{k_s} t_1^{l_1} \dots t_n^{l_n}$$

with $l_n > 0$, where $B = \{b_1, \ldots, b_s\}$. We prove by induction on j the following claim: for $0 \le j \le n$ and fixed l_{j+1}, \ldots, l_n the element γ almost always lies in U (in case j = n we obtain the original claim). Let

$$\hat{\Omega} = \{\mathbf{r}_1 + \dots + \mathbf{r}_t : t \geqslant 1, \mathbf{r}_1, \dots, \mathbf{r}_t \in \Omega\}.$$

It is easy to see that $\hat{\Omega}$ is an admissible set and any element of $\hat{\Omega}$ can be written as a sum of elements of Ω in finitely many ways only. This fact and condition (ii) imply that any particular n-tuple (l_1, \ldots, l_n) can occur at the right hand side of (**) only finitely many times. This proves the base of induction (j = 0).

For j > 0, we see that l_j is bounded from below since $(l_1, \ldots, l_n) \in \hat{\Omega}$ and l_{j+1}, \ldots, l_n are fixed. On the other hand, $\gamma \in U$ for sufficiently large l_j and arbitrary $k_1, \ldots, k_s, l_1, \ldots, l_{j-1}$ in view of [MZ1, Prop. 1.4] applied to the neighbourhood of

zero $t_{j+1}^{-l_{j+1}} \dots t_n^{-l_n} U$ in K. Therefore, we have to consider only a finite range of values $c \leq l_j \leq c'$. For any l_j in this range the induction hypothesis is applicable. \square

Theorem. For any $\mathbf{r} \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n$ and any $b \in B$ fix an element

$$a_{\mathbf{r},b} = \sum_{\mathbf{s} \in \Omega_{\mathbf{r},b}} b_{\mathbf{s}}^{\mathbf{r},b} t_1^{s_1} \dots t_n^{s_n},$$

such that $b_{\mathbf{r}}^{\mathbf{r},b} = b$, and $b_{\mathbf{s}}^{\mathbf{r},b} = 0$ for $\mathbf{s} < \mathbf{r}$. Suppose that the admissible sets

$$\{\Omega_{\mathbf{r},b}: \mathbf{r} \in \Omega_*, b \in B\}$$

satisfy conditions (i) and (ii) of the Lemma for any given admissible set Ω_* .

1. Every element $a \in K$ can be uniquely expanded into a convergent series

$$a = \sum_{\mathbf{r} \in \Omega_a} a_{\mathbf{r}, b_{\mathbf{r}}},$$

where $b_{\mathbf{r}} \in B$, $\Omega_a \subset \mathbb{Z}_n$ is an admissible set.

2. Every element $\alpha \in K^*$ can be uniquely expanded into a convergent product:

$$\alpha = t_n^{a_n} \dots t_1^{a_1} b_0 \prod_{\mathbf{r} \in \Omega_\alpha} (1 + a_{\mathbf{r}, b_{\mathbf{r}}}),$$

where $b_0 \in B$, $b_{\mathbf{r}} \in B$, $\Omega_{\alpha} \subset \mathbb{Z}_n^+$ is an admissible set.

Proof. The additive part of the theorem is [MZ2, Theorem 1]. The proof of it is parallel to that of Theorem 1.3.4.

To prove the multiplicative part, we apply induction on n. This reduces the statement to the case $\alpha \in 1+P(1)$. Here one can construct an expansion and prove its uniqueness applying the additive part of the theorem to the residue of $t_n^{-v_n(\alpha-1)}(\alpha-1)$ in k_K . The convergence of all series which appear in this process follows from the above Lemma. For details, see [MZ2, Theorem 2].

Remarks. 1. Conditions (i) and (ii) in the Lemma are essential. Indeed, the infinite products $\prod_{i=1}^{\infty} (1 + t_1^i + t_1^{-i}t_2)$ and $\prod_{i=1}^{\infty} (1 + t_1^i + t_2)$ do not converge. This means that the statements of Theorems 2.1 and 2.2 in [MZ1] have to be corrected and conditions (i) and (ii) for elements $\varepsilon_{\mathbf{r},\theta}$ ($\mathbf{r} \in \Omega_*$) should be added.

2. If the last residue field is not finite, the statements are still true if the system of representatives B is not too pathological. For example, the system of Teichmüller representatives is always suitable. The above proof works with the only ammendment: instead of Prop. 1.4 of [MZ1] we apply the definition of topology directly.

18 I. Zhukov

Corollary. If char $(K_{n-1}) = p$, then every element $\alpha \in K^*$ can be expanded into a convergent product:

$$(***) \qquad \alpha = t_n^{a_n} \dots t_1^{a_1} \theta \prod (1 + \theta_{i_1, \dots, i_n} t_1^{i_1} \dots t_n^{i_n}), \quad \theta \in \mathbb{R}^*, \quad \theta_{i_1, \dots, i_n} \in \mathbb{R},$$

with $\{(i_1, \ldots, i_n) : \theta_{i_1, \ldots, i_n} \neq 0\}$ being an admissible set. Any series (***) converges.

References

- [F1] I. Fesenko, Abelian extensions of complete discrete valuation fields, Number Theory Paris 1993/94, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1996, 47–74.
- [F2] I. Fesenko, Sequential topologies and quotients of the Milnor K-groups of higher local fields, preprint, www.maths.nott.ac.uk/personal/ibf/stqk.ps
- [FV] I. Fesenko and S. Vostokov, Local Fields and Their Extensions, AMS, Providence, 1993.
- [K1] K. Kato, A generalization of local class field theory by using *K*-groups I, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sec. IA 26 No.2, 1979, 303–376.
- [K2] K. Kato, Existence Theorem for higher local class field theory, this volume.
- [KZ] M. V. Koroteev and I. B. Zhukov, Elimination of wild ramification, Algebra i Analiz 11 (1999), no. 6, 153–177.
- [MZ1] A. I. Madunts and I. B. Zhukov, Multidimensional complete fields: topology and other basic constructions, Trudy S.-Peterb. Mat. Obshch. (1995); English translation in Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. (Ser. 2) 165 (1995), 1–34.
- [MZ2] A. I. Madunts and I. B. Zhukov, Additive and multiplicative expansions in multidimensional local fields, Zap. Nauchn. Sem. POMI (to appear).
- [P] A. N. Parshin, Local class field theory, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov (1984); English translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 165 (1985), no. 3, 157–185.
- [Z] I. B. Zhukov, Structure theorems for complete fields, Trudy S.-Peterb. Mat. Obsch. (1995); English translation in Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. (Ser. 2) 165 (1995), 175–192.

Department of Mathematics and Mechanics St. Petersburg University Bibliotechnaya pl. 2, Staryj Petergof 198904 St. Petersburg Russia E-mail: igor@zhukov.pdmi.ras.ru Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 2, pages 19–29

2. p-primary part of the Milnor K-groups and Galois cohomologies of fields of characteristic p

Oleg Izhboldin

2.0. Introduction

Let F be a field and F^{sep} be the separable closure of F. Let F^{ab} be the maximal abelian extension of F. Clearly the Galois group $G^{\text{ab}} = \operatorname{Gal}(F^{\text{ab}}/F)$ is canonically isomorphic to the quotient of the absolute Galois group $G = \operatorname{Gal}(F^{\text{sep}}/F)$ modulo the closure of its commutant. By Pontryagin duality, a description of G^{ab} is equivalent to a description of

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(G^{\operatorname{ab}},\mathbb{Z}/m) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(G,\mathbb{Z}/m) = H^1(F,\mathbb{Z}/m).$$

where m runs over all positive integers. Clearly, it suffices to consider the case where m is a power of a prime, say $m = p^i$. The main cohomological tool to compute the group $H^1(F, \mathbb{Z}/m)$ is a pairing

$$(,)_m: H^1(F, \mathbb{Z}/m) \otimes K_n(F)/m \to H_m^{n+1}(F)$$

where the right hand side is a certain cohomological group discussed below.

Here $K_n(F)$ for a field F is the nth Milnor K-group $K_n(F) = K_n^M(F)$ defined as

$$(F^*)^{\otimes n}/J$$

where J is the subgroup generated by the elements of the form $a_1 \otimes ... \otimes a_n$ such that $a_i + a_j = 1$ for some $i \neq j$. We denote by $\{a_1, ..., a_n\}$ the class of $a_1 \otimes ... \otimes a_n$. Namely, $K_n(F)$ is the abelian group defined by the following generators: symbols $\{a_1, ..., a_n\}$ with $a_1, ..., a_n \in F^*$ and relations:

$${a_1, ..., a_i a'_i, ...a_n} = {a_1, ..., a_i, ...a_n} + {a_1, ..., a'_i, ...a_n}$$

 ${a_1, ..., a_n} = 0$ if $a_i + a_j = 1$ for some i and j with $i \neq j$.

We write the group law additively.

Published 10 December 2000: (c) Geometry & Topology Publications

20 O. Izhboldin

Consider the following example (definitions of the groups will be given later).

Example. Let F be a field and let p be a prime integer. Assume that there is an integer n with the following properties:

- (i) the group $H_n^{n+1}(F)$ is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}/p ,
- (ii) the pairing

$$(\ ,\)_p: H^1(F,\mathbb{Z}/p)\otimes K_n(F)/p \to H^{n+1}_p(F)\simeq \mathbb{Z}/p$$

is non-degenerate in a certain sense.

Then the \mathbb{Z}/p -linear space $H^1(F,\mathbb{Z}/p)$ is obviously dual to the \mathbb{Z}/p -linear space $K_n(F)/p$. On the other hand, $H^1(F,\mathbb{Z}/p)$ is dual to the \mathbb{Z}/p -space $G^{ab}/(G^{ab})^p$. Therefore there is an isomorphism

$$\Psi_{F,p}$$
: $K_n(F)/p \simeq G^{ab}/(G^{ab})^p$.

It turns out that this example can be applied to computations of the group $G^{ab}/(G^{ab})^p$ for multidimensional local fields. Moreover, it is possible to show that the homomorphism $\Psi_{F,p}$ can be naturally extended to a homomorphism $\Psi_F: K_n(F) \to G^{ab}$ (the so called reciprocity map). Since G^{ab} is a profinite group, it follows that the homomorphism $\Psi_F: K_n(F) \to G^{ab}$ factors through the homomorphism $K_n(F)/DK_n(F) \to G^{ab}$ where the group $DK_n(F)$ consists of all divisible elements:

$$DK_n(F) := \cap_{m \ge 1} mK_n(F).$$

This observation makes natural the following notation:

Definition (cf. section 6 of Part I). For a field F and integer $n \ge 0$ set

$$K_n^t(F) := K_n(F)/DK_n(F),$$

where $DK_n(F) := \bigcap_{m \ge 1} mK_n(F)$.

The group $K_n^t(F)$ for a higher local field F endowed with a certain topology (cf. section 6 of this part of the volume) is called a topological Milnor K-group $K^{top}(F)$ of F.

The example shows that computing the group G^{ab} is closely related to computing the groups $K_n(F)$, $K_n^t(F)$, and $H_m^{n+1}(F)$. The main purpose of this section is to explain some basic properties of these groups and discuss several classical conjectures. Among the problems, we point out the following:

- discuss p-torsion and cotorsion of the groups $K_n(F)$ and $K_n^t(F)$,
- study an analogue of Satz 90 for the groups $K_n(F)$ and $K_n^t(F)$,
- compute the group $H_m^{n+1}(F)$ in two "classical" cases where F is either the rational function field in one variable F = k(t) or the formal power series F = k(t).

We shall consider in detail the case (so called "non-classical case") of a field F of characteristic p and m=p.

2.1. Definition of $H_m^{n+1}(F)$ and pairing $(\ ,\)_m$

To define the group $H_m^{n+1}(F)$ we consider three cases depending on the characteristic of the field F.

Case 1 (Classical). Either char (F) = 0 or char (F) = p is prime to m. In this case we set

$$H_m^{n+1}(F) := H^{n+1}(F, \mu_m^{\otimes n}).$$

The Kummer theory gives rise to the well known natural isomorphism $F^*/F^{*m} \to H^1(F,\mu_m)$. Denote the image of an element $a \in F^*$ under this isomorphism by (a). The cup product gives the homomorphism

$$\underbrace{F^* \otimes \cdots \otimes F^*}_n \to H^n(F, \mu_m^{\otimes n}), \qquad a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_n \to (a_1, \ldots, a_n)$$

where $(a_1, \ldots, a_n) := (a_1) \cup \cdots \cup (a_n)$. It is well known that the element (a_1, \ldots, a_n) is zero if $a_i + a_j = 1$ for some $i \neq j$. From the definition of the Milnor K-group we get the homomorphism

$$\eta_m: K_n^M(F)/m \to H^n(F, \mu_m^{\otimes n}), \qquad \{a_1, \dots, a_n\} \to (a_1, \dots, a_n).$$

Now, we define the pairing $(,)_m$ as the following composite

$$H^1(F,\mathbb{Z}/m)\otimes K_n(F)/m\xrightarrow{\mathrm{id}\otimes\eta_m} H^1(F,\mathbb{Z}/m)\otimes H^n(F,\mu_m^{\otimes n})\xrightarrow{\cup} H_m^{n+1}(F,\mu_m^{\otimes n}).$$

Case 2. char $(F) = p \neq 0$ and m is a power of p.

To simplify the exposition we start with the case m = p. Set

$$H_p^{n+1}(F) = \operatorname{coker}\left(\Omega_F^n \xrightarrow{\wp} \Omega_F^n / d\Omega_F^{n-1}\right)$$

where

$$d(adb_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge db_n) = da \wedge db_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge db_n,$$

$$\wp\left(a\frac{db_1}{b_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{db_n}{b_n}\right) = (a^p - a)\frac{db_1}{b_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{db_n}{b_n} + d\Omega_F^{n-1}$$

($\wp = C^{-1} - 1$ where C^{-1} is the inverse Cartier operator defined in subsection 4.2). The pairing (,)_p is defined as follows:

$$(,)_p: F/\wp(F) \times K_n(F)/p \to H_p^{n+1}(F),$$

$$(a, \{b_1, \dots, b_n\}) \mapsto a \frac{db_1}{b_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{db_n}{b_n}$$

where $F/\wp(F)$ is identified with $H^1(F,\mathbb{Z}/p)$ via Artin–Schreier theory.

22 O. Izhboldin

To define the group $H_{p^i}^{n+1}(F)$ for an arbitrary $i \geqslant 1$ we note that the group $H_p^{n+1}(F)$ is the quotient group of Ω_F^n . In particular, generators of the group $H_p^{n+1}(F)$ can be written in the form $adb_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge db_n$. Clearly, the natural homomorphism

$$F \otimes \underbrace{F^* \otimes \cdots \otimes F^*}_{p} \to H_p^{n+1}(F), \qquad a \otimes b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_n \mapsto a \frac{db_1}{b_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{db_n}{b_n}$$

is surjective. Therefore the group $H_p^{n+1}(F)$ is naturally identified with the quotient group $F \otimes F^* \otimes \cdots \otimes F^*/J$. It is not difficult to show that the subgroup J is generated by the following elements:

$$(a^p-a)\otimes b_1\otimes \cdots \otimes b_n,$$

 $a\otimes a\otimes b_2\otimes \cdots \otimes b_n,$
 $a\otimes b_1\otimes \cdots \otimes b_n$, where $b_i=b_j$ for some $i\neq j$.

This description of the group $H_p^{n+1}(F)$ can be easily generalized to define $H_{p^i}^{n+1}(F)$ for an arbitrary $i \ge 1$. Namely, we define the group $H_{p^i}^{n+1}(F)$ as the quotient group

$$W_i(F) \otimes \underbrace{F^* \otimes \cdots \otimes F^*}_{n} / J$$

where $W_i(F)$ is the group of Witt vectors of length i and J is the subgroup of $W_i(F) \otimes F^* \otimes \cdots \otimes F^*$ generated by the following elements:

$$(\mathbf{F}(w) - w) \otimes b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_n,$$

 $(a, 0, \dots, 0) \otimes a \otimes b_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_n,$
 $w \otimes b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_n,$ where $b_i = b_j$ for some $i \neq j$.

The pairing $(\ ,\)_{p^i}$ is defined as follows:

$$(,)_p: W_i(F)/\wp(W_i(F)) \times K_n(F)/p^i \to H_{p^i}^{n+1}(F),$$

 $(w, \{b_1, \ldots, b_n\}) \mapsto w \otimes b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_n$

where $\wp = \mathbf{F} - \mathrm{id} : W_i(F) \to W_i(F)$ and the group $W_i(F)/\wp(W_i(F))$ is identified with $H^1(F, \mathbb{Z}/p^i)$ via Witt theory. This completes definitions in Case 2.

Case 3. char(F) = $p \neq 0$ and $m = m'p^i$ where m' > 1 is an integer prime to p and $i \geq 1$.

The groups $H_{m'}^{n+1}(F)$ and $H_{p^i}^{n+1}(F)$ are already defined (see Cases 1 and 2). We define the group $H_m^{n+1}(F)$ by the following formula:

$$H_m^{n+1}(F) := H_{m'}^{n+1}(F) \oplus H_{p^i}^{n+1}(F)$$

Since $H^1(F,\mathbb{Z}/m) \simeq H^1(F,\mathbb{Z}/m') \oplus H^1(F,\mathbb{Z}/p^i)$ and $K_n(F)/m \simeq K_n(F)/m' \oplus K_n(F)/p^i$, we can define the pairing $(\ ,\)_m$ as the direct sum of the pairings $(\ ,\)_{m'}$ and $(\ ,\)_{p^i}$. This completes the definition of the group $H_m^{n+1}(F)$ and of the pairing $(\ ,\)_m$.

Remark 1. In the case n = 1 or n = 2 the group $H_m^n(F)$ can be determined as follows:

$$H_m^1(F) \simeq H^1(F, \mathbb{Z}/m)$$
 and $H_m^2(F) \simeq {}_m \operatorname{Br}(F)$.

Remark 2. The group $H_m^{n+1}(F)$ is often denoted by $H^{n+1}(F, \mathbb{Z}/m(n))$.

2.2. The group $H^{n+1}(F)$

In the previous subsection we defined the group $H_m^{n+1}(F)$ and the pairing $(,)_m$ for an arbitrary m. Now, let m and m' be positive integers such that m' is divisible by m. In this case there exists a canonical homomorphism

$$i_{m,m'}: H_m^{n+1}(F) \to H_{m'}^{n+1}(F).$$

To define the homomorphism $i_{m,m'}$ it suffices to consider the following two cases:

Case 1. Either char (F) = 0 or char (F) = p is prime to m and m'.

This case corresponds to Case 1 in the definition of the group $H_m^{n+1}(F)$ (see subsection 2.1). We identify the homomorphism $i_{m,m'}$ with the homomorphism

$$H^{n+1}(F,\mu_m^{\otimes n}) \to H^{n+1}(F,\mu_{m'}^{\otimes n})$$

induced by the natural embedding $\mu_m \subset \mu_{m'}$.

Case 2. m and m' are powers of p = char(F).

We can assume that $m=p^i$ and $m'=p^{i'}$ with $i\leqslant i'$. This case corresponds to Case 2 in the definition of the group $H_m^{n+1}(F)$. We define $i_{m,m'}$ as the homomorphism induced by

$$W_i(F) \otimes F^* \otimes \dots F^* \to W_{i'}(F) \otimes F^* \otimes \dots F^*,$$

$$(a_1, \dots, a_i) \otimes b_1 \otimes \dots \otimes b_n \mapsto (0, \dots, 0, a_1, \dots, a_i) \otimes b_1 \otimes \dots \otimes b_n.$$

The maps $i_{m,m'}$ (where m and m' run over all integers such that m' is divisible by m) determine the inductive system of the groups.

Definition. For a field F and an integer n set

$$H^{n+1}(F) = \varinjlim_{m} H^{n+1}_m(F).$$

Conjecture 1. The natural homomorphism $H_m^{n+1}(F) \to H^{n+1}(F)$ is injective and the image of this homomorphism coincides with the m-torsion part of the group $H^{n+1}(F)$.

24 O. Izhboldin

This conjecture follows easily from the Milnor–Bloch–Kato conjecture (see subsection 4.1) in degree n. In particular, it is proved for $n \leq 2$. For fields of characteristic p we have the following theorem.

Theorem 1. Conjecture 1 is true if char (F) = p and $m = p^i$.

2.3. Computing the group $H_m^{n+1}(F)$ for some fields

We start with the following well known result.

Theorem 2 (classical). Let F be a perfect field. Suppose that char(F) = 0 or char(F) is prime to m. Then

$$\begin{split} &H_{m}^{n+1}\left(F\left((t)\right)\right)\simeq H_{m}^{n+1}(F)\oplus H_{m}^{n}(F)\\ &H_{m}^{n+1}\left(F\left(t\right)\right)\simeq H_{m}^{n+1}(F)\oplus \coprod_{\text{monic irred }f\left(t\right)}H_{m}^{n}\left(F\left[t\right]/f(t)\right). \end{split}$$

It is known that we cannot omit the conditions on F and m in the statement of Theorem 2. To generalize the theorem to the arbitrary case we need the following notation. For a complete discrete valuation field K and its maximal unramified extension $K_{\rm ur}$ define the groups $H^n_{m,{\rm ur}}(K)$ and $\widetilde{H}^n_m(K)$ as follows:

$$H^n_{m,\mathrm{ur}}(K) = \ker(H^n_m(K) \to H^n_m(K_{\mathrm{ur}}))$$
 and $\widetilde{H}^n_m(K) = H^n_m(K)/H^n_{m,\mathrm{ur}}(K)$.

Note that for a field K = F((t)) we obviously have $K_{ur} = F^{sep}((t))$. We also note that under the hypotheses of Theorem 2 we have $H^n(K) = H^n_{m,ur}(K)$ and $H^n(K) = 0$. The following theorem is due to Kato.

Theorem 3 (Kato, [K1, Th. 3 $\S 0$]). Let K be a complete discrete valuation field with residue field k. Then

$$H_{m,\mathrm{ur}}^{n+1}(K) \simeq H_m^{n+1}(k) \oplus H_m^n(k).$$

In particular, $H_{m,\mathrm{ur}}^{n+1}(F((t))) \simeq H_m^{n+1}(F) \oplus H_m^n(F)$.

This theorem plays a key role in Kato's approach to class field theory of multidimensional local fields (see section 5 of this part).

To generalize the second isomorphism of Theorem 2 we need the following notation. Set

$$\begin{split} &H^{n+1}_{m,\text{sep}}(F(t)) = \ker{(H^{n+1}_m(F(t)) \to H^{n+1}_m(F^{\text{sep}}(t)))} \text{ and } \\ &\widetilde{H}^{n+1}_m(F(t)) = H^{n+1}_m(F(t)) / H^{n+1}_{m,\text{sep}}(F(t)). \end{split}$$

If the field F satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 2, we have

$$H^{n+1}_{m,\text{sep}}(F(t)) = H^{n+1}_m(F(t)) \text{ and } \widetilde{H}^{n+1}_m(F(t)) = 0.$$

In the general case we have the following statement.

Theorem 4 (Izhboldin, [I2, Introduction]).

$$\begin{split} H^{n+1}_{m,\text{sep}}(F\left(t\right)) &\simeq H^{n+1}_{m}(F) \oplus \coprod_{\text{monic irred } f\left(t\right)} H^{n}_{m}\left(F[t]/f(t)\right), \\ &\widetilde{H}^{n+1}_{m}\left(F\left(t\right)\right) \simeq \coprod_{v} \widetilde{H}^{n+1}_{m}(F(t)_{v}) \end{split}$$

where v runs over all normalized discrete valuations of the field F(t) and $F(t)_v$ denotes the v-completion of F(t).

2.4. On the group $K_n(F)$

In this subsection we discuss the structure of the torsion and cotorsion in Milnor K-theory. For simplicity, we consider the case of prime m=p. We start with the following fundamental theorem concerning the quotient group $K_n(F)/p$ for fields of characteristic p.

Theorem 5 (Bloch–Kato–Gabber, [BK, Th. 2.1]). Let F be a field of characteristic p. Then the differential symbol

$$d_F: K_n(F)/p \to \Omega_F^n, \qquad \{a_1, \ldots, a_n\} \mapsto \frac{da_1}{a_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{da_n}{a_n}$$

is injective and its image coincides with the kernel $\nu_n(F)$ of the homomorphism \wp (for the definition see Case 2 of 2.1). In other words, the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow K_n(F)/p \stackrel{d_F}{\longrightarrow} \Omega^n_F \stackrel{\wp}{\longrightarrow} \Omega^n_F/d\Omega^{n-1}_F$$

is exact.

This theorem relates the Milnor K-group modulo p of a field of characteristic p with a submodule of the differential module whose structure is easier to understand. The theorem is important for Kato's approach to higher local class field theory. For a sketch of its proof see subsection A2 in the appendix to this section.

There exists a natural generalization of the above theorem for the quotient groups $K_n(F)/p^i$ by using De Rham–Witt complex ([BK, Cor. 2.8]).

Now, we recall well known Tate's conjecture concerning the torsion subgroup of the Milnor K-groups.

Conjecture 2 (Tate). Let F be a field and p be a prime integer.

- (i) If char $(F) \neq p$ and $\zeta_p \in F$, then ${}_pK_n(F) = \{\zeta_p\} \cdot K_{n-1}(F)$.
- (ii) If char (F) = p then $_pK_n(F) = 0$.

This conjecture is trivial in the case where $n \leq 1$. In the other cases we have the following theorem.

26 O. Izhboldin

Theorem 6. Let F be a field and n be a positive integer.

- (1) Tate's Conjecture holds if $n \leq 2$ (Suslin, [S]),
- (2) Part (ii) of Tate's Conjecture holds for all n (Izhboldin, [I1]).

The proof of this theorem is closely related to the proof of Satz 90 for K-groups. Let us recall two basic conjectures on this subject.

Conjecture 3 (Satz 90 for K_n). If L/F is a cyclic extension of degree p with the Galois group $G = \langle \sigma \rangle$ then the sequence

$$K_n(L) \xrightarrow{1-\sigma} K_n(L) \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} K_n(F)$$

is exact.

There is an analogue of the above conjecture for the quotient group $K_n(F)/p$. Fix the following notation till the end of this section:

Definition. For a field F set

$$k_n(F) = K_n(F)/p$$
.

Conjecture 4 (Small Satz 90 for k_n). If L/F is a cyclic extension of degree p with the Galois group $G = \langle \sigma \rangle$, then the sequence

$$k_n(F) \oplus k_n(L) \xrightarrow{i_{F/L} \oplus (1-\sigma)} k_n(L) \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} k_n(F)$$

is exact.

The conjectures 2,3 and 4 are not independent:

Lemma (Suslin). Fix a prime integer p and integer n. Then in the category of all fields (of a given characteristic) we have

(Small Satz 90 for k_n) + (Tate conjecture for ${}_{v}K_n$) \iff (Satz 90 for K_n).

Moreover, for a given field F we have

(Small Satz 90 for k_n) + (Tate conjecture for $_pK_n$) \Rightarrow (Satz 90 for K_n)

and

$$(Satz\ 90\ for\ K_n) \Rightarrow (small\ Satz\ 90\ for\ k_n).$$

Satz 90 conjectures are proved for $n \le 2$ (Merkurev-Suslin, [MS1]). If p = 2, n = 3, and char $(F) \ne 2$, the conjectures were proved by Merkurev and Suslin [MS] and Rost. For p = 2 the conjectures follow from recent results of Voevodsky. For fields of characteristic p the conjectures are proved for all n:

Theorem 7 (Izhboldin, [I1]). Let F be a field of characteristic p and L/F be a cyclic extension of degree p. Then the following sequence is exact:

$$0 \to K_n(F) \to K_n(L) \xrightarrow{1-\sigma} K_n(L) \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} K_n(F) \to H_n^{n+1}(F) \to H_n^{n+1}(L)$$

2.5. On the group $K_n^t(F)$

In this subsection we discuss the same issues, as in the previous subsection, for the group $K_n^t(F)$.

Definition. Let F be a field and p be a prime integer. We set

$$DK_n(F) = \bigcap_{m \geqslant 1} mK_n(F)$$
 and $D_pK_n(F) = \bigcap_{i \geqslant 0} p^iK_n(F)$.

We define the group $K_n^t(F)$ as the quotient group:

$$K_n^t(F) = K_n(F)/DK_n(F) = K_n(F)/\bigcap_{m \geqslant 1} mK_n(F).$$

The group $K_n^t(F)$ is of special interest for higher class field theory (see sections 6, 7 and 10). We have the following evident isomorphism (see also 2.0):

$$K_n^t(F) \simeq \operatorname{im} \left(K_n(F) \to \varprojlim_{m} K_n(F)/m \right).$$

The quotient group $K_n^t(F)/m$ is obviously isomorphic to the group $K_n(F)/m$. As for the torsion subgroup of $K_n^t(F)$, it is quite natural to state the same questions as for the group $K_n(F)$.

Question 1. Are the K^t -analogue of Tate's conjecture and Satz 90 Conjecture true for the group $K_n^t(F)$?

If we know the (positive) answer to the corresponding question for the group $K_n(F)$, then the previous question is equivalent to the following:

Question 2. Is the group $DK_n(F)$ divisible?

At first sight this question looks trivial because the group $DK_n(F)$ consists of all divisible elements of $K_n(F)$. However, the following theorem shows that the group $DK_n(F)$ is not necessarily a divisible group!

Theorem 8 (Izhboldin, [I3]). For every $n \ge 2$ and prime p there is a field F such that $char(F) \ne p$, $\zeta_p \in F$ and

(1) The group $DK_n(F)$ is not divisible, and the group $D_pK_2(F)$ is not p-divisible,

28 O. Izhboldin

(2) The K^t -analogue of Tate's conjecture is false for K_n^t :

$$_{p}K_{n}^{t}(F) \neq \{\zeta_{p}\} \cdot K_{n-1}^{t}(F).$$

(3) The K^t -analogue of Hilbert 90 conjecture is false for group $K_n^t(F)$.

Remark 1. The field F satisfying the conditions of Theorem 8 can be constructed as the function field of some infinite dimensional variety over any field of characteristic zero whose group of roots of unity is finite.

Quite a different construction for irregular prime numbers p and $F = \mathbb{Q}(\mu_p)$ follows from works of G. Banaszak [B].

Remark 2. If F is a field of characteristic p then the groups $D_pK_n(F)$ and $DK_n(F)$ are p-divisible. This easily implies that ${}_pK_n^t(F)=0$. Moreover, Satz 90 theorem holds for K_n^t in the case of cyclic p-extensions.

Remark 3. If F is a multidimensional local fields then the group $K_n^t(F)$ is studied in section 6 of this volume. In particular, Fesenko (see subsections 6.3–6.8 of section 6) gives positive answers to Questions 1 and 2 for multidimensional local fields.

References

- [B] G. Banaszak, Generalization of the Moore exact sequence and the wild kernel for higher K-groups, Compos. Math., 86(1993), 281–305.
- [BK] S. Bloch and K. Kato, p-adic étale cohomology, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 63, (1986), 107–152.
- [F] I. Fesenko, Topological Milnor K-groups of higher local fields, section 6 of this volume.
- [I1] O. Izhboldin, On p-torsion in K_*^M for fields of characteristic p, Adv. Soviet Math., vol. 4, 129–144, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence RI, 1991
- [I2] O. Izhboldin, On the cohomology groups of the field of rational functions, Mathematics in St.Petersburg, 21–44, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, vol. 174, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1996.
- [I3] O. Izhboldin, On the quotient group of $K_2(F)$, preprint, www.maths.nott.ac.uk/personal/ibf/stqk.ps
- [K1] K. Kato, Galois cohomology of complete discrete valuation fields, In Algebraic *K*-theory, Lect. Notes in Math. 967, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1982, 215–238.
- [K2] K. Kato, Symmetric bilinear forms, quadratic forms and Milnor K-theory in characteristic two, Invent. Math. 66(1982), 493–510.
- [MS1] A. S. Merkur'ev and A. A. Suslin, *K*-cohomology of Severi-Brauer varieties and the norm residue homomorphism, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 46(1982); English translation in Math. USSR Izv. 21(1983), 307–340.

- [MS2] A. S. Merkur'ev and A. A. Suslin, The norm residue homomorphism of degree three, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 54(1990); English translation in Math. USSR Izv. 36(1991), 349–367.
- [MS3] A. S. Merkur'ev and A. A. Suslin, The group K_3 for a field, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 54(1990); English translation in Math. USSR Izv. 36(1991), 541–565.
- [S] A. A. Suslin, Torsion in K_2 of fields, K-theory 1(1987), 5–29.

Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section A, pages 31–41

A. Appendix to Section 2

Masato Kurihara and Ivan Fesenko

This appendix aims to provide more details on several notions introduced in section 2, as well as to discuss some basic facts on differentials and to provide a sketch of the proof of Bloch–Kato–Gabber's theorem. The work on it was completed after sudden death of Oleg Izhboldin, the author of section 2.

A1. Definitions and properties of several basic notions (by M. Kurihara)

Before we proceed to our main topics, we collect here the definitions and properties of several basic notions.

A1.1. Differential modules.

Let A and B be commutative rings such that B is an A-algebra. We define $\Omega^1_{B/A}$ to be the B-module of regular differentials over A. By definition, this B-module $\Omega^1_{B/A}$ is a unique B-module which has the following property. For a B-module M we denote by $\mathrm{Der}_A(B,M)$ the set of all A-derivations (an A-homomorphism $\varphi\colon B\to M$ is called an A-derivation if $\varphi(xy)=x\varphi(y)+y\varphi(x)$ and $\varphi(x)=0$ for any $x\in A$). Then, φ induces $\overline{\varphi}\colon \Omega^1_{B/A}\to M$ ($\varphi=\overline{\varphi}\circ d$ where d is the canonical derivation $d\colon B\to\Omega^1_{B/A}$), and $\varphi\mapsto\overline{\varphi}$ yields an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Der}_A(B,M) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_B(\Omega^1_{B/A},M).$$

In other words, $\Omega^1_{B/A}$ is the B-module defined by the following generators: dx for any $x \in B$ and relations:

$$d(xy) = xdy + ydx$$
$$dx = 0 \quad \text{for any } x \in A.$$

Published 10 December 2000: (c) Geometry & Topology Publications

If $A = \mathbb{Z}$, we simply denote $\Omega_{B/\mathbb{Z}}^1$ by Ω_B^1 .

When we consider Ω_A^1 for a local ring A, the following lemma is very useful.

Lemma. If A is a local ring, we have a surjective homomorphism

$$A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A^* \longrightarrow \Omega^1_A$$

$$a \otimes b \mapsto ad \log b = a \frac{db}{b}$$
.

The kernel of this map is generated by elements of the form

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} (a_i \otimes a_i) - \sum_{i=1}^{l} (b_i \otimes b_i)$$

for a_i , $b_i \in A^*$ such that $\sum_{i=1}^k a_i = \sum_{i=1}^l b_i$.

Proof. First, we show the surjectivity. It is enough to show that xdy is in the image of the above map for $x, y \in A$. If y is in A^* , xdy is the image of $xy \otimes y$. If y is not in A^* , y is in the maximal ideal of A, and 1 + y is in A^* . Since xdy = xd(1 + y), xdy is the image of $x(1 + y) \otimes (1 + y)$.

Let J be the subgroup of $A \otimes A^*$ generated by the elements

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} (a_i \otimes a_i) - \sum_{i=1}^{l} (b_i \otimes b_i)$$

for a_i , $b_i \in A^*$ such that $\Sigma_{i=1}^k a_i = \Sigma_{i=1}^l b_i$. Put $M = (A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A^*)/J$. Since it is clear that J is in the kernel of the map in the lemma, $a \otimes b \mapsto ad \log b$ induces a surjective homomorphism $M \to \Omega^1_A$, whose injectivity we have to show.

We regard $A \otimes A^*$ as an A-module via $a(x \otimes y) = ax \otimes y$. We will show that J is a sub A-module of $A \otimes A^*$. To see this, it is enough to show

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} (xa_i \otimes a_i) - \sum_{i=1}^{l} (xb_i \otimes b_i) \in J$$

for any $x \in A$. If $x \notin A^*$, x can be written as x = y + z for some y, $z \in A^*$, so we may assume that $x \in A^*$. Then,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} (xa_i \otimes a_i) - \sum_{i=1}^{l} (xb_i \otimes b_i)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} (xa_i \otimes xa_i - xa_i \otimes x) - \sum_{i=1}^{l} (xb_i \otimes xb_i - xb_i \otimes x)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} (xa_i \otimes xa_i) - \sum_{i=1}^{l} (xb_i \otimes xb_i) \in J.$$

Thus, J is an A-module, and $M = (A \otimes A^*)/J$ is also an A-module.

In order to show the bijectivity of $M \to \Omega^1_A$, we construct the inverse map $\Omega^1_A \to M$. By definition of the differential module (see the property after the definition), it is enough to check that the map

$$\varphi: A \longrightarrow M$$
 $x \mapsto x \otimes x$ (if $x \in A^*$)
 $x \mapsto (1+x) \otimes (1+x)$ (if $x \notin A^*$)

is a \mathbb{Z} -derivation. So, it is enough to check $\varphi(xy) = x\varphi(y) + y\varphi(x)$. We will show this in the case where both x and y are in the maximal ideal of A. The remaining cases are easier, and are left to the reader. By definition, $x\varphi(y) + y\varphi(x)$ is the class of

$$x(1+y) \otimes (1+y) + y(1+x) \otimes (1+x)$$

$$= (1+x)(1+y) \otimes (1+y) - (1+y) \otimes (1+y)$$

$$+ (1+y)(1+x) \otimes (1+x) - (1+x) \otimes (1+x)$$

$$= (1+x)(1+y) \otimes (1+x)(1+y) - (1+x) \otimes (1+x)$$

$$- (1+y) \otimes (1+y).$$

But the class of this element in M is the same as the class of $(1+xy)\otimes(1+xy)$. Thus, φ is a derivation. This completes the proof of the lemma.

By this lemma, we can regard Ω_A^1 as a group defined by the following generators: symbols [a,b] for $a \in A$ and $b \in A^*$ and relations:

$$\begin{aligned} &[a_1+a_2,b] = [a_1,b] + [a_2,b] \\ &[a,b_1b_2] = [a,b_1] + [a_2,b_2] \\ &\sum_{i=1}^k [a_i,a_i] = \sum_{i=1}^l [b_i,b_i] \quad \text{where a_i's and b_i's satisfy} \quad \sum_{i=1}^k a_i = \sum_{i=1}^l b_i. \end{aligned}$$

A1.2. n-th differential forms.

Let A and B be commutative rings such that B is an A-algebra. For a positive integer n > 0, we define $\Omega^n_{B/A}$ by

$$\Omega^n_{B/A} = \bigwedge_B \Omega^1_{B/A}.$$

Then, d naturally defines an A-homomorphism $d:\Omega^n_{B/A}\to\Omega^{n+1}_{B/A},$ and we have a complex

$$\ldots \longrightarrow \Omega^{n-1}_{B/A} \longrightarrow \Omega^n_{B/A} \longrightarrow \Omega^{n+1}_{B/A} \longrightarrow \ldots$$

which we call the de Rham complex.

For a commutative ring A, which we regard as a \mathbb{Z} -module, we simply write Ω_A^n for $\Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^n$. For a local ring A, by Lemma A1.1, we have $\Omega_A^n = \bigwedge_A^n ((A \otimes A^*)/J)$, where J is the group as in the proof of Lemma A1.1. Therefore we obtain

Lemma. If A is a local ring, we have a surjective homomorphism

$$A \otimes (A^*)^{\otimes n} \longrightarrow \Omega^n_{A/\mathbb{Z}}$$
$$a \otimes b_1 \otimes \dots \otimes b_n \mapsto a \frac{db_1}{b_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{db_n}{b_n}.$$

The kernel of this map is generated by elements of the form

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} (a_i \otimes a_i \otimes b_1 \otimes ... \otimes b_{n-1}) - \sum_{i=1}^{l} (b_i \otimes b_i \otimes b_1 \otimes ... \otimes b_{n-1})$$

(where $\Sigma_{i=1}^k a_i = \Sigma_{i=1}^l b_i$) and

$$a \otimes b_1 \otimes ... \otimes b_n$$
 with $b_i = b_i$ for some $i \neq j$.

A1.3. Galois cohomology of $\mathbb{Z}/p^n(r)$ for a field of characteristic p>0.

Let F be a field of characteristic p > 0. We denote by F^{sep} the separable closure of F in an algebraic closure of F.

We consider Galois cohomology groups $H^q(F, -) := H^q(\text{Gal}(F^{\text{sep}}/F), -)$. For an integer $r \ge 0$, we define

$$H^q(F, \mathbb{Z}/p(r)) = H^{q-r}(\operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{sep}}/F), \Omega^r_{F^{\operatorname{sep}}, \log})$$

where $\Omega^r_{F^{\text{sep}},\log}$ is the logarithmic part of $\Omega^r_{F^{\text{sep}}}$, namely the subgroup generated by $d\log a_1\wedge\ldots\wedge d\log a_r$ for all $a_i\in (F^{\text{sep}})^*$.

We have an exact sequence (cf. [I, p.579])

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega^r_{F^{\mathrm{sep}},\log} \longrightarrow \Omega^r_{F^{\mathrm{sep}}} \xrightarrow{\mathbf{F}-1} \Omega^r_{F^{\mathrm{sep}}}/d\Omega^{r-1}_{F^{\mathrm{sep}}} \longrightarrow 0$$

where \mathbf{F} is the map

$$\mathbf{F}(a\frac{db_1}{b_1}\wedge\ldots\wedge\frac{db_r}{b_r})=a^p\frac{db_1}{b_1}\wedge\ldots\wedge\frac{db_r}{b_r}.$$

Since $\Omega^r_{F^{\text{sep}}}$ is an F-vector space, we have

$$H^n(F, \Omega^r_{F^{\text{sep}}}) = 0$$

for any n > 0 and $r \ge 0$. Hence, we also have

$$H^n(F, \Omega^r_{F^{\text{sep}}}/d\Omega^{r-1}_{F^{\text{sep}}}) = 0$$

for n > 0. Taking the cohomology of the above exact sequence, we obtain

$$H^n(F, \Omega^r_{F^{\text{sep}} \log}) = 0$$

for any $n \ge 2$. Further, we have an isomorphism

$$H^1(F,\Omega^r_{F^{\text{sep}},\log}) = \operatorname{coker}(\Omega^r_F \xrightarrow{\mathbf{F}-1} \Omega^r_F / d\Omega^{r-1}_F)$$

and

$$H^0(F, \Omega_{F}^{r} = \log) = \ker(\Omega_F^r \xrightarrow{\mathbf{F}-1} \Omega_F^r / d\Omega_F^{r-1}).$$

Lemma. For a field F of characteristic p > 0 and n > 0, we have

$$H^{n+1}(F, \mathbb{Z}/p(n)) = \operatorname{coker}(\Omega_F^n \xrightarrow{\mathbf{F}-1} \Omega_F^n / d\Omega_F^{n-1})$$

and

$$H^n(F, \mathbb{Z}/p(n)) = \ker(\Omega_F^n \xrightarrow{\mathbf{F}-1} \Omega_F^n / d\Omega_F^{n-1}).$$

Furthermore, $H^n(F, \mathbb{Z}/p(n-1))$ is isomorphic to the group which has the following generators: symbols $[a, b_1, ..., b_{n-1}]$ where $a \in F$, and $b_1, ..., b_{n-1} \in F^*$ and relations:

$$\begin{aligned} &[a_1+a_2,b_1,...,b_{n-1}] = [a_1,b_1,...,b_{n-1}] + [a_2,b_1,...,b_{n-1}] \\ &[a,b_1,....,b_ib_i',...b_{n-1}] = [a,b_1,....,b_i,...b_{n-1}] + [a,b_1,....,b_i',...b_{n-1}] \\ &[a,a,b_2,....,b_{n-1}] = 0 \\ &[a^p-a,b_1,b_2,....,b_{n-1}] = 0 \\ &[a,b_1,....,b_{n-1}] = 0 \quad where \ b_i = b_i \ for \ some \ i \neq j. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The first half of the lemma follows from the computation of $H^n(F, \Omega^r_{F^{\text{sep}}, \log})$ above and the definition of $H^q(F, \mathbb{Z}/p(r))$. Using

$$H^{n}(F, \mathbb{Z}/p(n-1)) = \operatorname{coker}(\Omega_{F}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\mathbf{F}-1} \Omega_{F}^{n-1}/d\Omega_{F}^{n-2})$$

and Lemma A1.2 we obtain the explicit description of $H^n(F, \mathbb{Z}/p(n-1))$.

We sometimes use the notation $H_p^n(F)$ which is defined by

$$H_n^n(F) = H^n(F, \mathbb{Z}/p(n-1)).$$

Moreover, for any i > 1, we can define $\mathbb{Z}/p^i(r)$ by using the de Rham-Witt complexes instead of the de Rham complex. For a positive integer i > 0, following Illusie [I], define $H^q(F, \mathbb{Z}/p^i(r))$ by

$$H^q(F, \mathbb{Z}/p^i(r)) = H^{q-r}(F, W_i\Omega^r_{F^{\text{sep}}, \log})$$

where $W_i\Omega^r_{F^{\mathrm{sep}},\log}$ is the logarithmic part of $W_i\Omega^r_{F^{\mathrm{sep}}}$.

Though we do not give here the proof, we have the following explicit description of $H^n(F, \mathbb{Z}/p^i (n-1))$ using the same method as in the case of i=1.

Lemma. For a field F of characteristic p > 0 let $W_i(F)$ denote the ring of Witt vectors of length i, and let $\mathbf{F}: W_i(F) \to W_i(F)$ denote the Frobenius endomorphism. For any n > 0 and i > 0, $H^n(F, \mathbb{Z}/p^i(n-1))$ is isomorphic to the group which has the following

generators: symbols $[a, b_1, ..., b_{n-1}]$ where $a \in W_i(F)$, and $b_1, ..., b_{n-1} \in F^*$ and relations:

$$\begin{aligned} &[a_1+a_2,b_1,...,b_{n-1}] = [a_1,b_1,...,b_{n-1}] + [a_2,b_1,...,b_{n-1}] \\ &[a,b_1,....,b_jb_j',...b_{n-1}] = [a,b_1,....,b_j,...b_{n-1}] + [a,b_1,....,b_j',...b_{n-1}] \\ &[(0,...,0,a,0,...,0),a,b_2,....,b_{n-1}] = 0 \\ &[\mathbf{F}(a)-a,b_1,b_2,....,b_{n-1}] = 0 \\ &[a,b_1,....,b_{n-1}] = 0 \quad \textit{where } b_i = b_k \textit{ for some } j \neq k. \end{aligned}$$

We sometimes use the notation

$$H_{n^i}^n(F) = H^n(F, \mathbb{Z}/p^i (n-1)).$$

A2. Bloch-Kato-Gabber's theorem (by I. Fesenko)

For a field k of characteristic p denote

$$\nu_n = \nu_n(k) = H^n(k, \mathbb{Z}/p(n)) = \ker(\wp: \Omega_k^n \to \Omega_k^n / d\Omega_k^{n-1}),$$

$$\wp = \mathbf{F} - 1: \left(a \frac{db_1}{b_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{db_n}{b_n} \right) \mapsto (a^p - a) \frac{db_1}{b_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{db_n}{b_n} + d\Omega_k^{n-1}.$$

Clearly, the image of the differential symbol

$$d_k: K_n(k)/p \to \Omega_k^n, \qquad \{a_1, \ldots, a_n\} \mapsto \frac{da_1}{a_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{da_n}{a_n}$$

is inside $\nu_n(k)$. We shall sketch the proof of Bloch–Kato–Gabber's theorem which states that d_k is an isomorphism between $K_n(k)/p$ and $\nu_n(k)$.

A2.1. Surjectivity of the differential symbol d_k : $K_n(k)/p \rightarrow \nu_n(k)$.

It seems impossible to suggest a shorter proof than original Kato's proof in [K, $\S 1$]. We can argue by induction on n; the case of n = 1 is obvious, so assume n > 1.

Definitions-Properties.

(1) Let $\{b_i\}_{i\in I}$ be a p-base of k (I is an ordered set). Let S be the set of all strictly increasing maps

$$s: \{1, \ldots, n\} \rightarrow I$$
.

For two maps $s, t: \{1, ..., n\} \to I$ write s < t if $s(i) \le t(i)$ for all i and $s(i) \ne t(i)$ for some i.

(2) Denote $d \log a := a^{-1} da$. Put

$$\omega_s = d \log b_{s(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d \log b_{s(n)}$$
.

Then $\{\omega_s : s \in S\}$ is a basis of Ω_k^n over k.

(3) For a map $\theta: I \to \{0, 1, \dots, p-1\}$ such that $\theta(i) = 0$ for almost all i set

$$b_{\theta} = \prod b_i^{\theta(i)}.$$

Then $\{b_{\theta}\omega_s\}$ is a basis of Ω_k^n over k^p .

(4) Denote by $\Omega^n_k(\theta)$ the k^p -vector space generated by $b_{\theta}\omega_s, s\in S$. Then $\Omega^n_k(0)\cap d\Omega^{n-1}_k=0$. For an extension l of k, such that $k\supset l^p$, denote by $\Omega^n_{l/k}$ the module of relative differentials. Let $\{b_i\}_{i\in I}$ be a p-base of l over k. Define $\Omega^n_{l/k}(\theta)$ for a map $\theta\colon I\to\{0,1,\ldots,p-1\}$ similarly to the previous definition. The cohomology group of the complex

$$\Omega^{n-1}_{l/k}(\theta) o \Omega^n_{l/k}(\theta) o \Omega^{n+1}_{l/k}(\theta)$$

is zero if $\theta \neq 0$ and is $\Omega_{1/k}^n(0)$ if $\theta = 0$.

We shall use *Cartier's theorem* (which can be more or less easily proved by induction on |l:k|): the sequence

$$0 \to l^*/k^* \to \Omega^1_{l/k} \to \Omega^1_{l/k}/dl$$

is exact, where the second map is defined as $b \mod k^* \to d \log b$ and the third map is the map $ad \log b \mapsto (a^p - a)d \log b + dl$.

Proposition. Let $\Omega_k^n(< s)$ be the k-subspace of Ω_k^n generated by all ω_t for $s > t \in S$. Let $k^{p-1} = k$ and let a be a non-zero element of k. Let I be finite. Suppose that

$$(a^p - a)\omega_s \in \Omega_k^n(\langle s) + d\Omega_k^{n-1}.$$

Then there are $v \in \Omega_k^n(\langle s \rangle)$ and

$$x_i \in k^p(\{b_i : j \leqslant s(i)\})$$
 for $1 \leqslant i \leqslant n$

such that

$$a\omega_s = v + d\log x_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge d\log x_n$$
.

Proof of the surjectivity of the differential symbol. First, suppose that $k^{p-1}=k$ and I is finite. Let $S=\{s_1,\ldots,s_m\}$ with $s_1>\cdots>s_m$. Let $s_0\colon\{1,\ldots,n\}\to I$ be a map such that $s_0>s_1$. Denote by A the subgroup of Ω^n_k generated by $d\log x_1\wedge\cdots\wedge d\log x_n$. Then $A\subset\nu_n$. By induction on $0\leqslant j\leqslant m$ using the proposition it is straightforward to show that $\nu_n\subset A+\Omega^n_k(<\!s_j)$, and hence $\nu_n=A$.

To treat the general case put $c(k) = \operatorname{coker}(k_n(k) \to \nu_n(k))$. Since every field is the direct limit of finitely generated fields and the functor c commutes with direct limits, it is sufficient to show that c(k) = 0 for a finitely generated field k. In particular, we may

assume that k has a finite p-base. For a finite extension k' of k there is a commutative diagram

$$k_n(k') \longrightarrow \nu_n(k')$$
 $N_{k'/k} \downarrow \qquad \text{Tr }_{k'/k} \downarrow$
 $k_n(k) \longrightarrow \nu_n(k).$

Hence the composite $c(k) \to c(k') \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Tr}_{k'/k}} c(k)$ is multiplication by |k':k|. Therefore, if |k':k| is prime to p then $c(k) \to c(k')$ is injective.

Now pass from k to a field l which is the compositum of all l_i where $l_{i+1} = l_i(\sqrt[p-1]{l_{i-1}})$, $l_0 = k$. Then $l = l^{p-1}$. Since l/k is separable, l has a finite p-base and by the first paragraph of this proof c(l) = 0. The degree of every finite subextension in l/k is prime to p, and by the second paragraph of this proof we conclude c(k) = 0, as required.

Proof of Proposition. First we prove the following lemma which will help us later for fields satisfying $k^{p-1} = k$ to choose a specific p-base of k.

Lemma. Let l be a purely inseparable extension of k of degree p and let $k^{p-1} = k$. Let $f: l \to k$ be a k-linear map. Then there is a non-zero $c \in l$ such that $f(c^i) = 0$ for all $1 \le i \le p-1$.

Proof of Lemma. The l-space of k-linear maps from l to k is one-dimensional, hence f=ag for some $a\in l$, where $g\colon l=k(b)\to \Omega^1_{l/k}/dl\stackrel{\sim}{\to} k,\ x\mapsto xd\log b \mod dl$ for every $x\in l$. Let $\alpha=gd\log b$ generate the one-dimensional space $\Omega^1_{l/k}/dl$ over k. Then there is $h\in k$ such that $g^pd\log b-h\alpha\in dl$. Let $z\in k$ be such that $z^{p-1}=h$. Then $((g/z)^p-g/z)d\log b\in dl$ and by Cartier's theorem we deduce that there is $w\in l$ such that $(g/z)d\log b=d\log w$. Hence $\alpha=zd\log w$ and $\Omega^1_{l/k}=dl\cup kd\log l$.

If $f(1)=ad\log b\neq 0$, then $f(1)=gd\log c$ with $g\in k, c\in l^*$ and hence $f(c^i)=0$ for all $1\leqslant i\leqslant p-1$.

Now for $s: \{1, \ldots, n\} \to I$ as in the statement of the Proposition denote

$$k_0 = k^p(\{b_i : i < s(1)\}), \quad k_1 = k^p(\{b_i : i \le s(1)\}), \quad k_2 = k^p(\{b_i : i \le s(n)\}).$$

Let $|k_2:k_1|=p^r$.

Let $a = \sum_{\theta} x_{\theta}^p b_{\theta}$. Assume that $a \notin k_2$. Then let θ, j be such that j > s(n) is the maximal index for which $\theta(j) \neq 0$ and $x_{\theta} \neq 0$.

 $\Omega_k^n(\theta)$ -projection of $(a^p-a)\omega_s$ is equal to $-x_\theta^p b_\theta \omega_s \in \Omega_k^n(< s)(\theta) + d\Omega_k^{n-1}(\theta)$. Log differentiating, we get

$$-x_{\theta}^{p} \Big(\sum_{i} \theta(i) d \log b_{i} \Big) b_{\theta} \wedge \omega_{s} \in d\Omega_{k}^{n}($$

which contradicts $-x_{\theta}^{p}\theta(j)b_{\theta}d\log b_{j} \wedge \omega_{s} \notin d\Omega_{k}^{n}(\langle s)(\theta)$. Thus, $a \in k_{2}$.

Let $m(1) < \cdots < m(r-n)$ be integers such that the union of m's and s's is equal to $[s(1), s(n)] \cap \mathbb{Z}$. Apply the Lemma to the linear map

$$f: k_1 \to \Omega^r_{k_2/k_0}/d\Omega^{r-1}_{k_2/k_0} \xrightarrow{\sim} k_0, \quad b \mapsto ba\omega_s \wedge d\log b_{m(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d\log b_{m(r-n)}.$$

Then there is a non-zero $c \in k_1$ such that

$$c^i a \omega_s \wedge d \log b_{m(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d \log b_{m(r-n)} \in d\Omega^{r-1}_{k_2/k_0}$$
 for $1 \leqslant i \leqslant p-1$.

Hence $\Omega^r_{k_2/k_0}(0)$ -projection of $c^i a \omega_s \wedge d \log b_{m(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d \log b_{m(r-n)}$ for $1 \leq i \leq p-1$ is zero.

If $c \in k_0$ then $\Omega^r_{k_2/k_0}(0)$ -projection of $a\omega_s \wedge d \log b_{m(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d \log b_{m(r-n)}$ is zero. Due to the definition of k_0 we get

$$\beta = (a^p - a)\omega_s \wedge d\log b_{m(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d\log b_{m(r-n)} \in d\Omega_{k_2/k_0}^{r-1}.$$

Then $\Omega^r_{k_2/k_0}(0)$ -projection of β is zero, and so is $\Omega^r_{k_2/k_0}(0)$ -projection of

$$a^p \omega_s \wedge d \log b_{m(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d \log b_{m(r-n)}$$

a contradiction. Thus, $c \notin k_0$.

From $dk_0 \subset \sum_{i < s(1)} k^p db_i$ we deduce $dk_0 \wedge \Omega_k^{n-1} \subset \Omega_k^n(< s)$. Since $k_0(c) = k_0(b_{s(1)})$, there are $a_i \in k_0$ such that $b_{s(1)} = \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} a_i c^i$. Then

 $ad \log b_{s(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d \log b_{s(n)} \equiv a' d \log b_{s(2)} \cdots \wedge d \log b_{s(n)} \wedge d \log c \mod \Omega_k^n(\langle s \rangle).$

Define
$$s': \{1, \ldots, n-1\} \rightarrow I$$
 by $s'(j) = s(j+1)$. Then

$$a\omega_s = v_1 + a'\omega_{s'} \wedge d\log c$$
 with $v_1 \in \Omega_k^n(< s)$

and $c^i a' \omega_{s'} \wedge d \log c \wedge d \log b_{m(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d \log b_{m(r-n)} \in d\Omega^{r-1}_{k_2/k_0}$. The set

$$I' = \{c\} \cup \{b_i : s(1) < i \leqslant s(n)\}$$

is a *p*-base of k_2/k_0 . Since c^ia' for $1 \le i \le p-1$ have zero $k_2(0)$ -projection with respect to I', there are $a'_0 \in k_0$, $a'_1 \in \bigoplus_{\theta \ne 0} k_1 b'_{\theta}$ with $b'_{\theta} = \prod_{s(1) < i \le s(n)} b^{\theta(i)}_i$ such that $a' = a'_0 + a'_1$.

The image of $a\omega_s \wedge d\log b_{m(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d\log b_{m(r-n)}$ with respect to the Artin–Schreier map belongs to $\Omega^r_{k_2/k_0}$ and so is

$$(a'^p - a')d \log c \wedge \omega_{s'} \wedge d \log b_{m(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d \log b_{m(r-n)}$$

which is the image of

$$a'd \log c \wedge \omega_{s'} \wedge d \log b_{m(1)} \wedge \cdots \wedge d \log b_{m(r-n)}$$
.

Then $a'^p - a'_0$, as $k_0(0)$ -projection of $a'^p - a'$, is zero. So $a' - {a'}^p = a'_1$. Note that $d(a'_1\omega_{s'}) \wedge d\log c \in d\Omega^n_{k/k_0}(< s) = d\Omega^{n-1}_{k/k_0}(< s) \wedge d\log c$.

Hence $d(a'_1\omega_{s'})\in d\Omega^{n-1}_{k/k_0}(< s)+d\log\ c\wedge d\Omega^{n-2}_{k/k_0}.$ Therefore $d(a'_1\omega_{s'})\in d\Omega^{n-1}_{k/k_1}(< s)$ and $a'_1\omega_{s'}=\alpha+\beta$ with $\alpha\in\Omega^{n-1}_{k/k_1}(< s),\ \beta\in\ker(d:\Omega^{n-1}_{k/k_1}\to\Omega^n_{k/k_1}).$

Since k(0)-projection of a_1' is zero, $\Omega_{k/k_1}^{n-1}(0)$ -projection of $a_1'\omega_{s'}$ is zero. Then we deduce that $\beta(0) = \sum_{x_t \in k_1, t < s'} x_t^p \omega_t$, so $a_1'\omega_{s'} = \alpha + \beta(0) + (\beta - \beta(0))$. Then $\beta - \beta(0) \in \ker(d: \Omega_{k/k_1}^{n-1} \to \Omega_{k/k_1}^n)$, so $\beta - \beta(0) \in d\Omega_{k/k_1}^{n-2}$. Hence $(a'-a'^p)\omega_{s'} = a_1'\omega_{s'}$ belongs to $\Omega_{k/k_1}^{n-1}(< s') + d\Omega_k^{n-2}$. By induction on n, there are $v' \in \Omega_k^{n-1}(< s')$, $x_i \in k^p\{b_j: j \leqslant s(i)\}$ such that $a'\omega_{s'} = v' + d\log x_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge d\log x_n$. Thus, $a\omega_s = v_1 \pm d\log c \wedge v' \pm d\log c \wedge d\log x_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge d\log x_n$.

A2.2. Injectivity of the differential symbol.

We can assume that k is a finitely generated field over \mathbb{F}_p . Then there is a finitely generated algebra over \mathbb{F}_p with a local ring being a discrete valuation ring $\mathfrak O$ such that $\mathfrak O/\mathfrak M$ is isomorphic to k and the field of fractions E of $\mathfrak O$ is purely transcendental over \mathbb{F}_p .

Using standard results on $K_n(l(t))$ and $\Omega_{l(t)}^n$ one can show that the injectivity of d_l implies the injectivity of $d_{l(t)}$. Since $d_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is injective, so is d_E .

Define $k_n(0) = \ker(k_n(E) \to k_n(k))$. Then $k_n(0)$ is generated by symbols and there is a homomorphism

$$k_n(0) \to k_n(k), \quad \{a_1, \ldots, a_n\} \to \{\overline{a_1}, \ldots, \overline{a_n}\},$$

where \overline{a} is the residue of a. Let $k_n(0, M)$ be its kernel.

Define $\nu_n(\mathbb{O}) = \ker(\Omega^n_{\mathbb{O}} \to \Omega^n_{\mathbb{O}}/d\Omega^{n-1}_{\mathbb{O}}), \ \nu_n(\mathbb{O}, \mathbb{M}) = \ker(\nu_n(\mathbb{O}) \to \nu_n(k)).$ There is a homomorphism $k_n(\mathbb{O}) \to \nu_n(\mathbb{O})$ such that

$$\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\} \mapsto d \log a_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge d \log a_n.$$

So there is a commutative diagram

$$0 \longrightarrow k_n(0, \mathbb{M}) \longrightarrow k_n(0) \longrightarrow k_n(k) \longrightarrow 0$$

$$\varphi \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow_k \downarrow$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \nu_n(0, \mathbb{M}) \longrightarrow \nu_n(0) \longrightarrow \nu_n(k) \qquad .$$

Similarly to A2.1 one can show that φ is surjective [BK, Prop. 2.4]. Thus, d_k is injective. \Box

References

- [BK] S. Bloch and K. Kato, *p*-adic étale cohomology, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 63, (1986), 107–152.
- [I] L. Illusie, Complexe de de Rham–Witt et cohomologie cristalline, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup.(4), 12(1979), 501–661.
- [K] K. Kato, Galois cohomology of complete discrete valuation fields, In Algebraic K-theory, Lect. Notes in Math. 967, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1982, 215–238.

Department of Mathematics Tokyo Metropolitan University Minami-Osawa 1-1, Hachioji, Tokyo 192-03, Japan E-mail: m-kuri@comp.metro-u.ac.jp

Department of Mathematics University of Nottingham Nottingham NG7 2RD England E-mail: ibf@maths.nott.ac.uk

Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 4, pages 43–51

4. Cohomological symbol for henselian discrete valuation fields of mixed characteristic

Jinya Nakamura

4.1. Cohomological symbol map

Let K be a field. If m is prime to the characteristic of K, there exists an isomorphism

$$h_{1,K}: K^*/m \to H^1(K, \mu_m)$$

supplied by Kummer theory. Taking the cup product we get

$$(K^*/m)^q \to H^q(K, \mathbb{Z}/m(q))$$

and this factors through (by [T])

$$h_{q,K}: K_q(K)/m \to H^q(K, \mathbb{Z}/m(q)).$$

This is called the cohomological symbol or norm residue homomorphism.

Milnor–Bloch–Kato Conjecture. For every field K and every positive integer m which is prime to the characteristic of K the homomorphism $h_{q,K}$ is an isomorphism.

This conjecture is shown to be true in the following cases:

- (i) K is an algebraic number field or a function field of one variable over a finite field and q = 2, by Tate [T].
- (ii) Arbitrary K and q = 2, by Merkur'ev and Suslin [MS1].
- (iii) q = 3 and m is a power of 2, by Rost [R], independently by Merkur'ev and Suslin [MS2].
- (iv) K is a henselian discrete valuation field of mixed characteristic (0, p) and m is a power of p, by Bloch and Kato [BK].
- (v) (K, q) arbitrary and m is a power of 2, by Voevodsky [V].

For higher dimensional local fields theory Bloch–Kato's theorem is very important and the aim of this text is to review its proof.

Published 10 December 2000: (c) Geometry & Topology Publications

44 J. Nakamura

Theorem (Bloch–Kato). Let K be a henselian discrete valuation fields of mixed characteristic (0,p) (i.e., the characteristic of K is zero and that of the residue field of K is p > 0), then

$$h_{q,K}: K_q(K)/p^n \longrightarrow H^q(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^n(q))$$

is an isomorphism for all n.

Till the end of this section let K be as above, $k = k_K$ the residue field of K.

4.2. Filtration on $K_q(K)$

Fix a prime element π of K.

Definition.

$$U_m K_q(K) = \begin{cases} K_q(K), & m = 0\\ \langle \{1 + \mathcal{M}_K^m\} \cdot K_{q-1}(K) \rangle, & m > 0. \end{cases}$$

Put $gr_m K_q(K) = U_m K_q(K) / U_{m+1} K_q(K)$.

Then we get an isomorphism by [FV, Ch. IX sect. 2]

$$K_{q}(k) \oplus K_{q-1}(k) \xrightarrow{\rho_{0}} \operatorname{gr}_{0}K_{q}(K)$$

$$\rho_{0}\left(\left\{x_{1}, \ldots, x_{q}\right\}, \left\{y_{1}, \ldots, y_{q-1}\right\}\right) = \left\{\widetilde{x_{1}}, \ldots, \widetilde{x_{q}}\right\} + \left\{\widetilde{y_{1}}, \ldots, \widetilde{y_{q-1}}, \pi\right\}$$

where \widetilde{x} is a lifting of x. This map ρ_0 depends on the choice of a prime element π of K.

For $m \ge 1$ there is a surjection

$$\Omega_k^{q-1} \oplus \Omega_k^{q-2} \xrightarrow{\rho_m} \operatorname{gr}_m K_q(K)$$

defined by

$$\left(x\frac{dy_1}{y_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\frac{dy_{q-1}}{y_{q-1}},0\right)\longmapsto\left\{1+\pi^m\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y_1},\ldots,\widetilde{y_{q-1}}\right\},$$

$$\left(0,x\frac{dy_1}{y_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\frac{dy_{q-2}}{y_{q-2}}\right)\longmapsto\left\{1+\pi^m\widetilde{x},\widetilde{y_1},\ldots,\widetilde{y_{q-2}},\pi\right\}.$$

Definition.

$$\begin{split} k_q(K) &= K_q(K)/p, h_q(K) = H^q(K, \mathbb{Z}/p(q)), \\ U_m k_q(K) &= \text{im}(U_m K_q(K)) \text{ in } k_q(K), \qquad U_m h^q(K) = h_{q,K}(U_m k_q(K)), \\ \text{gr}_m h^q(K) &= U_m h^q(K)/U_{m+1} h^q(K). \end{split}$$

Proposition. Denote $\nu_q(k) = \ker(\Omega_k^q \xrightarrow{1-C^{-1}} \Omega_k^q/d\Omega_k^{q-1})$ where C^{-1} is the inverse Cartier operator:

$$x \frac{dy_1}{y_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{dy_q}{y_q} \longmapsto x^p \frac{dy_1}{y_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{dy_q}{y_q}.$$

Put e' = pe/(p-1), where $e = v_K(p)$.

(i) There exist isomorphisms $\nu_q(k) \to k_q(k)$ for any q; and the composite map denoted by $\widetilde{\rho}_0$

$$\widetilde{\rho}_0$$
: $\nu_q(k) \oplus \nu_{q-1}(k) \xrightarrow{\sim} k_q(k) \oplus k_{q-1}(k) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{gr}_0 k_q(K)$

is also an isomorphism.

(ii) If $1 \le m < e'$ and $p \nmid m$, then ρ_m induces a surjection

$$\widetilde{\rho}_m: \Omega_k^{q-1} \to \operatorname{gr}_m k_q(K).$$

(iii) If $1 \le m < e'$ and $p \mid m$, then ρ_m factors through

$$\widetilde{\rho}_m: \Omega_k^{q-1}/Z_1^{q-1} \oplus \Omega_k^{q-2}/Z_1^{q-2} \to \operatorname{gr}_m k_q(K)$$

and $\widetilde{
ho}_m$ is a surjection. Here we denote $Z_1^q=Z_1\Omega_k^q=\ker(d:\Omega_k^q o\Omega_k^{q+1})$.

(iv) If $m = e' \in \mathbb{Z}$, then $\rho_{e'}$ factors through

$$\widetilde{\rho}_{e'}$$
: $\Omega_k^{q-1}/(1+a\,\mathrm{C})Z_1^{q-1}\oplus\Omega_k^{q-2}/(1+a\,\mathrm{C})Z_1^{q-2}\to\mathrm{gr}_{e'}k_q(K)$

and $\widetilde{\rho}_{e'}$ is a surjection.

Here a is the residue class of $p\pi^{-e}$, and C is the Cartier operator

$$x^p \frac{dy_1}{y_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{dy_q}{y_q} \mapsto x \frac{dy_1}{y_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{dy_q}{y_q}, \quad d\Omega_k^{q-1} \to 0.$$

(v) If m > e', then $\operatorname{gr}_m k_q(K) = 0$.

Proof. (i) follows from Bloch–Gabber–Kato's theorem (subsection 2.4). The other claims follow from calculations of symbols. \Box

Definition. Denote the left hand side in the definition of $\widetilde{\rho}_m$ by G_m^q . We denote the composite map $G_m^q \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\rho}_m} \operatorname{gr}_m k_q(K) \xrightarrow{h_{q,K}} \operatorname{gr}_m h^q(K)$ by $\overline{\rho}_m$; the latter is also surjective.

4.3

In this and next section we outline the proof of Bloch-Kato's theorem.

4.3.1. Norm argument.

We may assume $\zeta_p \in K$ to prove Bloch–Kato's theorem.

Indeed, $|K(\zeta_p):K|$ is a divisor of p-1 and therefore is prime to p. There exists a norm homomorphism $N_{L/K}:K_q(L)\to K_q(K)$ (see [BT, Sect. 5]) such that the following diagram is commutative:

$$K_{q}(K)/p^{n} \longrightarrow K_{q}(L)/p^{n} \xrightarrow{N_{L/K}} K_{q}(K)/p^{n}$$

$$\downarrow^{h_{q,K}} \qquad \downarrow^{h_{q,L}} \qquad \downarrow^{h_{q,K}}$$

$$H^{q}(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}(q)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{res}} H^{q}(L, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}(q)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{cor}} H^{q}(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}(q))$$

where the left horizontal arrow of the top row is the natural map, and res (resp. cor) is the restriction (resp. the corestriction). The top row and the bottom row are both multiplication by |L:K|, thus they are isomorphisms. Hence the bijectivity of $h_{q,K}$ follows from the bijectivity of $h_{q,L}$ and we may assume $\zeta_p \in K$.

4.3.2. Tate's argument.

To prove Bloch–Kato's theorem we may assume that n=1. Indeed, consider the cohomological long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^{q-1}(K, \mathbb{Z}/p(q)) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^q(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n-1}(q)) \xrightarrow{p} H^q(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^n(q)) \to \cdots$$

which comes from the Bockstein sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}/p^{n-1} \xrightarrow{p} \mathbb{Z}/p^n \xrightarrow{\text{mod } p} \mathbb{Z}/p \longrightarrow 0.$$

We may assume $\zeta_p \in K$, so $H^{q-1}(K, \mathbb{Z}/p(q)) \simeq h_{q-1}(K)$ and the following diagram is commutative (cf. [T, §2]):

The top row is exact except at $K_q(K)/p^{n-1}$ and the bottom row is exact. By induction on n, we have only to show the bijectivity of $h_{q,K}: k_q(K) \to h^q(K)$ for all q in order to prove Bloch–Kato's theorem.

4.4. Bloch-Kato's Theorem

We review the proof of Bloch–Kato's theorem in the following four steps.

I $\overline{\rho}_m$: $\operatorname{gr}_m k_q(K) \to \operatorname{gr}_m h^q(K)$ is injective for $1 \leqslant m < e'$.

II $\overline{\rho}_0$: $\operatorname{gr}_0 k_q(K) \to \operatorname{gr}_0 h^q(K)$ is injective.

III $h^q(K) = U_0 h^q(K)$ if k is separably closed.

IV $h^q(K) = U_0 h^q(K)$ for general k.

4.4.1. Step I.

Injectivity of $\overline{\rho}_m$ is preserved by taking inductive limit of k. Thus we may assume k is finitely generated over \mathbb{F}_p of transcendence degree $r < \infty$. We also assume $\zeta_p \in K$. Then we get

$$\operatorname{gr}_{e'} h^{r+2}(K) = U_{e'} h^{r+2}(K) \neq 0.$$

For instance, if r = 0, then K is a local field and $U_{e'}h^2(K) = {}_p \operatorname{Br}(K) = \mathbb{Z}/p$. If $r \ge 1$, one can use a cohomological residue to reduce to the case of r = 0. For more details see [K1, Sect. 1.4] and [K2, Sect. 3].

For $1 \le m < e'$, consider the following diagram:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} G_m^q \times G_{e'-m}^{r+2-q} & \xrightarrow{\overline{\rho}_m \times \overline{\rho}_{e'-m}} & \operatorname{gr}_m h^q(K) \oplus \operatorname{gr}_{e'-m} h^{r+2-q}(K) \\ & \varphi_m \Big\downarrow & \operatorname{cup \ product} \Big\downarrow \\ & & \\ \Omega_k^r / d\Omega_k^{r-1} \to G_{e'}^{r+2} & \xrightarrow{\overline{\rho}_{e'}} & \operatorname{gr}_{e'} h^{r+2}(K) \end{array}$$

where φ_m is, if $p \nmid m$, induced by the wedge product $\Omega_k^{q-1} \times \Omega_k^{r+1-q} \to \Omega_k^r/d\Omega_k^{r-1}$, and if $p \mid m$,

$$\frac{\Omega_k^{q-1}}{Z_1^{q-1}} \oplus \frac{\Omega_k^{q-2}}{Z_1^{q-2}} \times \frac{\Omega_k^{r+1-q}}{Z_1^{r+1-q}} \oplus \frac{\Omega_k^{r-q}}{Z_1^{r-q}} \xrightarrow{\varphi_m} \Omega_k^q / d\Omega_k^{q-1}$$
$$(x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2) \longmapsto x_1 \wedge dy_2 + x_2 \wedge dy_1,$$

and the first horizontal arrow of the bottom row is the projection

$$\Omega_k^q/d\Omega_k^{q-1} \longrightarrow \Omega_k^r/(1+a\,\mathrm{C})Z_1^r = G_{e'}^{r+2}$$

since $\Omega_k^{r+1} = 0$ and $d\Omega_k^{q-1} \subset (1 + a \, \mathbb{C}) Z_1^r$. The diagram is commutative, $\Omega_k^r / d\Omega_k^{r-1}$ is a one-dimensional k^p -vector space and φ_m is a perfect pairing, the arrows in the bottom row are both surjective and $\operatorname{gr}_{e'} h^{r+2}(K) \neq 0$, thus we get the injectivity of $\overline{\rho}_m$.

48 J. Nakamura

4.4.2. Step II.

Let K' be a henselian discrete valuation field such that $K \subset K'$, e(K'|K) = 1and $k_{K'} = k(t)$ where t is an indeterminate. Consider

$$\operatorname{gr}_0 h_q(K) \xrightarrow{\cup 1 + \pi t} \operatorname{gr}_1 h^{q+1}(K').$$

The right hand side is equal to $\Omega_{k(t)}^q$ by (I). Let ψ be the composite

$$u_q(k) \oplus \nu_{q-1}(k) \xrightarrow{\overline{\rho}_0} \operatorname{gr}_0 h^q(K) \xrightarrow{\cup 1 + \pi t} \operatorname{gr}_1 h^{q+1}(K') \simeq \Omega^q_{k(t)}.$$

Then

$$\psi\left(\frac{dx_1}{x_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\frac{dx_q}{x_q},0\right) = t\frac{dx_1}{x_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\frac{dx_q}{x_q},$$

$$\psi\left(0,\frac{dx_1}{x_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\frac{dx_{q-1}}{x_{q-1}}\right) = \pm dt\wedge\frac{dx_1}{x_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\frac{dx_{q-1}}{x_{q-1}}.$$

Since t is transcendental over k, ψ is an injection and hence $\overline{\rho}_0$ is also an injection.

4.4.3. Step III.

Denote $sh^q(K) = U_0h^q(K)$ (the letter s means the symbolic part) and put

$$C(K) = h^q(K)/sh^q(K)$$
.

Assume $q \ge 2$. The purpose of this step is to show C(K) = 0. Let \widetilde{K} be a henselian discrete valuation field with algebraically closed residue field $k_{\widetilde{K}}$ such that $K \subset \widetilde{K}$, $k\subset k_{\widetilde{K}}$ and the valuation of K is the induced valuation from \widetilde{K} . By Lang [L], \widetilde{K} is a C_1 -field in the terminology of [S]. This means that the cohomological dimension of K is one, hence C(K) = 0. If the restriction $C(K) \to C(K)$ is injective then we get C(K) = 0. To prove this, we only have to show the injectivity of the restriction $C(K) \to C(L)$ for any $L = K(b^{1/p})$ such that $b \in \mathcal{O}_K^*$ and $\overline{b} \notin k_K^p$.

We need the following lemmas.

Lemma 1. Let K and L be as above. Let G = Gal(L/K) and let $sh^q(L)^G$ (resp. $sh^q(L)_G$) be G-invariants (resp. G-coinvariants). Then

- (i) $sh^q(K) \xrightarrow{\text{res}} sh^q(L)^G \xrightarrow{\text{cor}} sh^q(K)$ is exact. (ii) $sh^q(K) \xrightarrow{\text{res}} sh^q(L)_G \xrightarrow{\text{cor}} sh^q(K)$ is exact.

Proof. A nontrivial calculation with symbols, for more details see ([BK, Prop. 5.4]. □

Lemma 2. Let K and L be as above. The following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) $h^{q-1}(K) \xrightarrow{\text{res}} h^{q-1}(L)_G \xrightarrow{\text{cor}} h^{q-1}(K)$ is exact.
- (ii) $h^{q-1}(K) \xrightarrow{\cup b} h^q(K) \xrightarrow{\text{res}} h^q(L)$ is exact.

Proof. This is a property of the cup product of Galois cohomologies for L/K. For more details see [BK, Lemma 3.2].

By induction on q we assume $sh^{q-1}(K) = h^{q-1}(K)$. Consider the following diagram with exact rows:

By Lemma 1 (i) the left column is exact. Furthermore, due to the exactness of the sequence of Lemma 1 (ii) and the inductional assumption we have an exact sequence

$$h^{q-1}(K) \xrightarrow{\text{res}} h^{q-1}(L)_G \longrightarrow h^{q-1}(K).$$

So by Lemma 2

$$h^{q-1}(K) \xrightarrow{\cup b} h^q(K) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{res}} h^q(L)$$

is exact. Thus, the upper half of the middle column is exact. Note that the lower half of the middle column is at least a complex because the composite map $\operatorname{cor} \circ \operatorname{res}$ is equal to multiplication by |L:K|=p. Chasing the diagram, one can deduce that all elements of the kernel of $C(K) \to C(L)^G$ come from $h^{q-1}(K)$ of the top group of the middle column. Now $h^{q-1}(K) = sh^{q-1}(K)$, and the image of

$$sh^{q-1}(K) \xrightarrow{\cup b} h^q(K)$$

is also included in the symbolic part $sh^q(K)$ in $h^q(K)$. Hence $C(K) \to C(L)^G$ is an injection. The claim is proved.

4.4.4. Step IV.

We use the Hochschild–Serre spectral sequence

$$H^r(G_k, h^q(K_{ur})) \Longrightarrow h^{q+r}(K).$$

For any q,

$$\Omega_{k^{ ext{sep}}}^q \simeq \Omega_k^q \otimes_k k^{ ext{sep}}, \qquad Z_1 \Omega_{k^{ ext{sep}}}^q \simeq Z_1 \Omega_k^q \otimes_{k^p} (k^{ ext{sep}})^p.$$

50 J. Nakamura

Thus, $\operatorname{gr}_m h^q(K_{\operatorname{ur}}) \simeq \operatorname{gr}_m h^q(K) \otimes_{k^p} (k^{\operatorname{sep}})^p$ for $1 \leqslant m < e'$. This is a direct sum of copies of k^{sep} , hence we have

$$H^0(G_k, U_1 h^q(K_{ur})) \simeq U_1 h^q(K) / U_{e'} h^q(K),$$

 $H^r(G_k, U_1 h^q(K_{ur})) = 0$

for $r \ge 1$ because $H^r(G_k, k^{\text{sep}}) = 0$ for $r \ge 1$. Furthermore, taking cohomologies of the following two exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow U_1 h^q(K_{\mathrm{ur}}) \longrightarrow h^q(K_{\mathrm{ur}}) \longrightarrow \nu_{k^{\mathrm{sep}}}^q \oplus \nu_{k^{\mathrm{sep}}}^{q-1} \longrightarrow 0,$$
$$0 \longrightarrow \nu_{k^{\mathrm{sep}}}^q \xrightarrow{\mathrm{C}} Z_1 \Omega_{k^{\mathrm{sep}}}^q \xrightarrow{1-\mathrm{C}^{-1}} \Omega_{k^{\mathrm{sep}}}^q \longrightarrow 0,$$

we have

$$\begin{split} H^{0}(G_{k},h^{q}(K_{\text{ur}})) &\simeq sh^{q}(K)/U_{e'}h^{q}(K) \simeq k^{q}(K)/U_{e'}k^{q}(K), \\ H^{1}(G_{k},h^{q}(K_{\text{ur}})) &\simeq H^{1}(G_{k},\nu_{k^{\text{sep}}}^{q} \oplus \nu_{k^{\text{sep}}}^{q-1}) \\ &\simeq (\Omega_{k}^{q}/(1-C)Z_{1}\Omega_{k}^{q}) \oplus (\Omega_{k}^{q-1}/(1-C)Z_{1}\Omega_{k}^{q-1}), \\ H^{r}(G_{k},h^{q}(K_{\text{ur}})) &= 0 \end{split}$$

for $r \ge 2$, since the cohomological p-dimension of G_k is less than or equal to one (cf. [S, II-2.2]). By the above spectral sequence, we have the following exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow (\Omega_k^{q-1}/(1-C)Z_1^{q-1}) \oplus (\Omega_k^{q-2}/(1-C)Z_1^{q-2}) \longrightarrow h^q(K)$$
$$\longrightarrow k_q(K)/U_{e'}k_q(K) \longrightarrow 0.$$

Multiplication by the residue class of $(1 - \zeta_p)^p/\pi^{e'}$ gives an isomorphism

$$\begin{split} &(\Omega_k^{q-1}/(1-C)Z_1^{q-1}) \oplus (\Omega_k^{q-2}/(1-C)Z_1^{q-2}) \\ &\longrightarrow (\Omega_k^{q-1}/(1+a\,C)Z_1^{q-1}) \oplus (\Omega_k^{q-2}/(1+a\,C)Z_1^{q-2}) = \operatorname{gr}_{e'}k_q(K), \end{split}$$

hence we get $h^q(K) \simeq k_q(K)$.

References

- [BK] S. Bloch and K. Kato, p-adic étale cohomology, Publ. Math. IHES 63(1986), 107–152.
- [BT] H. Bass, H. and J. Tate, The Milnor ring of a global field, In Algebraic *K*-theory II, Lect. Notes in Math. 342, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1973, 349–446.
- [F] I. Fesenko, Class field theory of multidimensional local fields of characteristic 0, with the residue field of positive characteristic, Algebra i Analiz (1991); English translation in St. Petersburg Math. J. 3(1992), 649–678.

- [FV] I. Fesenko and S. Vostokov, Local Fields and Their Extensions, AMS, Providence RI, 1993.
- [K1] K. Kato, A generalization of local class field theory by using K-groups. II, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 27(1980), 603–683.
- [K2] K. Kato, Galois cohomology of complete discrete valuation fields, In Algebraic *K*-theory, Lect. Notes in Math. 967, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1982, 215–238.
- [L] S. Lang, On quasi-algebraic closure, Ann. of Math. 55(1952), 373–390.
- [MS1] A. Merkur'ev and A. Suslin, K-cohomology of Severi-Brauer varieties and the norm residue homomorphism, Math. USSR Izvest. 21(1983), 307–340.
- [MS2] A. Merkur'ev and A. Suslin, Norm residue homomorphism of degree three, Math. USSR Izvest. 36(1991), 349–367.
- [R] M. Rost, Hilbert 90 for K_3 for degree-two extensions, preprint, 1986.
- [S] J.-P. Serre, Cohomologie Galoisienne, Lect. Notes in Math. 5, Springer-Verlag, 1965.
- [T] J. Tate, Relations between K_2 and Galois cohomology, Invent. Math. 36(1976), 257–274.
- [V] V. Voevodsky, The Milnor conjecture, preprint, 1996.

Department of Mathematics University of Tokyo 3-8-1 Komaba Meguro-Ku Tokyo 153-8914 Japan E-mail: jinya@ms357.ms.u-tokyo.ac.jp

Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 5, pages 53–60

5. Kato's higher local class field theory

Masato Kurihara

5.0. Introduction

We first recall the classical local class field theory. Let K be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p or $\mathbb{F}_q((X))$. The main theorem of local class field theory consists of the isomorphism theorem and existence theorem. In this section we consider the isomorphism theorem.

An outline of one of the proofs is as follows. First, for the Brauer group $\mathrm{Br}(K)$, an isomorphism

inv: Br
$$(K) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

is established; it mainly follows from an isomorphism

$$H^1(F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

where F is the residue field of K.

Secondly, we denote by $X_K = \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(G_K, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$ the group of continuous homomorphisms from $G_K = \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K)$ to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} . We consider a pairing

$$K^* \times X_K \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

$$(a,\chi) \mapsto \operatorname{inv}(\chi,a)$$

where (χ, a) is the cyclic algebra associated with χ and a. This pairing induces a homomorphism

$$\Psi_K: K^* \longrightarrow \operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{ab}}/K) = \operatorname{Hom}(X_K, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$$

which is called the reciprocity map.

Thirdly, for a finite abelian extension L/K, we have a diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} L^* & \xrightarrow{\Psi_L} & \operatorname{Gal}(L^{\operatorname{ab}}/L) \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ K^* & \xrightarrow{\Psi_K} & \operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{ab}}/K) \end{array}$$

Published 10 December 2000: © Geometry & Topology Publications

54 M. Kurihara

which is commutative by the definition of the reciprocity maps. Here, N is the norm map and the right vertical map is the canonical map. This induces a homomorphism

$$\Psi_{L/K}: K^*/NL^* \longrightarrow Gal(L/K).$$

The isomorphism theorem tells us that the above map is bijective.

To show the bijectivity of $\Psi_{L/K}$, we can reduce to the case where |L:K| is a prime ℓ . In this case, the bijectivity follows immediately from a famous exact sequence

$$L^* \xrightarrow{N} K^* \xrightarrow{\cup \chi} \operatorname{Br}(K) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{res}} \operatorname{Br}(L)$$

for a cyclic extension L/K (where $\cup \chi$ is the cup product with χ , and res is the restriction map).

In this section we sketch a proof of the isomorphism theorem for a higher dimensional local field as an analogue of the above argument. For the existence theorem see the paper by Kato in this volume and subsection 10.5.

5.1. Definition of $H^q(k)$

In this subsection, for any field k and q > 0, we recall the definition of the cohomology group $H^q(k)$ ([K2], see also subsections 2.1 and 2.2 and A1 in the appendix to section 2). If char (k) = 0, we define $H^q(k)$ as a Galois cohomology group

$$H^q(k) = H^q(k, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(q-1))$$

where (q-1) is the (q-1) st Tate twist.

If char(k) = p > 0, then following Illusie [I] we define

$$H^{q}(k, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}(q-1)) = H^{1}(k, W_{n}\Omega_{k^{\text{sep}}, \log}^{q-1}).$$

We can explicitly describe $H^q(k, \mathbb{Z}/p^n(q-1))$ as the group isomorphic to

$$W_n(k) \otimes (k^*)^{\otimes (q-1)}/J$$

where $W_n(k)$ is the ring of Witt vectors of length n, and J is the subgroup generated by elements of the form

$$w \otimes b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_{q-1}$$
 such that $b_i = b_j$ for some $i \neq j$, and $(0, \ldots, 0, a, 0, \ldots, 0) \otimes a \otimes b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_{q-2}$, and

 $(\mathbf{F} - 1)(w) \otimes b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_{q-1}$ (\mathbf{F} is the Frobenius map on Witt vectors).

We define $H^q(k, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p(q-1)) = \lim_{n \to \infty} H^q(k, \mathbb{Z}/p^n(q-1))$, and define

$$H^q(k) = \bigoplus_\ell H^q(k, \mathbb{Q}_\ell/\mathbb{Z}_\ell\,(q-1))$$

where ℓ ranges over all prime numbers. (For $\ell \neq p$, the right hand side is the usual Galois cohomology of the (q-1) st Tate twist of $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}/\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$.)

Then for any k we have

$$H^1(k) = X_k$$
 (X_k is as in 5.0, the group of characters),
 $H^2(k) = \text{Br}(k)$ (Brauer group).

We explain the second equality in the case of char(k) = p > 0. The relation between the Galois cohomology group and the Brauer group is well known, so we consider only the p-part. By our definition,

$$H^{2}(k, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}(1)) = H^{1}(k, W_{n}\Omega_{k^{\text{sep,log}}}^{1}).$$

From the bijectivity of the differential symbol (Bloch–Gabber–Kato's theorem in subsection A2 in the appendix to section 2), we have

$$H^{2}(k, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}(1)) = H^{1}(k, (k^{\text{sep}})^{*}/((k^{\text{sep}})^{*})^{p^{n}}).$$

From the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow (k^{\text{sep}})^* \xrightarrow{p^n} (k^{\text{sep}})^* \longrightarrow (k^{\text{sep}})^* / ((k^{\text{sep}})^*)^{p^n} \longrightarrow 0$$

and an isomorphism $Br(k) = H^2(k, (k^{\text{sep}})^*), H^2(k, \mathbb{Z}/p^n(1))$ is isomorphic to the p^n -torsion points of Br(k). Thus, we get $H^2(k) = Br(k)$.

If K is a henselian discrete valuation field with residue field F, we have a canonical map

$$i_F^K \colon H^q(F) \longrightarrow H^q(K).$$

If $\operatorname{char}(K)=\operatorname{char}(F)$, this map is defined naturally from the definition of H^q (for the Galois cohomology part, we use a natural map $\operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{sep}}/K) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Gal}(K_{\operatorname{ur}}/K) = \operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{sep}}/F)$). If K is of mixed characteristics (0,p), the prime-to-p-part is defined naturally and the p-part is defined as follows. For the class $[w \otimes b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_{q-1}]$ in $H^q(F,\mathbb{Z}/p^n(q-1))$ we define $i_F^K([w \otimes b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_{q-1}])$ as the class of

$$i(w) \otimes \widetilde{b_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \widetilde{b_{q-1}}$$

in $H^1(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^n(q-1))$, where $i: W_n(F) \to H^1(F, \mathbb{Z}/p^n) \to H^1(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^n)$ is the composite of the map given by Artin–Schreier–Witt theory and the canonical map, and $\widetilde{b_i}$ is a lifting of b_i to K.

Theorem (Kato [K2, Th. 3]). Let K be a henselian discrete valuation field, π be a prime element, and F be the residue field. We consider a homomorphism

$$i = (i_F^K, i_F^K \cup \pi): H^q(F) \oplus H^{q-1}(F) \longrightarrow H^q(K)$$

 $(a,b) \mapsto i_F^K(a) + i_F^K(b) \cup \pi$

where $i_F^K(b) \cup \pi$ is the element obtained from the pairing

$$H^{q-1}(K) \times K^* \longrightarrow H^q(K)$$

56 M. Kurihara

which is defined by Kummer theory and the cup product, and the explicit description of $H^q(K)$ in the case of $\operatorname{char}(K) > 0$. Suppose $\operatorname{char}(F) = p$. Then i is bijective in the prime-to-p component. In the p-component, i is injective and the image coincides with the p-component of the kernel of $H^q(K) \to H^q(K_{\operatorname{ur}})$ where K_{ur} is the maximal unramified extension of K.

From this theorem and Bloch-Kato's theorem in section 4, we obtain

Corollary. Assume that char(F) = p > 0, $|F: F^p| = p^{d-1}$, and that there is an isomorphism $H^d(F) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$.

Then, i induces an isomorphism

$$H^{d+1}(K) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$
.

A typical example which satisfies the assumptions of the above corollary is a d-dimensional local field (if the last residue field is quasi-finite (not necessarily finite), the assumptions are satisfied).

5.2. Higher dimensional local fields

We assume that K is a d-dimensional local field, and F is the residue field of K, which is a (d-1)-dimensional local field. Then, by the corollary in the previous subsection and induction on d, there is a canonical isomorphism

inv:
$$H^{d+1}(K) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$
.

This corresponds to the first step of the proof of the classical isomorphism theorem which we described in the introduction.

The cup product defines a pairing

$$K_d(K) \times H^1(K) \longrightarrow H^{d+1}(K) \simeq \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

This pairing induces a homomorphism

$$\Psi_K: K_d(K) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{ab}}/K) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(H^1(K), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$$

which we call the *reciprocity map*. Since the isomorphism inv: $H^d(K) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ is naturally constructed, for a finite abelian extension L/K we have a commutative diagram

$$H^{d+1}(L) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{inv}_L} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

$$\operatorname{cor} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$H^{d+1}(K) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{inv}_K} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

So the diagram

$$K_d(L) \xrightarrow{\Psi_L} \operatorname{Gal}(L^{\operatorname{ab}}/L)$$
 $\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$
 $K_d(K) \xrightarrow{\Psi_K} \operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{ab}}/K)$

is commutative where N is the norm map and the right vertical map is the canonical map. So, as in the classical case, we have a homomorphism

$$\Psi_{L/K}: K_d(K)/NK_d(L) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Gal}(L/K).$$

Isomorphism Theorem. $\Psi_{L/K}$ is an isomorphism.

We outline a proof. We may assume that L/K is cyclic of degree ℓ . As in the classical case in the introduction, we may study a sequence

$$K_d(L) \xrightarrow{N} K_d(K) \xrightarrow{\cup \chi} H^{d+1}(K) \xrightarrow{\text{res}} H^{d+1}(L),$$

but here we describe a more elementary proof.

First of all, using the argument in [S, Ch.5] by calculation of symbols one can obtain

$$|K_d(K): NK_d(L)| \leq \ell.$$

We outline a proof of this inequality.

It is easy to see that it is sufficient to consider the case of prime ℓ . (For another calculation of the index of the norm group see subsection 6.7).

Recall that $K_d(K)$ has a filtration $U_m K_d(K)$ as in subsection 4.2. We consider $\operatorname{gr}_m K_d(K) = U_m K_d(K)/U_{m+1} K_d(K)$.

If L/K is unramified, the norm map $N\colon K_d(L)\to K_d(K)$ induces surjective homomorphisms $\operatorname{gr}_m K_d(L)\to \operatorname{gr}_m K_d(K)$ for all m>0. So $U_1K_d(K)$ is in $NK_d(L)$. If we denote by F_L and F the residue fields of L and K respectively, the norm map induces a surjective homomorphism $K_d(F_L)/\ell\to K_d(F)/\ell$ because $K_d(F)/\ell$ is isomorphic to $H^d(F,\mathbb{Z}/\ell(d))$ (cf. sections 2 and 3) and the cohomological dimension of F [K2, p.220] is d. Since $\operatorname{gr}_0K_d(K)=K_d(F)\oplus K_{d-1}(F)$ (see subsection 4.2), the above implies that $K_d(K)/NK_d(L)$ is isomorphic to $K_{d-1}(F)/NK_{d-1}(F_L)$, which is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Gal}(F_L/F)$ by class field theory of F (we use induction on d). Therefore $|K_d(K):NK_d(L)|=\ell$.

If L/K is totally ramified and ℓ is prime to $\operatorname{char}(F)$, by the same argument (cf. the argument in [S, Ch.5]) as above, we have $U_1K_d(K) \subset NK_d(L)$. Let π_L be a prime element of L, and $\pi_K = N_{L/K}(\pi_L)$. Then the element $\{\alpha_1,...,\alpha_{d-1},\pi_K\}$ for $\alpha_i \in K^*$ is in $NK_d(L)$, so $K_d(K)/NK_d(L)$ is isomorphic to $K_d(F)/\ell$, which is isomorphic to $H^d(F,\mathbb{Z}/\ell(d))$, so the order is ℓ . Thus, in this case we also have $|K_d(K):NK_d(L)|=\ell$.

58 M. Kurihara

Hence, we may assume L/K is not unramified and is of degree $\ell = p = \operatorname{char}(F)$. Note that $K_d(F)$ is p-divisible because of $\Omega_F^d = 0$ and the bijectivity of the differential symbol.

Assume that L/K is totally ramified. Let π_L be a prime element of L, and σ a generator of $\mathrm{Gal}(L/K)$, and put $a=\sigma(\pi_L)\pi_L^{-1}-1$, $b=N_{L/K}(a)$, and $v_K(b-1)=i$. We study the induced maps $\mathrm{gr}_{\psi(m)}K_d(L)\to\mathrm{gr}_mK_d(K)$ from the norm map N on the subquotients by the argument in [S, Ch.5]. We have $U_{i+1}K_d(K)\subset NK_d(L)$, and can show that there is a surjective homomorphism (cf. [K1, p.669])

$$\Omega_F^{d-1} \longrightarrow K_d(K)/NK_d(L)$$

such that

$$xd \log y_1 \wedge ... \wedge d \log y_{d-1} \mapsto \{1 + \widetilde{x}b, \widetilde{y_1}, ..., \widetilde{y_{d-1}}\}$$

 $(\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{y_i})$ are liftings of x and y_i). Furthermore, from

$$N_{L/K}(1+xa) \equiv 1 + (x^p - x)b \pmod{U_{i+1}K^*},$$

the above map induces a surjective homomorphism

$$\Omega_F^{d-1} / \left((\mathbf{F} - 1) \Omega_F^{d-1} + d \Omega_F^{d-2} \right) \longrightarrow K_d(K) / N K_d(L).$$

The source group is isomorphic to $H^d(F, \mathbb{Z}/p(d-1))$ which is of order p. So we obtain $|K_d(K): NK_d(L)| \leq p$.

Now assume that L/K is ferociously ramified, i.e. F_L/F is purely inseparable of degree p. We can use an argument similar to the previous one. Let h be an element of \mathfrak{O}_L such that $F_L = F(\overline{h})$ ($\overline{h} = h \mod \mathfrak{M}_L$). Let σ be a generator of $\mathrm{Gal}(L/K)$, and put $a = \sigma(h)h^{-1} - 1$, and $b = N_{L/K}(a)$. Then we have a surjective homomorphism (cf. [K1, p.669])

$$\Omega_F^{d-1}/\big((\mathbf{F}-1)\Omega_F^{d-1}+d\Omega_F^{d-2}\big) \longrightarrow K_d(K)/NK_d(L)$$

such that

$$xd\log y_1\wedge...\wedge d\log y_{d-2}\wedge d\log N_{F_L/F}(\overline{h})\mapsto \left\{1+\widetilde{x}b,\widetilde{y_1},...,\widetilde{y_{d-2}},\pi\right\}$$

(π is a prime element of K). So we get $|K_d(K): NK_d(L)| \leq p$.

So in order to obtain the bijectivity of $\Psi_{L/K}$, we have only to check the surjectivity. We consider the most interesting case $\operatorname{char}(K)=0$, $\operatorname{char}(F)=p>0$, and $\ell=p$. To show the surjectivity of $\Psi_{L/K}$, we have to show that there is an element $x\in K_d(K)$ such that $\chi\cup x\neq 0$ in $H^{d+1}(K)$ where χ is a character corresponding to L/K. We may assume a primitive p-th root of unity is in K. Suppose that L is given by an equation $X^p=a$ for some $a\in K\setminus K^p$. By Bloch-Kato's theorem (bijectivity of the cohomological symbols in section 4), we identify the kernel of multiplication by p on $H^{d+1}(K)$ with $H^{d+1}(K,\mathbb{Z}/p(d))$, and with $K_{d+1}(K)/p$. Then our aim is to show that there is an element $x\in K_d(K)$ such that $\{x,a\}\neq 0$ in $k_{d+1}(K)=K_{d+1}(K)/p$.

(Remark. The pairing $K_1(K)/p \times K_d(K)/p \to K_{d+1}(K)/p$ coincides up to a sign with Vostokov's symbol defined in subsection 8.3 and the latter is non-degenerate which provides an alternative proof).

We use the notation of section 4. By the Proposition in subsection 4.2, we have

$$K_{d+1}(K)/p = k_{d+1}(K) = U_{e'}k_{d+1}(K)$$

where $e' = v_K(p)p/(p-1)$. Furthermore, by the same proposition there is an isomorphism

$$H^d(F,\mathbb{Z}/p(d-1)) = \Omega_F^{d-1}/\left((\mathbf{F}-1)\Omega_F^{d-1} + d\Omega_F^{d-2}\right) \longrightarrow k_{d+1}(K)$$

such that

$$xd \log y_1 \wedge ... \wedge d \log y_{d-1} \mapsto \{1 + \widetilde{x}b, \widetilde{y_1}, ..., \widetilde{y_{d-1}}, \pi\}$$

where π is a uniformizer, and b is a certain element of K such that $v_K(b) = e'$. Note that $H^d(F, \mathbb{Z}/p(d-1))$ is of order p.

This shows that for any uniformizer π of K, and for any lifting $t_1,...,t_{d-1}$ of a p-base of F, there is an element $x \in \mathcal{O}_K$ such that

$$\{1 + \pi^{e'}x, t_1, ..., t_{d-1}, \pi\} \neq 0$$

in $k_{d+1}(K)$.

If the class of a is not in $U_1k_1(K)$, we may assume a is a uniformizer or a is a part of a lifting of a p-base of F. So it is easy to see by the above property that there exists an x such that $\{a, x\} \neq 0$. If the class of a is in $U_{e'}k_1(K)$, it is also easily seen from the description of $U_{e'}k_{d+1}(K)$ that there exists an x such that $\{a, x\} \neq 0$.

Suppose $a \in U_i k_1(K) \setminus U_{i+1} k_1(K)$ such that 0 < i < e'. We write $a = 1 + \pi^i a'$ for a prime element π and $a' \in \mathcal{O}_K^*$. First, we assume that p does not divide i. We use a formula (which holds in $K_2(K)$)

$$\{1 - \alpha, 1 - \beta\} = \{1 - \alpha\beta, -\alpha\} + \{1 - \alpha\beta, 1 - \beta\} - \{1 - \alpha\beta, 1 - \alpha\}$$

for $\alpha \neq 0, 1$, and $\beta \neq 1, \alpha^{-1}$. From this formula we have in $k_2(K)$

$$\{1 + \pi^i a', 1 + \pi^{e'-i}b\} = \{1 + \pi^{e'}a'b, \pi^i a'\}$$

for $b \in \mathcal{O}_K$. So for a lifting $t_1, ..., t_{d-1}$ of a p-base of F we have

$$\begin{split} \{1+\pi^{i}a',1+\pi^{e'-i}b,t_{1},...,t_{d-1}\} &= \{1+\pi^{e'}a'b,\pi^{i},t_{1},...,t_{d-1}\} \\ &= i\{1+\pi^{e'}a'b,\pi,t_{1},...,t_{d-1}\} \end{split}$$

in $k_{d+1}(K)$ (here we used $\{1+\pi^{e'}x,u_1,...,u_d\}=0$ for any units u_i in $k_{d+1}(K)$ which follows from $\Omega^d_F=0$ and the calculation of the subquotients $\operatorname{gr}_m k_{d+1}(K)$ in subsection 4.2). So we can take $b\in \mathcal{O}_K$ such that the above symbol is non-zero in $k_{d+1}(K)$. This completes the proof in the case where i is prime to p.

60 M. Kurihara

Next, we assume p divides i. We also use the above formula, and calculate

$$\{1 + \pi^{i}a', 1 + (1 + b\pi)\pi^{e'-i-1}, \pi\} = \{1 + \pi^{e'-1}a'(1 + b\pi), 1 + b\pi, \pi\}$$
$$= \{1 + \pi^{e'}a'b(1 + b\pi), a'(1 + b\pi), \pi\}.$$

Since we may think of a' as a part of a lifting of a p-base of F, we can take some $x = \{1 + (1 + b\pi)\pi^{e'-i-1}, \pi, t_1, ..., t_{d-2}\}$ such that $\{a, x\} \neq 0$ in $k_{d+1}(K)$.

If ℓ is prime to $\operatorname{char}(F)$, for the extension L/K obtained by an equation $X^{\ell}=a$, we can find x such that $\{a,x\} \neq 0$ in $K_{d+1}(K)/\ell$ in the same way as above, using $K_{d+1}(K)/\ell = \operatorname{gr}_0 K_{d+1}(K)/\ell = K_d(F)/\ell$. In the case where $\operatorname{char}(K) = p > 0$ we can use Artin–Schreier theory instead of Kummer theory, and therefore we can argue in a similar way to the previous method. This completes the proof of the isomorphism theorem.

Thus, the isomorphism theorem can be proved by computing symbols, once we know Bloch–Kato's theorem. See also a proof in [K1].

References

- [I] L. Illusie, Complexe de de Rham–Witt et cohomologie cristalline, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup.(4), 12(1979), 501–661.
- [K1] K. Kato, A generalization of local class field theory by using K-groups II, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 27 (1980), 603–683.
- [K2] K. Kato, Galois cohomology of complete discrete valuation fields, In Algebraic *K*-theory, Lect. Notes in Math. 967, Springer Berlin 1982, 215–238.
- [S] J.-P. Serre, Corps Locaux (third edition), Hermann, Paris 1968.

Department of Mathematics Tokyo Metropolitan University Minami-Osawa 1-1, Hachioji, Tokyo 192-03, Japan E-mail: m-kuri@comp.metro-u.ac.jp Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 6, pages 61–74

6. Topological Milnor K-groups of higher local fields

Ivan Fesenko

Let $F = K_n, \ldots, K_0 = \mathbb{F}_q$ be an *n*-dimensional local field. We use the notation of section 1.

In this section we describe properties of certain quotients $K^{\text{top}}(F)$ of the Milnor K-groups of F by using in particular topological considerations. This is an updated and simplified summary of relevant results in [F1–F5]. Subsection 6.1 recalls well-known results on K-groups of classical local fields. Subsection 6.2 discusses so called sequential topologies which are important for the description of subquotients of $K^{\text{top}}(F)$ in terms of a simpler objects endowed with sequential topology (Theorem 1 in 6.6 and Theorem 1 in 7.2 of section 7). Subsection 6.3 introduces $K^{\text{top}}(F)$, 6.4 presents very useful pairings (including Vostokov's symbol which is discussed in more detail in section 8), subsection 6.5–6.6 describe the structure of $K^{\text{top}}(F)$ and 6.7 deals with the quotients K(F)/l; finally, 6.8 presents various properties of the norm map on K-groups. Note that subsections 6.6–6.8 are not required for understanding Parshin's class field theory in section 7.

6.0. Introduction

Let A be a commutative ring and let X be an A-module endowed with some topology. A set $\{x_i\}_{i\in I}$ of elements of X is called a set of *topological generators* of X if the sequential closure of the submodule of X generated by this set coincides with X. A set of topological generators is called a *topological basis* if for every $j\in I$ and every non-zero $a\in A$ ax_j doesn't belong to the sequential closure of the submodule generated by $\{x_i\}_{i\neq j}$.

Let I be a countable set. If $\{x_i\}$ is set of topological generators of X then every element $x \in X$ can be expressed as a convergent sum $\sum a_i x_i$ with some $a_i \in A$ (note that it is not necessarily the case that for all $a_i \in A$ the sum $\sum a_i x_i$ converges). This expression is unique if $\{x_i\}$ is a topological basis of X; then provided addition in X is sequentially continuous, we get $\sum a_i x_i + \sum b_i x_i = \sum (a_i + b_i) x_i$.

Published 10 December 2000: © Geometry & Topology Publications

62 I. Fesenko

Recall that in the one-dimensional case the group of principal units $U_{1,F}$ is a multiplicative \mathbb{Z}_p -module with finitely many topological generators if $\operatorname{char}(F) = 0$ and infinitely many topological generators if $\operatorname{char}(F) = p$ (see for instance [FV, Ch. I §6]). This representation of $U_{1,F}$ and a certain specific choice of its generators is quite important if one wants to deduce the Shafarevich and Vostokov explicit formulas for the Hilbert symbol (see section 8).

Similarly, the group V_F of principal units of an n-dimensional local field F is topologically generated by $1 + \theta t_n^{i_n} \dots t_1^{i_1}$, $\theta \in \mu_{q-1}$ (see subsection 1.4.2). This leads to a natural suggestion to endow the Milnor K-groups of F with an appropriate topology and use the sequential convergence to simplify calculations in K-groups.

On the other hand, the reciprocity map

$$\Psi_F: K_n(F) \to \operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{ab}}/F)$$

is not injective in general, in particular $\ker(\Psi_F) \supset \bigcap_{l\geqslant 1} lK_n(F) \neq 0$. So the Milnor K-groups are too large from the point of view of class field theory, and one can pass to the quotient $K_n(F)/\bigcap_{l\geqslant 1} lK_n(F)$ without loosing any arithmetical information on F. The latter quotient coincides with $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$ (see subsection 6.6) which is defined in subsection 6.3 as the quotient of $K_n(F)$ by the intersection $\Lambda_n(F)$ of all neighbourhoods of 0 in $K_n(F)$ with respect to a certain topology. The existence theorem in class field theory uses the topology to characterize norm subgroups $N_{L/F}K_n(L)$ of finite abelian extensions L of F as open subgroups of finite index of $K_n(F)$ (see subsection 10.5). As a corollary of the existence theorem in 10.5 one obtains that in fact

$$\bigcap_{l\geqslant 1}lK_n(F)=\Lambda_n(F)=\ker(\Psi_F).$$

However, the class of open subgroups of finite index of $K_n(F)$ can be defined without introducing the topology on $K_n(F)$, see the paper of Kato in this volume which presents a different approach.

6.1. K-groups of one-dimensional local fields

The structure of the Milnor K-groups of a one-dimensional local field F is completely known.

Recall that using the Hilbert symbol and multiplicative \mathbb{Z}_p -basis of the group of principal units of F one obtains that

$$K_2(F) \simeq \operatorname{Tors} K_2(F) \oplus mK_2(F)$$
, where $m = |\operatorname{Tors} F^*|$, $\operatorname{Tors} K_2(F) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/m$

and $mK_2(F)$ is an uncountable uniquely divisible group (Bass, Tate, Moore, Merkur'ev; see for instance [FV, Ch. IX §4]). The groups $K_m(F)$ for $m \ge 3$ are uniquely divisible uncountable groups (Kahn [Kn], Sivitsky [FV, Ch. IX §4]).

6.2. Sequential topology

We need slightly different topologies from the topology of F and F^* introduced in section 1.

Definition. Let X be a topological space with topology τ . Define its sequential saturation λ :

a subset U of X is open with respect to λ if for every $\alpha \in U$ and a convergent (with respect to τ) sequence $X \ni \alpha_i$ to α almost all α_i belong to U. Then $\alpha_i \xrightarrow{\tau} \alpha \Leftrightarrow \alpha_i \xrightarrow{\lambda} \alpha.$

Hence the sequential saturation is the strongest topology which has the same convergent sequences and their limits as the original one. For a very elementary introduction to sequential topologies see [S].

Definition. For an n-dimensional local field F denote by λ the sequential saturation of the topology on F defined in section 1.

The topology λ is different from the old topology on F defined in section 1 for $n \ge 2$: for example, if $F = \mathbb{F}_p((t_1))((t_2))$ then $Y = F \setminus \{t_2^i t_1^{-j} + t_2^{-i} t_1^j : i, j \ge 1\}$ is open with respect to λ and is not open with respect to the topology of F defined in section 1.

Let λ_* on F^* be the sequential saturation of the topology τ on F^* defined in section 1. It is a shift invariant topology.

If n = 1, the restriction of λ_* on V_F coincides with the induced from λ .

The following properties of λ (λ_*) are similar to those in section 1 and/or can be proved by induction on dimension.

Properties.

- $(1) \quad \alpha_{i}, \beta_{i} \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0 \Rightarrow \alpha_{i} \beta_{i} \xrightarrow{\lambda} 0;$ $(2) \quad \alpha_{i}, \beta_{i} \xrightarrow{\lambda_{*}} 1 \Rightarrow \alpha_{i}\beta_{i}^{-1} \xrightarrow{\lambda_{*}} 1;$ $(3) \quad \text{for every } \alpha_{i} \in U_{F}, \ \alpha_{i}^{p^{i}} \xrightarrow{\lambda_{*}} 1;$
- (4) multiplication is not continuous in general with respect to λ_* ;
- (5) every fundamental sequence with respect to λ (resp. λ_*) converges;
- (6) V_F and F^{*m} are closed subgroups of F^* for every $m \ge 1$;
- (7) The intersection of all open subgroups of finite index containing a closed subgroup H coincides with H.

Definition. For topological spaces X_1, \ldots, X_j define the *-product topology on $X_1 \times$ $\cdots \times X_i$ as the sequential saturation of the product topology.

64 I. Fesenko

6.3. K^{top} -groups

Definition. Let λ_m be the strongest topology on $K_m(F)$ such that subtraction in $K_m(F)$ and the natural map

$$\varphi: (F^*)^m \to K_m(F), \quad \varphi(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_m) = \{(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_m)\}$$

are sequentially continuous. Then the topology λ_m coincides with its sequential saturation. Put

$$\Lambda_m(F) = \bigcap$$
 open neighbourhoods of 0.

It is straightforward to see that $\Lambda_m(F)$ is a subgroup of $K_m(F)$.

Properties.

- (1) $\Lambda_m(F)$ is closed: indeed $\Lambda_m(F) \ni x_i \to x$ implies that $x = x_i + y_i$ with $y_i \to 0$, so $x_i, y_i \to 0$, hence $x = x_i + y_i \to 0$, so $x \in \Lambda_m(F)$.
- (2) Put $VK_m(F) = \langle \{V_F\} \cdot K_{m-1}(F) \rangle$ (V_F is defined in subsection 1.1). Since the topology with $VK_m(F)$ and its shifts as a system of fundamental neighbourhoods satisfies two conditions of the previous definition, one obtains that $\Lambda_m(F) \subset VK_m(F)$.
- (3) $\lambda_1 = \lambda_*$.

Following the original approach of Parshin [P1] introduce now the following:

Definition. Set

$$K_m^{\text{top}}(F) = K_m(F)/\Lambda_m(F)$$

and endow it with the quotient topology of λ_m which we denote by the same notation.

This new group $K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ is sometimes called the *topological Milnor* K-group of F.

If $char(K_{n-1}) = p$ then $K_1^{top} = K_1$.

If char $(K_{n-1}) = 0$ then $K_1^{\text{top}}(K) \neq K_1(K)$, since $1 + \mathfrak{M}_{K_n}$ (which is uniquely divisible) is a subgroup of $\Lambda_1(K)$.

6.4. Explicit pairings

Explicit pairings of the Milnor K-groups of F are quite useful if one wants to study the structure of K^{top} -groups.

The general method is as follows. Assume that there is a pairing

$$\langle , \rangle : A \times B \to \mathbb{Z}/m$$

of two \mathbb{Z}/m -modules A and B. Assume that A is endowed with a topology with respect to which it has topological generators α_i where i runs over elements of a totally ordered countable set I. Assume that for every $j \in I$ there is an element $\beta_j \in B$ such that

$$\langle \alpha_j, \beta_j \rangle = 1 \mod m, \qquad \langle \alpha_i, \beta_j \rangle = 0 \mod m \quad \text{for all } i > j \, .$$

Then if a convergent sum $\sum c_i \alpha_i$ is equal to 0, assume that there is a minimal j with non-zero c_j and deduce that

$$0 = \sum c_i \langle \alpha_i, \beta_j \rangle = c_j,$$

a contradiction. Thus, $\{\alpha_i\}$ form a topological basis of A.

If, in addition, for every $\beta \in B \setminus \{0\}$ there is an $\alpha \in A$ such that $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle \neq 0$, then the pairing $\langle \ , \ \rangle$ is obviously non-degenerate.

Pairings listed below satisfy the assumptions above and therefore can be applied to study the structure of quotients of the Milnor K-groups of F.

6.4.1. "Valuation map".

Let $\partial: K_r(K_s) \to K_{r-1}(K_{s-1})$ be the border homomorphism (see for example [FV, Ch. IX §2]). Put

$$\mathfrak{v} = \mathfrak{v}_F : K_n(F) \xrightarrow{\partial} K_{n-1}(K_{n-1}) \xrightarrow{\partial} \dots \xrightarrow{\partial} K_0(K_0) = \mathbb{Z}, \quad \mathfrak{v}(\{t_1, \dots, t_n\}) = 1$$

for a system of local parameters t_1, \ldots, t_n of F. The valuation map $\mathfrak v$ doesn't depend on the choice of a system of local parameters.

6.4.2. Tame symbol.

Define

$$t: K_n(F)/(q-1) \times F^*/F^{*q-1} \to K_{n+1}(F)/(q-1) \to \mathbb{F}_q^* \to \mu_{q-1}, \quad q = |K_0|$$
 by

$$K_{n+1}(F)/(q-1) \xrightarrow{\partial} K_n(K_{n-1})/(q-1) \xrightarrow{\partial} \dots \xrightarrow{\partial} K_1(K_0)/(q-1) = \mathbb{F}_q^* \to \mu_{q-1}.$$

Here the map $\mathbb{F}_q^* \to \mu_{q-1}$ is given by taking multiplicative representatives.

An explicit formula for this symbol (originally asked for in [P2] and suggested in [F1]) is simple: let t_1, \ldots, t_n be a system of local parameters of F and let $\mathbf{v} = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ be the associated valuation of rank n (see section 1 of this volume). For elements $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{n+1}$ of F^* the value $t(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_{n+1})$ is equal to the (q-1)th root of unity whose residue is equal to the residue of

$$\alpha_1^{b_1} \dots \alpha_{n+1}^{b_{n+1}} (-1)^b$$

in the last residue field \mathbb{F}_q , where $b = \sum_{s,i < j} v_s(b_i) v_s(b_j) b_{i,j}^s$, b_j is the determinant of the matrix obtained by cutting off the jth column of the matrix $A = (v_i(\alpha_j))$ with the sign $(-1)^{j-1}$, and $b_{i,j}^s$ is the determinant of the matrix obtained by cutting off the ith and jth columns and sth row of A.

66 I. Fesenko

6.4.3. Artin–Schreier–Witt pairing in characteristic p.

Define, following [P2], the pairing

$$(,]_r: K_n(F)/p^r \times W_r(F)/(\mathbf{F}-1)W_r(F) \to W_r(\mathbb{F}_p) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/p^r$$

by (F is the map defined in the section, Some Conventions)

$$(\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n, (\beta_0, \ldots, \beta_r)]_r = \operatorname{Tr}_{K_0/\mathbb{F}_n} (\gamma_0, \ldots, \gamma_r)$$

where the *i*th ghost component $\gamma^{(i)}$ is given by $\operatorname{res}_{K_0} (\beta^{(i)} \alpha_1^{-1} d\alpha_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \alpha_n^{-1} d\alpha_n)$. For its properties see [P2, sect. 3]. In particular,

(1) for $x \in K_n(F)$

$$(x, \mathbf{V}(\beta_0, \dots, \beta_{r-1})]_r = \mathbf{V}(x, (\beta_0, \dots, \beta_{r-1})]_{r-1}$$

where as usual for a field $\,K\,$

$$V: W_{r-1}(K) \to W_r(K), \quad V(\beta_0, \ldots, \beta_{r-1}) = (0, \beta_0, \ldots, \beta_{r-1});$$

(2) for $x \in K_n(F)$

$$(x, \mathbf{A}(\beta_0, \dots, \beta_r)]_{r-1} = \mathbf{A}(x, (\beta_0, \dots, \beta_r)]_r$$

where for a field K

A:
$$W_r(K) \to W_{r-1}(K)$$
, **A**($\beta_0, \ldots, \beta_{r-1}, \beta_r$) = ($\beta_0, \ldots, \beta_{r-1}$).

(3) If Tr $\theta_0 = 1$ then $(\{t_1, \ldots, t_n\}, \theta_0]_1 = 1$. If i_l is prime to p then

$$\{1 + \theta t_n^{i_n} \dots t_1^{i_1}, t_1, \dots, \widehat{t_l}, \dots, t_n\}, \theta_0 \theta^{-1} i_l^{-1} t_1^{-i_1} \dots t_n^{-i_n}\}_1 = 1.$$

6.4.4. Vostokov's symbol in characteristic 0.

Suppose that $\mu_{p^r} \leqslant F^*$ and p > 2. Vostokov's symbol

$$V(\ ,\)_r: K_m(F)/p^r \times K_{n+1-m}(F)/p^r \to K_{n+1}(F)/p^r \to \mu_{n^r}$$

is defined in section 8.3. For its properties see 8.3.

Each pairing defined above is sequentially continuous, so it induces the pairing of $K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$.

6.5. Structure of $K^{top}(F)$. I

Denote $VK_m^{\text{top}}(F) = \langle \{V_F\} \cdot K_{m-1}^{\text{top}}(F) \rangle$. Using the tame symbol and valuation $\mathfrak v$ as described in the beginning of 6.4 it is easy to deduce that

$$K_m(F) \simeq VK_m(F) \oplus \mathbb{Z}^{a(m)} \oplus (\mathbb{Z}/(q-1))^{b(m)}$$

with appropriate integer a(m), b(m) (see [FV, Ch. IX, §2]); similar calculations are applicable to $K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$. For example, $\mathbb{Z}^{a(m)}$ corresponds to $\oplus \langle \{t_{j_1}, \ldots, t_{j_m}\} \rangle$ with $1 \leqslant j_1 < \cdots < j_m \leqslant n.$

To study $VK_m(F)$ and $VK_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ the following elementary equality is quite useful

$$\{1-\alpha, 1-\beta\} = \left\{\alpha, 1 + \frac{\alpha\beta}{1-\alpha}\right\} + \left\{1-\beta, 1 + \frac{\alpha\beta}{1-\alpha}\right\}.$$

Note that $\mathbf{v}(\alpha\beta/(1-\alpha)) = \mathbf{v}(\alpha) + \mathbf{v}(\beta)$ if $\mathbf{v}(\alpha), \mathbf{v}(\beta) > (0, \dots, 0)$.

For $\varepsilon, \eta \in V_F$ one can apply the previous formula to $\{\varepsilon, \eta\} \in K_2^{\text{top}}(F)$ and using the topological convergence deduce that

$$\{\varepsilon,\eta\} = \sum \{\rho_i,t_i\}$$

with units $\rho_i = \rho_i(\varepsilon, \eta)$ sequentially continuously depending on ε, η . Therefore $VK_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ is *topologically generated* by symbols

$$\{1 + \theta t_n^{i_n} \dots t_1^{i_1}, t_{j_1} \dots, t_{j_{m-1}}\}, \quad \theta \in \mu_{q-1}.$$

In particular, $K_{n+2}^{\text{top}}(F) = 0$.

Lemma. $\bigcap_{l\geqslant 1}lK_m(F)\subset \Lambda_m(F)$.

Proof. First, $\bigcap lK_m(F) \subset VK_m(F)$. Let $x \in VK_m(F)$. Write

$$x = \sum \{\alpha_J, t_{j_1}, \ldots, t_{j_{m-1}}\} \mod \Lambda_m(F), \quad \alpha_J \in V_F.$$

Then

$$p^r x = \sum \left\{ \alpha_J^{p^r} \right\} \cdot \left\{ t_{j_1}, \dots, t_{j_{m-1}} \right\} + \lambda_r, \quad \lambda_r \in \Lambda_m(F).$$

It remains to apply property (3) in 6.2.

6.6. Structure of $K^{\text{top}}(F)$ **. II**

This subsection 6.6 and the rest of this section are not required for understanding Parshin's class field theory theory of higher local fields of characteristic p which is discussed in section 7.

The next theorem relates the structure of $VK_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ with the structure of a simpler object.

Theorem 1 ([F5, Th. 4.6]). Let char $(K_{n-1}) = p$. The homomorphism

$$g: \prod_{J} V_{F} \to VK_{m}(F), \quad (\beta_{J}) \mapsto \sum_{J=\{j_{1}, \dots, j_{m-1}\}} \{\beta_{J}, t_{j_{1}}, \dots, t_{j_{m-1}}\}$$

induces a homeomorphism between $\prod V_F/g^{-1}(\Lambda_m(F))$ endowed with the quotient of the *-topology and $VK_m^{\text{top}}(F)$; $g^{-1}(\Lambda_m(F))$ is a closed subgroup.

Since every closed subgroup of V_F is the intersection of some open subgroups of finite index in V_F (property (7) of 6.2), we obtain the following:

Corollary. $\Lambda_m(F) = \bigcap$ open subgroups of finite index in $K_m(F)$.

Remarks. 1. If F is of characteristic p, there is a complete description of the structure of $K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ in the language of topological generators and relations due to Parshin (see subsection 7.2).

2. If $char(K_{n-1}) = 0$, then the border homomorphism in Milnor K-theory (see for instance [FV, Ch. IX §2]) induces the homomorphism

$$VK_m(F) \rightarrow VK_m(K_{n-1}) \oplus VK_{m-1}(K_{n-1}).$$

Its kernel is equal to the subgroup of $VK_m(F)$ generated by symbols $\{u, \ldots\}$ with u in the group $1 + \mathcal{M}_F$ which is uniquely divisible. So

$$VK_m^{\mathsf{top}}(F) \simeq VK_m^{\mathsf{top}}(K_{n-1}) \oplus VK_{m-1}^{\mathsf{top}}(K_{n-1})$$

and one can apply Theorem 1 to describe $VK_m^{\text{top}}(F)$.

Proof of Theorem 1. Recall that every symbol $\{\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_m\}$ in $K_m^{\mathrm{top}}(F)$ can be written as a convergent sum of symbols $\{\beta_J,t_{j_1},\ldots,t_{j_{m-1}}\}$ with β_J sequentially continuously depending on α_i (subsection 6.5). Hence there is a sequentially continuous map $f\colon V_F\times F^{*\oplus m-1}\to\prod_J V_F$ such that its composition with g coincides with the restriction of the map $\varphi\colon (F^*)^m\to K_m^{\mathrm{top}}(F)$ on $V_F\oplus F^{*\oplus m-1}$.

So the quotient of the *-topology of $\prod_J V_F$ is $\leqslant \lambda_m$, as follows from the definition of λ_m . Indeed, the sum of two convergent sequences x_i, y_i in $\prod_J V_F/g^{-1}(\Lambda_m(F))$ converges to the sum of their limits.

Let U be an open subset in $VK_m(F)$. Then $g^{-1}(U)$ is open in the *-product of the topology $\prod_J V_F$. Indeed, otherwise for some J there were a sequence $\alpha_J^{(i)} \not\in g^{-1}(U)$ which converges to $\alpha_J \in g^{-1}(U)$. Then the properties of the map φ of 6.3 imply that the sequence $\varphi(\alpha_J^{(i)}) \not\in U$ converges to $\varphi(\alpha_J) \in U$ which contradicts the openness of U.

Theorem 2 ([F5, Th. 4.5]). If char(F) = p then $\Lambda_m(F)$ is equal to $\bigcap_{l\geqslant 1} lK_m(F)$ and is a divisible group.

Proof. Bloch–Kato–Gabber's theorem (see subsection A2 in the appendix to section 2) shows that the differential symbol

$$d: K_m(F)/p \longrightarrow \Omega_F^m, \qquad \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_m\} \longmapsto \frac{d\alpha_1}{\alpha_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{d\alpha_m}{\alpha_m}$$

is injective. The topology of Ω_F^m induced from F (as a finite dimensional vector space) is Hausdorff, and d is continuous, so $\Lambda_m(F) \subset pK_m(F)$.

Since $VK_m(F)/\Lambda_m(F) \simeq \prod \mathcal{E}_J$ doesn't have p-torsion by Theorem 1 in subsection 7.2, $\Lambda_m(F) = p\Lambda_m(F)$.

Theorem 3 ([F5, Th. 4.7]). If char(F) = 0 then $\Lambda_m(F)$ is equal to $\bigcap_{l\geqslant 1} lK_m(F)$ and is a divisible group. If a primitive l th root ζ_l belongs to F, then $_lK_m^{\text{top}}(F) = \{\zeta_l\} \cdot K_{m-1}^{\text{top}}(F)$.

Proof. To show that $p^rVK_m(F) \supset \Lambda_m(F)$ it suffices to check that $p^rVK_m(F)$ is the intersection of open neighbourhoods of $p^rVK_m(F)$.

We can assume that μ_p is contained in F applying the standard argument by using $(p, |F(\mu_p): F|) = 1$ and l-divisibility of $VK_m(F)$ for l prime to p.

If r = 1 then one can use Bloch–Kato's description of

$$U_{i}K_{m}(F) + pK_{m}(F)/U_{i+1}K_{m}(F) + pK_{m}(F)$$

in terms of products of quotients of $\Omega^j_{K_{n-1}}$ (section 4). $\Omega^j_{K_{n-1}}$ and its quotients are finite-dimensional vector spaces over K_{n-1}/K^p_{n-1} , so the intersection of all neighborhoods of zero there with respect to the induced from K_{n-1} topology is trivial. Therefore the injectivity of d implies $\Lambda_m(F) \subset pK_m(F)$.

Thus, the intersection of open subgroups in $VK_m(F)$ containing $pVK_m(F)$ is equal to $pVK_m(F)$.

Induction Step.

For a field F consider the pairing

$$(\ ,\)_r:K_m(F)/p^r\times H^{n+1-m}(F,\mu_{p^r}^{\otimes n-m})\to H^{n+1}(F,\mu_{p^r}^{\otimes n})$$

given by the cup product and the map $F^* \to H^1(F, \mu_{p^r})$. If $\mu_{p^r} \subset F$, then Bloch–Kato's theorem shows that $(\ ,\)_r$ can be identified (up to sign) with Vostokov's pairing $V_r(\ ,\)$.

For
$$\chi \in H^{n+1-m}(F, \mu_{p^r}^{\otimes n-m})$$
 put

$$A_{\chi} = \{ \alpha \in K_m(F) : (\alpha, \chi)_r = 0 \}.$$

One can show [F5, Lemma 4.7] that A_{χ} is an open subgroup of $K_m(F)$.

Let α belong to the intersection of all open subgroups of $VK_m(F)$ which contain $p^rVK_m(F)$. Then $\alpha \in A_\chi$ for every $\chi \in H^{n+1-m}(F,\mu_{p^r}^{\otimes n-m})$.

Set $L = F(\mu_{p^r})$ and $p^s = |L:F|$. From the induction hypothesis we deduce that $\alpha \in p^s VK_m(F)$ and hence $\alpha = N_{L/F}\beta$ for some $\beta \in VK_m(L)$. Then

$$0 = (\alpha, \chi)_{r,F} = (N_{L/F}\beta, \chi)_{r,F} = (\beta, i_{F/L}\chi)_{r,L}$$

where $i_{F/L}$ is the natural map. Keeping in mind the identification between Vostokov's pairing V_r and $(\ ,\)_r$ for the field L we see that β is annihilated by $i_{F/L}K_{n+1-m}(F)$

with respect to Vostokov's pairing. Using explicit calculations with Vostokov's pairing one can directly deduce that

$$\beta \in (\sigma - 1)K_m(L) + p^{r-s}i_{F/L}K_m(F) + p^rK_m(L),$$

and therefore $\alpha \in p^r K_m(F)$, as required.

Thus $p^r K_m(F) = \bigcap$ open neighbourhoods of $p^r V K_m(F)$.

To prove the second statement we can assume that l is a prime. If $l \neq p$, then since $K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ is the direct sum of several cyclic groups and $VK_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ and since l-torsion of $K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ is p-divisible and $\bigcap_r p^r VK_m^{\text{top}}(F) = \{0\}$, we deduce the result.

Consider the most difficult case of l = p. Use the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mu_{p^s}^{\otimes n} \to \mu_{p^{s+1}}^{\otimes n} \to \mu_{p}^{\otimes n} \to 0$$

and the following commutative diagram (see also subsection 4.3.2)

$$\mu_p \otimes K_{m-1}(F)/p \longrightarrow K_m(F)/p^s \stackrel{p}{\longrightarrow} K_m(F)/p^{s+1}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$H^{m-1}(F, \mu_p^{\otimes m}) \longrightarrow H^m(F, \mu_{p^s}^{\otimes m}) \longrightarrow H^m(F, \mu_{p^{s+1}}^{\otimes m}).$$

We deduce that $px \in \Lambda_m(F)$ implies $px \in \bigcap p^r K_m(F)$, so $x = \{\zeta_p\} \cdot a_{r-1} + p^{r-1}b_{r-1}$ for some $a_i \in K_{m-1}^{\text{top}}(F)$ and $b_i \in K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$.

Define $\psi \colon K_{m-1}^{\text{top}}(F) \to K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ as $\psi(\alpha) = \{\zeta_p\} \cdot \alpha$; it is a continuous map. Put $D_r = \psi^{-1}(p^r K_m^{\text{top}}(F))$. The group $D = \bigcap D_r$ is the kernel of ψ . One can show [F5, proof of Th. 4.7] that $\{a_r\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the space $K_{m-1}^{\text{top}}(F)/D$ which is complete. Hence there is $y \in \bigcap (a_{r-1} + D_{r-1})$. Thus, $x = \{\zeta_p\} \cdot y$ in $K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$. Divisibility follows.

Remarks. 1. Compare with Theorem 8 in 2.5.

- 2. For more properties of $K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ see [F5].
- 3. Zhukov [Z, §7–10] gave a description of $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$ in terms of topological generators and relations for some fields F of characteristic zero with small $v_F(p)$.

6.7. The group $K_m(F)/l$

6.7.1. If a prime number l is distinct from p, then, since V_F is l-divisible, we deduce from 6.5 that

$$K_m(F)/l \simeq K_m^{\text{top}}(F)/l \simeq (\mathbb{Z}/l)^{a(m)} \oplus (\mathbb{Z}/d)^{b(m)}$$

where $d = \gcd(q - 1, l)$.

6.7.2. The case of l = p is more interesting and difficult. We use the method described at the beginning of 6.4.

If char (F) = p then the Artin-Schreier pairing of 6.4.3 for r = 1 helps one to show that $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)/p$ has the following topological \mathbb{Z}/p -basis:

$$\left\{1+\theta t_n^{i_n}\dots t_1^{i_1},t_n,\dots,\widehat{t_l},\dots,t_1\right\}$$

where $p \nmid \gcd(i_1, \ldots, i_n)$, $0 < (i_1, \ldots, i_n)$, $l = \min\{k : p \nmid i_k\}$ and θ runs over all elements of a fixed basis of K_0 over \mathbb{F}_p .

If char (F) = 0, $\zeta_p \in F^*$, then using Vostokov's symbol (6.4.4 and 8.3) one obtains that $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)/p$ has the following topological \mathbb{Z}_p -basis consisting of elements of two types:

$$\omega_*(j) = \left\{1 + \theta_* t_n^{pe_n/(p-1)} \dots t_1^{pe_1/(p-1)}, t_n, \dots, \widehat{t_j}, \dots, t_1\right\}$$

where $1 \leqslant j \leqslant n$, $(e_1, \ldots, e_n) = \mathbf{v}_F(p)$ and $\theta_* \in \mu_{q-1}$ is such that $1 + \theta_* t_n^{pe_n/(p-1)} \ldots t_1^{pe_1/(p-1)}$ doesn't belong to F^{*p} and

$$\left\{1+\theta t_n^{i_n}\dots t_1^{i_1},t_n,\dots,\widehat{t_l},\dots,t_1\right\}$$

where $p \nmid \gcd(i_1, \ldots, i_n)$, $0 < (i_1, \ldots, i_n) < p(e_1, \ldots, e_n)/(p-1)$,

 $l=\min \ \{k:p \nmid i_k\}$, where θ runs over all elements of a fixed basis of K_0 over \mathbb{F}_p . If $\zeta_p \not\in F^*$, then pass to the field $F(\zeta_p)$ and then go back, using the fact that the degree of $F(\zeta_p)/F$ is relatively prime to p. One deduces that $K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(F)/p$ has the following topological \mathbb{Z}_p -basis:

$$\{1 + \theta t_n^{i_n} \dots t_1^{i_1}, t_n, \dots, \widehat{t_l}, \dots, t_1\}$$

where $p \nmid \gcd(i_1, \ldots, i_n)$, $0 < (i_1, \ldots, i_n) < p(e_1, \ldots, e_n)/(p-1)$, $l = \min\{k : p \nmid i_k\}$, where θ runs over all elements of a fixed basis of K_0 over \mathbb{F}_p .

6.8. The norm map on K^{top} -groups

Definition. Define the norm map on $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$ as induced by $N_{L/F}: K_n(L) \to K_n(F)$. Alternatively in characteristic p one can define the norm map as in 7.4.

6.8.1. Put
$$u_{i_1,...,i_n} = U_{i_1,...,i_n}/U_{i_1+1,...,i_n}$$
.

Proposition ([F2, Prop. 4.1] and [F3, Prop. 3.1]). Let L/F be a cyclic extension of prime degree l such that the extension of the last finite residue fields is trivial. Then there is s and a local parameter $t_{s,L}$ of L such that $L = F(t_{s,L})$. Let t_1, \ldots, t_n be a system of local parameters of F, then $t_1, \ldots, t_{s,L}, \ldots, t_n$ is a system of local parameters of L.

Let l = p. For a generator σ of Gal(L/F) let

$$\frac{\sigma t_{s,L}}{t_{s,L}} = 1 + \theta_0 t_n^{r_n} \cdots t_{s,L}^{r_s} \cdots t_1^{r_1} + \cdots$$

Then

(1) if $(i_1, \ldots, i_n) < (r_1, \ldots, r_n)$ then

$$N_{L/F}: u_{i_1,...,i_{n,L}} \to u_{pi_1,...,i_s,...,pi_n,F}$$

sends $\theta \in K_0$ to θ^p ;

(2) if $(i_1, \ldots, i_n) = (r_1, \ldots, r_n)$ then

$$N_{L/F}: u_{i_1,\ldots,i_{n,L}} \to u_{pi_1,\ldots,i_s,\ldots,pi_n,F}$$

sends $\theta \in K_0$ to $\theta^p - \theta \theta_0^{p-1}$;

(3) if $(j_1, ..., j_n) > 0$ then

$$N_{L/F} \colon\! u_{j_1 + r_1, \dots, pj_s + r_s, \dots, j_n + r_n, L} \to u_{j_1 + pr_1, \dots, j_s + r_s, \dots, j_n + pr_n, F}$$

sends $\theta \in K_0$ to $-\theta \theta_0^{p-1}$.

Proof. Similar to the one-dimensional case [FV, Ch. III §1].

6.8.2. If L/F is cyclic of prime degree l then

$$K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(L) = \left\langle \left\{ L^* \right\} \cdot i_{F/L} K_{n-1}^{\operatorname{top}}(F) \right\rangle$$

where $i_{F/L}$ is induced by the embedding $F^* \to L^*$. For instance (we use the notations of section 1), if f(L|F) = l then L is generated over F by a root of unity of order prime to p; if $e_i(L|F) = l$, then use the previous proposition.

Corollary 1. Let L/F be a cyclic extension of prime degree l. Then

$$|K_n^{\mathsf{top}}(F): N_{L/F}K_n^{\mathsf{top}}(L)| = l.$$

If L/F is as in the preceding proposition, then the element

$$\{1 + \theta_* t_n^{pr_n} \cdots t_{s,F}^{r_s} \cdots t_1^{pr_1}, t_1, \ldots, \widehat{t_s}, \ldots, t_n\},\$$

where the residue of θ_* in K_0 doesn't belong to the image of the map

$$\mathfrak{O}_F \xrightarrow{\theta \mapsto \theta^p - \theta \theta_0^{p-1}} \mathfrak{O}_F \longrightarrow K_0,$$

is a generator of $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)/N_{L/F}K_n^{\text{top}}(L)$.

If f(L|F) = 1 and $l \neq p$, then

$$\{\theta_*, t_1, \ldots, \widehat{t_s}, \ldots, t_n\}$$

where $\theta_* \in \mu_{q-1} \setminus \mu_{q-1}^l$ is a generator of $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)/N_{L/F}K_n^{\text{top}}(L)$.

If
$$f(L|F) = l$$
, then

$$\{t_1,\ldots,t_n\}$$

is a generator of $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)/N_{L/F}K_n^{\text{top}}(L)$.

Corollary 2. $N_{L/F}$ (closed subgroup) is closed and $N_{L/F}^{-1}$ (open subgroup) is open.

Proof. Sufficient to show for an extension of prime degree; then use the previous proposition and Theorem 1 of 6.6.

6.8.3.

Theorem 4 ([F2, §4], [F3, §3]). Let L/F be a cyclic extension of prime degree l with a generator σ then the sequence

$$K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(F)/l \oplus K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(L)/l \xrightarrow{i_{F/L} \oplus (1-\sigma)} K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(L)/l \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(F)/l$$

is exact.

Proof. Use the explicit description of K_n^{top}/l in 6.7.

This theorem together with the description of the torsion of $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$ in 6.6 imply:

Corollary. Let L/F be cyclic with a generator σ then the sequence

$$K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \xrightarrow{1-\sigma} K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$$

is exact.

References

- [BK] S. Bloch and K. Kato, *p*-adic étale cohomology, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 63(1986), 107–152.
- [F1] I. Fesenko, Explicit constructions in local fields, Thesis, St. Petersburg Univ. 1987.
- [F2] I. Fesenko, Class field theory of multidimensional local fields of characteristic 0, with the residue field of positive characteristic, Algebra i Analiz (1991); English translation in St. Petersburg Math. J. 3(1992), 649–678.
- [F3] I. Fesenko, Multidimensional local class field theory II, Algebra i Analiz (1991); English translation in St. Petersburg Math. J. 3(1992), 1103–1126.
- [F4] I. Fesenko, Abelian extensions of complete discrete valuation fields, Number Theory Paris 1993/94, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1996, 47–74.
- [F5] I. Fesenko, Sequential topologies and quotients of the Milnor *K*-groups of higher local fields, preprint, www.maths.nott.ac.uk/personal/ibf/stqk.ps

74 I. Fesenko

[FV] I. Fesenko and S. Vostokov, Local Fields and Their Extensions, AMS, Providence RI, 1993.

- [K1] K. Kato, A generalization of local class field theory by using *K*-groups I, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sec. IA 26 No.2 (1979), 303–376.
- [K2] K. Kato, A generalization of local class field theory by using *K*-groups II, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sec. IA 27 No.3 (1980), 603–683.
- [K3] K. Kato, Existence theorem for higher local class field theory, this volume.
- [Kn] B. Kahn, L'anneau de Milnor d'un corps local a corps residuel parfait, Ann. Inst. Fourier 34(1984), 19–65.
- [P1] A. N. Parshin, Class fields and algebraic K-theory, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 30(1975), 253–254; English translation in Russian Math. Surveys.
- [P2] A. N. Parshin, Local class field theory, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov. (1985); English translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 1985, issue 3, 157–185.
- [P3] A. N. Parshin, Galois cohomology and Brauer group of local fields, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov. (1990); English translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 1991, issue 4, 191–201.
- [S] R. F. Snipes, Convergence and continuity: the adequacy of filterbases, the inadequacy of sequences, and spaces in which sequences suffice, Nieuw Arch. voor Wiskunde (3) 23(1975), 8–31.
- [V] S. V. Vostokov, Explicit construction of class field theory for a multidimensional local field, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. (1985) no.2; English translation in Math. USSR Izv. 26(1986), 263–288.
- [Z] I. B. Zhukov, Milnor and topological *K*-groups of multidimensional complete fields, Algebra i analiz (1997); English translation in St. Petersburg Math. J. 9(1998), 69–105.

Department of Mathematics University of Nottingham Nottingham NG7 2RD England E-mail: ibf@maths.nott.ac.uk Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 7, pages 75–79

7. Parshin's higher local class field theory in characteristic p

Ivan Fesenko

Parshin's theory in characteristic p is a remarkably simple and effective approach to all the main theorems of class field theory by using relatively few ingredients.

Let $F = K_n, \ldots, K_0$ be an *n*-dimensional local field of characteristic p.

In this section we use the results and definitions of 6.1-6.5; we don't need the results of 6.6-6.8.

7.1

Recall that the group V_F is topologically generated by

$$1 + \theta t_n^{i_n} \dots t_1^{i_1}, \quad \theta \in \mathbb{R}^*, p \nmid (i_n, \dots, i_1)$$

(see 1.4.2). Note that

$$i_{1} \dots i_{n} \{ 1 + \theta t_{n}^{i_{n}} \dots t_{1}^{i_{1}}, t_{1}, \dots, t_{n} \} = \{ 1 + \theta t_{n}^{i_{n}} \dots t_{1}^{i_{1}}, t_{1}^{i_{1}}, \dots, t_{n}^{i_{n}} \}$$
$$= \{ 1 + \theta t_{n}^{i_{n}} \dots t_{1}^{i_{1}}, t_{1}^{i_{1}} \dots t_{n}^{i_{n}}, \dots, t_{n}^{i_{n}} \} = \{ 1 + \theta t_{n}^{i_{n}} \dots t_{1}^{i_{1}}, -\theta, \dots, t_{n}^{i_{n}} \} = 0,$$

since $\theta^{q-1} = 1$ and V_F is (q-1)-divisible. We deduce that

$$K_{n+1}^{\text{top}}(F) \simeq \mathbb{F}_q^*, \quad \{\theta, t_1, \dots, t_n\} \mapsto \theta, \quad \theta \in \mathbb{R}^*.$$

Recall that (cf. 6.5)

$$K_n^{\text{top}}(F) \simeq \mathbb{Z} \oplus (\mathbb{Z}/(q-1))^n \oplus VK_n^{\text{top}}(F),$$

where the first group on the RHS is generated by $\{t_n, \ldots, t_1\}$, and the second by $\{\theta, \ldots, \widehat{t_l}, \ldots\}$ (apply the tame symbol and valuation map of subsection 6.4).

Published 10 December 2000: © Geometry & Topology Publications

76 I. Fesenko

7.2. The structure of $VK_n^{top}(F)$

Using the Artin–Schreier–Witt pairing (its explicit form in 6.4.3)

$$(,]_r: K_n^{\text{top}}(F)/p^r \times W_r(F)/(\mathbf{F}-1)W_r(F) \to \mathbb{Z}/p^r, r \geqslant 1$$

and the method presented in subsection 6.4 we deduce that every element of $VK_n^{\text{top}}(F)$ is uniquely representable as a convergent series

$$\sum a_{\theta,i_n,...,i_1} \{ 1 + \theta t_n^{i_n} \dots t_1^{i_1}, t_1, \dots, \widehat{t_l}, \dots, t_n \}, \quad a_{\theta,i_n,...,i_1} \in \mathbb{Z}_p,$$

where θ runs over a basis of the \mathbb{F}_p -space K_0 , $p \nmid \gcd(i_n, \ldots, i_1)$ and $l = \min\{k : p \nmid i_k\}$. We also deduce that the pairing $(,]_r$ is non-degenerate.

Theorem 1 (Parshin, [P2]). Let $J = \{j_1, \ldots, j_{m-1}\}$ run over all (m-1)-elements subsets of $\{1, \ldots, n\}$, $m \le n+1$. Let \mathcal{E}_J be the subgroups of V_F generated by $1 + \theta t_n^{i_n} \ldots t_1^{i_1}$, $\theta \in \mu_{q-1}$ such that $p \nmid \gcd(i_1, \ldots, i_n)$ and $\min\{l : p \nmid i_l\} \notin J$. Then the homomorphism

$$h: \prod_{J}^{*-\text{topology}} \mathcal{E}_{J} \to VK_{m}^{\text{top}}(F), \quad (\varepsilon_{J}) \mapsto \sum_{J=\left\{j_{1}, \dots, j_{m-1}\right\}} \left\{\varepsilon_{J}, t_{j_{1}}, \dots, t_{j_{m-1}}\right\}$$

is a homeomorphism.

Proof. There is a sequentially continuous map $f: V_F \times F^{*\oplus m-1} \to \prod_J \mathcal{E}_J$ such that its composition with h coincides with the restriction of the map $\varphi: (F^*)^m \to K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ of 6.3 on $V_F \oplus F^{*\oplus m-1}$.

So the topology of $\prod_J^{*-\text{topology}} \mathcal{E}_J$ is $\leqslant \lambda_m$, as follows from the definition of λ_m . Let U be an open subset in $VK_m(F)$. Then $h^{-1}(U)$ is open in the *-product of the topology $\prod_J \mathcal{E}_J$. Indeed, otherwise for some J there were a sequence $\alpha_J^{(i)} \not\in h^{-1}(U)$ which converges to $\alpha_J \in h^{-1}(U)$. Then the sequence $\varphi(\alpha_J^{(i)}) \not\in U$ converges to $\varphi(\alpha_J) \in U$ which contradicts the openness of U.

Corollary. $K_m^{\text{top}}(F)$ has no nontrivial p-torsion; $\cap p^r V K_m^{\text{top}}(F) = \{0\}.$

7.3

Put $\widetilde{W}(F) = \varinjlim W_r(F)/(\mathbf{F} - 1)W_r(F)$ with respect to the homomorphism $\mathbf{V}: (a_0, \ldots, a_{r-1}) \to (0, a_0, \ldots, a_{r-1})$. From the pairings (see 6.4.3)

$$K_n^{\text{top}}(F)/p^r \times W_r(F)/(\mathbf{F}-1)W_r(F) \xrightarrow{(,]_r} \mathbb{Z}/p^r \to \frac{1}{p^r}\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}$$

one obtains a non-degenerate pairing

$$(,]:\widetilde{K}_n(F)\times\widetilde{W}(F)\to\mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p$$

where $\widetilde{K}_n(F) = K_n^{\text{top}}(F) / \bigcap_{r \geqslant 1} p^r K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$. From 7.1 and Corollary of 7.2 we deduce

$$\bigcap_{r\geqslant 1} p^r K_n^{\mathsf{top}}(F) = \mathsf{Tors}_{p'} K_n^{\mathsf{top}}(F) = \mathsf{Tors} K_n^{\mathsf{top}}(F),$$

where $Tors_{p'}$ is prime-to-p-torsion.

Hence

$$\widetilde{K}_n(F) = K_n^{\text{top}}(F) / \text{Tors } K_n^{\text{top}}(F).$$

7.4. The norm map on K^{top} -groups in characteristic p

Following Parshin we present an alternative description (to that one in subsection 6.8) of the norm map on K^{top} -groups in characteristic p.

If L/F is cyclic of prime degree l, then it is more or less easy to see that

$$K_n^{\text{top}}(L) = \left\langle \left\{ L^* \right\} \cdot i_{F/L} K_{n-1}^{\text{top}}(F) \right\rangle$$

where $i_{F/L}$ is induced by the embedding $F^* \to L^*$. For instance, if f(L|F) = l then L is generated over F by a root of unity of order prime to p; if $e_i(L|F) = l$, then there is a system of local parameters $t_1, \ldots, t_i', \ldots, t_n$ of L such that $t_1, \ldots, t_i, \ldots, t_n$ is a system of local parameters of F.

For such an extension L/F define [P2]

$$N_{L/F}$$
: $K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \to K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$

as induced by $N_{L/F} \colon L^* \to F^*$. For a separable extension L/F find a tower of subextensions

$$F = F_0 - F_1 - \cdots - F_{r-1} - F_r = L$$

such that F_i/F_{i-1} is a cyclic extension of prime degree and define

$$N_{L/F} = N_{F_1/F_0} \circ \cdots \circ N_{F_r/F_{r-1}}$$
.

To prove correctness use the non-degenerate pairings of subsection 6.4 and the properties

$$(N_{L/F}\alpha, \beta]_{F,r} = (\alpha, i_{F/L}\beta]_{L,r}$$

for p-extensions;

$$t(N_{L/F}\alpha,\beta)_F = t(\alpha,i_{F/L}\beta)_L$$

for prime-to-p-extensions (t is the tame symbol of 6.4.2).

7.5. Parshin's reciprocity map

Parshin's theory [P2], [P3] deals with three partial reciprocity maps which then can be glued together.

Proposition ([P3]). Let L/F be a cyclic p-extension. Then the sequence

$$0 \to \widetilde{K}_n(F) \xrightarrow{i_{F/L}} \widetilde{K}_n(L) \xrightarrow{1-\sigma} \widetilde{K}_n(L) \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} \widetilde{K}_n(F)$$

is exact and the cokernel of $N_{L/F}$ is a cyclic group of order |L:F|.

Proof. The sequence is dual (with respect to the pairing of 7.3) to

$$\widetilde{W}(F) \to \widetilde{W}(L) \xrightarrow{1-\sigma} \widetilde{W}(L) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Tr}_{L/F}} \widetilde{W}(F) \to 0.$$

The norm group index is calculated by induction on degree.

Hence the class of p-extensions of F and $\widetilde{K}_n(F)$ satisfy the classical class formation axioms. Thus, one gets a homomorphism $\widetilde{K}_n(F) \to \operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{abp}}/F)$ and

$$\Psi_F^{(p)}: K_n^{\mathsf{top}}(F) \to \mathsf{Gal}(F^{\mathsf{abp}}/F)$$

where F^{abp} is the maximal abelian p-extension of F. In the one-dimensional case this is Kawada–Satake's theory [KS].

The valuation map v of 6.4.1 induces a homomorphism

$$\Psi_F^{(\mathrm{ur})}: K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(F) \to \mathrm{Gal}(F_{\mathrm{ur}}/F),$$

 $\{t_1,\ldots,t_n\} \to \text{the lifting of the Frobenius automorphism of } K_0^{\text{sep}}/K_0;$

and the tame symbol t of 6.4.2 together with Kummer theory induces a homomorphism

$$\Psi_F^{(p')}: K_n^{\text{top}}(F) \to \text{Gal}(F(\sqrt[q-1]{t_1}, \ldots, \sqrt[q-1]{t_n})/F).$$

The three homomorphisms $\Psi_F^{(p)}$, $\Psi_F^{(\mathrm{ur})}$, $\Psi_F^{(\mathrm{p'})}$ agree [P2], so we get the reciprocity map

$$\Psi_F: K_n^{\text{top}}(F) \to \text{Gal}(F^{\text{ab}}/F)$$

with all the usual properties.

Remark. For another rather elementary approach [F1] to class field theory of higher local fields of positive characteristic see subsection 10.2. For Kato's approach to higher class field theory see section 5 above.

References

- [F1] I. Fesenko, Multidimensional local class field theory II, Algebra i Analiz (1991); English translation in St. Petersburg Math. J. 3(1992), 1103–1126.
- [F2] I. Fesenko, Abelian local p-class field theory, Math. Ann. 301(1995), 561–586.
- [KS] Y. Kawada and I. Satake, Class formations II, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Math. 7(1956), 353–389.
- [P1] A. N. Parshin, Class fields and algebraic K-theory, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 30(1975), 253–254; English translation in Russian Math. Surveys.
- [P2] A. N. Parshin, Local class field theory, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov. (1985); English translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 1985, issue 3, 157–185.
- [P3] A. N. Parshin, Galois cohomology and Brauer group of local fields, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov. (1990); English translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 1991, issue 4, 191–201.

Department of Mathematics University of Nottingham Nottingham NG7 2RD England E-mail: ibf@maths.nott.ac.uk

Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 8, pages 81–89

8. Explicit formulas for the Hilbert symbol

Sergei V. Vostokov

Recall that the Hilbert symbol for a local field K with finite residue field which contains a primitive p^n th root of unity ζ_{p^n} is a pairing

$$(\ ,\)_{p^n}:K^*/{K^*}^{p^n}\times K^*/{K^*}^{p^n}\to \langle\zeta_{p^n}\rangle,\quad (\alpha,\beta)_{p^n}=\gamma^{\Psi_K(\alpha)-1},\quad \gamma^{p^n}=\beta,$$
 where $\Psi_K:K^*\to \mathrm{Gal}(K^{\mathrm{ab}}/K)$ is the reciprocity map.

8.1. History of explicit formulas for the Hilbert symbol

There are two different branches of explicit reciprocity formulas (for the Hilbert symbol).

8.1.1. The first branch (Kummer's type formulas).

Theorem (E. Kummer 1858). Let $K = \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_p)$, $p \neq 2$. Then for principal units ε, η

where
$$\varepsilon(X)|_{X=\zeta_p-1}=\varepsilon$$
, $\eta(X)|_{X=\zeta_p-1}=\eta$, $\varepsilon(X),\eta(X)\in\mathbb{Z}_p[[X]]^*$.

The important point is that one associates to the elements ε, η the series $\varepsilon(X), \eta(X)$ in order to calculate the value of the Hilbert symbol.

Theorem (I. Shafarevich 1950). Complete explicit formula for the Hilbert norm residue symbol $(\alpha, \beta)_{p^n}$, $\alpha, \beta \in K^*$, $K \supset \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n})$, $p \neq 2$, using a special basis of the group of principal units.

This formula is not very easy to use because of the special basis of the group of units and certain difficulties with its verification for n > 1. One of applications of this formula was in the work of Yakovlev on the description of the absolute Galois group of a local field in terms of generators and relations.

Complete formulas, which are simpler that Shafarevich's formula, were discovered in the seventies:

Published 10 December 2000: (c) Geometry & Topology Publications

82 S. Vostokov

Theorem (S. Vostokov 1978), (H. Brückner 1979). Let a local field K with finite residue field contain $\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n})$ and let $p \neq 2$. Denote $\mathbb{O}_0 = W(k_K)$, $\mathrm{Tr} = \mathrm{Tr}_{\mathbb{O}_0/\mathbb{Z}_p}$. Then for $\alpha, \beta \in K^*$

$$(\alpha,\beta)_{p^n} = \zeta_{p^n}^{\text{Tr res } \Phi(\alpha,\beta)/\underline{s}}, \quad \Phi(\alpha,\beta) = l(\underline{\beta})\underline{\alpha}^{-1}d\underline{\alpha} - l(\underline{\alpha})\frac{1}{p}\underline{\beta}^{-\triangle}d\underline{\beta}^{\triangle}$$

where $\underline{\alpha} = \theta X^m (1 + \psi(X)), \quad \theta \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \psi \in X \mathcal{O}_0[[X]], \text{ is such that } \underline{\alpha}(\pi) = \alpha, \\ \underline{s} = \zeta_{p^n} \overline{p^n} - 1,$

$$\begin{split} l(\underline{\alpha}) &= \frac{1}{p} \log \left(\underline{\alpha}^p / \underline{\alpha}^\triangle\right), \\ \left(\sum a_i X^i\right)^\triangle &= \sum \operatorname{Frob}_K(a_i) X^{pi}, \quad a_i \in \mathcal{O}_0. \end{split}$$

Note that for the term X^{-p} in Kummer's theorem can be written as $X^{-p} = 1/(\underline{\zeta_p}^p - 1) \mod p$, since $\zeta_p = 1 + \pi$ and so $\underline{s} = \underline{\zeta_p}^p - 1 = (1 + X)^p - 1 = X^p \mod p$.

The works [V1] and [V2] contain two different proofs of this formula. One of them is to construct the explicit pairing

$$(\alpha, \beta) \to \zeta_{p^n}^{\text{Tr res } \Phi(\alpha, \beta)/\underline{s}}$$

and check the correctness of the definition and all the properties of this pairing completely independently of class field theory (somewhat similarly to how one works with the tame symbol), and only at the last step to show that the pairing coincides with the Hilbert symbol. The second method, also followed by Brükner, is different: it uses Kneser's (1951) calculation of symbols and reduces the problem to a simpler one: to find a formula for $(\varepsilon, \pi)_{p^n}$ where π is a prime element of K and ε is a principal unit of K. Whereas the first method is very universal and can be extended to formal groups and higher local fields, the second method works well in the classical situation only.

For p = 2 explicit formulas were obtained by G. Henniart (1981) who followed to a certain extent Brückner's method, and S. Vostokov and I. Fesenko (1982, 1985).

8.1.2. The second branch (Artin–Hasse's type formulas).

Theorem (E. Artin and H. Hasse 1928). Let $K = \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n})$, $p \neq 2$. Then for a principal unit ε and prime element $\pi = \zeta_{p^n} - 1$ of K

$$(\varepsilon, \zeta_{p^n})_{p^n} = \zeta_{p^n}^{\operatorname{Tr}}(-\log \varepsilon)/p^n, \quad (\varepsilon, \pi)_{p^n} = \zeta_{p^n}^{\operatorname{Tr}}(\pi^{-1}\zeta_{p^n}\log \varepsilon)/p^n$$

where $\operatorname{Tr} = \operatorname{Tr}_{K/\mathbb{O}_n}$.

Theorem (K. Iwasawa 1968). Formula for $(\varepsilon, \eta)_{p^n}$ where $K = \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n}), p \neq 2, \varepsilon, \eta$ are principal units of K and $v_K(\eta - 1) > 2v_K(p)/(p - 1)$.

To some extent the following formula can be viewed as a formula of Artin–Hasse's type. Sen deduced it using his theory of continuous Galois representations which itself is a generalization of a part of Tate's theory of p-divisible groups. The Hilbert symbol is interpreted as the cup product of H^1 .

Theorem (Sh. Sen 1980). Let $|K:\mathbb{Q}_p| < \infty$, $\zeta_{p^n} \in K$, and let π be a prime element of \mathfrak{O}_K . Let $g(T), h(T) \in W(k_K)[T]$ be such that $g(\pi) = \beta \neq 0$, $h(\pi) = \zeta_{p^m}$. Let $\alpha \in \mathfrak{O}_K$, $v_K(\alpha) \geq 2v_K(p)/(p-1)$. Then

$$(\alpha, \beta)_{p^m} = \zeta_{p^m}^c, \quad c = \frac{1}{p^m} \operatorname{Tr}_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p} \left(\frac{\zeta_{p^m}}{h'(\pi)} \frac{g'(\pi)}{\beta} \log \alpha \right).$$

R. Coleman (1981) gave a new form of explicit formulas which he proved for $K = \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n})$. He uses formal power series associated to norm compatible sequences of elements in the tower of finite subextensions of the p-cyclotomic extension of the ground field and his formula can be viewed as a generalization of Iwasawa's formula.

8.2. History: Further developments

8.2.1. Explicit formulas for the (generalized) Hilbert symbol in the case where it is defined by an appropriate class field theory.

Definition. Let K be an n-dimensional local field of characteristic 0 which contains a primitive p^m th root of unity. The p^m th Hilbert symbol is defined as

$$K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(K)/p^m \times K^*/{K^*}^p{}^m \to \langle \zeta_{p^m} \rangle, \quad (\alpha,\beta)_{p^m} = \gamma^{\Psi_K(\alpha)-1}, \quad \gamma^{p^m} = \beta,$$

where $\Psi_K: K_n^{\text{top}}(K) \to \text{Gal}(K^{\text{ab}}/K)$ is the reciprocity map.

For higher local fields and p>2 complete formulas of Kummer's type were constructed by S. Vostokov (1985). They are discussed in subsections 8.3 and their applications to K-theory of higher local fields and p-part of the existence theorem in characteristic 0 are discussed in subsections 6.6, 6.7 and 10.5. For higher local fields, p>2 and Lubin–Tate formal group complete formulas of Kummer's type were deduced by I. Fesenko (1987).

Relations of the formulas with syntomic cohomologies were studied by K. Kato (1991) in a very important work where it is suggested to use Fontaine–Messing's syntomic cohomologies and an interpretation of the Hilbert symbol as the cup product explicitly computable in terms of the cup product of syntomic cohomologies; this approach implies Vostokov's formula. On the other hand, Vostokov's formula appropriately generalized defines a homomorphism from the Milnor K-groups to cohomology

84 S. Vostokov

groups of a syntomic complex (see subsection 15.1.1). M. Kurihara (1990) applied syntomic cohomologies to deduce Iwasawa's and Coleman's formulas in the multiplicative case.

For higher local fields complete formulas of Artin–Hasse's type were constructed by M. Kurihara (1998), see section 9.

8.2.2. Explicit formulas for p-divisible groups.

Definition. Let F be a formal p-divisible group over the ring \mathcal{O}_{K_0} where K_0 is a subfield of a local field K. Let K contain p^n -division points of F. Define the Hilbert symbol by

$$K^* \times F(\mathcal{M}_K) \to \ker[p^n], \quad (\alpha, \beta)_{p^n} = \Psi_K(\alpha)(\gamma) -_F \gamma, \quad [p^n](\gamma) = \beta,$$

where $\Psi_K: K^* \to \operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{ab}}/K)$ is the reciprocity map.

For formal Lubin–Tate groups, complete formulas of Kummer's type were obtained by S. Vostokov (1979) for odd p and S. Vostokov and I. Fesenko (1983) for even p. For relative formal Lubin–Tate groups complete formulas of Kummer's type were obtained by S. Vostokov and A. Demchenko (1995).

For local fields with finite residue field and formal Lubin–Tate groups formulas of Artin–Hasse's type were deduced by A. Wiles (1978) for K equal to the $[\pi^n]$ -division field of the isogeny $[\pi]$ of a formal Lubin–Tate group; by V. Kolyvagin (1979) for K containing the $[\pi^n]$ -division field of the isogeny $[\pi]$; by R. Coleman (1981) in the multiplicative case and some partial cases of Lubin–Tate groups; his conjectural formula in the general case of Lubin–Tate groups was proved by E. de Shalit (1986) for K containing the $[\pi^n]$ -division field of the isogeny $[\pi]$. This formula was generalized by Y. Sueyoshi (1990) for relative formal Lubin–Tate groups. F. Destrempes (1995) extended Sen's formulas to Lubin–Tate formal groups.

J.–M. Fontaine (1991) used his crystalline ring and his and J.–P. Wintenberger's theory of field of norms for the p-cyclotomic extension to relate Kummer theory with Artin–Schreier–Witt theory and deduce in particular some formulas of Iwasawa's type using Coleman's power series. D. Benois (1998) further extended this approach by using Fontaine–Herr's complex and deduced Coleman's formula. V. Abrashkin (1997) used another arithmetically profinite extension ($L = \bigcup F_i$ of F, $F_i = F_{i-1}(\pi_i)$, $\pi_i^p = \pi_{i-1}$, π_0 being a prime element of F) to deduce the formula of Brückner–Vostokov.

For formal groups which are defined over an absolutely unramified local field K_0 ($e(K_0|\mathbb{Q}_p)=1$) and therefore are parametrized by Honda's systems, formulas of Kummer's type were deduced by D. Benois and S. Vostokov (1990), for n=1 and one-dimensional formal groups, and by V. Abrashkin (1997) for arbitrary n and arbitrary formal group with restriction that K contains a primitive p^n th root of unity. For one dimensional formal groups and arbitrary n without restriction that K contains a primitive p^n th root of unity in the ramified case formulas were obtained by S. Vostokov and A. Demchenko (2000). For arbitrary n and arbitrary formal group without restric-

tions on K Abrashkin's formula was established by Benois (2000), see subsection 6.6 of Part II.

Sen's formulas were generalized to all p-divisible groups by D. Benois (1997) using an interpretation of the Hilbert pairing in terms of an explicit construction of p-adic periods. T. Fukaya (1998) generalized the latter for higher local fields.

8.2.3. Explicit formulas for p-adic representations. The previously discussed explicit formulas can be viewed as a description of the exponential map from the tangent space of a formal group to the first cohomology group with coefficients in the Tate module. Bloch and Kato (1990) defined a generalization of the exponential map to de Rham representations. An explicit description of this map is closely related to the computation of Tamagawa numbers of motives which play an important role in the Bloch–Kato conjecture. The description of this map for the $\mathbb{Q}_p(n)$ over cyclotomic fields was given by Bloch–Kato (1990) and Kato (1993); it can be viewed as a vast generalization of Iwasawa's formula (the case n = 1). B. Perrin-Riou constructed an Iwasawa theory for crystalline representations over an absolutely unramified local field and conjectured an explicit description of the cup product of the cohomology groups. There are three different approaches which culminate in the proof of this conjecture by P. Colmez (1998), K. Kato–M. Kurihara–T. Tsuji (unpublished) and for crystalline representations of finite height by D. Benois (1998).

K. Kato (1999) gave generalizations of explicit formulas of Artin–Hasse, Iwasawa and Wiles type to p-adically complete discrete valuation fields and p-divisible groups which relates norm compatible sequences in the Milnor K-groups and trace compatible sequences in differential forms; these formulas are applied in his other work to give an explicit description in the case of p-adic completions of function fields of modular curves.

8.3. Explicit formulas in higher dimensional fields of characteristic 0

Let K be an n-dimensional field of characteristic 0, $\operatorname{char}(K_{n-1}) = p, \ p > 2$. Let $\zeta_{n^m} \in K$.

Let t_1, \ldots, t_n be a system of local parameters of K.

For an element

$$\alpha = t_n^{i_n} \dots t_1^{i_1} \theta (1 + \sum a_J t_n^{j_n} \dots t_1^{j_1}), \quad \theta \in \mathbb{R}^*, a_J \in W(K_0),$$

 $(j_1, \ldots, j_n) > (0, \ldots, 0)$ denote by $\underline{\alpha}$ the following element

$$X_n^{i_n} \dots X_1^{i_1} \theta (1 + \sum a_J X_n^{j_n} \dots X_1^{j_1})$$

in $F\{\{X_1\}\}$... $\{\{X_n\}\}$ where F is the fraction field of $W(K_0)$. Clearly $\underline{\alpha}$ is not uniquely determined even if the choice of a system of local parameters is fixed.

86 S. Vostokov

Independently of class field theory define the following explicit map

$$V(\ ,\)_m:(K^*)^{n+1}\to \langle \zeta_{p^m}\rangle$$

by the formula

$$V(\alpha_{1}, \ldots, \alpha_{n+1})_{m} = \zeta_{p^{m}}^{\text{Tr res }} \Phi(\alpha_{1}, \ldots, \alpha_{n+1}) / \underline{s}, \quad \Phi(\alpha_{1}, \ldots, \alpha_{n+1})$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \frac{(-1)^{n-i+1}}{p^{n-i+1}} l\left(\underline{\alpha_{i}}\right) \frac{d\underline{\alpha_{1}}}{\underline{\alpha_{1}}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{d\underline{\alpha_{i-1}}}{\underline{\alpha_{i-1}}} \wedge \frac{d\underline{\alpha_{i+1}}^{\triangle}}{\underline{\alpha_{i+1}}^{\triangle}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{d\underline{\alpha_{n+1}}^{\triangle}}{\underline{\alpha_{n+1}}^{\triangle}}$$

where $\underline{s}=\zeta_{p^m}{}^p{}^m-1$, $\operatorname{Tr}=\operatorname{Tr}_{W(K_0)/\mathbb{Z}_p}$, $\operatorname{res}=\operatorname{res}_{X_1,\dots,X_n}$,

$$l(\underline{\alpha}) = \frac{1}{n} \log \left(\underline{\alpha}^p / \underline{\alpha}^{\triangle}\right), \quad \left(\sum a_J X_n^{j_n} \cdots X_1^{j_i}\right)^{\triangle} = \sum \operatorname{Frob}(a_J) X_n^{pj_n} \cdots X_1^{pj_1}.$$

Theorem 1. The map $V(\ ,\)_m$ is well defined, multilinear and symbolic. It induces a homomorphism

$$K_n(K)/p^m \times K^*/K^{*p^m} \to \mu_{p^m}$$

and since V is sequentially continuous, a homomorphism

$$V(\cdot, \cdot)_m: K_n^{\text{top}}(K)/p^m \times K^*/K^{*p^m} \to \mu_{p^m}$$

which is non-degenerate.

Comment on Proof. A set of elements t_1, \ldots, t_n , $\varepsilon_{\mathbf{j}}, \omega$ (where \mathbf{j} runs over a subset of \mathbb{Z}^n) is called a Shafarevich basis of K^*/K^{*p^m} if

- (1) every $\alpha \in K^*$ can be written as a convergent product $\alpha = t_1^{i_1} \dots t_n^{i_n} \prod_{\mathbf{j}} \varepsilon_{\mathbf{j}}^{b_{\mathbf{j}}} \omega^c \mod K^{*p^m}$, $b_{\mathbf{j}}, c \in \mathbb{Z}_p$.
- (2) $V\left(\left\{t_{1},\ldots,t_{n}\right\},\varepsilon_{\mathbf{j}}\right)_{m}=1, V\left(\left\{t_{1},\ldots,t_{n}\right\},\omega\right)_{m}=\zeta_{p^{m}}.$

An important element of a Shafarevich basis is $\omega(a) = E(as(X))|_{X_n = t_n, ..., X_1 = t_1}$ where

$$E(f(X)) = \exp\left(\left(1 + \frac{\triangle}{p} + \frac{\triangle^2}{p^2} + \cdots\right)(f(X))\right),\,$$

 $a \in W(K_0)$.

Now take the following elements as a Shafarevich basis of K^*/K^{*p^m} :

- elements t_1, \ldots, t_n ,
- elements $\varepsilon_J = 1 + \theta t_n^{j_n} \dots t_1^{j_1}$ where $p \nmid \gcd(j_1, \dots, j_n)$, $0 < (j_1, \dots, j_n) < p(e_1, \dots, e_n)/(p-1)$, where $(e_1, \dots, e_n) = \mathbf{v}(p)$, \mathbf{v} is the discrete valuation of rank n associated to t_1, \dots, t_n ,
- $\omega = \omega(a)$ where a is an appropriate generator of $W(K_0)/(\mathbf{F} 1)W(K_0)$. Using this basis it is relatively easy to show that $V(\cdot, \cdot)_m$ is non-degenerate.

In particular, for every $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^*$ there is $\theta' \in \mathbb{R}^*$ such that

$$V\left(\left\{1 + \theta t_n^{i_n} \dots t_1^{i_1}, t_1, \dots, \widehat{t_l}, \dots, t_n\right\}, 1 + \theta' t_n^{pe_n/(p-1)-i_n} \dots t_1^{pe_1/(p-1)-i_1}\right)_m = \zeta_{p^m}$$
 where i_l is prime to $p, \ 0 < (i_1, \dots, i_n) < p(e_1, \dots, e_n)/(p-1)$ and $(e_1, \dots, e_n) = \mathbf{v}(p)$.

Theorem 2. Every open subgroup N of finite index in $K_n^{\text{top}}(K)$ such that $N \supset p^m K_n^{\text{top}}(K)$ is the orthogonal complement with respect to $V(\cdot, \cdot)_m$ of a subgroup in K^*/K^{*p^m} .

Remark. Given higher local class field theory one defines the Hilbert symbol for l such that l is not divisible by char(K), $\mu_l \leq K^*$ as

$$(,)_l: K_n(K)/l \times K^*/K^{*l} \to \langle \zeta_l \rangle, \quad (x,\beta)_l = \gamma^{\Psi_K(x)-1}$$

where $\gamma^l = \beta$, $\Psi_K: K_n(K) \to \text{Gal}(K^{ab}/K)$ is the reciprocity map.

If l is prime to p, then the Hilbert symbol $(,)_l$ coincides (up to a sign) with the (q-1)/l th power of the tame symbol of 6.4.2. If $l=p^m$, then the p^m th Hilbert symbol coincides (up to a sign) with the symbol $V(,)_m$.

References

- [A1] V. Abrashkin, The field of norms functor and the Brückner–Vostokov formula, Math. Ann. 308(1997), 5–19.
- [A2] V. Abrashkin, Explicit formulae for the Hilbert symbol of a formal group over Witt vectors, Izv. Ross. Akad. Nauk Ser. Mat. (1997); English translation in Izv. Math. 61(1997), 463–515.
- [AH1] E. Artin and H. Hasse, Über den zweiten Ergänzungssatz zum Reziprozitätsgesetz der l-ten Potenzreste im Körper k_{ζ} der l-ten Einheitswurzeln und Oberkörpern von k_{ζ} , J. reine angew. Math. 154(1925), 143–148.
- [AH2] E. Artin and H. Hasse, Die beiden Ergänzungssatz zum Reziprzitätsgesetz der l^n -ten Potenzreste im Körper der l^n -ten Einheitswurzeln, Abh. Math. Sem. Univ. Hamburg 6(1928), 146–162.
- [Be1] D. Benois, Périodes *p*-adiques et lois de réciprocité explicites, J. reine angew. Math. 493(1997), 115–151.
- [Be2] D. Benois, On Iwasawa theory of cristalline representations, Preprint Inst. Experimentelle Mathematik (Essen) 1998.
- [BK] S. Bloch and K. Kato, *L*-functions and Tamagawa numbers of motives, In The Grothendieck Festschrift, Birkhäuser vol. 1, 1990, 334–400.
- [Br] H. Brückner, Explizites reziprozitätsgesetz und Anwendungen, Vorlesungen aus dem Fachbereich Mathematik der Universität Essen, 1979.
- [Cole1] R. F. Coleman, The dilogarithm and the norm residue symbol, Bull. Soc. France 109(1981), 373–402.

88 S. Vostokov

[Cole2] R. F. Coleman, The arithmetic of Lubin–Tate division towers, Duke Math. J. 48(1981), 449–466.

- [Colm] P. Colmez, Théorie d'Iwasawa des représentations de de Rham d'un corps local Ann. of Math. 148 (1998), no 2, 485–571.
- [D] F. Destrempes, Explicit reciprocity laws for Lubin–Tate modules, J. reine angew. Math., 463(1995) 27–47.
- [dS] E. de Shalit, The explicit reciprocity law in local class field theory, Duke Math. J. 53(1986), 163–176.
- [Fe1] I. Fesenko, The generalized Hilbert symbol in the 2-adic case, Vestnik Leningrad. Univ. Mat. Mekh. Astronom. (1985); English translation in Vestnik Leningrad Univ. Math. 18(1985), 88–91.
- [Fe2] I. Fesenko, Explicit constructions in local fields, Thesis, St. Petersburg Univ. 1987.
- [Fe3] I. Fesenko, Generalized Hilbert symbol in multidimensional local fields, Rings and modules. Limit theorems of probability theory, No. 2 (1988).
- [FV] I. Fesenko and S. Vostokov, Local Fields and Their Extensions, AMS, Providence RI, 1993.
- [Fo] J.-M. Fontaine, Appendice: Sur un théorème de Bloch et Kato (lettre à B. Perrin–Riou), Invent. Math. 115(1994), 151–161.
- [Fu] T. Fukaya, Explicit reciprocity laws for p-divisible groups over higher dimensional local fields, preprint 1999.
- [H] G. Henniart, Sur les lois de rèciprocité explicites I, J. reine angew. Math. 329(1981), 177-203.
- [I] K. Iwasawa, On explicit formulas for the norm residue symbols, J. Math. Soc. Japan 20(1968), 151–165.
- [Ka1] K. Kato, The explicit reciprocity law and the cohomology of Fontaine–Messing, Bull. Soc. Math. France 119(1991), 397–441.
- [Ka2] K. Kato, Lectures on the approach to Hasse-Weil L-functions via B_{dR} , Lect. Notes in Math. 1553 (1993), 50–163.
- [Ka3] K. Kato, Generalized explicit reciprocity laws, Adv. Stud. in Contemporary Math. 1(1999), 57–126.
- [Kn] M. Kneser, Zum expliziten Resiprozitätsgestz von I. R. Shafarevich, Math. Nachr. 6(1951), 89–96.
- [Ko] V. Kolyvagin, Formal groups and the norm residue symbol, Izv. Akad. Nauk Ser. Mat. (1979); English translation in Math. USSR Izv. 15(1980), 289–348.
- [Kum] E. Kummer, Über die allgemeinen Reziprozitätsgesetze der Potenzreste, J. reine angew. Math. 56(1858), 270–279.
- [Kur1] M. Kurihara, Appendix: Computation of the syntomic regulator in the cyclotomic case, Invent. Math. 99 (1990), 313–320.
- [Kur2] M. Kurihara, The exponential homomorphism for the Milnor K-groups and an explicit reciprocity law, J. reine angew. Math. 498(1998), 201–221.
- [PR] B. Perrin-Riou, Theorie d'Iwasawa des representations p-adiques sur un corps local, Invent. Math. 115(1994), 81–149.

- [Se] Sh. Sen, On explicit reciprocity laws I; II, J. reine angew. Math. 313(1980), 1–26; 323(1981), 68–87.
- [Sh] I. R. Shafarevich, A general reciprocity law, Mat. Sb. (1950); English translation in Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, 4(1956), 73–106.
- [Su] Y. Sueyoshi, Explicit reciprocity laws on relative Lubin–Tate groups, Acta Arithm. 55(1990), 291–299.
- [V1] S. V. Vostokov, An explicit form of the reciprocity law, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. (1978); English translation in Math. USSR Izv. 13(1979), 557–588.
- [V2] S. V. Vostokov, A norm pairing in formal modules, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. (1979); English translation in Math. USSR Izv. 15(1980), 25–52.
- [V3] S. V. Vostokov, Symbols on formal groups, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. (1981); English translation in Math. USSR Izv. 19(1982), 261–284.
- [V4] S. V. Vostokov, The Hilbert symbol for Lubin-Tate formal groups I, Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI) (1982); English translation in J. Soviet Math. 27(1984), 2885–2901.
- [V5] S. V. Vostokov, Explicit construction of class field theory for a multidimensional local field, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. (1985) no.2; English translation in Math. USSR Izv. 26(1986), 263–288.
- [V6] S. V. Vostokov, The pairing on K-groups in fields of valuation of rank n, Trudy Sankt-Peterb. Mat. Obschestva (1995); English translation in Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2 165(1995), 111–148.
- [V7] S. V. Vostokov, Hilbert pairing on a multidimensional complete field Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklova, (1995); English translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. of Math. 208(1995), 72–83.
- [VB] S. V. Vostokov and D. G. Benois, Norm pairing in formal groups and Galois representations, Algebra i Analiz (1990); English translation in Leningrad Math. J. 2(1991), 1221–1249.
- [VD1] S. V. Vostokov and O. V. Demchenko, Explicit form of Hilbert pairing for relative Lubin-Tate formal groups, Zap. Nauch. Sem. POMI (1995); English translation in J. Math. Sci. Ser. 2 89(1998), 1105–1107.
- [VD2] S.V.Vostokov and O.V. Demchenko, Explicit formula of the Hilbert symbol for Honda formal group, Zap. Nauch. Sem. POMI 272(2000) (in Russian).
- [VF] S. V. Vostokov and I. B. Fesenko, The Hilbert symbol for Lubin-Tate formal groups II, Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov (LOMI), (1983); English translation in J. Soviet Math. 30(1985), 1854–1862.
- [W] A. Wiles, Higher explicit reciprocity laws, Ann. Math. 107(1978), 235–254.

Department of Mathematics St. Petersburg University Bibliotechnaya pl. 2 Staryj Petergof, 198904 St. Petersburg Russia E-mail: sergei@vostokov.usr.pu.ru

Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 9, pages 91–94

9. Exponential maps and explicit formulas

Masato Kurihara

In this section we introduce an exponential homomorphism for the Milnor K-groups for a complete discrete valuation field of mixed characteristics.

In general, to work with the additive group is easier than with the multiplicative group, and the exponential map can be used to understand the structure of the multiplicative group by using that of the additive group. We would like to study the structure of $K_q(K)$ for a complete discrete valuation field K of mixed characteristics in order to obtain arithmetic information of K. Note that the Milnor K-groups can be viewed as a generalization of the multiplicative group. Our exponential map reduces some problems in the Milnor K-groups to those of the differential modules $\Omega_{\mathcal{O}_K}^{\circ}$ which is relatively easier than the Milnor K-groups.

As an application, we study explicit formulas of certain type.

9.1. Notation and exponential homomorphisms

Let K be a complete discrete valuation field of mixed characteristics (0,p). Let \mathcal{O}_K be the ring of integers, and F be its the residue field. Denote by $\operatorname{ord}_p \colon K^* \longrightarrow \mathbb{Q}$ the additive valuation normalized by $\operatorname{ord}_p(p) = 1$. For $\eta \in \mathcal{O}_K$ we have an exponential homomorphism

$$\exp_{\eta} : \mathcal{O}_K \longrightarrow K^*, \qquad a \mapsto \exp(\eta a) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (\eta a)^n / n!$$

if ord_{*p*}(η) > 1/(*p* - 1).

For q > 0 let $K_q(K)$ be the qth Milnor K-group, and define $\widehat{K}_q(K)$ as the p-adic completion of $K_q(K)$, i.e.

$$\widehat{K}_q(K) = \lim_{\longrightarrow} K_q(K) \otimes \mathbb{Z}/p^n.$$

Published 10 December 2000: (c) Geometry & Topology Publications

92 M. Kurihara

For a ring A, we denote as usual by Ω^1_A the module of the absolute differentials, i.e. $\Omega^1_A = \Omega^1_{A/\mathbb{Z}}$. For a field F of characteristic p and a p-base I of F, Ω^1_F is an F-vector space with basis dt ($t \in I$). Let K be as above, and consider the p-adic completion $\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K}$ of $\Omega^1_{\mathcal{O}_K}$

$$\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K} = \lim \Omega^1_{\mathcal{O}_K} \otimes \mathbb{Z}/p^n$$
.

We take a lifting \widetilde{I} of a p-base I of F, and take a prime element π of K. Then, $\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K}$ is an \mathcal{O}_K -module (topologically) generated by $d\pi$ and dT ($T \in \widetilde{I}$) ([Ku1, Lemma 1.1]). If I is finite, then $\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K}$ is generated by $d\pi$ and dT ($T \in \widetilde{I}$) in the ordinary sense. Put

$$\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_K}^q = \wedge^q \widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_K}^1.$$

Theorem ([Ku3]). Let $\eta \in K$ be an element such that $\operatorname{ord}_p(\eta) \geqslant 2/(p-1)$. Then for q > 0 there exists a homomorphism

$$\exp_{\eta}^{(q)}: \widehat{\Omega}_{\mathfrak{O}_K}^q \longrightarrow \widehat{K}_q(K)$$

such that

$$\exp_{\eta}^{(q)} \left(a \frac{db_1}{b_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{db_{q-1}}{b_{q-1}} \right) = \{ \exp(\eta a), b_1, \dots, b_{q-1} \}$$

for any $a \in \mathcal{O}_K$ and any $b_1, \ldots, b_{q-1} \in \mathcal{O}_K^*$.

Note that we have no assumption on F (F may be imperfect). For $b_1,\ldots,b_{q-1}\in \mathfrak{O}_K$ we have

$$\exp^{(q)}_{\eta}(a\cdot db_1\wedge\cdots\wedge db_{q-1})=\{\exp(\eta ab_1\cdot\cdots\cdot b_{q-1}),b_1,\,\ldots,b_{q-1}\}.$$

9.2. Explicit formula of Sen

Let K be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p and assume that a primitive p^n th root ζ_{p^n} is in K. Denote by K_0 the subfield of K such that K/K_0 is totally ramified and K_0/\mathbb{Q}_p is unramified. Let π be a prime element of O_K , and g(T) and $h(T) \in \mathcal{O}_{K_0}[T]$ be polynomials such that $g(\pi) = \beta$ and $h(\pi) = \zeta_{p^n}$, respectively. Assume that α satisfies $\operatorname{ord}_p(\alpha) \geqslant 2/(p-1)$ and $\beta \in \mathcal{O}_K^*$. Then, Sen's formula ([S]) is

$$(\alpha, \beta) = \zeta_{p^n}^c, \qquad c = \frac{1}{p^n} \operatorname{Tr}_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p} \left(\frac{\zeta_{p^n}}{h'(\pi)} \frac{g'(\pi)}{\beta} \log \alpha \right)$$

where (α, β) is the Hilbert symbol defined by $(\alpha, \beta) = \gamma^{-1} \Psi_K(\alpha)(\gamma)$ where $\gamma^{p^n} = \beta$ and Ψ_K is the reciprocity map.

The existence of our exponential homomorphism introduced in the previous subsection helps to provide a new proof of this formula by reducing it to Artin-Hasse's

formula for (α, ζ_{p^n}) . In fact, put $k = \mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_{p^n})$, and let η be an element of k such that $\operatorname{ord}_p(\eta) = 2/(p-1)$. Then, the commutative diagram

$$\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_{K}}^{1} \xrightarrow{\exp_{\eta}} \widehat{K}_{2}(K)$$

$$\operatorname{Tr} \downarrow \qquad \qquad N \downarrow$$

$$\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_{k}}^{1} \xrightarrow{\exp_{\eta}} \widehat{K}_{2}(k)$$

 $(N:\widehat{K}_2(K)\longrightarrow\widehat{K}_2(k))$ is the norm map of the Milnor K-groups, and $\mathrm{Tr}:\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K}\longrightarrow\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_k}$ is the trace map of differential modules) reduces the calculation of the Hilbert symbol of elements in K to that of the Hilbert symbol of elements in K (namely reduces the problem to Iwasawa's formula [I]).

Further, since any element of $\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_k}^1$ can be written in the form $ad\zeta_{p^n}/\zeta_{p^n}$, we can reduce the problem to the calculation of (α, ζ_{p^n}) .

In the same way, we can construct a formula of Sen's type for a higher dimensional local field (see [Ku3]), using a commutative diagram

where the right arrow is the residue homomorphism $\{\alpha,T\}\mapsto \alpha$ in [Ka], and the left arrow is the residue homomorphism $\omega dT/T\mapsto \omega$. The field $K\{\{T\}\}$ is defined in Example 3 of subsection 1.1 and $\mathcal{O}_K\{\{T\}\}=\mathcal{O}_{K\{\{T\}\}}$.

9.3. Some open problems

Problem 1. Determine the kernel of $\exp_{\eta}^{(q)}$ completely. Especially, in the case of a d-dimensional local field K, the knowledge of the kernel of $\exp_{\eta}^{(d)}$ will give a lot of information on the arithmetic of K by class field theory. Generally, one can show that

$$pd\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathfrak{O}_{K}}^{q-2}\subset\ker(\exp_{p}^{(q)}:\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathfrak{O}_{K}}^{q-1}\longrightarrow\widehat{K}_{q}(K)).$$

For example, if K is absolutely unramified (namely, p is a prime element of K) and p>2, then $pd\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_K}^{q-2}$ coincides with the kernel of $\exp_p^{(q)}$ ([Ku2]). But in general, this is not true. For example, if $K=\mathbb{Q}_p\{\{T\}\}(\sqrt[p]{pT})$ and p>2, we can show that the kernel of $\exp_p^{(2)}$ is generated by $pd\mathcal{O}_K$ and the elements of the form $\log(1-x^p)dx/x$ for any $x\in\mathcal{M}_K$ where \mathcal{M}_K is the maximal ideal of \mathcal{O}_K .

94 M. Kurihara

Problem 2. Can one generalize our exponential map to some (formal) groups? For example, let G be a p-divisible group over K with $|K:\mathbb{Q}_p|<\infty$. Assume that the $[p^n]$ -torsion points $\ker[p^n]$ of $G(K^{\mathrm{alg}})$ are in G(K). We define the Hilbert symbol $K^*\times G(K)\longrightarrow \ker[p^n]$ by $(\alpha,\beta)=\Psi_K(\alpha)(\gamma)-_G\gamma$ where $[p^n]\gamma=\beta$. Benois obtained an explicit formula ([B]) for this Hilbert symbol, which is a generalization of Sen's formula. Can one define a map $\exp_G\colon\Omega^1_{\mathbb{Q}_K}\otimes\mathrm{Lie}(G)\longrightarrow K^*\times G(K)/\sim$ (some quotient of $K^*\times G(K)$) by which we can interpret Benois's formula? We also remark that Fukaya recently obtained some generalization ([F]) of Benois's formula for a higher dimensional local field.

References

- [B] D. Benois, Périodes p-adiques et lois de réciprocité explicites, J. reine angew. Math. 493(1997), 115–151.
- [F] T. Fukaya, Explicit reciprocity laws for p-divisible groups over higher dimensional local fields, preprint 1999.
- [I] K. Iwasawa, On explicit formulas for the norm residue symbols, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 20(1968), 151–165.
- [Ka] K. Kato, Residue homomorphisms in Milnor *K*-theory, in Galois groups and their representations, Adv. Studies in Pure Math. 2, Kinokuniya, Tokyo (1983), 153–172.
- [Ku1] M. Kurihara, On two types of complete discrete valuation fields, Comp. Math., 63(1987), 237–257.
- [Ku2] M. Kurihara, Abelian extensions of an absolutely unramified local field with general residue field, Invent. math., 93(1988), 451–480.
- [Ku3] M. Kurihara, The exponential homomorphisms for the Milnor K-groups and an explicit reciprocity law, J. reine angew. Math., 498(1998), 201–221.
- [S] S. Sen, On explicit reciprocity laws, J. reine angew. Math., 313(1980), 1–26.

Department of Mathematics Tokyo Metropolitan University Minami-Osawa 1-1, Hachioji, Tokyo 192-03, Japan E-mail: m-kuri@comp.metro-u.ac.jp Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 10, pages 95–101

10. Explicit higher local class field theory

Ivan Fesenko

In this section we present an approach to higher local class field theory [F1-2] different from Kato's (see section 5) and Parshin's (see section 7) approaches.

Let F ($F = K_n, ..., K_0$) be an n-dimensional local field. We use the results of section 6 and the notations of section 1.

10.1. Modified class formation axioms

Consider now an approach based on a generalization [F2] of Neukirch's approach [N]. Below is a modified system of axioms of class formations (when applied to topological *K*-groups) which imposes weaker restrictions than the classical axioms (cf. section 11).

(A1). There is a \mathbb{Z} -extension of F.

In the case of higher local fields let F_{pur}/F be the extension which corresponds to K_0^{sep}/K_0 : $F_{\mathrm{pur}} = \cup_{(l,p)=1} F(\mu_l)$; the extension F_{pur} is called the *maximal purely unramified extension* of F. Denote by Frob_F the lifting of the Frobenius automorphisms of K_0^{sep}/K_0 . Then

$$\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\operatorname{pur}}/F) \simeq \hat{\mathbb{Z}}, \quad \operatorname{Frob}_F \mapsto 1.$$

(A2). For every finite separable extension F of the ground field there is an abelian group A_F such that $F \to A_F$ behaves well (is a Mackey functor, see for instance [D]; in fact we shall use just topological K-groups) and such that there is a homomorphism $\mathfrak{v}: A_F \to \mathbb{Z}$ associated to the choice of the $\hat{\mathbb{Z}}$ -extension in (A1) which satisfies

$$\mathfrak{v}(N_{L/F}A_L) = |L \cap F_{pur} : F| \mathfrak{v}(A_F).$$

In the case of higher local fields we use the valuation homomorphism

$$\mathfrak{v}: K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(F) \to \mathbb{Z}$$

Published 10 December 2000: © Geometry & Topology Publications

of 6.4.1. From now on we write $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$ instead of A_F . The kernel of \mathfrak{v} is $VK_n^{\text{top}}(F)$.

$$\mathfrak{v}_L = \frac{1}{|L \cap F_{\mathrm{pur}} : F|} \mathfrak{v} \circ N_{L/F}.$$

Using (A1), (A2) for an arbitrary finite Galois extension L/F define the reciprocity

$$\Upsilon_{L/F}$$
: $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F) \to K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(F)/N_{L/F}K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(L), \qquad \sigma \mapsto N_{\Sigma/F}\Pi_{\Sigma} \mod N_{L/F}K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(L)$

where Σ is the fixed field of $\widetilde{\sigma}$ and $\widetilde{\sigma}$ is an element of $\mathrm{Gal}(L_{\mathrm{pur}}/F)$ such that $\widetilde{\sigma}|_{L} = \sigma$ and $\widetilde{\sigma}|_{F_{\mathrm{pur}}} = \mathrm{Frob}_F^i$ with a positive integer i. The element Π_{Σ} of $K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(\Sigma)$ is any such that $\mathfrak{v}_{\Sigma}(\Pi_{\Sigma}) = 1$; it is called a *prime element* of $K_n^{\text{top}}(\Sigma)$. This map doesn't depend on the choice of a prime element of $K_n^{\text{top}}(\Sigma)$, since $\Sigma L/\Sigma$ is purely unramified and $VK_n^{\text{top}}(\Sigma) \subset N_{\Sigma L/\Sigma} VK_n^{\text{top}}(\Sigma L).$

(A3). For every finite subextension L/F of F_{pur}/F (which is cyclic, so its Galois group is generated by, say, $a \sigma$)

(A3a)
$$|K_n^{\text{top}}(F): N_{L/F}K_n^{\text{top}}(L)| = |L:F|;$$

(A3b)
$$0 \to K_n^{\text{top}}(F) \xrightarrow{i_{F/L}} K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \xrightarrow{1-\sigma} K_n^{\text{top}}(L)$$
 is exact;
(A3c) $K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \xrightarrow{1-\sigma} K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$ is exact.

(A3c)
$$K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \xrightarrow{1-\sigma} K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$$
 is exact.

Using (A1), (A2), (A3) one proves that $\Upsilon_{L/F}$ is a homomorphism [F2].

(A4). For every cyclic extensions L/F of prime degree with a generator σ and a cyclic extension L'/F of the same degree

(A4a)
$$K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \xrightarrow{1-\sigma} K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \xrightarrow{N_{L/F}} K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$$
 is exact; (A4b) $|K_n^{\text{top}}(F): N_{L/F} K_n^{\text{top}}(L)| = |L:F|;$

(A4b)
$$|K_n^{\text{top}}(F): N_{L/F}K_n^{\text{top}}(L)| = |L:F|;$$

(A4c)
$$N_{L'/F}K_n^{\text{top}}(L') = N_{L/F}K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \Rightarrow L = L'.$$

If all axioms (A1)–(A4) hold then the homomorphism $\Upsilon_{L/F}$ induces an isomorphism [F2]

$$\Upsilon_{L/F}^{\mathrm{ab}}$$
: $\mathrm{Gal}(L/F)^{\mathrm{ab}} \to K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(F)/N_{L/F}K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(L)$.

The method of the proof is to define explicitly (as a generalization of Hazewinkel's approach [H]) a homomorphism

$$\Psi_{L/F}^{\mathrm{ab}}: K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(F)/N_{L/F}K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(L) \to \mathrm{Gal}(L/F)^{\mathrm{ab}}$$

and then show that $\Psi_{L/F}^{ab} \circ \Upsilon_{L/F}^{ab}$ is the indentity.

10.2. Characteristic p case

Theorem 1 ([F1], [F2]). In characteristic p all axioms (A1)–(A4) hold. So we get the reciprocity map $\Psi_{L/F}$ and passing to the limit the reciprocity map

$$\Psi_F: K_n^{\text{top}}(F) \to \text{Gal}(F^{\text{ab}}/F).$$

Proof. See subsection 6.8. (A4c) can be checked by a direct computation using the proposition of 6.8.1 [F2, p. 1118–1119]; (A3b) for p-extensions see in 7.5, to check it for extensions of degree prime to p is relatively easy [F2, Th. 3.3].

Remark. Note that in characteristic p the sequence of (A3b) is not exact for an arbitrary cyclic extension L/F (if $L \not\subset F_{pur}$). The characteristic zero case is discussed below.

10.3. Characteristic zero case. I

10.3.1. prime-to-p-part.

It is relatively easy to check that all the axioms of 10.1 hold for prime-to-p extensions and for

$$K'_n(F) = K_n^{\text{top}}(F)/VK_n^{\text{top}}(F)$$

(note that $VK_n^{\text{top}}(F) = \bigcap_{(l,p)=1} lK_n^{\text{top}}(F)$). This supplies the prime-to-p-part of the reciprocity map.

10.3.2. *p*-part.

If $\mu_p \leqslant F^*$ then all the axioms of 10.1 hold; if $\mu_p \not\leqslant F^*$ then everything with exception of the axiom (A3b) holds.

Example. Let $k=\mathbb{Q}_p(\zeta_p)$. Let $\omega\in k$ be a p-primary element of k which means that $k(\sqrt[p]{\omega})/k$ is unramified of degree p. Then due to the description of K_2 of a local field (see subsection 6.1 and [FV, Ch.IX §4]) there is a prime elements π of k such that $\{\omega,\pi\}$ is a generator of $K_2(k)/p$. Since $\alpha=i_{k/k(\sqrt[p]{\omega})}\{\omega,\pi\}\in pK_2(k(\sqrt[p]{\omega}))$, the element α lies in $\bigcap_{l\geqslant 1}lK_2(k(\sqrt[p]{\omega}))$. Let $F=k\{\{t\}\}$. Then $\{\omega,\pi\}\notin pK_2^{\text{top}}(F)$ and $i_{F/F(\sqrt[p]{\omega})}\{\omega,\pi\}=0$ in $K_2^{\text{top}}(F(\sqrt[p]{\omega}))$.

Since all other axioms are satisfied, according to 10.1 we get the reciprocity map

$$\Upsilon_{L/F}$$
: $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F) \to K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(F)/N_{L/F}K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(L), \quad \sigma \mapsto N_{\Sigma/F}\Pi_{\Sigma}$

for every finite Galois p-extension L/F.

98 I. Fesenko

To study its properties we need to introduce the notion of Artin–Schreier trees (cf. [F3]) as those extensions in characteristic zero which in a certain sense come from characteristic p. Not quite precisely, there are sufficiently many finite Galois p-extensions for which one can directly define an explicit homomorphism

$$K_n^{\text{top}}(F)/N_{L/F}K_n^{\text{top}}(L) \to \text{Gal}(L/F)^{\text{ab}}$$

and show that the composition of $\Upsilon^{ab}_{L/F}$ with it is the identity map.

10.4. Characteristic zero case. II: Artin-Schreier trees

10.4.1.

Definition. A p-extension L/F is called an Artin-Schreier tree if there is a tower of subfields $F = F_0 - F_1 - \cdots - F_r = L$ such that each F_i/F_{i-1} is cyclic of degree p, $F_i = F_{i-1}(\alpha)$, $\alpha^p - \alpha \in F_{i-1}$.

A p-extension L/F is called a strong Artin–Schreier tree if every cyclic subextension M/E of degree $p, F \subset E \subset M \subset L$, is of type $E = M(\alpha), \alpha^p - \alpha \in M$.

Call an extension L/F totally ramified if f(L|F) = 1 (i.e. $L \cap F_{pur} = F$).

Properties of Artin-Schreier trees.

- (1) if $\mu_p \not \leqslant F^*$ then every p-extension is an Artin–Schreier tree; if $\mu_p \leqslant F^*$ then $F(\sqrt[p]{a})/F$ is an Artin–Schreier tree if and only if $aF^{*p} \leqslant V_F F^{*p}$.
- (2) for every cyclic totally ramified extension L/F of degree p there is a Galois totally ramified p-extension E/F such that E/F is an Artin–Schreier tree and $E \supset L$.

For example, if $\mu_p\leqslant F^*$, F is two-dimensional and t_1,t_2 is a system of local parameters of F, then $F(\sqrt[p]{t_1})/F$ is not an Artin–Schreier tree. Find an $\varepsilon\in V_F\setminus V_F^p$ such that M/F ramifies along t_1 where $M=F(\sqrt[p]{\varepsilon})$. Let $t_{1,M},t_2\in F$ be a system of local parameters of M. Then $t_1t_{1,M}^{-p}$ is a unit of M. Put $E=M\left(\sqrt[p]{t_1t_{1,M}^{-p}}\right)$. Then $E\supset F(\sqrt[p]{t_1})$ and E/F is an Artin–Schreier tree.

- (3) Let L/F be a totally ramified finite Galois p-extension. Then there is a totally ramified finite p-extension Q/F such that LQ/Q is a strong Artin–Schreier tree and $L_{\text{pur}} \cap Q_{\text{pur}} = F_{\text{pur}}$.
- (4) For every totally ramified Galois extension L/F of degree p which is an Artin–Schreier tree we have

$$\mathfrak{v}_{L_{\mathrm{pur}}}(K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(L_{\mathrm{pur}})^{\mathrm{Gal}(L/F)})=p\mathbb{Z}$$

where $\mathfrak v$ is the valuation map defined in 10.1, $K_n^{\text{top}}(L_{\text{pur}}) = \varinjlim_M K_n^{\text{top}}(M)$ where M/L runs over finite subextensions in L_{pur}/L and the limit is taken with respect to the maps $i_{M/M'}$ induced by field embeddings.

Proposition 1. For a strong Artin–Schreier tree L/F the sequence

$$1 \to \operatorname{Gal}(L/F)^{\operatorname{ab}} \xrightarrow{g} VK_n^{\operatorname{top}}(L_{\operatorname{pur}})/I(L|F) \xrightarrow{N_{L_{\operatorname{pur}}/F_{\operatorname{pur}}}} VK_n^{\operatorname{top}}(F_{\operatorname{pur}}) \to 0$$

is exact, where $g(\sigma) = \sigma\Pi - \Pi$, $\mathfrak{v}_L(\Pi) = 1$, $I(L|F) = \langle \sigma\alpha - \alpha : \alpha \in VK_n^{\mathsf{top}}(L_{\mathsf{pur}}) \rangle$.

Proof. Induction on |L:F| using the property $N_{L_{pur}/M_{pur}}I(L|F)=I(M|F)$ for a subextension M/F of L/F.

10.4.2. As a generalization of Hazewinkel's approach [H] we have

Corollary. For a strong Artin–Schreier tree L/F define a homomorphism

$$\Psi_{L/F}: VK_n^{\text{top}}(F)/N_{L/F}VK_n^{\text{top}}(L) \to \text{Gal}(L/F)^{\text{ab}}, \quad \alpha \mapsto g^{-1}((\text{Frob}_L - 1)\beta)$$

where $N_{L_{\text{pur}}/F_{\text{pur}}}\beta = i_{F/F_{\text{pur}}}\alpha$ and Frob_L is defined in 10.1.

Proposition 2. $\Psi_{L/F} \circ \Upsilon_{L/F}^{ab}$: $Gal(L/F)^{ab} \to Gal(L/F)^{ab}$ is the identity map; so for a strong Artin–Schreier tree $\Upsilon_{L/F}^{ab}$ is injective and $\Psi_{L/F}$ is surjective.

Remark. As the example above shows, one cannot define $\Psi_{L/F}$ for non-strong Artin–Schreier trees.

Theorem 2. $\Upsilon_{L/F}^{ab}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. Use property (3) of Artin–Schreier trees to deduce from the commutative diagram

$$\operatorname{Gal}(LO/Q) \xrightarrow{\Upsilon_{LQ/Q}} K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(Q)/N_{LQ/Q}K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(LQ)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad N_{Q/F} \downarrow$$

$$\operatorname{Gal}(L/F) \xrightarrow{\Upsilon_{L/F}} K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(F)/N_{L/F}K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(L)$$

that $\Upsilon_{L/F}$ is a homomorphism and injective. Surjectivity follows by induction on degree. \Box

Passing to the projective limit we get the reciprocity map

$$\Psi_F: K_n^{\text{top}}(F) \to \text{Gal}(F^{\text{ab}}/F)$$

whose image in dense in $Gal(F^{ab}/F)$.

Remark. For another slightly different approach to deduce the properties of $\Upsilon_{L/F}$ see [F1].

10.5

Theorem 3. The following diagram is commutative

$$\begin{array}{ccc} K_n^{\mathrm{top}}(F) & \xrightarrow{\Psi_F} & \mathrm{Gal}(F^{\mathrm{ab}}/F) \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ K_{n-1}^{\mathrm{top}}(K_{n-1}) & \xrightarrow{\Psi_{K_{n-1}}} & \mathrm{Gal}(K_{n-1}^{\mathrm{ab}}/K_{n-1}). \end{array}$$

Proof. Follows from the explicit definition of $\Upsilon_{L/F}$, since $\partial\{t_1,\ldots,t_n\}$ is a prime element of $K_{n-1}^{\text{top}}(K_{n-1})$.

Existence Theorem ([F1-2]). Every open subgroup of finite index in $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$ is the norm group of a uniquely determined abelian extension L/F.

Proof. Let N be an open subgroup of $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$ of prime index l.

If $p \neq l$, then there is an $\alpha \in F^*$ such that N is the orthogonal complement of $\langle \alpha \rangle$ with respect to $t^{(q-1)/l}$ where t is the tame symbol defined in 6.4.2.

If $\operatorname{char}(F) = p = l$, then there is an $\alpha \in F$ such that N is the orthogonal complement of $\langle \alpha \rangle$ with respect to $(\ ,\]_1$ defined in 6.4.3.

If char $(F)=0, l=p, \ \mu_p\leqslant F^*$, then there is an $\alpha\in F^*$ such that N is the orthogonal complement of $\langle\alpha\rangle$ with respect to V_1 defined in 6.4.4 (see the theorems in 8.3). If $\mu_p\nleq F^*$ then pass to $F(\mu_p)$ and then back to F using $(|F(\mu_p):F|,p)=1$.

Due to Kummer and Artin–Schreier theory, Theorem 2 and Remark of 8.3 we deduce that $N = N_{L/F} K_n^{\text{top}}(L)$ for an appropriate cyclic extension L/F.

The theorem follows by induction on index.

Remark 1. From the definition of K_n^{top} it immediately follows that open subgroups of finite index in $K_n(F)$ are in one-to-one correspondence with open subgroups in $K_n^{\text{top}}(F)$. Hence the correspondence $L\mapsto N_{L/F}K_n(L)$ is a one-to-one correspondence between finite abelian extensions of F and open subgroups of finite index in $K_n(F)$.

Remark 2. If K_0 is perfect and not separably p-closed, then there is a generalization of the previous class field theory for totally ramified p-extensions of F (see Remark in 16.1). There is also a generalization of the existence theorem [F3].

Corollary 1. The reciprocity map $\Psi_F: K_n^{top}(F) \to Gal(L/F)$ is injective.

Proof. Use the corollary of Theorem 1 in 6.6.

Corollary 2. For an element $\Pi \in K_n^{top}(F)$ such that $\mathfrak{v}_F(\Pi) = 1$ there is an infinite abelian extension F_{Π}/F such that

$$F^{ab} = F_{pur}F_{\Pi}, \quad F_{pur} \cap F_{\Pi} = F$$

and $\Pi \in N_{L/F}K_n^{\text{top}}(L)$ for every finite extension L/F, $L \subset F_{\Pi}$.

Problem. Construct (for n > 1) the extension F_{Π} explicitly?

References

- [D] A. Dress, Contributions to the theory of induced representations, Lect. Notes in Math. 342, Springer 1973.
- [F1] I. Fesenko, Class field theory of multidimensional local fields of characteristic 0, with the residue field of positive characteristic, Algebra i Analiz (1991); English translation in St. Petersburg Math. J. 3(1992), 649–678.
- [F2] I. Fesenko, Multidimensional local class field theory II, Algebra i Analiz (1991); English translation in St. Petersburg Math. J. 3(1992), 1103–1126.
- [F3] I. Fesenko, Abelian local p-class field theory, Math. Ann. 301 (1995), pp. 561–586.
- [F4] I. Fesenko, Abelian extensions of complete discrete valuation fields, Number Theory Paris 1993/94, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1996, 47–74.
- [F5] I. Fesenko, Sequential topologies and quotients of the Milnor K-groups of higher local fields, preprint, www.maths.nott.ac.uk/personal/ibf/stqk.ps
- [FV] I. Fesenko and S. Vostokov, Local Fields and Their Extensions, AMS, Providence RI, 1993.
- [H] M. Hazewinkel, Local class field theory is easy, Adv. Math. 18(1975), 148–181.
- [N] J. Neukirch, Class Field Theory, Springer, Berlin etc. 1986.

Department of Mathematics University of Nottingham Nottingham NG7 2RD England E-mail: ibf@maths.nott.ac.uk

Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 11, pages 103–108

11. Generalized class formations and higher class field theory

Michael Spieß

Let K ($K = K_n, K_{n-1}, \ldots, K_0$) be an n-dimensional local field (whose last residue field is finite of characteristic p).

The following theorem can be viewed as a generalization to higher dimensional local fields of the fact $\operatorname{Br}(F) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ for classical local fields F with finite residue field (see section 5).

Theorem (Kato). There is a canonical isomorphism

$$h: H^{n+1}(K, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

Kato established higher local reciprocity map (see section 5 and [K1, Th. 2 of §6] (two-dimensional case), [K2, Th. II], [K3, §4]) using in particular this theorem.

In this section we deduce the reciprocity map for higher local fields from this theorem and Bloch–Kato's theorem of section 4. Our approach which uses generalized class formations simplifies Kato's original argument.

We use the notations of section 5. For a complex X the shifted-by-n complex $X \cdot [n]$ is defined as $(X \cdot [n])^q = X^{n+q}, d_{X \cdot [n]} = (-1)^n d_X$. For a (pro-)finite group G the derived category of G-modules is denoted by D(G).

11.0. Classical class formations

We begin with recalling briefly the classical theory of class formations.

A pair (G,C) consisting of a profinite group G and a discrete G-module C is called a *class formation* if

- (C1) $H^1(H,C) = 0$ for every open subgroup H of G.
- (C2) There exists an isomorphism inv_H: $H^2(H, C) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ for every open subgroup H of G.

Published 10 December 2000: © Geometry & Topology Publications

104 M. Spieß

(C3) For all pairs of open subgroups $V \leq U \leq G$ the diagram

$$H^{2}(U,C) \xrightarrow{\text{res}} H^{2}(V,C)$$

$$\downarrow \text{inv}_{U} \qquad \qquad \downarrow \text{inv}_{V}$$

$$\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{\times |U:V|} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

is commutative.

Then for a pair of open subgroups $V\leqslant U\leqslant G$ with V normal in U the group $H^2(U/V,C^V)\simeq \ker(H^2(U,C)\to H^2(V,C))$ is cyclic of order |U:V|. It has a canonical generator $u_{L/K}$ which is called the *fundamental class*; it is mapped to $1/|L:K|+\mathbb{Z}$ under the composition

$$H^2(U/V, C^V) \xrightarrow{\text{inf}} H^2(U, C) \xrightarrow{\text{inv}_U} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

Cup product with $u_{L/K}$ induces by the Tate-Nakayama lemma an isomorphism

$$\widehat{H}^{q-2}(U/V,\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{H}^q(U/V,C^V).$$

Hence for q = 0 we get $C^U / \operatorname{cor}_{U/V}(C^V) \xrightarrow{\sim} (U/V)^{\operatorname{ab}}$.

An example of a class formation is the pair (G_K, \mathbb{G}_m) consisting of the absolute Galois group of a local field K and the G_K -module $\mathbb{G}_m = (K^{\text{sep}})^*$. We get an isomorphism

$$K^*/N_{L/K}L^* \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)^{\operatorname{ab}}$$

for every finite Galois extension L/K.

In order to give an analogous proof of the reciprocity law for higher dimensional local fields one has to work with complexes of modules rather than a single module.

The concepts of the class formations and Tate's cohomology groups as well as the Tate–Nakayama lemma have a straightforward generalization to bounded complexes of modules. Let us begin with Tate's cohomology groups (see [Kn] and [Ko1]).

11.1. Tate's cohomology groups

Let G be a finite group. Recall that there is an exact sequence (called a complete resolution of G)

$$X$$
: $\dots \to X^{-2} \to X^{-1} \to X^0 \to X^1 \to \dots$

of free finitely generated $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ -modules together with a map $X^0 \to \mathbb{Z}$ such that the sequence

$$\cdots \to X^{-1} \to X^0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to 0$$

is exact.

Definition. Let G be a finite group. For a a bounded complex

$$A$$
: $\dots \to A^{-1} \to A^0 \to A^1 \to \dots$

of G-modules Tate's cohomology groups $\widehat{H}^q(G,A^\cdot)$ are defined as the (hyper-)cohomology groups of the single complex associated to the double complex

$$Y^{i,j} = \operatorname{Hom}_G(X^{-i}, A^j)$$

with suitably determined sign rule. In other words,

$$\widehat{H}^q(G, A^{\cdot}) = H^q(\text{Tot}(\text{Hom}(X^{\cdot}, A^{\cdot}))^G).$$

Remark. If A is a G-module, then $\widehat{H}^q(G, A^{\cdot})$ coincides with ordinary Tate's cohomology group of G with coefficients in A where

$$A$$
 ... $\rightarrow 0 \rightarrow A \rightarrow 0 \rightarrow \dots$ (A is at degree 0).

Lemma (Tate-Nakayama-Koya, [Ko2]). Suppose that

- (i) $\widehat{H}^1(H, A^{\cdot}) = 0$ for every subgroup H of G;
- (ii) there is $a \in \widehat{H}^2(G,A')$ such that $\operatorname{res}_{G/H}(a)$ generates $\widehat{H}^2(H,A')$ and is of order |H| for every subgroups H of G.

$$\widehat{H}^{q-2}(G,\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\cup a} \widehat{H}^q(G,A^{\cdot})$$

is an isomorphism for all q.

11.2. Generalized notion of class formations

Now let G be a profinite group and C a bounded complex of G-modules.

Definition. The pair (G, C^{\cdot}) is called a *generalized class formation* if it satisfies (C1)–(C3) above (of course, we have to replace cohomology by hypercohomology).

As in the classical case the following lemma yields an abstract form of class field theory

Lemma. If (G, C^{\cdot}) is a generalized class formation, then for every open subgroup H of G there is a canonical map

$$\rho_H: H^0(H, C^{\cdot}) \to H^{ab}$$

such that the image of ρ_H is dense in H^{ab} and such that for every pair of open subgroups $V \leqslant U \leqslant G$, V normal in U, ρ_U induces an isomorphism

$$H^0(U, C^{\cdot})/\operatorname{cor}_{U/V} H^0(V, C^{\cdot}) \xrightarrow{\sim} (U/V)^{\operatorname{ab}}.$$

106 M. Spieß

11.3. Important complexes

In order to apply these concepts to higher dimensional class field theory we need complexes which are linked to K-theory as well as to the Galois cohomology groups $H^{n+1}(K, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))$. Natural candidates are the Beilinson–Lichtenbaum complexes.

Conjecture ([Li1]). Let K be a field. There is a sequence of bounded complexes $\mathbb{Z}(n)$, $n \ge 0$, of G_K -modules such that

- (a) $\mathbb{Z}(0) = \mathbb{Z}$ concentrated in degree 0; $\mathbb{Z}(1) = \mathbb{G}_m[-1]$;
- (b) $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ is acyclic outside [1, n];
- (c) there are canonical maps $\mathbb{Z}(m) \otimes^{\mathbb{L}} \mathbb{Z}(n) \to \mathbb{Z}(m+n)$;
- (d) $H^{n+1}(K, \mathbb{Z}(n)) = 0$;
- (e) for every integer m there is a triangle $\mathbb{Z}(n) \xrightarrow{m} \mathbb{Z}(n) \to \mathbb{Z}/m(n) \to \mathbb{Z}(n)[1]$ in $D(G_K)$;
- (f) $H^n(K,\mathbb{Z}(n))$ is identified with the Milnor K-group $K_n(K)$.

Remarks. 1. This conjecture is very strong. For example, (d), (e), and (f) would imply the Milnor–Bloch–Kato conjecture stated in 4.1.

2. There are several candidates for $\mathbb{Z}(n)$, but only in the case where n=2 proofs have been given so far, i.e. there exists a complex $\mathbb{Z}(2)$ satisfying (b), (d), (e) and (f) (see [Li2]).

By using the complex $\mathbb{Z}(2)$ defined by Lichtenbaum, Koya proved that for 2-dimensional local field K the pair $(G_K, \mathbb{Z}(2))$ is a class formation and deduced the reciprocity map for K (see [Ko1]). Once the existence of the $\mathbb{Z}(n)$ with the properties (b), (d), (e) and (f) above is established, his proof would work for arbitrary higher dimensional local fields as well (i.e. $(G_K, \mathbb{Z}(n))$) would be a class formation for an n-dimensional local field K).

However, for the purpose of applications to local class field theory it is enough to work with the following simple complexes which was first considered by B. Kahn [Kn].

Definition. Let $\check{\mathbb{Z}}(n) \in D(G_K)$ be the complex $\mathbb{G}_m^{\overset{\mathbb{L}}{\otimes} n}[-n]$.

Properties of $\check{\mathbb{Z}}(n)$.

- (a) it is acyclic outside [1, n];
- (b) for every m prime to the characteristic of K if the latter is non-zero, there is a triangle

$$\check{\mathbb{Z}}(n) \xrightarrow{m} \check{\mathbb{Z}}(n) \to \mathbb{Z}/m(n) \to \check{\mathbb{Z}}(n)$$
[1]

in $D(G_K)$;

(c) for every m as in (b) there is a commutative diagram

where the bottom horizontal arrow is the Galois symbol and the left vertical arrow is given by $x_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes x_n \mapsto \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \mod m$.

The first two statements are proved in [Kn], the third in [Sp].

11.4. Applications to n-dimensional local class field theory

Let K be an n-dimensional local field. For simplicity we assume that $\operatorname{char}(K) = 0$. According to sections 3 and 5 for every finite extension L of K there are isomorphisms

(1)
$$K_n(L)/m \xrightarrow{\sim} H^n(L, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)), \quad H^{n+1}(L, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

Lemma. $(G, \check{\mathbb{Z}}(n)[n])$ is a generalized class formation.

The triangle (b) above yields short exact sequences

$$0 \to H^{i}(K, \check{\mathbb{Z}}(n))/m \to H^{i}(K, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)) \to {}_{m}H^{i+1}(K, \check{\mathbb{Z}}(n)) \to 0$$

for every integer i. (1) and the diagram (c) show that ${}_mH^{n+1}(K, \check{\mathbb{Z}}(n)) = 0$ for all $m \neq 0$. By property (a) above $H^{n+1}(K, \check{\mathbb{Z}}(n))$ is a torsion group, hence = 0. Therefore (C1) holds for $(G, \check{\mathbb{Z}}(n)[n])$. For (C2) note that the above exact sequence for i = n+1 yields $H^{n+1}(K, \mathbb{Z}/m(n)) \to {}_mH^{n+2}(K, \check{\mathbb{Z}}(n))$. By taking the direct limit over all m and using (1) we obtain

$$H^{n+2}(K,\check{\mathbb{Z}}(n))\stackrel{\sim}{\to} H^{n+1}(K,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n))\stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

Now we can establish the reciprocity map for K: put $C = \check{\mathbb{Z}}(n)[n]$ and let L/K be a finite Galois extension of degree m. By applying abstract class field theory (see the lemma of 11.2) to (G,C) we get

$$K_n(K)/N_{L/K}K_n(L) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^n(K, \mathbb{Z}/m(n))/\operatorname{cor} H^n(L, \mathbb{Z}/m(n))$$

 $\xrightarrow{\sim} H^0(K, C^{\cdot})/m/\operatorname{cor} H^0(L, C^{\cdot})/m \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)^{\operatorname{ab}}.$

For the existence theorem see the previous section or Kato's paper in this volume.

108 M. Spieβ

Bibliography

- [Kn] B. Kahn, The decomposable part of motivic cohomology and bijectivity of the norm residue homomorphism, Contemp. Math. 126 (1992), 79–87.
- [Ko1] Y. Koya, A generalization of class formations by using hypercohomology, Invent. Math. 101 (1990), 705–715.
- [Ko2] Y. Koya, A generalization of Tate–Nakayama theorem by using hypercohomology, Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A 69 (1993), 53–57.
- [Li1] S. Lichtenbaum, Values of zeta-functions at non-negative integers, Number Theory, No-ordwijkerhout 1983. Lect. Notes Math. 1068, Springer (1984), 127–138.
- [Li2] S. Lichtenbaum, The construction of weight-two arithmetic cohomology, Invent. Math. $88\,(1987),\,183-215.$
- [Sp] M. Spiess, Class formations and higher-dimensional local class field theory, J. Number Theory 62 (1997), no. 2, 273–283.

Department of Mathematics University of Nottingham Nottingham NG7 2RD England E-mail: mks@maths.nott.ac.uk Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 12, pages 109–112

12. Two types of complete discrete valuation fields

Masato Kurihara

In this section we discuss results of a paper [Ku1] which is an attempt to understand the structure of the Milnor K-groups of complete discrete valuation fields of mixed characteristics in the case of an arbitrary residue field.

12.0. Definitions

Let K be a complete discrete valuation field of mixed characteristics (0, p) with the ring of integers \mathcal{O}_K . We consider the *p*-adic completion $\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K}$ of $\Omega^1_{\mathcal{O}_K/\mathbb{Z}}$ as in section 9.

(a) If K is a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p , then

$$\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathfrak{O}_K} = (\mathfrak{O}_K/\mathfrak{D}_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p})d\pi$$

where $\mathcal{D}_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}$ is the different of K/\mathbb{Q}_p , and π is a prime element of K. (b) If $K=k\{\{t_1\}\}\dots\{\{t_{n-1}\}\}$ with $|k:\mathbb{Q}_p|<\infty$ (for the definition see subsection 1.1), then

$$\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathfrak{O}_K} = (\mathfrak{O}_k/\mathfrak{D}_{k/\mathbb{Q}_p})d\pi \oplus \mathfrak{O}_K dt_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathfrak{O}_K dt_{n-1}$$

where π is a prime element of \mathcal{O}_k .

But in general, the structure of $\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K}$ is a little more complicated. Let F be the residue field of K, and consider a natural map

$$\varphi: \widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K} \longrightarrow \Omega^1_F.$$

Definition. Let $\operatorname{Tors} \widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K}$ be the torsion part of $\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K}$. If $\varphi(\operatorname{Tors} \widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K}) = 0$, K is said to be of *type I*, and said to be of *type II* otherwise.

So if K is a field in (a) or (b) as above, K is of type I.

Published 10 December 2000: (c) Geometry & Topology Publications

110 M. Kurihara

Let π be a prime element and $\{t_i\}$ be a lifting of a p-base of F. Then, there is a relation

$$ad\pi + \sum b_i dt_i = 0$$

with $a, b_i \in \mathcal{O}_K$. The field K is of type I if and only if $v_K(a) < \min_i v_K(b_i)$, where v_K is the normalized discrete valuation of K.

Examples.

- (1) If $v_K(p)$ is prime to p, or if F is perfect, then K is of type I.
- (2) The field $K = \mathbb{Q}_p\{\{t\}\}(\pi)$ with $\pi^p = pt$ is of type II. In this case we have

$$\widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K} \simeq \mathcal{O}_K/p \oplus \mathcal{O}_K.$$

The torsion part is generated by $dt - \pi^{p-1}d\pi$ (we have $pdt - p\pi^{p-1}d\pi = 0$), so $\varphi(dt - \pi^{p-1}d\pi) = dt \neq 0$.

12.1. The Milnor K-groups

Let π be a prime element, and put $e = v_K(p)$. Section 4 contains the definition of the homomorphism

$$\rho_m: \Omega_F^{q-1} \oplus \Omega_F^{q-2} \longrightarrow \operatorname{gr}_m K_q(K).$$

Theorem. Put $\ell = \operatorname{length}_{\mathcal{O}_K}(\operatorname{Tors} \widehat{\Omega}^1_{\mathcal{O}_K})$.

(a) If K is of type I, then for $m \ge \ell + 1 + 2e/(p-1)$

$$\rho_m|_{\Omega_F^{q-1}}:\Omega_F^{q-1}\longrightarrow \operatorname{gr}_m K_q(K)$$

is surjective.

(b) If K is of type II, then for $m \ge \ell + 2e/(p-1)$ and for $q \ge 2$

$$\rho_m|_{\Omega_F^{q-2}}:\Omega_F^{q-2}\longrightarrow \operatorname{gr}_m K_q(K)$$

is surjective.

For the proof we used the exponential homomorphism for the Milnor K-groups defined in section 9.

Corollary. Define the subgroup $U_iK_q(K)$ of $K_q(K)$ as in section 4, and define the subgroup $V_iK_q(K)$ as generated by $\{1 + \mathfrak{M}_K^i, \mathfrak{O}_K^*, \dots, \mathfrak{O}_K^*\}$ where \mathfrak{M}_K is the maximal ideal of \mathfrak{O}_K .

- (a) If K is of type I, then for sufficiently large m we have $U_mK_a(K) = V_mK_a(K)$.
- (b) If K is of type II, then for sufficiently large m, we have $V_mK_q(K) = U_{m+1}K_q(K)$. Especially, $\operatorname{gr}_mK_q(K) = 0$ for sufficiently large m prime to p.

Example. Let $K = \mathbb{Q}_p\{\{t\}\}(\pi)$ where $\pi^p = pt$ as in Example (2) of subsection 12.0, and assume p > 2. Then, we can determine the structures of $\operatorname{gr}_m K_q(K)$ as follows ([Ku2]).

For $m \leqslant p+1$, $\operatorname{gr}_m K_q(K)$ is determined by Bloch and Kato ([BK]). We have an isomorphism $\operatorname{gr}_0 K_2(K) = K_2(K)/U_1K_2(K) \simeq K_2(F) \oplus F^*$, and $\operatorname{gr}_p K_q(K)$ is a certain quotient of $\Omega^1_F/dF \oplus F$ (cf. [BK]). The homomorphism ρ_m induces an isomorphism from

$$\begin{cases} \Omega_F^1 & \text{if } 1\leqslant m\leqslant p-1 \text{ or } m=p+1\\ 0 & \text{if } i\geqslant p+2 \text{ and } i \text{ is prime to } p\\ F/F^p & \text{if } m=2p\\ (x\mapsto \{1+p\pi^px,\pi\} \text{ induces this isomorphism})\\ F^{p^{n-2}} & \text{if } m=np \text{ with } n\geqslant 3\\ (x\mapsto \{1+p^nx,\pi\} \text{ induces this isomorphism}) \end{cases}$$

onto $\operatorname{gr}_m K_2(K)$.

12.2. Cyclic extensions

For cyclic extensions of K, by the argument using higher local class field theory and the theorem of 12.1 we have (cf. [Ku1])

Theorem. Let ℓ be as in the theorem of 12.1.

- (a) If K is of type I and $i \ge 1 + \ell + 2e/(p-1)$, then K does not have ferociously ramified cyclic extensions of degree p^i . Here, we call an extension L/K ferociously ramified if $|L:K| = |k_L:k_K|_{\text{ins}}$ where k_L (resp. k_K) is the residue field of L (resp. K).
- (b) If K is of type II and $i \ge \ell + 2e/(p-1)$, then K does not have totally ramified cyclic extensions of degree p^i .

The bounds in the theorem are not so sharp. By some consideration, we can make them more precise. For example, using this method we can give a new proof of the following result of Miki.

Theorem (Miki, [M]). If e and <math>L/K is a cyclic extension, the extension of the residue fields is separable.

For $K = \mathbb{Q}_p\{\{t\}\}(\sqrt[p]{pt})$ with p > 2, we can show that it has no cyclic extensions of degree p^3 .

Miki also showed that for any K, there is a constant c depending only on K such that K has no ferociously ramified cyclic extensions of degree p^i with i > c.

112 M. Kurihara

For totally ramified extensions, we guess the following. Let $F^{p^{\infty}}$ be the maximal perfect subfield of F, namely $F^{p^{\infty}} = \bigcap F^{p^n}$. We regard the ring of Witt vectors $W(F^{p^{\infty}})$ as a subring of \mathcal{O}_K , and write k_0 for the quotient field of $W(F^{p^{\infty}})$, and write k for the algebraic closure of k_0 in K. Then, k is a finite extension of k_0 , and is a complete discrete valuation field of mixed characteristics (0,p) with residue field $F^{p^{\infty}}$.

Conjecture. Suppose that e(K|k) > 1, i.e. a prime element of \mathcal{O}_k is not a prime element of \mathcal{O}_K . Then there is a constant c depending only on K such that K has no totally ramified cyclic extension of degree p^i with i > c.

References

- [BK] S. Bloch and K. Kato, p-adic etale cohomology, Publ. Math. IHES, 63(1986), 107–152.
- [Ku1] M. Kurihara, On two types of complete discrete valuation fields, Comp. Math., 63(1987), 237–257.
- [Ku2] M. Kurihara, On the structure of the Milnor K-group of a certain complete discrete valuation fields, preprint.
- [M] H. Miki, On \mathbb{Z}_p -extensions of complete p-adic power series fields and function fields, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, Sect. 1A Math., 21(1974), 377–393.

Department of Mathematics Tokyo Metropolitan University Minami-Osawa 1-1, Hachioji, Tokyo 192-03, Japan E-mail: m-kuri@comp.metro-u.ac.jp Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 13, pages 113–116

13. Abelian extensions of absolutely unramified complete discrete valuation fields

Masato Kurihara

In this section we discuss results of [K]. We assume that p is an odd prime and K is an absolutely unramified complete discrete valuation field of mixed characteristics (0,p), so p is a prime element of the valuation ring \mathfrak{O}_K . We denote by F the residue field of K.

13.1. The Milnor K-groups and differential forms

For q>0 we consider the Milnor K-group $K_q(K)$, and its p-adic completion $\widehat{K}_q(K)$ as in section 9. Let $U_1\widehat{K}_q(K)$ be the subgroup generated by $\{1+p\mathfrak{O}_K,K^*,\ldots,K^*\}$. Then we have:

Theorem. Let K be as above. Then the exponential map \exp_p for the element p, defined in section 9, induces an isomorphism

$$\exp_p: \widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_K}^{q-1}/pd\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_K}^{q-2} \xrightarrow{\sim} U_1\widehat{K}_q(K).$$

The group $\widehat{K}_q(K)$ carries arithmetic information of K, and the essential part of $\widehat{K}_q(K)$ is $U_1\widehat{K}_q(K)$. Since the left hand side $\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_K}^{q-1}/pd\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_K}^{q-2}$ can be described explicitly (for example, if F has a finite p-base I, $\widehat{\Omega}_{\mathcal{O}_K}^1$ is a free \mathcal{O}_K -module generated by $\{dt_i\}$ where $\{t_i\}$ are a lifting of elements of I), we know the structure of $U_1\widehat{K}_q(K)$ completely from the theorem.

In particular, for subquotients of $\widehat{K}_q(K)$ we have:

Corollary. The map $\rho_m: \Omega_F^{q-1} \oplus \Omega_F^{q-2} \longrightarrow \operatorname{gr}_m K_q(K)$ defined in section 4 induces an isomorphism

$$\Omega_F^{q-1}/B_{m-1}\Omega_F^{q-1} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{gr}_m K_q(K)$$

Published 10 December 2000: (c) Geometry & Topology Publications

114 M. Kurihara

where $B_{m-1}\Omega_F^{q-1}$ is the subgroup of Ω_F^{q-1} generated by the elements $a^{p^j}d\log a \wedge d\log b_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge d\log b_{q-2}$ with $0 \leq j \leq m-1$ and $a, b_i \in F^*$.

13.2. Cyclic p-extensions of K

As in section 12, using some class field theoretic argument we get arithmetic information from the structure of the Milnor K-groups.

Theorem. Let $W_n(F)$ be the ring of Witt vectors of length n over F. Then there exists a homomorphism

$$\Phi_n: H^1(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^n) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}/K), \mathbb{Z}/p^n) \longrightarrow W_n(F)$$

for any $n \ge 1$ such that:

(1) The sequence

$$0 \to H^1(K_{\mathrm{ur}}/K, \mathbb{Z}/p^n) \to H^1(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^n) \xrightarrow{\Phi_n} W_n(F) \to 0$$

is exact where K_{ur} is the maximal unramified extension of K.

(2) The diagram

$$H^{1}(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n+1}) \xrightarrow{p} H^{1}(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n})$$

$$\downarrow \Phi_{n+1} \qquad \qquad \downarrow \Phi_{n}$$

$$W_{n+1}(F) \xrightarrow{\mathbf{F}} W_{n}(F)$$

is commutative where \mathbf{F} is the Frobenius map.

(3) The diagram

$$H^{1}(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}) \longrightarrow H^{1}(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n+1})$$

$$\downarrow \Phi_{n} \qquad \qquad \downarrow \Phi_{n+1}$$

$$W_{n}(F) \stackrel{\mathbf{V}}{\longrightarrow} W_{n+1}(F)$$

is commutative where $V((a_0, \ldots, a_{n-1})) = (0, a_0, \ldots, a_{n-1})$ is the Verschiebung map.

(4) Let E be the fraction field of the completion of the localization $O_K[T]_{(p)}$ (so the residue field of E is F(T)). Let

$$\lambda: W_n(F) \times W_n(F(T)) \xrightarrow{\rho} {}_{p^n} \operatorname{Br}(F(T)) \oplus H^1(F(T), \mathbb{Z}/p^n)$$

be the map defined by $\lambda(w,w') = (i_2(p^{n-1}wdw'),i_1(ww'))$ where p^n Br(F(T)) is the p^n -torsion of the Brauer group of F(T), and we consider $p^{n-1}wdw'$ as an element of $W_n\Omega^1_{F(T)}$ ($W_n\Omega^1_{F(T)}$ is the de Rham Witt complex). Let

$$i_1: W_n(F(T)) \longrightarrow H^1(F(T), \mathbb{Z}/p^n)$$

be the map defined by Artin-Schreier-Witt theory, and let

$$i_2: W_n\Omega^1_{F(T)} \longrightarrow {}_{p^n}\operatorname{Br}(F(T))$$

be the map obtained by taking Galois cohomology from an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow (F(T)^{\text{sep}})^*/((F(T)^{\text{sep}})^*)^{p^n} \longrightarrow W_n\Omega^1_{F(T)^{\text{sep}}} \longrightarrow W_n\Omega^1_{F(T)^{\text{sep}}} \longrightarrow 0.$$

Then we have a commutative diagram

$$H^{1}(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^{n}) \times E^{*}/(E^{*})^{p^{n}} \xrightarrow{\cup} \operatorname{Br}(E)$$

$$\Phi_{n} \downarrow \qquad \uparrow \psi_{n} \qquad \uparrow i$$

$$W_{n}(F) \times W_{n}(F(T)) \xrightarrow{\lambda} {}_{p^{n}} \operatorname{Br}(F(T)) \oplus H^{1}(F(T), \mathbb{Z}/p^{n})$$

where i is the map in subsection 5.1, and

$$\psi_n((a_0, \dots, a_{n-1})) = \exp\left(\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \sum_{j=1}^{n-i} p^{i+j} \tilde{a_i}^{p^{n-i-j}}\right)$$

 $(\widetilde{a_i} \text{ is a lifting of } a_i \text{ to } \mathcal{O}_K).$

(5) Suppose that n = 1 and F is separably closed. Then we have an isomorphism

$$\Phi_1: H^1(K, \mathbb{Z}/p) \simeq F.$$

Suppose that $\Phi_1(\chi) = a$. Then the extension L/K which corresponds to the character χ can be described as follows. Let \widetilde{a} be a lifting of a to \mathfrak{O}_K . Then L = K(x) where x is a solution of the equation

$$X^p - X = \widetilde{a}/p.$$

The property (4) characterizes Φ_n .

Corollary (Miki). Let L = K(x) where $x^p - x = a/p$ with some $a \in \mathcal{O}_K$. L is contained in a cyclic extension of K of degree p^n if and only if

$$a \mod p \in F^{p^{n-1}}.$$

This follows from parts (2) and (5) of the theorem. More generally:

Corollary. Let χ be a character corresponding to the extension L/K of degree p^n , and $\Phi_n(\chi) = (a_0, \ldots, a_{n-1})$. Then for m > n, L is contained in a cyclic extension of K of degree p^m if and only if $a_i \in F^{p^{m-n}}$ for all i such that $0 \le i \le n-1$.

Remarks.

(1) Fesenko gave a new and simple proof of this theorem from his general theory on totally ramified extensions (cf. subsection 16.4).

116 M. Kurihara

(2) For any q > 0 we can construct a homomorphism

$$\Phi_n: H^q(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^n(q-1)) \longrightarrow W_n\Omega_F^{q-1}$$

by the same method. By using this homomorphism, we can study the Brauer group of K, for example.

Problems.

- (1) Let $\chi_{\mathbb{R}}$ be the character of the extension constructed in 14.1. Calculate $\Phi_n(\chi_{\mathbb{R}})$.
- (2) Assume that F is separably closed. Then we have an isomorphism

$$\Phi_n: H^1(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^n) \simeq W_n(F).$$

This isomorphism is reminiscent of the isomorphism of Artin–Schreier–Witt theory. For $w=(a_0,\ldots,a_{n-1})\in W_n(F)$, can one give an explicit equation of the corresponding extension L/K using a_0,\ldots,a_{n-1} for $n\geqslant 2$ (where L/K corresponds to the character χ such that $\Phi_n(\chi)=w$)?

References

[K] M. Kurihara, Abelian extensions of an absolutely unramified local field with general residue field, Invent. math., 93 (1988), 451–480.

Department of Mathematics Tokyo Metropolitan University Minami-Osawa 1-1, Hachioji, Tokyo 192-03, Japan E-mail: m-kuri@comp.metro-u.ac.jp Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 14, pages 117–122

14. Explicit abelian extensions of complete discrete valuation fields

Igor Zhukov

14.0

For higher class field theory Witt and Kummer extensions are very important. In fact, Parshin's construction of class field theory for higher local fields of prime characteristic [P] is based on an explicit (Artin–Schreier–Witt) pairing; see [F] for a generalization to the case of a perfect residue field. Kummer extensions in the mixed characteristic case can be described by using class field theory and Vostokov's symbol [V1], [V2]; for a perfect residue field, see [V3], [F].

An explicit description of non Kummer abelian extensions for a complete discrete valuation field K of characteristic 0 with residue field k_K of prime characteristic p is an open problem. We are interested in totally ramified extensions, and, therefore, in p-extensions (tame totally ramified abelian extensions are always Kummer and their class field theory can be described by means of the higher tame symbol defined in subsection 6.4.2).

In the case of an absolutely unramified K there is a beautiful description of all abelian totally ramified p-extensions in terms of Witt vectors over k_K by Kurihara (see section 13 and [K]). Below we give another construction of some totally ramified cyclic p-extensions for such K. The construction is complicated; however, the extensions under consideration are constructed explicitly, and eventually we obtain a certain description of the whole maximal abelian extension of K. Proofs are given in [VZ].

14.1

We recall that cyclic extensions of K of degree p can be described by means of Artin–Schreier extensions, see [FV, III.2]. Namely, for a cyclic L/K of degree p we have L=K(x), $x^p-x=a$, where $v_K(a)=-1$ if L/K is totally ramified, and $v_K(a)=0$ if L/K is unramified.

Published 10 December 2000: (c) Geometry & Topology Publications

118 I. Zhukov

Notice that if $v_K(a_1-a_2)\geqslant 0$, then for corresponding cyclic extensions L_1/K and L_2/K we have $L_1K_{\rm ur}=L_2K_{\rm ur}$. (If $v_K(a_1-a_2)\geqslant 1$, then, moreover, $L_1=L_2$.) We obtain immediately the following description of the maximal abelian extension of K of exponent p: $K^{{\rm ab},p}=K_{\rm ur}^{{\rm ab},p}\prod_d K_d$, where $K_d=K(x)$, $x^p-x=-p^{-1}d$, and d runs over any fixed system of representatives of k_K^* in \mathfrak{O}_K . This is a part of a more precise statement at the end of the next subsection.

14.2

It is easy to determine whether a given cyclic extension L/K of degree p can be embedded into a cyclic extension of degree p^n , $n \ge 2$.

Proposition. In the above notation, let b be the residue of pa in k_K . Then there is a cyclic extension M/K of degree p^n such that $L \subset M$ if and only if $b \in k_K^{p^{n-1}}$.

The proof is based on the following theorem of Miki [M]. Let F be a field of characteristic not equal to p and let $\zeta_p \in F$. Let $L = F(\alpha)$, $\alpha^p = a \in F$. Then $a \in F^{*p}N_{F(\zeta_{p^n})/F}F(\zeta_{p^n})^*$ if and only if there is a cyclic extension M/F of degree p^n such that $L \subset M$.

Corollary. Denote by K^{ab,p^n} (respectively $K^{\mathrm{ab},p^n}_{\mathrm{ur}}$) the maximal abelian (respectively abelian unramified) extension of K of exponent p^n . Choose $A_i \subset \mathcal{O}_K$, $1 \leqslant i \leqslant n$, in such a way that $\{\overline{d}: d \in A_i\}$ is an \mathbb{F}_p -basis of $k_K^{p^{i-1}}/k_K^{p^i}$ for $i \leqslant n-1$ and an \mathbb{F}_p -basis of $k_K^{p^{n-1}}$ for i=n. Let $K_{i,d}$ ($d \in A_i$) be any cyclic extension of degree p^i that contains x with $x^p-x=-p^{-1}d$. Then $K^{\mathrm{ab},p^n}/K$ is the compositum of linearly disjoint extensions $K_{i,d}/K$ ($1 \leqslant i \leqslant n$; d runs over A_i) and $K^{\mathrm{ab},p^n}_{\mathrm{ur}}/K$.

From now on, let p>3. For any $n\geqslant 1$ and any $b\in k_K^{p^{n-1}}$, we shall give a construction of a cyclic extension $K_{n,d}/K$ of degree p^n such that $x\in K_{n,d}$, $x^p-x=-p^{-1}d$, where $d\in \mathcal{O}_K$ is such that its residue \overline{d} is equal to b.

14.3

Denote by G the Lubin-Tate formal group over \mathbb{Z}_p such that multiplication by p in it takes the form $[p]_G(X) = pX + X^p$.

Let $\mathfrak O$ be the ring of integers of the field E defined in (2) of Theorem 13.2, and v the valuation on E.

Proposition. There exist $g_i \in \mathcal{O}$, $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, and $R_i \in \mathcal{O}$, $i \ge 0$, satisfying the following conditions.

- (1) $g_0 \equiv 1 \mod p\mathbb{O}$, $g_i \equiv 0 \mod p\mathbb{O}$ for $i \neq 0$.
- (2) $R_0 = T$.
- (3) $v(g_i) \geqslant -i + 2 + \left[\frac{i}{p}\right] + \left[\frac{i-2}{p}\right] \text{ for } i \leqslant -1.$

(4) Let
$$g(X) = \sum_{-\infty}^{\infty} g_i X^{i(p-1)+1}$$
, $R(X,T) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} R_i X^{i(p-1)+1}$. Then

$$g(X) +_G [p]_G R(g(X), T) = g(X +_G R([p]_G X, T^p)).$$

Remark. We do not expect that the above conditions determine g_i and R_i uniquely. However, in [VZ] a certain canonical way to construct (g, R) by a process of the p-adic approximation is given.

Fix a system (q, R) satisfying the above conditions. Denote

$$S = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} S_i(T)X^{i(p-1)+1} = T^{-1}X + \dots$$

the series which is inverse to R with respect to substitution in $\mathcal{O}[[X]]$.

Theorem. Let $d \in \mathcal{O}_K^*$. Consider $\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n \in K^{\text{sep}}$ such that

$$\beta_1^p - \beta_1 = -p^{-1} \sum_{i \ge 0} S_i (d^{p^{n-1}}) (-p)^i,$$

$$\beta_j^p - \beta_j = -p^{-1} \sum_{-\infty}^{+\infty} g_i (d^{p^{n-j}}) (-p)^i \beta_{j-1}^{i(p-1)+1}, \quad j \geqslant 2.$$

Then $K_{n,d^{p^n-1}} = K(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n)$ is a cyclic extension of K of degree p^n containing a zero of the polynomial $X^p - X + p^{-1}d^{p^{n-1}}$.

Remark. We do not know which Witt vector corresponds to $K_{n,d^{p^n-1}}/K$ in Kurihara's theory (cf. section 13). However, one could try to construct a parallel theory in which (the canonical character of) this extension would correspond to $(\overline{d}^{p^{n-1}},0,0,\ldots) \in W_n(k_K)$.

14.4

If one is interested in explicit equations for abelian extensions of K of exponent p^n for a fixed n, then it is sufficient to compute a certain p-adic approximation to g (resp. R) by polynomials in $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[T,T^{-1},X,X^{-1}]$ (resp. $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[T,T^{-1},X]$). Let us make this statement more precise.

120 I. Zhukov

In what follows we consider a fixed pair (q, R) constructed in [VZ]. Denote

$$K_{i,d^{p^{n-1}}} = K(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_j).$$

Let v be the (non-normalized) extension of the valuation of K to $K_{n,d^{p^{n-1}}}$. Then

 $v(\beta_j) = -p^{-1} - \dots - p^{-j}, \ \ j=1,\dots,n.$ We assert that in the defining equations for $K_{n,d^{p^{n-1}}}$ the pair (g,R) can be replaced with $(\widetilde{q}, \widetilde{R})$ such that

(1)
$$v(\widetilde{g}_i - g_i) > n + \max_{j=1,\dots,n-1} (-j - i \cdot p^{-j} + p^{-1} + p^{-2} + \dots + p^{-j}), \quad i \in \mathbb{Z},$$
 and

(2)
$$v(\widetilde{R}_i - R_i) > n - i, \quad i \geqslant 0.$$

Theorem. Assume that the pair $(\widetilde{g}, \widetilde{R})$ satisfies (1) and (2). Define \widetilde{S} as \widetilde{R}^{-1} . Let

$$\widetilde{\beta}_1^p - \widetilde{\beta}_1 = -p^{-1} \sum_{i \geqslant 0} \widetilde{S}_i (d^{p^{n-1}}) (-p)^i,$$

$$\widetilde{\beta}_j^p - \widetilde{\beta}_j = -p^{-1} \sum_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \widetilde{g}_i(d^{p^{n-j}}) (-p)^i \widetilde{\beta}_{j-1}^{i(p-1)+1}, \quad j \geqslant 2.$$

Then $K(\widetilde{\beta}_1, \ldots, \widetilde{\beta}_n) = K(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n)$.

Proof. It is easy to check by induction on j that $\widetilde{\beta}_j \in K_{i,d^{p^{n-1}}}$ and $v(\widetilde{\beta}_j - \beta_j) > n - j$,

Remark. For a fixed n, one may take $\widetilde{R}_i = 0$ for $i \ge n$, $\widetilde{g}_i = 0$ for all sufficiently small or sufficiently large i.

14.5

If we consider non-strict inequalities in (1) and (2), then we obtain an extension $\widetilde{K}_{n,d^{p^n-1}}$ such that $\widetilde{K}_{n,d^{p^{n-1}}}K_{\mathrm{ur}} = K_{n,d^{p^{n-1}}}K_{\mathrm{ur}}$. In particular, let n=2. Calculation of (R,g)in [VZ] shows that

$$g_i \stackrel{p^2 \circ}{=} \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} 0, & i < -1 \\ p \cdot \frac{T^{1-p}-1}{2}, & i = -1 \\ 1 + p \cdot \frac{T^{1-p}-1}{2} (1 - T^p), & i = 0 \end{array} \right.$$

Therefore, one may take $\widetilde{g}_i=0$ for i<-1 or i>0, $\widetilde{g}_{-1}=p\cdot \frac{T^{1-p}-1}{2}$, $\widetilde{g}_0=$ $1+p\cdot\frac{T^{1-p}-1}{2}(1-T^p)$. Further, one may take $\widetilde{R}=TX$. Thus, we obtain the following

Theorem. For any $d \in \mathfrak{O}_K^*$, let $\widetilde{K}_{1,d} = K(y)$, where $y^p - y = -p^{-1}d$. Next, let $\widetilde{K}_{2,d^p} = K(y_1, y_2)$, where

$$y_1^p - y_1 = -p^{-1}d^p,$$

$$y_2^p - y_2 = -p^{-1}y_1 + p^{-1} \cdot \frac{d^{1-p} - 1}{2}y_1^{-p+2} - \frac{d^{1-p} - 1}{2}(1 - d^p)y_1.$$

Then

- 1. All $\widetilde{K}_{1,d}/K$ are cyclic of degree p, and all $\widetilde{K}_{2,d^p}/K$ are cyclic of degree p^2 .
- 2. $K^{ab,p^2}/K$ is the compositum of linearly disjoint extensions described below:
 - (a) $\widetilde{K}_{1,d}/K$, where d runs over a system of representatives of an \mathbb{F}_p -basis of k_K/k_K^p ;
 - (b) $\widetilde{K}_{2,d^p}/K$, where d runs over a system of representatives of an \mathbb{F}_p -basis of k_K ;
 - k_K ; (c) $K_{\rm ur}^{{\rm ab},p^2}/K$.

14.6

One of the goals of developing explicit constructions for abelian extensions would be to write down explicit formulas for class field theory. We are very far from this goal in the case of non Kummer extensions of an absolutely unramified higher local field. However, the K-group involved in the reciprocity map can be computed for such fields in a totally explicit way.

Let K be an absolutely unramified n-dimensional local field with any perfect residue field. Then $[Z,\S 11]$ gives an explicit description of

$$U(1)K_n^{\mathsf{top}}K = \langle \{\alpha, \beta_1, \dots, \beta_{n-1}\} : \alpha, \beta_i \in K^*, v(\alpha - 1) > 0 \rangle.$$

Notice that the structure of $K_n^{\text{top}}K/U(1)K_n^{\text{top}}K$, i.e., the quotient group responsible for tamely ramified extensions, is well known. We cite here a result in the simplest possible case $K = \mathbb{Q}_p\{\{t\}\}$.

Theorem. Let $K = \mathbb{Q}_p\{\{t\}\}.$

1. For every $\alpha \in U_1K_2^{\text{top}}(K)$ there are $n_j \in \mathbb{Z}_p$, $j \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ which are uniquely determined modulo $p^{v_{\mathbb{Q}_p}(j)+1}$ and there is $n_0 \in \mathbb{Z}_p$ which is uniquely determined such that

$$\alpha = \sum_{j} n_j \{1 - pt^j, t\}.$$

2. For any $j \neq 0$ we have

$$p^{v_{\mathbb{Q}_p}(j)+1}\{1-pt^j, t\} = 0.$$

122 I. Zhukov

Proof. Use explicit class field theory of section 10 and the above mentioned theorem of Miki.

Question. How does $\{1 - pt^j, t\}$ act on $K_{n dp^{n-1}}$?

References

- [F] I. Fesenko, Abelian local p-class field theory, Math. Ann. 301 (1995), pp. 561–586.
- [FV] I. Fesenko and S. Vostokov, Local Fields and Their Extensions, AMS, Providence, 1993.
- [K] M. Kurihara, Abelian extensions of an absolutely unramified local field with general residue field, Invent. Math. 93(1988), 451–480.
- [M] H. Miki, On \mathbb{Z}_p -extensions of complete p-adic power series fields and function fields, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, Sect. IA 21 (1974), 377–393.
- [P] A. N. Parshin, Local class field theory, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov (1984); English translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 165 (1985), no. 3, 157–185.
- [V1] S. V. Vostokov, Explicit construction of class field theory for a multidimensional local field, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. (1985); English translation in Math. USSR Izv. 26 (1986), no. 2, 263–288.
- [V2] S. V. Vostokov, The pairing on K-groups in fields of valuation of rank n, Trudy S.-Peterb. Mat. Obsch. (1995); English translation in Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. (Ser. 2) 165 (1995), 111–148.
- [V3] S. V. Vostokov, Hilbert pairing on a multidimensional complete field, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklova (1995); English translation in Proc. of the Steklov Inst. of Math. 208 (1995), 72–83.
- [VZ] S. V. Vostokov and I. B. Zhukov, Some approaches to the construction of abelian extensions for p-adic fields, Trudy S.-Peterb. Mat. Obsch. (1995); English translation in Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. (Ser. 2) 165 (1995), 157–174.
- [Z] I. B. Zhukov, Milnor and topological K-groups of multidimensional complete fields, Algebra i Analiz (1997); English translation in St. Petersburg Math. J. 9 (1998), 69–105.

Department of Mathematics and Mechanics St. Petersburg University Bibliotechnaya pl. 2, Staryj Petergof 198904 St. Petersburg Russia E-mail: igor@zhukov.pdmi.ras.ru Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 15, pages 123–135

15. On the structure of the Milnor K-groups of complete discrete valuation fields

Jinya Nakamura

15.0. Introduction

For a discrete valuation field K the unit group K^* of K has a natural decreasing filtration with respect to the valuation, and the graded quotients of this filtration are written in terms of the residue field. The Milnor K-group $K_q(K)$ is a generalization of the unit group and it also has a natural decreasing filtration defined in section 4. However, if K is of mixed characteristic and has absolute ramification index greater than one, the graded quotients of this filtration are known in some special cases only.

Let K be a complete discrete valuation field with residue field $k = k_K$; we keep the notations of section 4. Put $v_p = v_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$.

A description of $\operatorname{gr}_n K_q(K)$ is known in the following cases:

- (i) (Bass and Tate [BT]) $\operatorname{gr}_0 K_q(K) \simeq K_q(k) \oplus K_{q-1}(k)$.
- (ii) (Graham [G]) If the characteristic of K and k is zero, then $\operatorname{gr}_n K_q(K) \simeq \Omega_k^{q-1}$ for all $n \geqslant 1$.
- (iii) (Bloch [B], Kato [Kt1]) If the characteristic of K and of k is p > 0 then

$$\operatorname{gr}_n K_q(K) \simeq \operatorname{coker}\left(\Omega_k^{q-2} \longrightarrow \Omega_k^{q-1}/B_s^{q-1} \oplus \Omega_k^{q-2}/B_s^{q-2}\right)$$

where $\omega \longmapsto (\mathbf{C}^{-s}(d\omega), (-1)^q m \, \mathbf{C}^{-s}(\omega))$ and where $n \geqslant 1$, $s = v_p(n)$ and $m = n/p^s$.

(iv) (Bloch–Kato [BK]) If K is of mixed characteristic (0, p), then

$$\mathrm{gr}_n K_q(K) \simeq \mathrm{coker} \left(\Omega_k^{q-2} \longrightarrow \Omega_k^{q-1}/B_s^{q-1} \oplus \Omega_k^{q-2}/B_s^{q-2} \right)$$

where $\omega \longmapsto (\mathbf{C}^{-s}(d\omega), (-1)^q m \mathbf{C}^{-s}(\omega))$ and where $1 \leqslant n < ep/(p-1)$ for $e = v_K(p), \ s = v_p(n)$ and $m = n/p^s$; and

$$\begin{split} &\operatorname{gr}_{\frac{ep}{p-1}}K_q(K) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{coker}\left(\Omega_k^{q-2} \longrightarrow \Omega_k^{q-1}/(1+a\operatorname{C})B_s^{q-1} \oplus \Omega_k^{q-2}/(1+a\operatorname{C})B_s^{q-2}\right) \end{split}$$

Published 10 December 2000: (c) Geometry & Topology Publications

where $\omega \longmapsto ((1+aC)C^{-s}(d\omega), (-1)^q m(1+aC)C^{-s}(\omega))$ and where a is the residue class of p/π^e for fixed prime element of K, $s = v_p(ep/(p-1))$ and $m = ep/(p-1)p^s$.

- (v) (Kurihara [Ku1], see also section 13) If K is of mixed characteristic (0, p) and absolutely unramified (i.e., $v_K(p) = 1$), then $\operatorname{gr}_n K_q(K) \simeq \Omega_k^{q-1}/B_{n-1}^{q-1}$ for $n \geqslant 1$.
- (vi) (Nakamura [N2]) If K is of mixed characteristic (0,p) with p > 2 and $p \nmid e =$ $v_K(p)$, then

$$\operatorname{gr}_n K_q(K) \simeq \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \operatorname{as \ in \ (iv)} & (1 \leqslant n \leqslant ep/(p-1)) \\ \\ \Omega_k^{q-1}/B_{l_n+s_n}^{q-1} & (n > ep/(p-1)) \end{array} \right.$$
 where l_n is the maximal integer which satisfies $n-l_ne \geqslant e/(p-1)$ and $s_n=1$

(vii) (Kurihara [Ku3]) If K_0 is the fraction field of the completion of the localization $\mathbb{Z}_p[T]_{(p)}$ and $K = K_0(\sqrt[p]{pT})$ for a prime $p \neq 2$, then

$$\operatorname{gr}_n K_2(K) \simeq \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \operatorname{as in (iv)} & (1 \leqslant n \leqslant p) \\ k/k^p & (n = 2p) \\ k^{p^{l-2}} & (n = lp, l \geqslant 3) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}). \end{array} \right.$$

- (viii) (Nakamura [N1]) Let K_0 be an absolutely unramified complete discrete valuation field of mixed characteristic (0,p) with p>2. If $K=K_0(\zeta_p)(\sqrt[p]{\pi})$ where π is a prime element of $K_0(\zeta_p)$ such that $d\pi^{p-1}=0$ in $\Omega^1_{\mathcal{O}_{K_0(\zeta_p)}}$, then $\operatorname{gr}_n K_q(K)$ are determined for all $n \ge 1$. This is complicated, so we omit the details.
- (ix) (Kahn [Kh]) Quotients of the Milnor K-groups of a complete discrete valuation field K with perfect residue field are computed using symbols.

Recall that the group of units $U_{1,K}$ can be described as a topological \mathbb{Z}_p -module. As a generalization of this classical result, there is an appraoch different from (i)-(ix) for higher local fields K which uses topological convergence and

$$K_q^{\text{top}}(K) = K_q(K) / \cap_{l \geqslant 1} lK_q(K)$$

(see section 6). It provides not only the description of $gr_nK_q(K)$ but of the whole $K_q^{\text{top}}(K)$ in characteristic p (Parshin [P]) and in characteristic 0 (Fesenko [F]). A complete description of the structure of $K_q^{\text{top}}(K)$ of some higher local fields with small ramification is given by Zhukov [Z].

Below we discuss (vi).

15.1. Syntomic complex and Kurihara's exponential homomorphism

15.1.1. Syntomic complex. Let $A = \mathcal{O}_K$ and let A_0 be the subring of A such that A_0 is a complete discrete valuation ring with respect to the restriction of the valuation of K, the residue field of A_0 coincides with $k = k_K$ and A_0 is absolutely unramified. Let π be a fixed prime of K. Let $B = A_0[[X]]$. Define

$$\mathcal{J} = \ker[B \xrightarrow{X \mapsto \pi} A]$$

$$\mathcal{J} = \ker[B \xrightarrow{X \mapsto \pi} A \xrightarrow{\text{mod } p} A/p] = \mathcal{J} + pB.$$

Let D and $J \subset D$ be the PD-envelope and the PD-ideal with respect to $B \to A$, respectively. Let $I \subset D$ be the PD-ideal with respect to $B \to A/p$. Namely,

$$D=B\left[\frac{x^j}{j!}\;;\;j\geqslant 0,x\in\mathcal{J}
ight],\quad J=\ker(D o A),\quad I=\ker(D o A/p).$$

Let $J^{[r]}$ (resp. $I^{[r]}$) be the r-th divided power, which is the ideal of D generated by

$$\left\{\frac{x^j}{j!} \ ; \ j\geqslant r, x\in \mathcal{J}\right\}, \ \left(\text{resp. } \left\{\frac{x^i}{i!}\frac{p^j}{j!} \ ; \ i+j\geqslant r, x\in \mathcal{I}\right\}\right).$$

Notice that $I^{[0]} = J^{[0]} = D$. Let $I^{[n]} = J^{[n]} = D$ for a negative n. We define the complexes $\mathbb{J}^{[q]}$ and $\mathbb{J}^{[q]}$ as

$$\mathbb{J}^{[q]} = [J^{[q]} \xrightarrow{d} J^{[q-1]} \otimes_B \widehat{\Omega}_B^1 \xrightarrow{d} J^{[q-2]} \otimes_B \widehat{\Omega}_B^2 \longrightarrow \cdots]$$

$$\mathbb{J}^{[q]} = [I^{[q]} \xrightarrow{d} I^{[q-1]} \otimes_B \widehat{\Omega}_B^1 \xrightarrow{d} I^{[q-2]} \otimes_B \widehat{\Omega}_B^2 \longrightarrow \cdots]$$

where $\widehat{\Omega}^q_B$ is the p-adic completion of Ω^q_B . We define $\mathbb{D}=\mathbb{I}^{[0]}=\mathbb{J}^{[0]}$.

Let \mathbb{T} be a fixed set of elements of A_0^* such that the residue classes of all $T \in \mathbb{T}$ in k forms a p-base of k. Let f be the Frobenius endomorphism of A_0 such that $f(T) = T^p$ for any $T \in \mathbb{T}$ and $f(x) \equiv x^p \mod p$ for any $x \in A_0$. We extend f to B by $f(X) = X^p$, and to D naturally. For $0 \le r < p$ and $0 \le s$, we get

$$f(J^{[r]}) \subset p^r D, \quad f(\widehat{\Omega}_B^s) \subset p^s \widehat{\Omega}_B^s,$$

since

$$f(x^{[r]}) = (x^p + py)^{[r]} = (p!x^{[p]} + py)^{[r]} = p^{[r]}((p-1)!x^{[p]} + y)^r,$$

$$f\left(z\frac{dT_1}{T_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{dT_s}{T_s}\right) = z\frac{dT_1^p}{T_1^p} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{dT_s^p}{T_s^p} = zp^s\frac{dT_1}{T_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{dT_s}{T_s},$$

where $x \in \mathcal{J}$, y is an element which satisfies $f(x) = x^p + py$, and $T_1, \dots, T_s \in \mathbb{T} \cup \{X\}$. Thus we can define

$$f_q = \frac{f}{p^q} : J^{[r]} \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-r} \longrightarrow D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-r}$$

126 J. Nakamura

for $0 \le r < p$. Let $\mathcal{S}(q)$ and $\mathcal{S}'(q)$ be the mapping fiber complexes (cf. Appendix) of

$$\mathbb{J}^{[q]} \xrightarrow{1-f_q} \mathbb{D}$$
 and $\mathbb{I}^{[q]} \xrightarrow{1-f_q} \mathbb{D}$

respectively, for q < p. For simplicity, from now to the end, we assume p is large enough to treat $\mathcal{S}(q)$ and $\mathcal{S}'(q)$. $\mathcal{S}(q)$ is called the *syntomic complex* of A with respect to B, and $\mathcal{S}'(q)$ is also called the *syntomic complex* of A/p with respect to B (cf. [Kt2]).

Theorem 1 (Kurihara [Ku2]). There exists a subgroup S^q of $H^q(\mathcal{S}(q))$ such that $U_XH^q(\mathcal{S}(q)) \simeq U_1\widehat{K}_q(A)$ where $\widehat{K}_q(A) = \varprojlim K_q(A)/p^n$ is the p-adic completion of $K_q(A)$ (see subsection 9.1).

Outline of the proof. Let $U_X(D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1})$ be the subgroup of $D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}$ generated by $XD \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}$, $D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2} \wedge dX$ and $I \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}$, and let

$$S^q = U_X(D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}) / ((dD \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2} + (1-f_q)J \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}) \cap U_X(D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1})).$$

The infinite sum $\sum_{n\geqslant 0} f_q^n(dx)$ converges in $D\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^q$ for $x\in U_X(D\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1})$. Thus we get a map

$$U_X(D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}) \longrightarrow H^q(\mathscr{S}(q))$$

 $x \longmapsto \left(x, \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f_q^n(dx)\right)$

and we may assume S^q is a subgroup of $H^q(\mathscr{S}(q))$. Let E_q be the map

$$E_q: U_X(D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}) \longrightarrow \widehat{K}_q(A)$$

$$x \frac{dT_1}{T_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{dT_{q-1}}{T_{q-1}} \longmapsto \{E_1(x), T_1, \dots, T_{q-1}\},$$

where $E_1(x) = \exp \circ (\sum_{n \ge 0} f_1^n)(x)$ is Artin–Hasse's exponential homomorphism. In [Ku2] it was shown that E_q vanishes on

$$(dD \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2} + (1 - f_q)J \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}) \cap U_X(D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}),$$

hence we get the map

$$E_q \colon S^q \longrightarrow \widehat{K}_q(A).$$

The image of E_q coincides with $U_1\widehat{K}_q(A)$ by definition.

On the other hand, define $s_q : \widehat{K}_q(A) \longrightarrow S^q$ by

$$s_{q}(\{a_{1}, \dots, a_{q}\})$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{q} (-1)^{i-1} \frac{1}{p} \log \left(\frac{f(\widetilde{a_{i}})}{\widetilde{a_{i}}^{p}}\right) \frac{d\widetilde{a_{1}}}{\widetilde{a_{1}}} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{d\widetilde{a_{i-1}}}{\widetilde{a_{i-1}}} \wedge f_{1}\left(\frac{d\widetilde{a_{i+1}}}{\widetilde{a_{i+1}}}\right) \wedge \dots \wedge f_{1}\left(\frac{d\widetilde{a_{q}}}{\widetilde{a_{q}}}\right)$$

(cf. [Kt2], compare with the series Φ in subsection 8.3), where \widetilde{a} is a lifting of a to D. One can check that $s_q \circ E_q = -\operatorname{id}$. Hence $S^q \simeq U_1 \widehat{K}_q(A)$. Note that if $\zeta_p \in K$, then one can show $U_1 \widehat{K}_q(A) \simeq U_1 \widehat{K}_q(K)$ (see [Ku4] or [N2]), thus we have $S^q \simeq U_1 \widehat{K}_q(K)$.

Example. We shall prove the equality $s_q \circ E_q = -\operatorname{id}$ in the following simple case. Let q = 2. Take an element $adT/T \in U_X(D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1})$ for $T \in \mathbb{T} \cup \{X\}$. Then

$$\begin{split} s_q \circ E_q \Big(a \frac{dT}{T} \Big) \\ &= s_q (\{E_1(\widetilde{a}), T\}) \\ &= \frac{1}{p} \log \left(\frac{f(E_1(a))}{E_1(a)^p} \right) f_1 \left(\frac{dT}{T} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{p} \left(\log \circ f \circ \exp \circ \sum_{n \geqslant 0} f_1^n(a) - p \log \circ \exp \circ \sum_{n \geqslant 0} f_1^n(a) \right) \frac{dT}{T} \\ &= \left(f_1 \sum_{n \geqslant 0} f_1^n(a) - \sum_{n \geqslant 0} f_1^n(a) \right) \frac{dT}{T} \\ &= -a \frac{dT}{T}. \end{split}$$

15.1.2. Exponential Homomorphism. The usual exponential homomorphism

$$\exp_{\eta}\colon A \longrightarrow A^*$$

$$x \longmapsto \exp(\eta x) = \sum_{n\geqslant 0} \frac{x^n}{n!}$$

is defined for $\eta \in A$ such that $v_A(\eta) > e/(p-1)$. This map is injective. Section 9 contains a definition of the map

$$\exp_{\eta} : \widehat{\Omega}_{A}^{q-1} \longrightarrow \widehat{K}_{q}(A)$$

$$x \frac{dy_{1}}{y_{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{dy_{q-1}}{y_{q-1}} \longmapsto \{\exp(\eta x), y_{1}, \dots, y_{q-1}\}$$

for $\eta \in A$ such that $v_A(\eta) \geqslant 2e/(p-1)$. This map is not injective in general. Here is a description of the kernel of \exp_{η} .

Theorem 2. The following sequence is exact:

(*)
$$H^{q-1}(\mathscr{S}'(q)) \xrightarrow{\psi} \Omega_A^{q-1}/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-2} \xrightarrow{\exp_p} \widehat{K}_q(A).$$

Sketch of the proof. There is an exact sequence of complexes

$$0 \to \mathrm{MF} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{J}^{[q]} \\ 1 - f_q \downarrow \\ \mathbb{D} \end{pmatrix} \to \mathrm{MF} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{I}^{[q]} \\ 1 - f_q \downarrow \\ \mathbb{D} \end{pmatrix} \to \mathbb{I}^{[q]} / \mathbb{J}^{[q]} \to 0,$$

$$\parallel \qquad \qquad \parallel \qquad \qquad \parallel$$

$$\mathscr{L}(q) \qquad \qquad \mathscr{L}'(q)$$

where MF means the mapping fiber complex. Thus, taking cohomologies we have the following diagram with the exact top row

where the map (1) is induced by

$$\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}\ni \omega\longmapsto p\widetilde{\omega}\in I\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}/J\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}=(\mathbb{I}^{[q]}/\mathbb{J}^{[q]})^{q-1}.$$

We denoted the left horizontal arrow of the top row by ψ and the right horizontal arrow of the top row by δ . The right vertical arrow is injective, thus the claims are

- (1) is an isomorphism,
- (2) this diagram is commutative.

First we shall show (1). Recall that

$$H^{q-1}(\mathbb{I}^{[q]}/\mathbb{J}^{[q]}) = \operatorname{coker}\left(\frac{I^{[2]} \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_{B}^{q-2}}{J^{[2]} \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_{B}^{q-2}} \longrightarrow \frac{I \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_{B}^{q-2}}{J \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_{B}^{q-2}}\right).$$

From the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow J \longrightarrow D \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow 0$$

we get $D\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}/J\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}=A\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}$ and its subgroup $I\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}/J\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}$ is $pA\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}$ in $A\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}$. The image of $I^{[2]}\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}$ in $pA\otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}$ is equal to the image of

$$\mathfrak{I}^2 \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2} = \mathfrak{J}^2 \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2} + p \mathfrak{J} \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2} + p^2 \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}.$$

On the other hand, from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{J} \longrightarrow B \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow 0$$
,

we get an exact sequence

$$(\mathcal{J}/\mathcal{J}^2)\otimes\widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}\stackrel{d}{\longrightarrow} A\otimes\widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}\longrightarrow\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}\longrightarrow 0.$$

Thus $d\mathcal{J}^2\otimes\widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}$ vanishes on $pA\otimes\widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}$, hence

$$H^{q-1}(\mathbb{I}^{[q]}/\mathbb{J}^{[q]}) = \frac{pA \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}}{pd\mathcal{J}\widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2} + p^2d\widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}} \overset{p^{-1}}{\simeq} \frac{A \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}}{d\mathcal{J}\widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2} + pd\widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}} \simeq \widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-2},$$

which completes the proof of (1).

Next, we shall demonstrate the commutativity of the diagram on a simple example. Consider the case where q=2 and take $adT/T\in \widehat{\Omega}^1_A$ for $T\in \mathbb{T}\cup \{\pi\}$. We want to show that the composite of

$$\widehat{\Omega}_{A}^{1}/pdA \xrightarrow{(1)} H^{1}(\mathbb{I}^{[2]}/\mathbb{J}^{[2]}) \xrightarrow{\delta} S^{q} \xrightarrow{E_{q}} U_{1}\widehat{K}_{2}(A)$$

coincides with \exp_p . By (1), the lifting of adT/T in $(\mathbb{I}^{[2]}/\mathbb{J}^{[2]})^1 = I \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^1/J \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^1$ is $p\widetilde{a} \otimes dT/T$, where \widetilde{a} is a lifting of a to D. Chasing the connecting homomorphism δ ,

(the left column is $\mathscr{S}(2)$, the middle is $\mathscr{S}'(2)$ and the right is $\mathbb{I}^{[2]}/\mathbb{J}^{[2]}$); $\widetilde{pad}T/T$ in the upper right goes to $(pd\widetilde{a} \wedge dT/T, (1-f_2)(p\widetilde{a} \otimes dT/T))$ in the lower left. By E_2 , this element goes

$$E_{2}((1-f_{2})(\widetilde{p}\widetilde{a}\otimes\frac{d}{T})) = E_{2}((1-f_{1})(\widetilde{p}\widetilde{a})\otimes\frac{dT}{T})$$

$$= \{E_{1}((1-f_{1})(\widetilde{p}\widetilde{a})), T\} = \{\exp(\sum_{n\geqslant 0}f_{1}^{n})\circ(1-f_{1})(\widetilde{p}\widetilde{a}), T\}$$

$$= \{\exp(\widetilde{p}a), T\}.$$

in $U_1\widehat{K}_2(A)$. This is none other than the map \exp_n .

By Theorem 2 we can calculate the kernel of \exp_p . On the other hand, even though \exp_p is not surjective, the image of \exp_p includes $U_{e+1}\widehat{K}_q(A)$ and we already know $\operatorname{gr}_i\widehat{K}_q(K)$ for $0 \leqslant i \leqslant ep/(p-1)$. Thus it is enough to calculate the kernel of \exp_p in order to know all $\operatorname{gr}_i\widehat{K}_q(K)$. Note that to know $\operatorname{gr}_i\widehat{K}_q(K)$, we may assume that $\zeta_p \in K$, and hence $\widehat{K}_q(A) = U_0\widehat{K}_q(K)$.

J. Nakamura

15.2. Computation of the kernel of the exponential homomorphism

15.2.1. Modified syntomic complex. We introduce a modification of $\mathscr{S}'(q)$ and calculate it instead of $\mathscr{S}'(q)$. Let \mathbb{S}_q be the mapping fiber complex of

$$1 - f_q \colon (\mathbb{J}^{[q]})^{\geqslant q-2} \longrightarrow \mathbb{D}^{\geqslant q-2}.$$

Here, for a complex C, we put

$$C^{\geqslant n} = (0 \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow C^n \longrightarrow C^{n+1} \longrightarrow \cdots).$$

By definition, we have a natural surjection $H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q) \to H^{q-1}(\mathscr{S}'(q))$, hence $\psi(H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q)) = \psi(H^{q-1}(\mathscr{S}'(q)))$, which is the kernel of \exp_n .

To calculate $H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q)$, we introduce an X-filtration. Let $0 \leqslant r \leqslant 2$ and s = q - r. Recall that $B = A_0[[X]]$. For $i \geqslant 0$, let $\mathrm{fil}_i(I^{[r]} \otimes_B \widehat{\Omega}_B^s)$ be the subgroup of $I^{[r]} \otimes_B \widehat{\Omega}_B^s$ generated by the elements

$$\begin{split} &\left\{X^n\frac{(X^e)^j}{j!}\frac{p^l}{l!}a\omega:n+ej\geqslant i,n\geqslant 0,j+l\geqslant r,a\in D,\omega\in\widehat{\Omega}_B^s\right\}\\ &\cup\left\{X^n\frac{(X^e)^j}{j!}\frac{p^l}{l!}av\wedge\frac{dX}{X}:n+ej\geqslant i,n\geqslant 1,j+l\geqslant r,a\in D,v\in\widehat{\Omega}_B^{s-1}\right\}. \end{split}$$

The map $1 - f_q: I^{[r]} \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^s \to D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^s$ preserves the filtrations. By using the latter we get the following

Proposition 3. $H^{q-1}(\mathrm{fil}_i\mathbb{S}_q)_i$ form a finite decreasing filtration of $H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q)$. Denote

$$\begin{split} &\operatorname{fil}_i H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q) = H^{q-1}(\operatorname{fil}_i \mathbb{S}_q), \\ &\operatorname{gr}_i H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q) = \operatorname{fil}_i H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q)/\operatorname{fil}_{i+1} H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q). \end{split}$$

Then $\operatorname{gr}_i H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_a)$

$$= \begin{cases} 0 & (if \ i > 2e) \\ X^{2e-1}dX \wedge \left(\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-3}/p\right) & (if \ i = 2e) \end{cases} \\ X^{i} \left(\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-2}/p\right) \oplus X^{i-1}dX \wedge (\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-3}/p) & (if \ e < i < 2e) \end{cases} \\ X^{e} \left(\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-2}/p\right) \oplus X^{e-1}dX \wedge \left(3_{1}\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-3}/p^{2}\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-3}\right) & (if \ i = e, p \mid e) \end{cases} \\ X^{e-1}dX \wedge \left(3_{1}\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-3}/p^{2}\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-3}\right) & (if \ i = e, p \mid e) \end{cases} \\ \left(X^{i} \frac{\left(p^{\max(\eta'_{i} - v_{p}(i),0)}\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-2} \cap 3_{\eta_{i}}\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-2}\right) + p^{2}\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-2}}{p^{2}\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-2}}\right) \\ \oplus \left(X^{i-1}dX \wedge \frac{3_{\eta_{i}}\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-3} + p^{2}\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-3}}{p^{2}\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-3}}\right) & (if \ 1 \leqslant i < e) \end{cases} \\ 0 & (if \ i = 0). \end{cases}$$

Here η_i and η'_i are the integers which satisfy $p^{\eta_i-1}i < e \leqslant p^{\eta_i}i$ and $p^{\eta'_i-1}i - 1 < e \leqslant p^{\eta'_i}i - 1$ for each i,

$$\mathfrak{Z}_n\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^q = \ker\left(\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^q \xrightarrow{d} \widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q+1}/p^n\right)$$

for positive n, and $\mathfrak{Z}_n\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^q = \widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^q$ for $n \leq 0$.

Outline of the proof. From the definition of the filtration we have the exact sequence of complexes:

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathrm{fil}_{i+1}\mathbb{S}_q \longrightarrow \mathrm{fil}_i\mathbb{S}_q \longrightarrow \mathrm{gr}_i\mathbb{S}_q \longrightarrow 0$$

and this sequence induce a long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^{q-2}(\operatorname{gr}_i \mathbb{S}_q) \to H^{q-1}(\operatorname{fil}_{i+1} \mathbb{S}_q) \to H^{q-1}(\operatorname{fil}_i \mathbb{S}_q) \to H^{q-1}(\operatorname{gr}_i \mathbb{S}_q) \to \cdots.$$

The group $H^{q-2}(\operatorname{gr}_i \mathbb{S}_q)$ is

$$H^{q-2}(\mathrm{gr}_i\mathbb{S}_q) = \ker \begin{pmatrix} \mathrm{gr}_i I^{[2]} \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2} \longrightarrow (\mathrm{gr}_i I \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}) \oplus (\mathrm{gr}_i D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}) \\ x \longmapsto (dx, (1-f_q)x) \end{pmatrix}$$

The map $1-f_q$ is equal to 1 if $i\geqslant 1$ and $1-f_q\colon p^2\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-2}\to \widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-2}$ if i=0, thus they are all injective. Hence $H^{q-2}(\operatorname{gr}_i\mathbb{S}_q)=0$ for all i and we deduce that $H^{q-1}(\operatorname{fil}_i\mathbb{S}_q)_i$ form a decreasing filtration on $H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q)$.

Next, we have to calculate $H^{q-2}(\operatorname{gr}_i\mathbb{S}_q)$. The calculation is easy but there are many cases which depend on i, so we omit them. For more detail, see [N2].

132 J. Nakamura

Finally, we have to compute the image of the last arrow of the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{q-1}(\mathrm{fil}_{i+1}\mathbb{S}_q) \longrightarrow H^{q-1}(\mathrm{fil}_i\mathbb{S}_q) \longrightarrow H^{q-1}(\mathrm{gr}_i\mathbb{S}_q)$$

because it is not surjective in general. Write down the complex $\operatorname{gr}_i \mathbb{S}_q$:

$$\cdots \to (\operatorname{gr}_i I \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}) \oplus (\operatorname{gr}_i D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}) \xrightarrow{d} (\operatorname{gr}_i D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^q) \oplus (\operatorname{gr}_i D \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}) \to \cdots,$$

where the first term is the degree q-1 part and the second term is the degree q part. An element (x,y) in the first term which is mapped to zero by d comes from $H^{q-1}(\mathrm{fil}_i\mathbb{S}_q)$ if and only if there exists $z\in\mathrm{fil}_iD\otimes\widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}$ such that $z\equiv y \mod \mathrm{fil}_{i+1}D\otimes\widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-2}$ and

$$\sum_{n>0} f_q^n(dz) \in \mathrm{fil}_i I \otimes \widehat{\Omega}_B^{q-1}.$$

From here one deduces Proposition 3.

15.2.2. Differential modules. Take a prime element π of K such that $\pi^{e-1}d\pi = 0$. We assume that $p \nmid e$ in this subsection. Then we have

$$\widehat{\Omega}_{A}^{q} \simeq \left(\bigoplus_{i_{1} < i_{2} < \dots < i_{q}} A \frac{dT_{i_{1}}}{T_{i_{1}}} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{dT_{i_{q}}}{T_{i_{q}}} \right)$$

$$\oplus \left(\bigoplus_{i_{1} < i_{2} < \dots < i_{q-1}} A / (\pi^{e-1}) \frac{dT_{i_{1}}}{T_{i_{1}}} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{dT_{i_{q-1}}}{T_{i_{q-1}}} \wedge d\pi \right),$$

where $\{T_i\} = \mathbb{T}$. We introduce a filtration on $\widehat{\Omega}_A^q$ as

$$\mathrm{fil}_i \widehat{\Omega}_A^q = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \widehat{\Omega}_A^q & \text{(if } i = 0) \\ \pi^i \widehat{\Omega}_A^q + \pi^{i-1} d\pi \wedge \widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1} & \text{(if } i \geqslant 1). \end{array} \right.$$

The subquotients are

$$\begin{split} &\operatorname{gr}_i\widehat{\Omega}_A^q = \operatorname{fil}_i\widehat{\Omega}_A^q/\operatorname{fil}_{i+1}\widehat{\Omega}_A^q \\ &= \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} \Omega_F^q & (\text{ if } i = 0 \text{ or } i \geqslant e) \\ \Omega_F^q \oplus \Omega_F^{q-1} & (\text{ if } 1 \leqslant i < e), \end{array} \right. \end{split}$$

where the map is

$$\begin{split} &\Omega_F^q \ni \omega \longmapsto \pi^i \widetilde{\omega} \in \pi^i \widehat{\Omega}_A^q \\ &\Omega_F^{q-1} \ni \omega \longmapsto \pi^{i-1} d\pi \wedge \widetilde{\omega} \in \pi^{i-1} d\pi \wedge \widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}. \end{split}$$

Here $\widetilde{\omega}$ is the lifting of ω . Let $\mathrm{fil}_i(\widehat{\Omega}_A^q/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1})$ be the image of $\mathrm{fil}_i\widehat{\Omega}_A^q$ in $\widehat{\Omega}_A^q/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}$. Then we have the following:

Proposition 4. For $j \ge 0$,

$$\operatorname{gr}_{j}\left(\widehat{\Omega}_{A}^{q}/pd\widehat{\Omega}_{A}^{q-1}\right) = \begin{cases} \Omega_{F}^{q} & (j=0) \\ \Omega_{F}^{q} \oplus \Omega_{F}^{q-1} & (1 \leqslant j < e) \\ \Omega_{F}^{q}/B_{l}^{q} & (e \leqslant j), \end{cases}$$

where l be the maximal integer which satisfies $j - le \ge 0$.

Proof. If $1\leqslant j< e$, $\operatorname{gr}_j\widehat{\Omega}_A^q=\operatorname{gr}_j(\widehat{\Omega}_A^q/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1})$ because $pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}\subset\operatorname{fil}_e\widehat{\Omega}_A^q$. Assume that $j\geqslant e$ and let l be as above. Since $\pi^{e-1}d\pi=0$, $\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}$ is generated by elements $p\pi^id\omega$ for $0\leqslant i< e$ and $\omega\in\widehat{\Omega}_{A_0}^{q-1}$. By [I] (Cor. 2.3.14), $p\pi^id\omega\in\operatorname{fil}_{e(1+n)+i}\widehat{\Omega}_A^q$ if and only if the residue class of $p^{-n}d\omega$ belongs to B_{n+1} . Thus $\operatorname{gr}_j(\widehat{\Omega}_A^q/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1})\simeq\Omega_F^q/B_l^q$.

By definition of the filtrations, \exp_p preserves the filtrations on $\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-2}$ and $\widehat{K}_q(K)$. Furthermore, $\exp_p\colon \operatorname{gr}_i(\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-2}) \to \operatorname{gr}_{i+e}K_q(K)$ is surjective and its kernel is the image of $\psi(H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q))\cap \operatorname{fil}_i(\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-2})$ in $\operatorname{gr}_i(\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-2})$. Now we know both $\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-2}$ and $H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q)$ explicitly, thus we shall get the structure of $K_q(K)$ by calculating ψ . But ψ does not preserve the filtration of $H^{q-1}(\mathbb{S}_q)$, so it is not easy to compute it. For more details, see [N2], especially sections 4-8 of that paper. After completing these calculations, we get the result in (vi) in the introduction.

Remark. Note that if $p \mid e$, the structure of $\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}/pd\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-2}$ is much more complicated. For example, if e=p(p-1), and if $\pi^e=p$, then $p\pi^{e-1}d\pi=0$. This means the torsion part of $\widehat{\Omega}_A^{q-1}$ is larger than in the case where $p \nmid e$. Furthermore, if $\pi^{p(p-1)}=pT$ for some $T \in \mathbb{T}$, then $p\pi^{e-1}d\pi=pdT$, this means that $d\pi$ is not a torsion element. This complexity makes it difficult to describe the structure of $K_q(K)$ in the case where $p \mid e$.

Appendix. The mapping fiber complex.

This subsection is only a note on homological algebra to introduce the mapping fiber complex. The mapping fiber complex is the degree -1 shift of the mapping cone complex.

Let $C \xrightarrow{f} D$ be a morphism of non-negative cochain complexes. We denote the degree i term of C by C^i .

Then the mapping fiber complex MF(f) is defined as follows.

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{MF}(f)^i &= C^i \oplus D^{i-1}, \\ \operatorname{differential} \quad d \colon C^i \oplus D^{i-1} \longrightarrow C^{i+1} \oplus D^i \\ (x,y) \longmapsto (dx,f(x)-dy). \end{aligned}$$

J. Nakamura

By definition, we get an exact sequence of complexes:

$$0 \longrightarrow D[-1]^{\cdot} \longrightarrow MF(f)^{\cdot} \longrightarrow C^{\cdot} \longrightarrow 0,$$

where $D[-1] = (0 \rightarrow D^0 \rightarrow D^1 \rightarrow \cdots)$ (degree -1 shift of D.)

Taking cohomology, we get a long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^{i}(\mathsf{MF}(f)) \to H^{i}(C) \to H^{i+1}(D[-1]) \to H^{i+1}(\mathsf{MF}(f)) \to \cdots$$

which is the same as the following exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^i(\mathsf{MF}(f)) \to H^i(C) \xrightarrow{f} H^i(D) \to H^{i+1}(\mathsf{MF}(f)) \to \cdots$$

References

- [B] S. Bloch, Algebraic K -theory and crystalline cohomology, Publ. Math. IHES, 47(1977), 187–268.
- [BK] S. Bloch and K. Kato, p-adic étale cohomology, Publ. Math. IHES, 63(1986), 107–152.
- [BT] H. Bass and J. Tate, The Milnor ring of a global field, In Algebraic *K*-theory II, Lect. Notes Math. 342, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1973, 349–446.
- [F] I. Fesenko, Abelian local p-class field theory, Math. Ann., 301 (1995), pp. 561–586.
- [G] J. Graham, Continuous symbols on fields of formal power series, In Algebraic *K*-theory II, Lect. Notes Math. 342, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1973, 474–486.
- [I] L. Illusie, Complexe de de Rham–Witt et cohomologie cristalline, Ann. Sci. Ecole Norm. Sup. 12(1979), 501–661.
- [Kh] B. Kahn, L'anneau de Milnor d'un corps local à corps residuel parfait. Ann. Inst. Fourier 34, 4(1984), 19–65.
- [Kt1] K. Kato, A generalization of local class field theory by using K-groups. II, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 27(1980), 603–683.
- [Kt2] K. Kato, On p-adic vanishing cycles (applications of ideas of Fontaine–Messing). Adv. Stud. in Pure Math. 10(1987), 207–251.
- [Ku1] M. Kurihara, Abelian extensions of an absolutely unramified local field with general residue field, Invent. Math. 93(1988), 451–480.
- [Ku2] M. Kurihara, The Milnor K-groups of a local ring over a ring of the p-adic integers, to appear in the volume on Ramification theory for arithmetic schemes. Lminy 1999, ed. B. Erez.
- [Ku3] M. Kurihara, On the structure of the Milnor K-group of a certain complete discrete valuation field, preprint.
- [Ku4] M. Kurihara, A note on p-adic etale cohomology, Proc. Japan Acad. (A) 63 (1987), 275–278.
- [N1] J. Nakamura, On the structure of the Milnor *K*-groups of some complete discrete valuation fields, *K*-Theory 19 (2000), 269–309.

- [N2] J. Nakamura, On the Milnor $\,K$ -groups of complete discrete valuation fields, Doc. Math. 5(2000), 151–200.
- [P] A. N. Parshin, Local class field theory, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov (1984); English translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 165 (1985), no. 3, pp. 157–185.
- [Z] I. Zhukov, Milnor and topological K-groups of multidimensional complete fields, Algebra i Analiz (1997); English translation in St. Petersburg Math. J. 9(1998), 69–105.

Department of Mathematics University of Tokyo 3-8-1 Komaba Meguro-Ku Tokyo 153-8914 Japan E-mail: jinya@ms357.ms.u-tokyo.ac.jp

Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 16, pages 137–142

16. Higher class field theory without using K-groups

Ivan Fesenko

Let F be a complete discrete valuation field with residue field $k = k_F$ of characteristic p. In this section we discuss an alternative to higher local class field theory method which describes abelian totally ramified extensions of F without using K-groups. For n-dimensional local fields this gives a description of abelian totally ramified (with respect to the discrete valuation of rank one) extensions of F. Applications are sketched in 16.3 and 16.4.

16.1. p-class field theory

Suppose that k is perfect and $k \neq \wp(k)$ where $\wp: k \to k$, $\wp(a) = a^p - a$.

Let \widetilde{F} be the maximal abelian unramified p-extension of F. Then due to Witt theory $\operatorname{Gal}(\widetilde{F}/F)$ is isomorphic to $\prod_{\kappa} \mathbb{Z}_p$ where $\kappa = \dim_{\mathbb{F}_p} k/\wp(k)$. The isomorphism is non-canonical unless k is finite where the canonical one is given by $\operatorname{Frob}_F \mapsto 1$.

Let L be a totally ramified Galois p-extension of F.

Let $Gal(\widetilde{F}/F)$ act trivially on Gal(L/F).

Denote

$$\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)^{\sim} = H^1_{\operatorname{cont}}((\operatorname{Gal}(\widetilde{F}/F),\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(\operatorname{Gal}(\widetilde{F}/F),\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)).$$

Then $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)^{\sim} \simeq \bigoplus_{\kappa} \operatorname{Gal}(L/F)$ non-canonically.

Put $\widetilde{L} = L\widetilde{F}$. Denote by $\varphi \in \operatorname{Gal}(\widetilde{L}/L)$ the lifting of $\varphi \in \operatorname{Gal}(\widetilde{F}/F)$.

For $\chi \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/F)^{\sim}$ denote

$$\Sigma_\chi = \{\alpha \in \widetilde{L} : \alpha^{\varphi\chi(\varphi)} = \alpha \quad \text{ for all } \ \varphi \in \operatorname{Gal}(\widetilde{F}/F)\}.$$

The extension Σ_{χ}/F is totally ramified.

As an generalization of Neukirch's approach [N] introduce the following:

Definition. Put

$$\Upsilon_{L/F}(\chi) = N_{\Sigma_\chi/F} \pi_\chi / N_{L/F} \pi_L \mod N_{L/F} U_L$$

Published 10 December 2000: © Geometry & Topology Publications

where π_{χ} is a prime element of Σ_{χ} and π_{L} is a prime element of L. This map is well defined. Compare with 10.1.

Theorem ([F1, Th. 1.7]). The map $\Upsilon_{L/F}$ is a homomorphism and it induces an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Gal}(L \cap F^{\operatorname{ab}}/F)^{\sim} \xrightarrow{\sim} U_F/N_{L/F}U_L \xrightarrow{\sim} U_{1,F}/N_{L/F}U_{1,L}.$$

Proof. One of the easiest ways to prove the theorem is to define and use the map which goes in the reverse direction. For details see [F1, sect. 1].

Problem. If π is a prime element of F, then p-class field theory implies that there is a totally ramified abelian p-extension F_{π} of F such that $F_{\pi}\widetilde{F}$ coincides with the maximal abelian p-extension of F and $\pi \in N_{F_{\pi}/F}F_{\pi}^*$. Describe F_{π} explicitly (like Lubin–Tate theory does in the case of finite k).

Remark. Let K be an n-dimensional local field ($K = K_n, \ldots, K_0$) with K_0 satisfying the same restrictions as k above.

For a totally ramified Galois p-extension L/K (for the definition of a totally ramified extension see 10.4) put

$$\operatorname{Gal}(L/K)^{\sim} = \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(\operatorname{Gal}(\widetilde{K}/K), \operatorname{Gal}(L/K))$$

where \widetilde{K} is the maximal p-subextension of K_{pur}/K (for the definition of K_{pur} see (A1) of 10.1).

There is a map $\Upsilon_{L/K}$ which induces an isomorphism [F2, Th. 3.8]

$$\operatorname{Gal}(L\cap K^{\operatorname{ab}}/K)^{\sim} \overset{\sim}{\to} VK_n^t(K)/N_{L/K}VK_n^t(L)$$

where $VK_n^t(K) = \{V_K\} \cdot K_{n-1}^t(K)$ and K_n^t was defined in 2.0.

16.2. General abelian local p-class field theory

Now let k be an arbitrary field of characteristic p, $\wp(k) \neq k$.

Let \widetilde{F} be the maximal abelian unramified p-extension of F.

Let L be a totally ramified Galois p-extension of F. Denote

$$\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)^{\sim} = H^1_{\operatorname{cont}}((\operatorname{Gal}(\widetilde{F}/F),\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(\operatorname{Gal}(\widetilde{F}/F),\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)).$$

In a similar way to the previous subsection define the map

$$\Upsilon_{L/F}$$
: Gal $(L/F)^{\sim} \to U_{1,F}/N_{L/F}U_{1,L}$.

In fact it lands in $U_{1,F}\cap N_{\widetilde{L}/\widetilde{F}}U_{1,\widetilde{L}})/N_{L/F}U_{1,L}$ and we denote this new map by the same notation.

Definition. Let **F** be complete discrete valuation field such that $\mathbf{F} \supset \widetilde{F}$, $e(\mathbf{F}|\widetilde{F}) = 1$ and $k_{\mathbf{F}} = \bigcup_{n\geqslant 0} k_{\widetilde{F}}^{p^{-n}}$. Put $\mathbf{L} = L\mathbf{F}$.

Denote
$$I(L|F) = \langle \varepsilon^{\sigma-1} : \varepsilon \in U_{1,\mathbf{L}}, \sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/F) \rangle \cap U_{1,\widetilde{L}}$$
.

Then the sequence

$$(*) \hspace{1cm} 1 \to \operatorname{Gal}(L/F)^{\operatorname{ab}} \xrightarrow{g} U_{1,\widetilde{L}}/I(L|F) \xrightarrow{N_{\widetilde{L}/\widetilde{F}}} N_{\widetilde{L}/\widetilde{F}}U_{1,\widetilde{L}} \to 1$$

is exact where $g(\sigma) = \pi_L^{\sigma-1}$ and π_L is a prime element of L (compare with Proposition 1 of 10.4.1).

Generalizing Hazewinkel's method [H] introduce

Definition. Define a homomorphism

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{L/F} \colon & (U_{1,F} \cap N_{\widetilde{L}/\widetilde{F}} U_{1,\widetilde{L}}) / N_{L/F} U_{1,L} \to \operatorname{Gal}(L \cap F^{\operatorname{ab}}/F)^{\sim}, \quad \Psi_{L/F}(\varepsilon) = \chi \end{split}$$
 where $\chi(\varphi) = g^{-1}(\eta^{1-\varphi}), \ \eta \in U_{1,\widetilde{L}}$ is such that $\varepsilon = N_{\widetilde{L}/\widetilde{F}} \eta$.

Properties of $\Upsilon_{L/F}, \Psi_{L/F}$.

- (1) $\Psi_{L/F} \circ \Upsilon_{L/F} = \mathrm{id}$ on $\mathrm{Gal}(L \cap F^{\mathrm{ab}}/F)^{\sim}$, so $\Psi_{L/F}$ is an epimorphism. (2) Let \mathcal{F} be a complete discrete valuation field such that $\mathcal{F} \supset F$, $e(\mathcal{F}|F) = 1$ and $k_{\mathcal{F}} = \bigcup_{n > 0} k_E^{p^{-n}}$. Put $\mathcal{L} = L\mathcal{F}$. Let

$$\lambda_{L/F}: (U_{1,F} \cap N_{\widetilde{L}/\widetilde{F}}U_{1,\widetilde{L}})/N_{L/F}U_{1,L} \to U_{1,\mathfrak{F}}/N_{\mathcal{L}/\mathfrak{F}}U_{1,\mathcal{L}}$$

be induced by the embedding $F \to \mathcal{F}$. Then the diagram

(3) Since $\Psi_{\mathcal{L}/\mathcal{F}}$ is an isomorphism (see 16.1), we deduce that $\lambda_{L/F}$ is surjective and $\ker(\Psi_{L/F}) = \ker(\lambda_{L/F})$, so

$$(U_{1,F} \cap N_{\widetilde{L}/\widetilde{F}}U_{1,\widetilde{L}})/N_*(L/F) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Gal}(L \cap F^{\operatorname{ab}}/F)^{\sim}$$

where
$$N_*(L/F) = U_{1,F} \cap N_{\widetilde{L}/\widetilde{F}} U_{1,\widetilde{L}} \cap N_{\mathcal{L}/\mathcal{F}} U_{1,\mathcal{L}}$$
.

Theorem ([F3, Th. 1.9]). Let L/F be a cyclic totally ramified p-extension. Then

$$\Upsilon_{L/F}$$
: $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)^{\sim} \to (U_{1,F} \cap N_{\widetilde{L}/\widetilde{F}}U_{1,\widetilde{L}})/N_{L/F}U_{1,L}$

is an isomorphism.

140 I. Fesenko

 $\textit{Proof.} \ \ \text{Since} \ \ L/F \ \ \text{is cyclic we get} \ \ I(L|F) = \big\{ \varepsilon^{\sigma-1} : \varepsilon \in U_{1,\widetilde{L}}, \sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/F) \big\}, \ \text{so}$

$$I(L|F) \cap U_{1,\widetilde{L}}^{\varphi-1} = I(L|F)^{\varphi-1}$$

for every $\varphi \in \operatorname{Gal}(\widetilde{L}/L)$.

Let $\Psi_{L/F}(\varepsilon)=1$ for $\varepsilon=N_{\widetilde{L}/\widetilde{F}}\eta\in U_{1,F}$. Then $\eta^{\varphi-1}\in I(L|F)\cap U_{1,\widetilde{L}}^{\varphi-1}$, so $\eta\in I(L|F)L_{\varphi}$ where L_{φ} is the fixed subfield of \widetilde{L} with respect to φ . Hence $\varepsilon\in N_{L_{\varphi}/F\cap L_{\varphi}}U_{1,L_{\varphi}}$. By induction on κ we deduce that $\varepsilon\in N_{L/F}U_{1,L}$ and $\Psi_{L/F}$ is injective.

Remark. Miki [M] proved this theorem in a different setting which doesn't mention class field theory.

Corollary. Let L_1/F , L_2/F be abelian totally ramified p-extensions. Assume that L_1L_2/F is totally ramified. Then

$$N_{L_2/F}U_{1,L_2} \subset N_{L_1/F}U_{1,L_1} \Longleftrightarrow L_2 \supset L_1.$$

Proof. Let M/F be a cyclic subextension in L_1/F . Then $N_{\mathfrak{M}/\mathfrak{F}}U_{1,\mathfrak{M}}\supset N_{\mathfrak{L}_2/\mathfrak{F}}U_{1,\mathfrak{L}_2}$, so $\mathfrak{M}\subset \mathfrak{L}_2$ and $M\subset L_2$. Thus $L_1\subset L_2$.

Problem. Describe $\ker(\Psi_{L/F})$ for an arbitrary L/F. It is known [F3, 1.11] that this kernel is trivial in one of the following situations:

- (1) L is the compositum of cyclic extensions M_i over F, $1 \le i \le m$, such that all ramification breaks of $\operatorname{Gal}(M_i/F)$ with respect to the upper numbering are not greater than every break of $\operatorname{Gal}(M_{i+1}/F)$ for all $1 \le i \le m-1$.
- (2) Gal(L/F) is the product of cyclic groups of order p and a cyclic group. No example with non-trivial kernel is known.

16.3. Norm groups

Proposition ([F3, Prop. 2.1]). Let F be a complete discrete valuation field with residue field of characteristic p. Let L_1/F and L_2/F be abelian totally ramified p-extensions. Let $N_{L_1/F}L_1^* \cap N_{L_2/F}L_2^*$ contain a prime element of F. Then L_1L_2/F is totally ramified.

Proof. If k_F is perfect, then the claim follows from p-class field theory in 16.1. If k_F is imperfect then use the fact that there is a field \mathcal{F} as above which satisfies $L_1\mathcal{F} \cap L_2\mathcal{F} = (L_1 \cap L_2)\mathcal{F}$.

Theorem (uniqueness part of the existence theorem) ([F3, Th. 2.2]). Let $k_F \neq \wp(k_F)$. Let L_1/F , L_2/F be totally ramified abelian p-extensions. Then

$$N_{L_2/F}L_2^* = N_{L_1/F}L_1^* \iff L_1 = L_2.$$

Proof. Use the previous proposition and corollary in 16.2.

16.4. Norm groups more explicitly

Let F be of characteristic 0. In general if k is imperfect it is very difficult to describe $N_{L/F}U_{1,L}$. One partial case can be handled: let the absolute ramification index e(F) be equal to 1 (the description below can be extended to the case of e(F) < p-1). Let π be a prime element of F.

Definition.

$$\mathcal{E}_{n,\pi}: W_n(k_F) \to U_{1,F}/U_{1,F}^{p^n}, \quad \mathcal{E}_{n,\pi}((a_0, \dots, a_{n-1})) = \prod_{0 \leqslant i \leqslant n-1} E(\widetilde{a_i}^{p^{n-i}}\pi)^{p^i}$$

where $E(X) = \exp(X + X^p/p + X^{p^2}/p^2 + \dots)$ and $\widetilde{a_i} \in \mathcal{O}_F$ is a lifting of $a_i \in k_F$ (this map is basically the same as the map ψ_n in Theorem 13.2).

The following property is easy to deduce:

Lemma. $\mathcal{E}_{n,\pi}$ is a monomorphism. If k_F is perfect then $\mathcal{E}_{n,\pi}$ is an isomorphism.

Theorem ([F3, Th. 3.2]). Let $k_F \neq \wp(k_F)$ and let e(F) = 1. Let π be a prime element of F.

Then cyclic totally ramified extensions L/F of degree p^n such that $\pi \in N_{L/F}L^*$ are in one-to-one correspondence with subgroups

$$\mathcal{E}_{n,\pi}(\mathbf{F}(w)\wp(W_n(k_F)))U_{1,F}^{p^n}$$

of $U_{1,F}/U_{1,F}^{p^n}$ where w runs over elements of $W_n(k_F)^*$.

Hint. Use the theorem of 16.3. If k_F is perfect, the assertion follows from p-class field theory.

Remark. The correspondence in this theorem was discovered by M. Kurihara [K, Th. 0.1], see the sequence (1) of theorem 13.2. The proof here is more elementary since it doesn't use étale vanishing cycles.

References

- [F1] I. Fesenko, Local class field theory: perfect residue field case, Izvest. Russ. Acad. Nauk. Ser. Mat. (1993); English translation in Russ. Acad. Scienc. Izvest. Math. 43(1994), 65–81.
- [F2] I. Fesenko, Abelian local p-class field theory, Math. Ann. 301(1995), 561–586.
- [F3] I. Fesenko, On general local reciprocity maps, J. reine angew. Math. 473(1996), 207–222.
- [H] M. Hazewinkel, Local class field theory is easy, Adv. Math. 18(1975), 148–181.
- [K] M. Kurihara, Abelian extensions of an absolutely unramified local field with general residue field, Invent. Math. 93(1988), 451–480.
- [M] H. Miki, On unramified abelian extensions of a complete field under a discrete valuation with arbitrary residue field of characteristic $p \neq 0$ and its application to wildly ramified \mathbb{Z}_p -extensions, J. Math. Soc. Japan 29(1977), 363–371.
- [N] J. Neukirch, Class Field Theory, Springer, Berlin etc. 1986.

Department of Mathematics University of Nottingham Nottingham NG7 2RD England E-mail: ibf@maths.nott.ac.uk Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 17, pages 143–150

17. An approach to higher ramification theory

Igor Zhukov

We use the notation of sections 1 and 10.

17.0. Approach of Hyodo and Fesenko

Let K be an n-dimensional local field, L/K a finite abelian extension. Define a filtration on Gal(L/K) (cf. [H], [F, sect. 4]) by

$$\operatorname{Gal}(L/K)^{\mathbf{i}} = \Upsilon_{L/K}^{-1}(U_{\mathbf{i}}K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(K) + N_{L/K}K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(L)/N_{L/K}K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(L)), \quad \mathbf{i} \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n,$$

where $U_{\mathbf{i}}K_n^{\text{top}}(K) = \{U_{\mathbf{i}}\} \cdot K_{n-1}^{\text{top}}(K), \ U_{\mathbf{i}} = 1 + P_K(\mathbf{i}),$

$$\Upsilon_{L/K}^{-1}: K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(K)/N_{L/K}K_n^{\operatorname{top}}(L) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$$

is the reciprocity map.

Then for a subextension M/K of L/K

$$\operatorname{Gal}(M/K)^{\mathbf{i}} = \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)^{\mathbf{i}} \operatorname{Gal}(L/M) / \operatorname{Gal}(L/M)$$

which is a higher dimensional analogue of Herbrand's theorem. However, if one defines a generalization of the Hasse–Herbrand function and lower ramification filtration, then for n>1 the lower filtration on a subgroup does not coincide with the induced filtration in general.

Below we shall give another construction of the ramification filtration of L/K in the two-dimensional case; details can be found in [Z], see also [KZ]. This construction can be considered as a development of an approach by K. Kato and T. Saito in [KS].

Definition. Let K be a complete discrete valuation field with residue field k_K of characteristic p. A finite extension L/K is called *ferociously ramified* if $|L:K| = |k_L:k_K|_{\text{ins}}$.

Published 10 December 2000: © Geometry & Topology Publications

144 I. Zhukov

In addition to the nice ramification theory for totally ramified extensions, there is a nice ramification theory for ferociously ramified extensions L/K such that k_L/k_K is generated by one element; the reason is that in both cases the ring extension $\mathcal{O}_L/\mathcal{O}_K$ is monogenic, i.e., generated by one element, see section 18.

17.1. Almost constant extensions

Everywhere below K is a complete discrete valuation field with residue field k_K of characteristic p such that $|k_K:k_K^p|=p$. For instance, K can be a two-dimensional local field, or $K=\mathbb{F}_q(X_1)((X_2))$ or the quotient field of the completion of $\mathbb{Z}_p[T]_{(p)}$ with respect to the p-adic topology.

Definition. For the field K define a base (sub)field B as

 $B = \mathbb{Q}_p \subset K$ if $\operatorname{char}(K) = 0$,

 $B = \mathbb{F}_p((\rho)) \subset K$ if $\operatorname{char}(K) = p$, where ρ is an element of K with $v_K(\rho) > 0$.

Denote by k_0 the completion of $B(\mathfrak{R}_K)$ inside K. Put $k = k_0^{\text{alg}} \cap K$.

The subfield k is a maximal complete subfield of K with perfect residue field. It is called a *constant subfield* of K. A constant subfield is defined canonically if char(K) = 0. Until the end of section 17 we assume that B (and, therefore, k) is fixed.

By v we denote the valuation $K^{\text{alg}^*} \to \mathbb{Q}$ normalized so that $v(B^*) = \mathbb{Z}$.

Example. If $K = F\{\{T\}\}$ where F is a mixed characteristic complete discrete valuation field with perfect residue field, then k = F.

Definition. An extension L/K is said to be *constant* if there is an algebraic extension l/k such that L = Kl.

An extension L/K is said to be *almost constant* if $L \subset L_1L_2$ for a constant extension L_1/K and an unramified extension L_2/K .

A field K is said to be *standard*, if e(K|k) = 1, and *almost standard*, if some finite unramified extension of K is a standard field.

Epp's theorem on elimination of wild ramification. ([E], [KZ]) Let L be a finite extension of K. Then there is a finite extension k' of a constant subfield k of K such that e(Lk'|Kk') = 1.

Corollary. There exists a finite constant extension of K which is a standard field.

Proof. See the proof of the Classification Theorem in 1.1.

Lemma. The class of constant (almost constant) extensions is closed with respect to taking compositums and subextensions. If L/K and M/L are almost constant then M/K is almost constant as well.

Definition. Denote by L_c the maximal almost constant subextension of K in L.

Properties.

- (1) Every tamely ramified extension is almost constant. In other words, the (first) ramification subfield in L/K is a subfield of L_c .
- (2) If L/K is normal then L_c/K is normal.
- (3) There is an unramified extension L_0' of L_0 such that $L_c L_0'/L_0$ is a constant extension.
- (4) There is a constant extension L'_c/L_c such that LL'_c/L'_c is ferociously ramified and $L'_c \cap L = L_c$. This follows immediately from Epp's theorem.

The principal idea of the proposed approach to ramification theory is to split L/K into a tower of three extensions: L_0/K , L_c/L_0 , L/L_c , where L_0 is the inertia subfield in L/K. The ramification filtration for $\mathrm{Gal}(L_c/L_0)$ reflects that for the corresponding extensions of constants subfields. Next, to construct the ramification filtration for $\mathrm{Gal}(L/L_c)$, one reduces to the case of ferociously ramified extensions by means of Epp's theorem. (In the case of higher local fields one can also construct a filtration on $\mathrm{Gal}(L_0/K)$ by lifting that for the first residue fields.)

Now we give precise definitions.

17.2. Lower and upper ramification filtrations

Keep the assumption of the previous subsection. Put

$$A = \{-1, 0\} \cup \{(\mathfrak{c}, s) : 0 < s \in \mathbb{Z}\} \cup \{(\mathfrak{i}, r) : 0 < r \in \mathbb{Q}\}.$$

This set is linearly ordered as follows:

$$-1 < 0 < (\mathfrak{c}, i) < (\mathfrak{i}, j)$$
 for any i, j ;
 $(\mathfrak{c}, i) < (\mathfrak{c}, j)$ for any $i < j$;
 $(\mathfrak{i}, i) < (\mathfrak{i}, j)$ for any $i < j$.

Definition. Let $G = \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$. For any $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ we define a subgroup G_{α} in G. Put $G_{-1} = G$, and denote by G_0 the inertia subgroup in G, i.e.,

$$G_0 = \{ g \in G : v(g(a) - a) > 0 \text{ for all } a \in \mathcal{O}_L \}.$$

Let L_c/K be constant, and let it contain no unramified subextensions. Then define

$$G_{\mathfrak{c},i} = \operatorname{pr}^{-1}(\operatorname{Gal}(l/k)_i)$$

where l and k are the constant subfields in L and K respectively,

pr:
$$Gal(L/K) \rightarrow Gal(l/k) = Gal(l/k)_0$$

146 I. Zhukov

is the natural projection and $\operatorname{Gal}(l/k)_i$ are the classical ramification subgroups. In the general case take an unramified extension K'/K such that K'L/K' is constant and contains no unramified subextensions, and put $G_{\mathfrak{c},i} = \operatorname{Gal}(K'L/K')_{\mathfrak{c},i}$.

Finally, define $G_{i,i}$, i>0. Assume that L_c is standard and L/L_c is ferociously ramified. Let $t\in \mathcal{O}_L$, $\overline{t}\notin k_L^p$. Define

$$G_{i,i} = \{g \in G : v(g(t) - t) \geqslant i\}$$

for all i > 0.

In the general case choose a finite extension l'/l such that $l'L_c$ is standard and $e(l'L|l'L_c)=1$. Then it is clear that $\mathrm{Gal}(l'L/l'L_c)=\mathrm{Gal}(L/L_c)$, and $l'L/l'L_c$ is ferociously ramified. Define

$$G_{i,i} = \text{Gal}(l'L/l'L_c)_{i,i}$$

for all i > 0.

Proposition. For a finite Galois extension L/K the lower filtration $\{Gal(L/K)_{\alpha}\}_{{\alpha}\in\mathcal{A}}$ is well defined.

Definition. Define a generalization $h_{L/K}: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ of the Hasse–Herbrand function. First, we define

$$\Phi_{L/K} \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$$

as follows:

$$\begin{split} &\Phi_{L/K}(\alpha) = \alpha \quad \text{ for } \alpha = -1,0; \\ &\Phi_{L/K}((\mathfrak{c},i)) = \left(\mathfrak{c}, \frac{1}{e(L|K)} \int_0^i |\operatorname{Gal}(L_c/K)_{\mathfrak{c},t}| dt\right) \quad \text{ for all } i > 0; \\ &\Phi_{L/K}((\mathfrak{i},i)) = \left(\mathfrak{i}, \int_0^i |\operatorname{Gal}(L/K)_{\mathfrak{i},t}| dt\right) \quad \text{ for all } i > 0. \end{split}$$

It is easy to see that $\Phi_{L/K}$ is bijective and increasing, and we introduce

$$h_{L/K} = \Psi_{L/K} = \Phi_{L/K}^{-1}$$
.

Define the upper filtration $Gal(L/K)^{\alpha} = Gal(L/K)_{h_{L/K}(\alpha)}$.

All standard formulas for intermediate extensions take place; in particular, for a normal subgroup H in G we have $H_{\alpha} = H \cap G_{\alpha}$ and $(G/H)^{\alpha} = G^{\alpha}H/H$. The latter relation enables one to introduce the upper filtration for an infinite Galois extension as well.

Remark. The filtrations do depend on the choice of a constant subfield (in characteristic p).

Example. Let $K = \mathbb{F}_p((t))((\pi))$. Choose $k = B = \mathbb{F}_p((\pi))$ as a constant subfield. Let $L = K(b), \ b^p - b = a \in K$. Then

if $a = \pi^{-i}$, i prime to p, then the ramification break of Gal(L/K) is (\mathfrak{c}, i) ;

if $a = \pi^{-pi}t$, i prime to p, then the ramification break of Gal(L/K) is (i, i);

if $a = \pi^{-i}t$, i prime to p, then the ramification break of Gal(L/K) is (i, i/p);

if $a = \pi^{-i}t^p$, i prime to p, then the ramification break of Gal(L/K) is $(i, i/p^2)$.

Remark. A dual filtration on $K/\wp(K)$ is computed in the final version of [Z], see also [KZ].

17.3. Refinement for a two-dimensional local field

Let K be a two-dimensional local field with $\operatorname{char}(k_K) = p$, and let k be the constant subfield of K. Denote by

$$\mathbf{v} = (v_1, v_2) : (K^{\mathrm{alg}})^* \to \mathbb{Q} \times \mathbb{Q}$$

the extension of the rank 2 valuation of K, which is normalized so that:

- $v_2(a) = v(a)$ for all $a \in K^*$,
- $v_1(u)=w(\overline{u})$ for all $u\in U_{K^{\mathrm{alg}}}$, where w is a non-normalized extension of v_{k_K} on k_K^{alg} , and \overline{u} is the residue of u,
 - $\mathbf{v}(c) = (0, e(k|B)^{-1}v_k(c))$ for all $c \in k$.

It can be easily shown that \mathbf{v} is uniquely determined by these conditions, and the value group of $\mathbf{v}|_{K^*}$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}$.

Next, we introduce the index set

$$A_2 = A \cup \mathbb{Q}^2_+ = A \cup \{(i_1, i_2) : i_1, i_2 \in \mathbb{Q}, i_2 > 0\}$$

and extend the ordering of A onto A_2 assuming

$$(i, i_2) < (i_1, i_2) < (i'_1, i_2) < (i, i'_2)$$

for all $i_2 < i'_2$, $i_1 < i'_1$.

Now we can define G_{i_1,i_2} , where G is the Galois group of a given finite Galois extension L/K. Assume first that L_c is standard and L/L_c is ferociously ramified. Let $t \in \mathcal{O}_L$, $\bar{t} \notin k_L^p$ (e.g., a first local parameter of L). We define

$$G_{i_1,i_2} = \left\{ g \in G : \mathbf{v} \left(t^{-1} g(t) - 1 \right) \geqslant (i_1,i_2) \right\}$$

for $i_1, i_2 \in \mathbb{Q}$, $i_2 > 0$. In the general case we choose l'/l (l is the constant subfield of both L and L_c) such that $l'L_c$ is standard and $l'L/l'L_c$ is ferociously ramified and put

$$G_{i_1,i_2} = \text{Gal}(l'L/l'L_c)_{i_1,i_2}.$$

We obtain a well defined lower filtration $(G_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in A_{\gamma}}$ on G = Gal(L/K).

148 I. Zhukov

In a similar way to 17.2, one constructs the Hasse–Herbrand functions $\Phi_{2,L/K}\colon \mathcal{A}_2\to \mathcal{A}_2$ and $\Psi_{2,L/K}=\Phi_{2,L/K}^{-1}$ which extend Φ and Ψ respectively. Namely,

$$\Phi_{2,L/K}((i_1,i_2)) = \int_{(0,0)}^{(i_1,i_2)} |\operatorname{Gal}(L/K)_t| dt.$$

These functions have usual properties of the Hasse–Herbrand functions φ and $h=\psi$, and one can introduce an \mathcal{A}_2 -indexed upper filtration on any finite or infinite Galois group G.

17.4. Filtration on $K^{top}(K)$

In the case of a two-dimensional local field K the upper ramification filtration for $K^{\rm ab}/K$ determines a compatible filtration on $K_2^{\rm top}(K)$. In the case where ${\rm char}(K)=p$ this filtration has an explicit description given below.

From now on, let K be a two-dimensional local field of prime characteristic p over a quasi-finite field, and k the constant subfield of K. Introduce \mathbf{v} as in 17.3. Let π_k be a prime of k.

For all $\alpha \in \mathbb{Q}^2_+$ introduce subgroups

$$Q_{\alpha} = \{ \{ \pi_k, u \} : u \in K, \mathbf{v}(u-1) \geqslant \alpha \} \subset VK_2^{\text{top}}(K);$$

$$Q_{\alpha}^{(n)} = \{ a \in K_2^{\text{top}}(K) : p^n a \in Q_{\alpha} \};$$

$$S_{\alpha} = \text{Cl} \bigcup_{n \geq 0} Q_{p^n \alpha}^{(n)}.$$

For a subgroup A, Cl A denotes the intersection of all open subgroups containing A.

The subgroups S_{α} constitute the heart of the ramification filtration on $K_2^{\text{top}}(K)$. Their most important property is that they have nice behaviour in unramified, constant and ferociously ramified extensions.

Proposition 1. Suppose that K satisfies the following property.

(*) The extension of constant subfields in any finite unramified extension of K is also unramified.

Let L/K be either an unramified or a constant totally ramified extension, $\alpha \in \mathbb{Q}^2_+$. Then we have $N_{L/K}S_{\alpha,L} = S_{\alpha,K}$.

Proposition 2. Let K be standard, L/K a cyclic ferociously ramified extension of degree p with the ramification jump h in lower numbering, $\alpha \in \mathbb{Q}^2_+$. Then:

- (1) $N_{L/K}S_{\alpha,L} = S_{\alpha+(p-1)h,K}$, if $\alpha > h$;
- (2) $N_{L/K}S_{\alpha,L}$ is a subgroup in $S_{p\alpha,K}$ of index p, if $\alpha \leq h$.

Now we have ingredients to define a decreasing filtration $\{\mathrm{fil}_{\alpha}\,K_2^{\mathrm{top}}(K)\}_{\alpha\in\mathcal{A}_2}$ on $K_2^{\mathrm{top}}(K)$. Assume first that \widetilde{K} satisfies the condition (*). It follows from [KZ, Th. 3.4.3] that for some purely inseparable constant extension K'/K the field K' is almost standard. Since K' satisfies (*) and is almost standard, it is in fact standard.

Denote

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{fil}_{\alpha_1,\alpha_2} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K) = S_{\alpha_1,\alpha_2}; \\ & \operatorname{fil}_{\mathfrak{i},\alpha_2} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K) = \operatorname{Cl} \bigcup_{\alpha_1 \in \mathbb{Q}} \operatorname{fil}_{\alpha_1,\alpha_2} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K) \text{ for } \alpha_2 \in \mathbb{Q}_+; \\ & T_K = \operatorname{Cl} \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Q}_+^2} \operatorname{fil}_{\alpha} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K); \\ & \operatorname{fil}_{\mathfrak{c},i} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K) = T_K + \{\,\{t,u\}\,:\, u \in k,\, v_k(u-1) \geqslant i\} \text{ for all } i \in \mathbb{Q}_+, \\ & \quad \text{if } K = k\{\!\{t\}\!\} \text{ is standard}; \\ & \operatorname{fil}_{\mathfrak{c},i} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K) = N_{K'/K} \operatorname{fil}_{\mathfrak{c},i} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K'), \text{ where } K'/K \text{ is as above}; \\ & \operatorname{fil}_0 K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K) = U(1) K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K) + \{t, \mathcal{R}_K\}, \text{ where } U(1) K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K) = \{1 + P_K(1), K^*\}, \\ & \quad t \text{ is the first local parameter}; \\ & \operatorname{fil}_{-1} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K) = K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K). \end{split}$$

It is easy to see that for some unramified extension \widetilde{K}/K the field \widetilde{K} satisfies the condition (*), and we define $\operatorname{fil}_{\alpha} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K)$ as $N_{\widetilde{K}/K} \operatorname{fil}_{\alpha} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(\widetilde{K})$ for all $\alpha \geqslant 0$, and $\operatorname{fil}_{-1} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K)$ as $K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K)$. It can be shown that the filtration $\{\operatorname{fil}_{\alpha} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K)\}_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}_2}$ is well defined

Theorem 1. Let L/K be a finite abelian extension, $\alpha \in A_2$. Then $N_{L/K}$ fil $_{\alpha} K_2^{\text{top}}(L)$ is a subgroup in $\text{fil}_{\Phi_{2,L/K}(\alpha)} K_2^{\text{top}}(K)$ of index $|\operatorname{Gal}(L/K)_{\alpha}|$. Furthermore,

$$\operatorname{fil}_{\Phi_{L/K}(\alpha)} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(K) \cap N_{L/K} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(L) = N_{L/K} \operatorname{fil}_{\alpha} K_2^{\operatorname{top}}(L).$$

Theorem 2. Let L/K be a finite abelian extension, and let

$$\Upsilon_{L/K}^{-1} \colon K_2^{\text{top}}(K)/N_{L/K}K_2^{\text{top}}(L) \to \text{Gal}(L/K)$$

be the reciprocity map. Then

$$\Upsilon_{L/K}^{-1}(\mathrm{fil}_\alpha\,K_2^{\mathrm{top}}(K)\mod N_{L/K}K_2^{\mathrm{top}}(L))=\mathrm{Gal}(L/K)^\alpha$$

for any $\alpha \in A_2$.

Remarks. 1. The ramification filtration, constructed in 17.2, does not give information about the classical ramification invariants in general. Therefore, this construction can be considered only as a provisional one.

150 I. Zhukov

2. The filtration on $K_2^{\text{top}}(K)$ constructed in 17.4 behaves with respect to the norm map much better than the usual filtration $\{U_{\mathbf{i}}K_2^{\text{top}}(K)\}_{\mathbf{i}\in\mathbb{Z}_+^n}$. We hope that this filtration can be useful in the study of the structure of K^{top} -groups.

- 3. In the mixed characteristic case the description of "ramification" filtration on $K_2^{\text{top}}(K)$ is not very nice. However, it would be interesting to try to modify the ramification filtration on Gal(L/K) in order to get the filtration on $K_2^{\text{top}}(K)$ similar to that described in 17.4.
- 4. It would be interesting to compute ramification of the extensions constructed in sections 13 and 14.

References

- [E] H. Epp, Eliminating wild ramification, Invent. Math. 19 (1973), pp. 235–249
- [F] I. Fesenko, Abelian local p-class field theory, Math. Ann. 301 (1995), 561–586.
- [H] O. Hyodo, Wild ramification in the imperfect residue field case, Advanced Stud. in Pure Math. 12 (1987) Galois Representation and Arithmetic Algebraic Geometry, 287–314.
- [KS] K. Kato and T. Saito, Vanishing cycles, ramification of valuations and class field theory, Duke Math. J., 55 (1997), 629–659
- [KZ] M. V. Koroteev and I. B. Zhukov, Elimination of wild ramification, Algebra i Analiz 11 (1999), no. 6.
- [Z] I. B. Zhukov, On ramification theory in the imperfect residue field case, preprint of Nottingham University 98-02, Nottingham, 1998, www.dpmms.cam.ac.uk/Algebraic-Number-Theory/0113, to appear in Proceedings of the Luminy conference on Ramification theory for arithmetic schemes.

Department of Mathematics and Mechanics St. Petersburg University Bibliotechnaya pl. 2, Staryj Petergof 198904 St. Petersburg Russia E-mail: igor@zhukov.pdmi.ras.ru Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Part I, section 18, pages 151–164

18. On ramification theory of monogenic extensions

Luca Spriano

We discuss ramification theory for finite extensions L/K of a complete discrete valuation field K. This theory deals with quantities which measure wildness of ramification, such as different, the Artin (resp. Swan) characters and the Artin (resp. Swan) conductors. When the residue field extension k_L/k_K is separable there is a complete theory, e.g. [S], but in general it is not so. In the classical case (i.e. k_L/k_K separable) proofs of many results in ramification theory use the property that all finite extensions of valuation rings $\mathcal{O}_L/\mathcal{O}_K$ are monogenic which is not the case in general. Examples (e.g. [Sp]) show that the classical theorems do not hold in general. Waiting for a beautiful and general ramification theory, we consider a class of extensions L/K which has a good ramification theory. We describe this class and we will call its elements well ramified extensions. All classical results are generalizable for well ramified extensions, for example a generalization of the Hasse–Arf theorem proved by J. Borger. We also concentrate our attention on other ramification invariants, more appropriate and general; in particular, we consider two ramification invariants: the Kato conductor and Hyodo depth of ramification.

Here we comment on some works on general ramification theory.

The first direction aims to generalize classical ramification invariants to the general case working with (one dimensional) rational valued invariants. In his papers de Smit gives some properties about ramification jumps and considers the different and differential [Sm2]; he generalizes the Hilbert formula by using the monogenic conductor [Sm1]. We discuss works of Kato [K3-4] in subsection 18.2. In [K2] Kato describes ramification theory for two-dimensional local fields and he proves an analogue of the Hasse–Arf theorem for those Galois extensions in which the extension of the valuation rings (with respect to the discrete valuation of rank 2) is monogenic.

The second direction aims to extend ramification invariants from one dimensional to either higher dimensional or to more complicated objects which involve differential forms (as in Kato's works [K4], [K5]). By using higher local class field theory, Hyodo [H] defines generalized ramification invariants, like depth of ramification (see Theorem

5 below). We discuss relations of his invariants with the (one dimensional) Kato conductor in subsection 18.3 below. Zhukov [Z] generalizes the classical ramification theory to the case where $|k_K:k_K^p|=p$ (see section 17 of this volume). From the viewpoint of this section the existence of Zhukov's theory is in particular due to the fact that in the case where $|k_K:k_K^p|=p$ one can reduce various assertions to the well ramified case.

18.0. Notations and definitions

In this section we recall some general definitions. We only consider complete discrete valuation fields K with residue fields k_K of characteristic p > 0. We also assume that $|k_K : k_K^p|$ is finite.

Definition. Let L/K be a finite Galois extension, G = Gal(L/K). Let $G_0 = \text{Gal}(L/L \cap K_{\text{ur}})$ be the inertia subgroup of G. Define functions

$$i_G, s_G: G \to \mathbb{Z}$$

by

$$i_G(\sigma) = \begin{cases} \inf_{x \in \mathcal{O}_L \setminus \{0\}} v_L(\sigma(x) - x) & \text{if } \sigma \neq 1 \\ +\infty & \text{if } \sigma = 1 \end{cases}$$

and

$$s_G(\sigma) = \begin{cases} \inf_{x \in \mathcal{O}_L \setminus \{0\}} v_L(\sigma(x)/x - 1) & \text{if } \sigma \neq 1, \sigma \in G_0 \\ +\infty & \text{if } \sigma = 1 \\ 0 & \text{if } \sigma \notin G_0. \end{cases}$$

Then $s_G(\sigma) \leqslant i_G(\sigma) \leqslant s_G(\sigma) + 1$ and if k_L/k_K is separable, then $i_G(\sigma) = s_G(\sigma) + 1$ for $\sigma \in G_0$. Note that the functions i_G, s_G depend not only on the group G, but on the extension L/K; we will denote i_G also by $i_{L/K}$.

Definition. The Swan function is defined as

$$\operatorname{Sw}_G(\sigma) = \begin{cases} -|k_L:k_K|s_G(\sigma), & \text{if } \sigma \in G_0 \setminus \{1\} \\ -\sum_{\tau \in G_0 \setminus \{1\}} \operatorname{Sw}_G(\tau), & \text{if } \sigma = 1 \\ 0 & \text{if } \sigma \notin G_0. \end{cases}$$

For a character χ of G its Swan conductor

(1)
$$\operatorname{sw}(\chi) = \operatorname{sw}_G(\chi) = (\operatorname{Sw}_G, \chi) = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma \in G} \operatorname{Sw}_G(\sigma) \chi(\sigma)$$

is an integer if k_L/k_K is separable (Artin's Theorem) and is not an integer in general (e.g. [Sp, Ch. I]).

18.1. Well ramified extensions

Definition. Let L/K be a finite Galois p-extension. The extension L/K is called well ramified if $\mathcal{O}_L = \mathcal{O}_K[\alpha]$ for some $\alpha \in L$.

18.1.1. Structure theorem for well ramified extensions.

Definition. We say that an extension L/K is in case I if k_L/k_K is separable; an extension L/K is in case II if $|L:K| = |k_L:k_K|$ (i.e. L/K is ferociously ramified in the terminology of 17.0) and $k_L = k_K(a)$ is purely inseparable over k_K .

Extensions in case I and case II are well ramified. An extension which is simultaneously in case I and case II is the trivial extension.

We characterize well ramified extensions by means of the function i_G in the following theorem.

Theorem 1 ([Sp, Prop. 1.5.2]). Let L/K be a finite Galois p-extension. Then the following properties are equivalent:

- (i) L/K is well ramified;
- (ii) for every normal subgroup H of G the Herbrand property holds: for every $1 \neq \tau \in G/H$

$$i_{G/H}(\tau) = \frac{1}{e(L|L^H)} \sum_{\sigma \in \tau H} i_G(\sigma);$$

(iii) the Hilbert formula holds:

$$v_L(\mathcal{D}_{L/K}) = \sum_{\sigma \neq 1} i_G(\sigma) = \sum_{i \geqslant 0} (|G_i| - 1),$$

for the definition of G_i see subsection 18.2.

From the definition we immediately deduce that if M/K is a Galois subextension of a well ramified L/K then L/M is well ramified; from (ii) we conclude that M/K is well ramified.

Now we consider well ramified extensions L/K which are not in case I nor in case II.

Example. (Well ramified extension not in case I and not in case II). Let K be a complete discrete valuation field of characteristic zero. Let $\zeta_{p^2} \in K$. Consider a cyclic extension of degree p^2 defined by L = K(x) where x a root of the polynomial $f(X) = X^{p^2} - (1 + u\pi)\alpha^p, \ \alpha \in U_K, \ \overline{\alpha} \not\in k_K^p, \ u \in U_K, \ \pi$ is a prime of K. Then $e(L|K) = p = f(L|K)^{\text{ins}}$, so L/K is not in case I nor in case II. Using Theorem 1, one can show that $\mathcal{O}_L = \mathcal{O}_K[x]$ by checking the Herbrand property.

Definition. A well ramified extension which is not in case I and is not in case II is said to be in *case III*.

Note that in case III we have $e(L|K) \ge p$, $f(L|K)^{ins} \ge p$.

Lemma 1. If L/K is a well ramified Galois extension, then for every ferociously ramified Galois subextension E/K such that L/E is totally ramified either E=K or E=L.

Proof. Suppose that there exists $K \neq E \neq L$, such that E/K is ferociously ramified and L/E is totally ramified. Let π_1 be a prime of L such that $\mathcal{O}_L = \mathcal{O}_E[\pi_1]$. Let $\alpha \in E$ be such that $\mathcal{O}_E = \mathcal{O}_K[\alpha]$. Then we have $\mathcal{O}_L = \mathcal{O}_K[\alpha, \pi_1]$. Let σ be a K-automorphism of E and denote $\widetilde{\sigma}$ a lifting of σ to $G = \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$. It is not difficult to show that $i_G(\widetilde{\sigma}) = \min\{v_L(\widetilde{\sigma}\pi_1 - \pi_1), v_L(\sigma\alpha - \alpha)\}$. We show that $i_G(\widetilde{\sigma}) = v_L(\widetilde{\sigma}\pi_1 - \pi_1)$. Suppose we had $i_G(\widetilde{\sigma}) = v_L(\sigma\alpha - \alpha)$, then

(*)
$$\frac{i_G(\widetilde{\sigma})}{e(L|E)} = v_E(\sigma\alpha - \alpha) = i_{E/K}(\sigma).$$

Furthermore, by Herbrand property we have

$$i_{E/K}(\sigma) = \frac{1}{e(L|E)} \sum_{s \in \sigma \text{ Gal}(L/E)} i_G(s) = \frac{i_G(\widetilde{\sigma})}{e(L|E)} + \frac{1}{e(L|E)} \sum_{s \neq \widetilde{\sigma}} i_G(s).$$

So from (*) we deduce that

$$\frac{1}{e(L|E)} \sum_{s \neq \tilde{\sigma}} i_G(s) = 0,$$

but this is not possible because $i_G(s) \ge 1$ for all $s \in G$. We have shown that

(**)
$$i_G(s) = v_L(s\pi_1 - \pi_1)$$
 for all $s \in G$.

Now note that $\alpha \notin \mathcal{O}_K[\pi_1]$. Indeed, from $\alpha = \sum a_i \pi_1^i$, $a_i \in \mathcal{O}_K$, we deduce $\alpha \equiv a_0 \pmod{\pi_1}$ which is impossible. By (**) and the Hilbert formula (cf. Theorem 1) we have

$$(***) v_L(\mathcal{D}_{L/K}) = \sum_{s \neq 1} i_G(s) = \sum_{s \neq 1} v_L(s\pi_1 - \pi_1) = v_L(f'(\pi_1)),$$

where f(X) denotes the minimal polynomial of π_1 over K.

Now let the ideal $\mathfrak{T}_{\pi_1} = \{x \in \mathfrak{O}_L : x\mathfrak{O}_K[\pi_1] \subset \mathfrak{O}_L\}$ be the conductor of $\mathfrak{O}_K[\pi_1]$ in \mathfrak{O}_L (cf. [S, Ch. III, §6]). We have (cf. loc.cit.)

$$\mathfrak{I}_{\pi_1}\mathfrak{D}_{L/K}=f'(\pi_1)\mathfrak{O}_L$$

and then (***) implies $\mathfrak{T}_{\pi_1} = \mathfrak{O}_L$, $\mathfrak{O}_L = \mathfrak{O}_K[\pi_1]$, which contradicts $\alpha \notin \mathfrak{O}_K[\pi_1]$. \square

Theorem 2 (Spriano). Let L/K be a Galois well ramified p-extension. Put $K_0 = L \cap K_{ur}$. Then there is a Galois subextension T/K_0 of L/K_0 such that T/K_0 is in case I and L/T in case II.

Proof. Induction on $|L:K_0|$.

Let M/K_0 be a Galois subextension of L/K_0 such that |L:M|=p. Let T/K_0 be a Galois subextension of M/K_0 such that T/K_0 is totally ramified and M/T is in case II. Applying Lemma 1 to L/T we deduce that L/M is ferociously ramified, hence in case II.

In particular, if L/K is a Galois p-extension in case III such that $L \cap K_{\text{ur}} = K$, then there is a Galois subextension T/K of L/K such that T/K is in case I, L/T in case I and $K \neq T \neq L$.

18.1.2. Modified ramification function for well ramified extensions.

In the general case one can define a filtration of ramification groups as follows. Given two integers $n, m \ge 0$ the (n, m)-ramification group $G_{n,m}$ of L/K is

$$G_{n,m} = \{ \sigma \in G : v_L(\sigma(x) - x) \geqslant n + m, \text{ for all } x \in \mathcal{M}_L^m \}.$$

Put $G_n = G_{n+1,0}$ and $H_n = G_{n,1}$, so that the classical ramification groups are the G_n . It is easy to show that $H_i \geqslant G_i \geqslant H_{i+1}$ for $i \geqslant 0$.

In case I we have $G_i = H_i$ for all $i \ge 0$; in case II we have $G_i = H_{i+1}$ for all $i \ge 0$, see [Sm1]. If L/K is in case III, we leave to the reader the proof of the following equality

$$\begin{split} G_i &= \left\{ \sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/K) : v_L(\sigma(x) - x) \geqslant i + 1 \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathcal{O}_L \right\} \\ &= \left\{ \sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/K) : v_L(\sigma(x) - x) \geqslant i + 2 \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathcal{M}_L \right\} = H_{i+1}. \end{split}$$

We introduce another filtration which allows us to simultaneously deal with case I, II and III.

Definition. Let L/K be a finite Galois well ramified extension. The modified t-th ramification group G[t] for $t \ge 0$ is defined by

$$G[t] = \{ \sigma \in Gal(L/K) : i_G(\sigma) \geqslant t \}.$$

We call an integer number m a modified ramification jump of L/K if $G[m] \neq G[m+1]$.

From now on we will consider only p-extensions.

Definition. For a well ramified extension L/K define the modified Hasse–Herbrand function $\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(u)$, $u \in \mathbb{R}_{\geqslant 0}$ as

$$\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(u) = \int_0^u \frac{|G[t]|}{e(L|K)} dt.$$

Put $g_i = |\mathcal{G}_i|$. If $m \le u \le m+1$ where m is a non-negative integer, then

$$\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(u) = \frac{1}{e(L|K)}(g_1 + \dots + g_m + g_{m+1}(u-m)).$$

We drop the index L/K in $\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}$ if there is no risk of confusion. One can show that the function \mathfrak{s} is continuous, piecewise linear, increasing and convex. In case I, if $\varphi_{L/K}$ denotes the classical Hasse–Herbrand function as in [S, Ch. IV], then $\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(u) = 1 + \varphi_{L/K}(u-1)$. We define a modified upper numbering for ramification groups by $G(\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(u)) = G[u]$.

If m is a modified ramification jumps, then the number $\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(m)$ is called a modified upper ramification jump of L/K.

For well ramified extensions we can show the Herbrand theorem as follows.

Lemma 2. For
$$u \ge 0$$
 we have $\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(u) = \frac{1}{e(L|K)} \sum_{\sigma \in G} \inf(i_G(\sigma), u)$.

The proof goes exactly as in [S, Lemme 3, Ch.IV, §3].

Lemma 3. Let H be a normal subgroup of G and $\tau \in G/H$ and let $j(\tau)$ be the upper bound of the integers $i_G(\sigma)$ where σ runs over all automorphisms of G which are congruent to τ modulo H. Then we have

$$i_{L^H/K}(\tau) = \mathfrak{s}_{L/L^H}(j(\tau)).$$

For the proof see Lemme 4 loc.cit. (note that Theorem 1 is fundamental in the proof). In order to show Herbrand theorem, we have to show the multiplicativity in the tower of extensions of the function $\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}$.

Lemma 4. With the above notation, we have $\mathfrak{s}_{L/K} = \mathfrak{s}_{L^H/K} \circ \mathfrak{s}_{L/L^H}$.

For the proof see Prop. 15 loc.cit.

Corollary. If L/K is well ramified and H is a normal subgroup of G = Gal(L/K), then the Herbrand theorem holds:

$$(G/H)(u) = G(u)H/H$$
 for all $u \ge 0$.

It is known that the upper ramification jumps (with respect the classical function φ) of an abelian extension in case I are integers. This is the Hasse–Arf theorem. Clearly the same result holds with respect the function $\mathfrak s$. In fact, if m is a classical ramification jump and $\varphi_{L/K}(m)$ is the upper ramification jump, then the modified ramification jump is m+1 and the modified upper ramification jumps is $\mathfrak s_{L/K}(m+1)=1+\varphi_{L/K}(m)$ which is an integer. In case II it is obvious that the modified upper ramification jumps are integers. For well ramified extensions we have the following theorem, for the proof see the end of 18.2.

Theorem 3 (Borger). The modified upper ramification jumps of abelian well ramified extensions are integers.

18.2. The Kato conductor

We have already remarked that the Swan conductor $sw(\chi)$ for a character χ of the Galois group G_K is not an integer in general. In [K3] Kato defined a modified Swan conductor in case I, II for any character χ of G_K ; and [K4] contains a definition of an integer valued conductor (which we will call the Kato conductor) for characters of degree 1 in the general case i.e. not only in cases I and II.

We recall its definition. The map $K^* \to H^1(K, \mathbb{Z}/n(1))$ (cf. the definition of $H^q(K)$ in subsection 5.1) induces a pairing

$$\{ , \}: H^q(K) \times K_r(K) \to H^{q+r}(K),$$

which we briefly explain only for K of characteristic zero, in characteristic p > 0 see [K4, (1.3)]. For $a \in K^*$ and a fixed $n \ge 0$, let $\{a\} \in H^1(K, \mathbb{Z}/n(1))$ be the image under the connecting homomorphism $K^* \to H^1(K, \mathbb{Z}/n(1))$ induced by the exact sequence of G_K -modules

$$1 \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}/n(1) \longrightarrow K_s^* \stackrel{n}{\longrightarrow} K_s^* \longrightarrow 1.$$

For $a_1,...,a_r \in K^*$ the symbol $\{a_1,...,a_r\} \in H^r(K,\mathbb{Z}/n(r))$ is the cup product $\{a_1\} \cup \{a_2\} \cup \cdots \cup \{a_r\}$. For $\chi \in H^q(K)$ and $a_1,\ldots,a_r \in K^*$ $\{\chi,a_1,...,a_r\} \in H^{q+r}_n(K)$ is the cup product $\{\chi\} \cup \{a_1\} \cup \cdots \cup \{a_r\}$. Passing to the limit we have the element $\{\chi,a_1,...,a_r\} \in H^{q+r}(K)$.

Definition. Following Kato, we define an increasing filtration $\{\text{fil}_m H^q(K)\}_{m \ge 0}$ of $H^q(K)$ by

$$\operatorname{fil}_m H^q(K) = \{ \chi \in H^q(K) : \{ \chi |_M, U_{m+1,M} \} = 0 \text{ for every } M \}$$

where M runs through all complete discrete valuation fields satisfying $\mathcal{O}_K \subset \mathcal{O}_M$, $\mathcal{M}_M = \mathcal{M}_K \mathcal{O}_M$; here $\chi|_M$ denotes the image of $\chi \in H^q(K)$ in $H^q(M)$.

Then one can show $H^q(K) = \bigcup_{m \geqslant 0} \operatorname{fil}_m H^q(K)$ [K4, Lemma (2.2)] which allows us to give the following definition.

Definition. For $\chi \in H^q(K)$ the *Kato conductor* of χ is the integer $ksw(\chi)$ defined by

$$ksw(\chi) = \min\{m \ge 0 : \chi \in fil_m H^q(K)\}.$$

This integer $ksw(\chi)$ is a generalization of the classical Swan conductor as stated in the following proposition.

Proposition 1. Let $\chi \in H^1(K)$ and let L/K be the corresponding finite cyclic extension and suppose that L/K is in case I or II. Then

- (a) $ksw(\chi) = sw(\chi)$ (see formula (1)).
- (b) Let t be the maximal modified ramification jump. Then

$$\operatorname{ksw}(\chi) = \begin{cases} \mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(t) - 1 & \operatorname{case} I \\ \mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(t) & \operatorname{case} II. \end{cases}$$

Proof. (a) See [K4, Prop. (6.8)]. (b) This is a computation left to the reader.

We compute the Kato conductor in case III.

Theorem 4 (Spriano). If L/K is a cyclic extension in case III and if χ is the corresponding element of $H^1(K)$, then $ksw(\chi) = sw(\chi) - 1$. If t is the maximal modified ramification jump of L/K, then $ksw(\chi) = \mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(t) - 1$.

Before the proof we explain how to compute the Kato conductor $\mathrm{ksw}(\chi)$ where $\chi \in H^1(K)$. Consider the pairing $H^1(K) \times K^* \to H^2(K)$, (q=1=r). It coincides with the symbol (\cdot,\cdot) defined in [S, Ch. XIV]. In particular, if $\chi \in H^1(K)$ and $a \in K^*$, then $\{\chi,a\}=0$ if and only if the element a is a norm of the extension L/K corresponding to χ . So we have to compute the minimal integer m such that $U_{m+1,M}$ is in the norm of the cyclic extension corresponding to $\chi|_M$ when M runs through all complete discrete valuation fields satisfying $\mathfrak{M}_M=\mathfrak{M}_K\mathfrak{O}_M$. The minimal integer n such that $U_{n+1,K}$ is contained in the norm of L/K is not, in general, the Kato conductor (for instance if the residue field of K is algebraically closed)

Here is a characterization of the Kato conductor which helps to compute it and does not involve extensions M/K, cf. [K4, Prop. (6.5)].

Proposition 2. Let K be a complete discrete valuation field. Suppose that $|k_K:k_K^p|=p^c<\infty$, and $H_p^{c+1}(k_K)\neq 0$. Then for $\chi\in H^q(K)$ and $n\geqslant 0$

$$\chi \in \operatorname{fil}_n H^q(K) \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \{\chi, U_{n+1} K^M_{c+2-q}(K)\} = 0 \quad \text{in } H^{c+2}(K),$$

for the definition of $U_{n+1}K_{c+2-q}^M(K)$ see subsection 4.2.

In the following we will only consider characters χ such that the corresponding cyclic extensions L/K are p-extension, because $ksw(\chi)=0$ for tame characters χ , cf. [K4, Prop. (6.1)]. We can compute the Kato conductor in the following manner.

Corollary. Let K be as in Proposition 2. Let $\chi \in H^1(K)$ and assume that the corresponding cyclic extension L/K is a p-extension. Then the minimal integer n such that

$$U_{n+1,K} \subset N_{L/K}L^*$$

is the Kato conductor of χ .

Proof. By the hypothesis (i.e. $U_{n+1,K} \subset N_{L/K}L^*$) we have $\operatorname{ksw}(\chi) \geqslant n$. Now $U_{n+1,K} \subset N_{L/K}L^*$, implies that $U_{n+1}K_{c+1}(K)$ is contained in the norm group $N_{L/K}K_{c+1}(L)$. By [K1, II, Cor. at p. 659] we have that $\{\chi, U_{n+1}K_{c+1}(K)\} = 0$ in $H^{c+2}(K)$ and so by Proposition 2 $\operatorname{ksw}(\chi) \leqslant n$.

Beginning of the proof of Theorem 4. Let L/K be an extension in case III and let $\chi \in H^1(K)$ be the corresponding character. We can assume that $H^{c+1}_p(k_K) \neq 0$, otherwise we consider the extension $k = \bigcup_{i \geqslant 0} k_K(T^{p^{-i}})$ of the residue field k_K , preserving a p-base, for which $H^{c+1}_p(k) \neq 0$ (see [K3, Lemma (3-9)]).

So by the above Corollary we have to compute the minimal integer n such that $U_{n+1,K} \subset N_{L/K}L^*$.

Let T/K be the totally ramified extension defined by Lemma 1 (here T/K is uniquely determined because the extension L/K is cyclic). Denote by $U_{v,L}$ for $v \in \mathbb{R}, v \geqslant 0$ the group $U_{n,L}$ where n is the smallest integer $\geqslant v$.

If t is the maximal modified ramification jump of L/K, then

$$(1) U_{\mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(t)+1,T} \subset N_{L/T}L^*$$

because L/T is in case II and its Kato conductor is $\mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(t)$ by Proposition 1 (b). Now consider the totally ramified extension T/K. By [S, Ch. V, Cor. 3 §6] we have

(2)
$$N_{T/K}(U_{s,T}) = U_{\mathfrak{s}_{T/K}(s+1)-1,K}$$
 if $Gal(T/K)_s = \{1\}.$

Let $t'=i_{T/K}(\tau)$ be the maximal modified ramification jump of T/K. Let r be the maximum of $i_{L/K}(\sigma)$ where σ runs over all representatives of the coset τ Gal(L/T). By Lemma 3 $t'=\mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(r)$. Note that r< t (we explain it in the next paragraph), so

(3)
$$t' = \mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(r) < \mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(t).$$

To show that r < t it suffices to show that for a generator ρ of Gal(L/K)

$$i_{L/K}(\rho^{p^m}) > i_{L/K}(\rho^{p^{m-1}})$$

for $|T:K| \leq p^m \leq |L:K|$. Write $\mathcal{O}_L = \mathcal{O}_K(a)$ then

$$\rho^{p^m}(a) - a = \rho^{p^{m-1}}(b) - b, \quad b = \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \rho^{p^{m-1}}(a).$$

Then $b=pa+\pi^i f(a)$ where π is a prime element of L, $f(X)\in \mathcal{O}_K[X]$ and $i=i_{L/K}(\rho^{p^{m-1}})$. Hence $i_{L/K}(\rho^{p^m})=v_L(\rho^{p^m}(a)-a)\geqslant \min{(i+v_L(p),2i)}$, so $i_{L/K}(\rho^{p^m})>i_{L/K}(\rho^{p^{m-1}})$, as required.

Now we use the fact that the number $\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(t)$ is an integer (by Borger's Theorem). We shall show that $U_{\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(t),K} \subset N_{L/K}L^*$.

By (3) we have $\operatorname{Gal}(T/K)_{\mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(t)} = \{1\}$ and so we can apply (2). By (1) we have $U_{\mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(t)+1,T} \subset N_{L/T}L^*$, and by applying the norm map $N_{T/K}$ we have (by (2))

$$N_{T/K}(U_{\mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(t)+1,T}) = U_{\mathfrak{s}_{T/K}(\mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(t)+2)-1,K} \subset N_{L/K}L^*.$$

Thus it suffices to show that the smallest integer $\geqslant \mathfrak{s}_{T/K}(\mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(t)+2)-1$ is $\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(t)$. Indeed we have

$$\mathfrak{s}_{T/K}(\mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(t)+2)-1=\mathfrak{s}_{T/K}(\mathfrak{s}_{L/T}(t))+\frac{2}{|T:K|}-1=\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(t)-1+\frac{2}{p^e}$$

where we have used Lemma 4. By Borger's theorem $\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(t)$ is an integer and thus we have shown that $\text{ksw}(\chi) \leq \mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(t) - 1$.

Now we need a lemma which is a key ingredient to deduce Borger's theorem.

Lemma 5. Let L/K be a Galois extension in case III. If $k_L = k_K(a^{1/f})$ then $a \in k_K \setminus k_K^p$ where $f = |L:T| = f(L/K)^{\text{ins}}$. Let α be a lifting of a in K and let $M = K(\beta)$ where $\beta^f = \alpha$.

If
$$\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$$
 and $\sigma' \in \operatorname{Gal}(LM/M)$ is such that $\sigma'|_{L} = \sigma$ then

$$i_{LM/M}(\sigma') = e(LM|L)i_{L/K}(\sigma).$$

Proof. (After J. Borger). Note that the extension M/K is in case II and LM/M is in case I, in particular it is totally ramified. Let $x \in \mathcal{O}_L$ such that $\mathcal{O}_L = \mathcal{O}_K[x]$. One can check that $x^f - \alpha \in \mathcal{M}_L \setminus \mathcal{M}_L^2$. Let g(X) be the minimal polynomial of β over K. Then g(X+x) is an Eisenstein polynomial over L (because $g(X+x) \equiv X^f + x^f - \alpha \equiv X^f \mod \mathcal{M}_L$) and $\beta - x$ is a root of g(X+x). So $\beta - x$ is a prime of LM and we have

$$i_{LM/M}(\sigma') = v_{LM}(\sigma'(\beta - x) - (\beta - x)) = v_{LM}(\sigma'(x) - x) = e(LM|L)i_{L/K}(\sigma).$$

Proof of Theorem 3 and Theorem 4. Now we deduce simultaneously the formula for the Kato conductor in case III and Borger's theorem. We compute the classical Artin conductor $A(\chi|_M)$. By the preceding lemma we have

$$A(\chi|_{M}) = \frac{1}{e(LM|M)} \sum_{\sigma' \in \text{Gal}(LM/M)} \chi|_{M}(\sigma') i_{LM/M}(\sigma')$$

$$= \frac{e(LM|L)}{e(LM|M)} \sum_{\sigma' \in \text{Gal}(LM/M)} \chi|_{M}(\sigma') i_{L/K}(\sigma) = \frac{1}{e(L|K)} \sum_{\sigma \in G} \chi(\sigma) i_{L/K}(\sigma).$$

Since $A(\chi|_M)$ is an integer by Artin's theorem we deduce that the latter expression is an integer. Now by the well known arguments one deduces the Hasse–Arf property for L/K.

The above argument also shows that the Swan conductor (=Kato conductor) of LM/M is equal to $A(\chi|_M)-1$, which shows that $\mathrm{ksw}(\chi)\geqslant A(\chi|_M)-1=\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(t)-1$, so $\mathrm{ksw}(\chi)=\mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(t)-1$ and Theorem 4 follows.

18.3. More ramification invariants

18.3.1. Hyodo's depth of ramification. This ramification invariant was introduced by Hyodo in [H]. We are interested in its link with the Kato conductor.

Let K be an m-dimensional local field, $m \ge 1$. Let t_1, \ldots, t_m be a system of local parameters of K and let \mathbf{v} be the corresponding valuation.

Definition. Let L/K be a finite extension. The depth of ramification of L/K is

$$d_K(L/K) = \inf \{ \mathbf{v}(\operatorname{Tr}_{L/K}(y)/y) : y \in L^* \} \in \mathbb{Q}^m.$$

The right hand side expression exists; and, in particular, if m=1 then $d_K(L/K)=v_K(\mathcal{D}_{L/K})-(1-v_K(\pi_L))$, see [H]. The main result about the depth is stated in the following theorem (see [H, Th. (1-5)]).

Theorem 5 (Hyodo). Let L be a finite Galois extension of an m-dimensional local field K. For $l \ge 1$ define

$$\mathbf{j}(l) = \mathbf{j}_{L/K}(l) = \begin{cases} \max\{\mathbf{i} : 1 \leqslant \mathbf{i} \in \mathbb{Z}^m, & |\Psi_{L/K}(U_{\mathbf{i}}K_m^{\mathsf{top}}(K))| \geqslant p^l\} \\ 0 & \textit{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

where $\Psi_{L/K}$ is the reciprocity map; the definition of $U_iK_m^{top}(K)$ is given in 17.0. Then

(3)
$$(p-1)\sum_{l\geqslant 1} \mathbf{j}(l)/p^l \leqslant d_K(L/K) \leqslant (1-p^{-1})\sum_{l\geqslant 1} \mathbf{j}(l).$$

Furthermore, these inequalities are the best possible (cf. [H, Prop. (3-4) and Ex. (3-5)]).

For $\mathbf{i} \in \mathbb{Z}^m$, let $G^{\mathbf{i}}$ be the image of $U_{\mathbf{i}}K_m^{\text{top}}(K)$ in Gal(L/K) under the reciprocity map $\Psi_{L/K}$. The numbers $\mathbf{j}(l)$ are called jumping number (by Hyodo) and in the classical case, i.e. m=1, they coincide with the upper ramification jumps of L/K.

For local fields (i.e. 1-dimensional local fields) one can show that the first inequality in (3) is actually an equality. Hyodo stated ([H, p.292]) "It seems that we can define nice ramification groups only when the first equality of (3) holds."

For example, if L/K is of degree p, then the inequalities in (3) are actually equalities and in this case we actually have a nice ramification theory. For an abelian extension L/K [H, Prop. (3-4)] shows that the first equality of (3) holds if at most one diagonal component of E(L/K) (for the definition see subsection 1.2) is divisible by p.

Extensions in case I or II verify the hypothesis of Hyodo's proposition, but it is not so in case III. We shall show below that the first equality does not hold in case III.

18.3.2. The Kato conductor and depth of ramification.

Consider an m-dimensional local field K, $m \ge 1$. Proposition 2 of 18.2 shows (if the first residue field is of characteristic p > 0) that for $\chi \in H^1(K)$, $\chi \in \operatorname{fil}_n H^1(K)$ if and only if the induced homomorphism $K_m(K) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ annihilates $U_{n+1}K_m(K)$ (cf. also in [K4, Remark (6.6)]). This also means that the Kato conductor of the extension L/K corresponding to χ is the m-th component of the last ramification jump $\mathbf{j}(1)$ (recall that $\mathbf{j}(1) = \max\{\mathbf{i} : 1 \le \mathbf{i} \in \mathbb{Z}^m, |G^{\mathbf{i}}| \ge p\}$).

Example. Let L/K as in Example of 18.1.1 and assume that K is a 2-dimensional local field with the first residue field of characteristic p>0 and let $\chi\in H^1(K)$ be the corresponding character. Let $\mathbf{j}(l)_i$ denotes the i-th component of $\mathbf{j}(l)$. Then by Theorem 3 and by the above discussion we have

$$ksw(\chi) = \mathbf{j}(1)_2 = \mathfrak{s}_{L/K}(pe/(p-1)) - 1 = \frac{(2p-1)e}{p-1} - 1.$$

If T/K is the subextension of degree p, we have

$$d_K(T/K)_2 = p^{-1}(p-1)\mathbf{j}(2)_2 \implies \mathbf{j}(2)_2 = \frac{pe}{p-1} - 1.$$

The depth of ramification is easily computed:

$$d_K(L/K)_2 = d_K(T/K)_2 + d_K(L/T)_2 = \frac{(p-1)}{p} \left(\frac{2pe}{p-1} - 1\right).$$

The left hand side of (3) is $(p-1)(\mathbf{j}(1)/p+\mathbf{j}(2)/p^2)$, so for the second component we have

$$(p-1)\left(\frac{\mathbf{j}(1)_2}{p} + \frac{\mathbf{j}(2)_2}{p^2}\right) = 2e - \frac{(p^2-1)}{p^2} \neq d_K(L/K)_2.$$

Thus, the first equality in (3) does not hold for the extension L/K.

If K is a complete discrete valuation (of rank one) field, then in the well ramified case straightforward calculations show that

$$e(L|K)d_K(L/K) = \begin{cases} \sum_{\sigma \neq 1} s_G(\sigma) & \text{case I,II} \\ \sum_{\sigma \neq 1} s_G(\sigma) - e(L|K) + 1 & \text{case III} \end{cases}$$

Let $\chi \in H^1(K)$ and assume that the corresponding extension L/K is well ramified. Let t denote the last ramification jump of L/K; then from the previous formula and Theorem 4 we have

$$e(L|K)\operatorname{ksw}(\chi) = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} d_L(L/K) + t & \text{case I,II} \\ d_L(L/K) + t - 1 & \text{case III} \end{array} \right.$$

In the general case, we can indicate the following relation between the Kato conductor and Hyodo's depth of ramification.

Theorem 6 (Spriano). Let $\chi \in H^1(K, \mathbb{Z}/p^n)$ and let L/K be the corresponding cyclic extension. Then

$$ksw(\chi) \leqslant d_K(L/K) + \frac{t}{e(L|K)}$$

where t is the maximal modified ramification jump.

Proof. In [Sp, Prop. 3.7.3] we show that

(*)
$$\operatorname{ksw}(\chi) \leqslant \left[\frac{1}{e(L|K)} \left(\sum_{\sigma \in G} \operatorname{Sw}_{G}(\sigma) \chi(\sigma) - M_{L/K} \right) \right],$$

where [x] indicates the integer part of $x \in \mathbb{Q}$ and the integer $M_{L/K}$ is defined by

$$(**) d_L(L/K) + M_{L/K} = \sum_{\sigma \neq 1} s_G(\sigma).$$

Thus, the inequality in the statement follows from (*) and (**).

References

- [B] J.-L. Brylinski, Théorie du corps de classes de Kato et rêvetements abéliens de surfaces, Ann. Inst. Fourier, Grenoble 33 n.3 (1983), 23–38.
- [E] H.P. Epp, Eliminating wild ramification, Invent. Math. 19(1973), 235–249.
- [FV] I. Fesenko and S. Vostokov, Local Fields and Their Extensions, Transl. Math. Monograph A.M.S. 1993
- [H] O. Hyodo, Wild ramification in the imperfect residue field case, Advanced Stud. in Pure Math. 12(1987) Galois Representation and Arithmetic Algebraic Geometry, 287–314.
- [K1] K. Kato, A generalization of local class field theory by using K-groups I, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, Sect. IA 26(1979), 303-376, II ibid., 27(1980), 603–683.
- [K2] K. Kato, Vanishing cycles, ramification of valuations, and class field theory, Duke Math. J. 55(1987), 629–659.
- [K3] K. Kato, Swan conductors with differential values, Advanced Studies in Pure Math. 12(1987), 315–342.
- [K4] K. Kato, Swan conductors for characters of degree one in the imperfect residue field case, Contemp. Math. 83(1989), 101–131.
- [K5] K. Kato, Class field theory, *D*-modules, and ramification on higher dimensional schemes, part I, Amer. J. Math. 116(1994), 757–784.
- [Ku1] M. Kurihara, On two types of discrete valuation fields, Comp. Math. 63(1987), 237–257.

[Ku2] M. Kurihara, Abelian extensions of an absolutely unramified local field with general residue field, Invent. Math. 93(1988), 451–480.

- [Lo] V.G. Lomadze, On the ramification theory of two-dimensional local fields, Math. USSR Sbornik, 37(1980), 349–365.
- [M] H. Miki, On \mathbb{Z}_p -extensions of complete p-adic power series fields and function fields, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, Sect. IA 21(1974), 377–393.
- [S] J.-P. Serre, Corps Locaux, Hermann Paris 1967, 3rd Edition.
- [Sm1] B. de Smit, Ramification groups of local fields with imperfect residue class field, J. Number Theory 44 No.3 (1993), 229–236.
- [Sm2] B. de Smit, The different and differential of local fields with imperfect residue field, Proceedings of Edinburgh Math. Soc. 40(1997), 353–365.
- [Sp] L. Spriano, Well and fiercely ramified extensions of complete discrete valuation fields, with applications to the Kato conductor, Thèse à l'Université Bordeaux I, 1999.
- [Z] I.B. Zhukov, On ramification theory in the imperfect residue field case, Preprint, Univ. Nottingham, (1998).

Luca Spriano Department of Mathematics University of Bordeaux 351, Cours de la Libération 33405 Talence Cedex France E-mail: Luca.Spriano@math.u-bordeaux.fr

Geometry & Topology Monographs Volume 3: Invitation to higher local fields Pages 165–195

Existence theorem for higher local fields

Kazuya Kato

0. Introduction

A field K is called an n-dimensional local field if there is a sequence of fields k_n, \ldots, k_0 satisfying the following conditions: k_0 is a finite field, k_i is a complete discrete valuation field with residue field k_{i-1} for $i=1,\ldots,n$, and $k_n=K$.

In [9] we defined a canonical homomorphism from the n th Milnor group $K_n(K)$ (cf. [14]) of an n-dimensional local field K to the Galois group $Gal(K^{ab}/K)$ of the maximal abelian extension of K and generalized the familiar results of the usual local class field theory to the case of arbitrary dimension except the "existence theorem".

An essential difficulty with the existence theorem lies in the fact that K (resp. the multiplicative group K^*) has no appropriate topology in the case where $n \geqslant 2$ (resp. $n \geqslant 3$) which would be compatible with the ring (resp. group) structure and which would take the topologies of the residue fields into account. Thus we abandon the familiar tool "topology" and define the openness of subgroups and the continuity of maps from a new point of view.

In the following main theorems the words "open" and "continuous" are not used in the topological sense. They are explained below.

Theorem 1. Let K be an n-dimensional local field. Then the correspondence

$$L \to N_{L/K} K_n(L)$$

is a bijection from the set of all finite abelian extensions of K to the set of all open subgroups of $K_n(K)$ of finite index.

This existence theorem is essentially contained in the following theorem which expresses certain Galois cohomology groups of K (for example the Brauer group of

Published 10 December 2000: © Geometry & Topology Publications

166 K. Kato

K) by using the Milnor K-group of K. For a field k we define the group $H^r(k)$ $(r \ge 0)$ as follows (cf. [9, §3.1]). In the case where char (k) = 0 let

$$H^{r}(k) = \underline{\lim} H^{r}(k, \mu_{m}^{\otimes (r-1)})$$

(the Galois cohomology). In the case where char (k) = p > 0 let

$$H^r(k) = \varinjlim H^r(k, \mu_m^{\otimes (r-1)}) + \varinjlim H^r_{p^i}(k).$$

Here in each case m runs over all integers invertible in k, μ_m denotes the group of all m th roots of 1 in the separable closure $k^{\rm sep}$ of k, and $\mu_m^{\otimes (r-1)}$ denotes its (r-1) th tensor power as a \mathbb{Z}/m -module on which ${\rm Gal}(k^{\rm sep}/k)$ acts in the natural way. In the case where ${\rm char}(k)=p>0$ we denote by $H^r_{n^i}(k)$ the cokernel of

$$F-1: C_i^{r-1}(k) \to C_i^{r-1}(k)/\{C_i^{r-2}(k), T\}$$

where C_i is the group defined in [3, Ch.II,§7] (see also Milne [13, §3]). For example, $H^1(k)$ is isomorphic to the group of all continuous characters of the compact abelian group $\operatorname{Gal}(k^{\operatorname{ab}}/k)$ and $H^2(k)$ is isomorphic to the Brauer group of k.

Theorem 2. Let K be as in Theorem 1. Then $H^r(K)$ vanishes for r > n+1 and is isomorphic to the group of all continuous characters of finite order of $K_{n+1-r}(K)$ in the case where $0 \le r \le n+1$.

We shall explain the contents of each section.

For a category $\mathfrak C$ the category of pro-objects $\operatorname{pro}(\mathfrak C)$ and the category of ind-objects $\operatorname{ind}(\mathfrak C)$ are defined as in Deligne [5]. Let $\mathcal F_0$ be the category of finite sets, and let $\mathcal F_1$, $\mathcal F_2$, ... be the categories defined by $\mathcal F_{n+1}=\operatorname{ind}(\operatorname{pro}(\mathcal F_n))$. Let $\mathcal F_\infty=\cup_n \mathcal F_n$. In section 1 we shall show that n-dimensional local fields can be viewed as ring objects of $\mathcal F_n$. More precisely we shall define a ring object $\underline K$ of $\mathcal F_n$ corresponding to an n-dimensional local field K such that K is identified with the ring $[e,\underline K]_{\mathcal F_\infty}$ of morphisms from the one-point set e (an object of $\mathcal F_0$) to $\underline K$, and a group object $\underline K^*$ such that K^* is identified with $[e,\underline {K^*}]_{\mathcal F_\infty}$. We call a subgroup N of $K_q(K)$ open if and only if the map

$$K^* \times \cdots \times K^* \to K_q(K)/N, \quad (x_1, \dots, x_q) \mapsto \{x_1, \dots, x_q\} \mod N$$

comes from a morphism $\underline{K}^* \times \cdots \times \underline{K}^* \to K_q(K)/N$ of \mathfrak{F}_{∞} where $K_q(K)/N$ is viewed as an object of $\operatorname{ind}(\mathfrak{F}_0) \subset \mathfrak{F}_1$. We call a homomorphism $\varphi \colon K_q(K) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ a continuous character if and only if the induced map

$$K^* \times \cdots \times K^* \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}, \quad (x_1, \dots, x_q) \mapsto \varphi(\{x_1, \dots, x_q\})$$

comes from a morphism of \mathcal{F}_{∞} where \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} is viewed as an object of $\operatorname{ind}(\mathcal{F}_0)$. In each case such a morphism of \mathcal{F}_{∞} is unique if it exists (cf. Lemma 1 of section 1).

In section 2 we shall generalize the self-duality of the additive group of a onedimensional local field in the sense of Pontryagin to arbitrary dimension.

Section 3 is a preliminary one for section 4. There we shall prove some ring-theoretic properties of $[X, \underline{K}]_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}}$ for objects X of \mathcal{F}_{∞} .

In section 4 we shall treat the norm groups of cohomological objects. For a field k denote by $\mathcal{E}(k)$ the category of all finite extensions of k in a fixed algebraic closure of k with the inclusion maps as morphisms. Let H be a functor from $\mathcal{E}(k)$ to the category Ab of all abelian groups such that $\varinjlim_{k' \in \mathcal{E}(k)} H(k') = 0$. For $w_1, \ldots, w_g \in H(k)$ define the K_q -norm group $N_q(w_1, \ldots, w_g)$ as the subgroup of $K_q(k)$ generated by the subgroups $N_{k'/k}K_q(k')$ where k' runs over all fields in $\mathcal{E}(k)$ such that $\{w_1, \ldots, w_g\} \in \ker(H(k) \to H(k'))$ and where $N_{k'/k}$ denotes the canonical norm homomorphism of the Milnor K-groups (Bass and Tate $[2,\S 5]$ and $[9,\S 1.7]$). For example, if $H = H^1$ and $\chi_1, \ldots, \chi_g \in H^1(k)$ then $N_q(\chi_1, \ldots, \chi_g)$ is nothing but $N_{k'/k}K_q(k')$ where k' is the finite abelian extension of k corresponding to $\cap_i \ker(\chi_i \colon \operatorname{Gal}(k^{\operatorname{ab}}/k) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$. If $H = H^2$ and $w \in H^2(k)$ then $N_1(w)$ is the image of the reduced norm map $A^* \to k^*$ where A is a central simple algebra over k corresponding to w.

As it is well known for a one-dimensional local field k the group $N_1(\chi_1, \ldots, \chi_g)$ is an open subgroup of k^* of finite index for any $\chi_1, \ldots, \chi_g \in H^1(k)$ and the group $N_1(w) = k^*$ for any $w \in H^2(k)$. We generalize these facts as follows.

Theorem 3. Let K be an n-dimensional local field and let $r \ge 1$.

- (1) Let $w_1, \ldots, w_g \in H^r(K)$. Then the norm group $N_{n+1-r}(w_1, \ldots, w_g)$ is an open subgroup of $K_{n+1-r}(K)$ of finite index.
- (2) Let M be a discrete torsion abelian group endowed with a continuous action of $Gal(K^{sep}/K)$. Let H be the Galois cohomology functor $H^r(\ ,M)$. Then for every $w \in H^r(K,M)$ the group $N_{n+1-r}(w)$ is an open subgroup of $K_{n+1-r}(K)$ of finite index.

Let k be a field and let $q, r \ge 0$. We define a condition (N_q^r, k) as follows: for every $k' \in \mathcal{E}(k)$ and every discrete torsion abelian group M endowed with a continuous action of $\operatorname{Gal}(k'^{\operatorname{sep}}/k')$

$$N_a(w_1,\ldots,w_a)=K_a(k')$$

for every i > r, $w_1, \ldots, w_g \in H^i(k')$, $w_1, \ldots, w_g \in H^i(k', M)$, and in addition $|k:k^p| \leq p^{q+r}$ in the case where $\operatorname{char}(k) = p > 0$.

For example, if k is a perfect field then the condition (N_0^r, k) is equivalent to $cd(k) \leq r$ where cd denotes the cohomological dimension (Serre [16]).

Proposition 1. Let K be a complete discrete valuation field with residue field k. Let $q \ge 1$ and $r \ge 0$. Then the two conditions (N_q^r, K) and (N_{q-1}^r, k) are equivalent.

On the other hand by [11] the conditions (N_0^r, K) and (N_0^{r-1}, k) are equivalent for any $r \ge 1$. By induction on n we obtain

Corollary. Let K be an n-dimensional local field. Then the condition (N_q^r, K) holds if and only if $q + r \ge n + 1$.

168 K. Kato

We conjecture that if q + r = q' + r' then the two conditions (N_q^r, k) and $(N_{q'}^{r'}, k)$ are equivalent for any field k.

Finally in section 5 we shall prove Theorem 2. Then Theorem 1 will be a corollary of Theorem 2 for r=1 and of [9, §3, Theorem 1] which claims that the canonical homomorphism

$$K_n(K) \to \operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{ab}}/K)$$

induces an isomorphism $K_n(K)/N_{L/K}K_n(L) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$ for each finite abelian extension L of K.

I would like to thank Shuji Saito for helpful discussions and for the stimulation given by his research in this area (e.g. his duality theorem of Galois cohomology groups with locally compact topologies for two-dimensional local fields).

Table of contents.

- 1. Definition of the continuity for higher local fields.
- 2. Additive duality.
- 3. Properties of the ring of \underline{K} -valued morphisms.
- 4. Norm groups.
- 5. Proof of Theorem 2.

Notation.

We follow the notation in the beginning of this volume. References to sections in this text mean references to sections of this work and not of the whole volume.

All fields and rings in this paper are assumed to be commutative.

Denote by Sets, Ab, Rings the categories of sets, of abelian groups and of rings respectively.

If $\mathcal C$ is a category and X,Y are objects of $\mathcal C$ then $[X,Y]_{\mathcal C}$ (or simply [X,Y]) denotes the set of morphisms $X\to Y$.

1. Definition of the continuity for higher local fields

1.1. Ring objects of a category corresponding to rings.

For a category $\mathcal C$ let $\mathcal C^\circ$ be the dual category of $\mathcal C$. If $\mathcal C$ has a final object we always denote it by e. Then, if $\theta \colon X \to Y$ is a morphism of $\mathcal C$, $[e,\theta]$ denotes the induced map $[e,X] \to [e,Y]$.

In this subsection we prove the following

Proposition 2. Let \mathcal{C} be a category with a final object e in which the product of any two objects exists. Let \underline{R} be a ring object of \mathcal{C} such that for a prime p the morphism $\underline{R} \to \underline{R}$, $x \mapsto px$ is the zero morphism, and via the morphism $\underline{R} \to \underline{R}$, $x \mapsto x^p$ the

latter \underline{R} is a free module of finite rank over the former \underline{R} . Let $R = [e, \underline{R}]$, and let A be a ring with a nilpotent ideal I such that R = A/I and such that I^i/I^{i+1} is a free R-module of finite rank for any i.

Then:

- (1) There exists a ring object \underline{A} of \mathbb{C} equipped with a ring isomorphism $j: A \xrightarrow{\sim} [e, \underline{A}]$ and with a homomorphism of ring objects $\theta: \underline{A} \to \underline{R}$ having the following properties:
 - (a) $[e, \theta] \circ j: A \to R$ coincides with the canonical projection.
 - (b) For any object X of \mathbb{C} , $[X, \underline{A}]$ is a formally etale ring over A in the sense of Grothendieck [7, Ch. 0 §19], and θ induces an isomorphism

$$[X, \underline{A}]/I[X, \underline{A}] \simeq [X, \underline{R}].$$

- (2) The above triple $(\underline{A}, j, \theta)$ is unique in the following sense. If $(\underline{A}', j', \theta')$ is another triple satisfying the same condition in (1), then there exists a unique isomorphism of ring objects $\psi: \underline{A} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{A}'$ such that $[e, \psi] \circ j = j'$ and $\theta = \theta' \circ \psi$.
- (3) The object \underline{A} is isomorphic (if one forgets the ring-object structure) to the product of finitely many copies of \underline{R} .
- (4) If \mathbb{C} has finite inverse limits, the above assertions (1) and (2) are valid if conditions "free module of finite rank" on \underline{R} and I^i/I^{i+1} are replaced by conditions "direct summand of a free module of finite rank".

Example. Let R be a non-discrete locally compact field and A a local ring of finite length with residue field R. Then in the case where $\operatorname{char}(R) > 0$ Proposition 2 shows that there exists a canonical topology on A compatible with the ring structure such that A is homeomorphic to the product of finitely many copies of R. On the other hand, in the case where $\operatorname{char}(R) = 0$ it is impossible in general to define canonically such a topology on A. Of course, by taking a section $s: R \to A$ (as rings), A as a vector space over s(R) has the vector space topology, but this topology depends on the choice of s in general. This reflects the fact that in the case of $\operatorname{char}(R) = 0$ the ring of R-valued continuous functions on a topological space is not in general formally smooth over R contrary to the case of $\operatorname{char}(R) > 0$.

Proof of Proposition 2. Let X be an object of \mathfrak{C} ; put $R_X = [X, \underline{R}]$. The assumptions on \underline{R} show that the homomorphism

$$R^{(p)} \otimes_R R_X \to R_X, \quad x \otimes y \mapsto xy^p$$

is bijective, where $R^{(p)}=R$ as a ring and the structure homomorphism $R\to R^{(p)}$ is $x\mapsto x^p$. Hence by [10, §1 Lemma 1] there exists a formally etale ring A_X over A with a ring isomorphism $\theta_X\colon A_X/IA_X\simeq R_X$. The property "formally etale" shows that the correspondence $X\to A_X$ is a functor $\mathcal{C}^\circ\to \mathrm{Rings}$, and that the system θ_X forms a morphism of functors. More explicitly, let n and r be sufficiently large integers, let $W_n(R)$ be the ring of p-Witt vectors over R of length n, and let $\varphi\colon W_n(R)\to A$ be

the homomorphism

$$(x_0, x_1, \dots) \mapsto \sum_{i=0}^r p^i \widetilde{x_i}^{p^{r-i}}$$

where \widetilde{x}_i is a representative of $x_i \in R$ in A. Then A_X is defined as the tensor product

$$W_n(R_X) \otimes_{W_n(R)} A$$

induced by φ . Since $\operatorname{Tor}_{1}^{W_{n}(R)}(W_{n}(R_{X}),R)=0$ we have

$$\text{Tor}_{1}^{W_{n}(R)}(W_{n}(R_{X}), A/I^{i}) = 0$$

for every i. This proves that the canonical homomorphism

$$I^i/I^{i+1} \otimes_R R_X \to I^i A_X/I^{i+1} A_X$$

is bijective for every i. Hence each functor $X \to I^i A_X / I^{i+1} A_X$ is representable by a finite product of copies of \underline{R} , and it follows immediately that the functor A_X is represented by the product of finitely many copies of \underline{R} .

1.2. n-dimensional local fields as objects of \mathfrak{F}_n .

Let K be an n-dimensional local field. In this subsection we define a ring object \underline{K} and a group object \underline{K}^* by induction on n.

Let $k_0,\ldots,k_n=K$ be as in the introduction. For each i such that $\operatorname{char}(k_{i-1})=0$ (if such an i exists) choose a ring morphism $s_i\colon k_{i-1}\to \mathfrak{O}_{k_i}$ such that the composite $k_{i-1}\to \mathfrak{O}_{k_i}\to \mathfrak{O}_{k_i}/\mathfrak{M}_{k_i}$ is the indentity map. Assume $n\geqslant 1$ and let $\underline{k_{n-1}}$ be the ring object of \mathfrak{F}_{n-1} corresponding to k_{n-1} by induction on n.

If $\operatorname{char}(k_{n-1}) = p > 0$, the construction of \underline{K} below will show by induction on n that the assumptions of Proposition 2 are satisfied when one takes \mathcal{F}_{n-1} , k_{n-1} , k_{n-1} and $\mathcal{O}_K/\mathcal{M}_K^r$ ($r \geqslant 1$) as \mathcal{C} , \underline{R} , R and A. Hence we obtain a ring object $\underline{\mathcal{O}_K/\mathcal{M}_K^r}$ of \mathcal{F}_{n-1} . We identify $\mathcal{O}_K/\mathcal{M}_K^r$ with $[e,\underline{\mathcal{O}_K/\mathcal{M}_K^r}]$ via the isomorphism j of Proposition 2.

If char $(k_{n-1}) = 0$, let $\underline{\mathfrak{O}_K/\mathfrak{M}_K^r}$ be the ring object of \mathfrak{F}_{n-1} which represents the functor

$$\mathfrak{F}_{n-1}^{\circ} \to \operatorname{Rings}, \quad X \mapsto \mathfrak{O}_K/\mathfrak{M}_K^r \otimes_{k_{n-1}} [X, \underline{k_{n-1}}],$$

where $\mathcal{O}_K/\mathcal{M}_K^r$ is viewed as a ring over k_{n-1} via s_{n-1} .

In each case let $\underline{\mathcal{O}}_K$ be the object " \varprojlim " $\underline{\mathcal{O}}_K/\mathfrak{M}_K^r$ of $\operatorname{pro}(\mathfrak{F}_{n-1})$. We define \underline{K} as the ring object of \mathfrak{F}_n which corresponds to the functor

$$\operatorname{pro}(\mathfrak{F}_{n-1})^{\circ} \to \operatorname{Rings}, \quad X \mapsto K \otimes_{\mathfrak{O}_K} [X, \underline{\mathfrak{O}_K}].$$

Thus, \underline{K} is defined canonically in the case of char $(k_{n-1}) > 0$, and it depends (and doesn't depend) on the choices of s_i in the case of char $(k_{n-1}) = 0$ in the following

sense. Assume that another choice of sections s_i' yields $\underline{k_i}'$ and \underline{K}' . Then there exists an isomorphism of ring objects $\underline{K} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{K}'$ which induces $\underline{k_i} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{k_i}'$ for each i. But in general there is no isomorphism of ring objects $\psi \colon \underline{K} \to \underline{K}'$ such that $[e, \psi] \colon K \to K$ is the indentity map.

Now let \underline{K}^* be the object of \mathcal{F}_n which represents the functor

$$\mathfrak{F}_n^{\circ} \to \mathbf{Sets}, \quad X \mapsto [X, \underline{K}]^*.$$

This functor is representable because \mathcal{F}_n has finite inverse limits as can be shown by induction on n.

Definition 1. We define fine (resp. cofine) objects of \mathcal{F}_n by induction on n. All objects in \mathcal{F}_0 are called fine (resp. cofine) objects of \mathcal{F}_0 . An object of \mathcal{F}_n ($n \ge 1$) is called a fine (resp. cofine) object of \mathcal{F}_n if and only if it is expressed as $X = \lim_{n \to \infty} X_{\lambda}$ for some objects X_{λ} of $\operatorname{pro}(\mathcal{F}_{n-1})$ and each X_{λ} is expressed as $X_{\lambda} = \lim_{n \to \infty} X_{\lambda}$ for some objects X_{λ} of \mathcal{F}_{n-1} satisfying the condition that all X_{λ} are fine (resp. cofine) objects of \mathcal{F}_{n-1} and the maps $[e, X_{\lambda}] \to [e, X_{\lambda}]$ are surjective for all λ , μ (resp. the maps $[e, X_{\lambda}] \to [e, X]$ are injective for all λ).

Recall that if $i \leq j$ then \mathfrak{F}_i is a full subcategory of \mathfrak{F}_j . Thus each \mathfrak{F}_i is a full subcategory of $\mathfrak{F}_{\infty} = \bigcup_i \mathfrak{F}_i$.

Lemma 1.

(1) Let K be an n-dimensional local field. Then an object of \mathfrak{F}_n of the form

$$\underline{K} \times \dots \underline{K} \times \underline{K^*} \times \dots \times \underline{K^*}$$

is a fine and cofine object of \mathfrak{F}_n . Every set S viewed as an object of $\operatorname{ind}(\mathfrak{F}_0)$ is a fine and cofine object of \mathfrak{F}_1 .

(2) Let X and Y be objects of \mathfrak{F}_{∞} , and assume that X is a fine object of \mathfrak{F}_n for some n and Y is a cofine object of \mathfrak{F}_m for some m. Then two morphisms $\theta, \theta' \colon X \to Y$ coincide if $[e, \theta] = [e, \theta']$.

As explained in 1.1 the definition of the object \underline{K} depends on the sections $s_i : k_{i-1} \to \mathcal{O}_{k_i}$ chosen for each i such that $\operatorname{char}(k_{i-1}) = 0$. Still we have the following:

Lemma 2.

- (1) Let N be a subgroup of $K_q(K)$ of finite index. Then openness of N doesn't depend on the choice of sections s_i .
- (2) Let $\varphi: K_q(K) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ be a homomorphism of finite order. Then the continuity of χ doesn't depend on the choice of sections s_i .

The exact meaning of Theorems 1,2,3 is now clear.

2. Additive duality

2.1. Category of locally compact objects.

If $\mathfrak C$ is the category of finite abelian groups, let $\widetilde{\mathfrak C}$ be the category of topological abelian groups G which possess a totally disconnected open compact subgroup H such that G/H is a torsion group. If $\mathfrak C$ is the category of finite dimensional vector spaces over a fixed (discrete) field k, let $\widetilde{\mathfrak C}$ be the category of locally linearly compact vector spaces over k (cf. Lefschetz [12]). In both cases the canonical self-duality of $\widetilde{\mathfrak C}$ is well known. These two examples are special cases of the following general construction.

Definition 2. For a category \mathfrak{C} define a full subcategory $\widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}$ of ind(pro(\mathfrak{C})) as follows. An object X of ind(pro(\mathfrak{C})) belongs to $\widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}$ if and only if it is expressed in the form " \varinjlim " $_{j\in J}$ " \varprojlim " $_{i\in I}X(i,j)$ for some directly ordered sets I and J viewed as small categories in the usual way and for some functor $X\colon I^\circ\times J\to \mathfrak{C}$ satisfying the following conditions.

- (i) If $i, i' \in I$, $i \leqslant i'$ then the morphism $X(i', j) \to X(i, j)$ is surjective for every $j \in J$. If $j, j' \in J$, $j \leqslant j'$ then the morphism $X(i, j) \to X(i, j')$ is injective for every $i \in I$.
- (ii) If $i, i' \in I$, $i \le i'$ and $j, j' \in J$, $j \le j'$ then the square

$$X(i',j) \longrightarrow X(i',j')$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$X(i,j) \longrightarrow X(i,j')$$

is cartesian and cocartesian.

It is not difficult to prove that \mathcal{C} is equivalent to the full subcategory of $\operatorname{pro}(\operatorname{ind}(\mathcal{C}))$ (as well as $\operatorname{ind}(\operatorname{pro}(\mathcal{C}))$) consisting of all objects which are expressed in the form " \varprojlim " $i \in I$ " \varinjlim " $j \in JX(i,j)$ for some triple (I,J,X) satisfying the same conditions as above. In this equivalence the object

$$"\varinjlim"{}_{j\in J}"\varprojlim"{}_{i\in I}X(i,j) \text{ corresponds to } "\varprojlim"{}_{i\in I}"\varinjlim"{}_{j\in J}X(i,j).$$

Definition 3. Let A_0 be the category of finite abelian groups, and let A_1, A_2, \ldots be the categories defined as $A_{n+1} = \widetilde{A_n}$.

It is easy to check by induction on n that A_n is a full subcategory of the category \mathcal{F}_n^{ab} of all abelian group objects of \mathcal{F}_n with additive morphisms.

2.2. Pontryagin duality.

The category A_0 is equivalent to its dual via the functor

$$D_0: \mathcal{A}_0^{\circ} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{A}_0, \quad X \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}(X, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}).$$

By induction on n we get an equivalence

$$D_n: \mathcal{A}_n^{\circ} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{A}_n, \quad \mathcal{A}_n^{\circ} = (\widetilde{\mathcal{A}_{n-1}})^{\circ} = \widetilde{\mathcal{A}_{n-1}^{\circ}} \xrightarrow{D_{n-1}} \widetilde{\mathcal{A}_{n-1}} = \mathcal{A}_n$$

where we use $(\widetilde{\mathfrak{C}})^{\circ} = \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}^{\circ}}$. As in the case of \mathcal{F}_n each \mathcal{A}_n is a full subcategory of $\mathcal{A}_{\infty} = \bigcup_n \mathcal{A}_n$. The functors D_n induce an equivalence

$$D: \mathcal{A}_{\infty}^{\circ} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{A}_{\infty}$$

such that $D \circ D$ coincides with the indentity functor.

Lemma 3. View \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} as an object of $\operatorname{ind}(A_0) \subset A_{\infty} \subset \mathcal{F}_{\infty}^{ab}$. Then:

(1) For every object X of A_{∞}

$$[X, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}]_{\mathcal{A}_{\infty}} \simeq [e, D(X)]_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}}.$$

(2) For all objects X, Y of \mathcal{A}_{∞} $[X, D(Y)]_{\mathcal{A}_{\infty}}$ is canonically isomorphic to the group of biadditive morphisms $X \times Y \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ in \mathfrak{F}_{∞} .

Proof. The isomorphism of (1) is given by

$$[X,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}]_{\mathcal{A}_{\infty}} \simeq [D(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}),D(X)]_{\mathcal{A}_{\infty}} = [\widehat{\mathbb{Z}},D(X)]_{\mathcal{A}_{\infty}} \xrightarrow{\sim} [e,D(X)]_{\mathcal{F}_{\infty}}$$

 $(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}})$ is the totally disconnected compact abelian group $\varprojlim_{n>0}\mathbb{Z}/n$ and the last arrow is the evaluation at $1\in\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}$). The isomorphism of (2) is induced by the canonical biadditive morphism $D(Y)\times Y\to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ which is defined naturally by induction on n.

Compare the following Proposition 3 with Weil [17, Ch. II §5 Theorem 3].

Proposition 3. Let K be an n-dimensional local field, and let V be a vector space over K of finite dimension, $V' = \operatorname{Hom}_K(V, K)$. Then

- (1) The abelian group object \underline{V} of \mathfrak{F}_n which represents the functor $X \to V \otimes_K [X, \underline{K}]$ belongs to A_n .
- (2) $[\underline{K}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}]_{A_{\infty}}$ is one-dimensional with respect to the natural K-module structure and its non-zero element induces due to Lemma 3 (2) an isomorphism $\underline{V}' \simeq D(\underline{V})$.

3. Properties of the ring of \underline{K} -valued morphisms

3.1. Multiplicative groups of certain complete rings.

Proposition 4. Let A be a ring and let π be a non-zero element of A such that $A = \varprojlim A/\pi^n A$. Let $R = A/\pi A$ and $B = A[\pi^{-1}]$. Assume that at least one of the following two conditions is satisfied.

- (i) R is reduced (i.e. having no nilpotent elements except zero) and there is a ring homomorphism $s: R \to A$ such that the composite $R \xrightarrow{s} A \to A/\pi A$ is the identity.
- (ii) For a prime p the ring R is annihilated by p and via the homomorphism $R \to R$, $x \mapsto x^p$ the latter R is a finitely generated projective module over the former R. Then we have

$$B^* \simeq A^* \times \Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(R), \mathbb{Z})$$

where $\Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(R), \mathbb{Z})$ is the group of global sections of the constant sheaf \mathbb{Z} on $\operatorname{Spec}(R)$ with Zariski topology. The isomorphism is given by the homomorphism of sheaves $\mathbb{Z} \to \mathcal{O}^*_{\operatorname{Spec}(R)}$, $1 \mapsto \pi$, the map

$$\Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(R), \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(A), \mathbb{Z}) \to \Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(B), \mathbb{Z})$$

and the inclusion map $A^* \to B^*$.

Proof. Let Aff_R be the category of affine schemes over R. In case (i) let $\mathcal{C} = Aff_R$. In case (ii) let \mathcal{C} be the category of all affine schemes Spec(R') over R such that the map

$$R^{(p)} \otimes_R R' \to R', \quad x \otimes y \mapsto xy^p$$

(cf. the proof of Proposition 2) is bijective. Then in case (ii) every finite inverse limit and finite sum exists in $\mathcal C$ and coincides with that taken in Aff_R . Furthermore, in this case the inclusion functor $\mathcal C \to \mathrm{Aff}_R$ has a right adjoint. Indeed, for any affine scheme X over R the corresponding object in $\mathcal C$ is $\varprojlim X_i$ where X_i is the Weil restriction of X with respect to the homomorphism $R \to R$, $x \mapsto x^{p^i}$.

Let \underline{R} be the ring object of \mathcal{C} which represents the functor $X \to \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$, and let \underline{R}^* be the object which represents the functor $X \to [X, \underline{R}]^*$, and $\underline{0}$ be the final object e regarded as a closed subscheme of \underline{R} via the zero morphism $e \to \underline{R}$.

Lemma 4. Let X be an object of \mathbb{C} and assume that X is reduced as a scheme (this condition is always satisfied in case (ii)). Let $\theta: X \to \underline{R}$ be a morphism of \mathbb{C} . If $\theta^{-1}(\underline{R}^*)$ is a closed subscheme of X, then X is the direct sum of $\theta^{-1}(\underline{R}^*)$ and $\theta^{-1}(\underline{0})$ (where the inverse image notation are used for the fibre product).

The group B^* is generated by elements x of A such that $\pi^n \in Ax$ for some $n \geqslant 0$. In case (i) let $A/\pi^{n+1}A$ be the ring object of $\mathcal C$ which represents the functor $X \to A/\pi^{n+1}A \otimes_R [X,\underline{R}]$ where $A/\pi^{n+1}A$ is viewed as an R-ring via a fixed section s. In case (ii) we get a ring object $A/\pi^{n+1}A$ of $\mathcal C$ by Proposition 2 (4).

In both cases there are morhisms $\theta_i: \underline{R} \to \underline{A/\pi^{n+1}A}$ ($0 \le i \le n$) in $\mathcal C$ such that the morphism

$$\underline{R} \times \cdots \times \underline{R} \to \underline{A/\pi^{n+1}A}, \quad (x_0, \ldots, x_n) \mapsto \sum_{i=0}^n \theta_i(x_i)\pi^i$$

is an isomorphism.

Now assume $xy=\pi^n$ for some $x,y\in A$ and take elements $x_i,y_i\in R=[e,\underline{R}]$ ($0\leqslant i\leqslant n$) such that

$$x \mod \pi^{n+1} = \sum_{i=0}^n \theta_i(x_i) \pi^i, \quad y \mod \pi^{n+1} = \sum_{i=0}^n \theta_i(y_i) \pi^i.$$

An easy computation shows that for every $r = 0, \ldots, n$

$$\Big(\bigcap_{i=0}^{r-1}x_i^{-1}(\underline{0})\Big)\bigcap x_r^{-1}(\underline{R}^*)=\Big(\bigcap_{i=0}^{r-1}x_i^{-1}(\underline{0})\Big)\bigcap \Big(\bigcap_{i=0}^{n-r-1}y_i^{-1}(\underline{0})\Big).$$

By Lemma 4 and induction on r we deduce that $e = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ is the direct sum of the closed open subschemes $\left(\bigcap_{i=0}^{r-1} x_i^{-1}(\underline{0})\right) \cap x_r^{-1}(\underline{R}^*)$ on which the restriction of x has the form $a\pi^r$ for an invertible element $a \in A$.

3.2. Properties of the ring $[X, \underline{K}]$.

Results of this subsection will be used in section 4.

Definition 4. For an object X of \mathcal{F}_{∞} and a set S let

$$lcf(X,S) = \lim_{X \to I} [X, I]$$

where I runs over all finite subsets of S (considering each I as an object of $\mathfrak{F}_0 \subset \mathfrak{F}_{\infty}$).

Lemma 5. Let K be an n-dimensional local field and let X be an object of \mathfrak{F}_{∞} . Then:

- (1) The ring $[X, \underline{K}]$ is reduced.
- (2) For every set S there is a canonical bijection

$$lcf(X, S) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Gamma(Spec([X, \underline{K}]), S)$$

where S on the right hand side is regarded as a constant sheaf on $Spec([X, \underline{K}])$.

Proof of (2). If I is a finite set and $\theta: X \to I$ is a morphism of \mathcal{F}_{∞} then X is the direct sum of the objects $\theta^{-1}(i) = X \times_I \{i\}$ in \mathcal{F}_{∞} ($i \in I$). Hence we get the canonical map of (2). To prove its bijectivity we may assume $S = \{0, 1\}$. Note that $\Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(R), \{0, 1\})$ is the set of idempotents in R for any ring R. We may assume that X is an object of $\operatorname{pro}(\mathcal{F}_{n-1})$.

Let k_{n-1} be the residue field of $k_n = K$. Then

$$\Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}([X,\underline{K}]),\{0,1\}) \simeq \Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}([X,k_{n-1}]),\{0,1\})$$

by (1) applied to the ring $[X, k_{n-1}]$.

Lemma 6. Let K be an n-dimensional local field of characteristic p > 0. Let k_0, \ldots, k_n be as in the introduction. For each $i = 1, \ldots, n$ let π_i be a lifting to K of a prime element of k_i . Then for each object X of \mathfrak{F}_{∞} $[X,\underline{K}]^*$ is generated by the subgroups

$$[X,K^p(\pi^{(s)})]^*$$

where s runs over all functions $\{1, \ldots, n\} \to \{0, 1, \ldots, p-1\}$ and $\pi^{(s)}$ denotes $\pi_1^{s(1)} \ldots \pi_n^{s(n)}$, $K^p(\pi^{(s)})$ is the subring object of \underline{K} corresponding to $K^p(\pi^{(s)})$, i.e.

$$[X,\underline{K^p(\pi^{(s)})}] = K^p(\pi^{(s)}) \otimes_{K^p} [X,\underline{K}].$$

Proof. Indeed, Proposition 4 and induction on n yield morphisms

$$\theta^{(s)}:\underline{K^*}\to\underline{K^p(\pi^{(s)})^*}$$

such that the product of all $\theta^{(s)}$ in \underline{K}^* is the identity morphism $\underline{K}^* \to \underline{K}^*$.

The following similar result is also proved by induction on n.

Lemma 7. Let K, k_0 and $(\pi_i)_{1 \leq i \leq n}$ be as in Lemma 6. Then there exists a morphism of \mathcal{A}_{∞} (cf. section 2)

$$(\theta_1,\theta_2):\Omega_K^n\to\Omega_K^n\times\underline{k_0}$$

such that

$$x = (1 - C)\theta_1(x) + \theta_2(x)d\pi_1/\pi_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge d\pi_n/\pi_n$$

for every object X of \mathfrak{F}_{∞} and for every $x \in [X, \underline{\Omega}_{K}^{n}]$ where $\underline{\Omega}_{K}^{n}$ is the object which represents the functor $X \to \Omega_{K}^{n} \otimes_{K} [X, \underline{K}]$ and $\overline{\mathbb{C}}$ denotes the Cartier operator ([4], or see 4.2 in Part I for the definition).

Generalize the Milnor K-groups as follows.

Definition 5. For a ring R let $\Gamma_0(R) = \Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(R), \mathbb{Z})$. The morphism of sheaves

$$\mathbb{Z} \times \mathcal{O}^*_{\operatorname{Spec}(R)} \to \mathcal{O}^*_{\operatorname{Spec}(R)}, \quad (n, x) \mapsto x^n$$

determines the $\Gamma_0(R)$ -module structure on R^* . Put $\Gamma_1(R) = R^*$ and for $q \ge 2$ put

$$\Gamma_q(R) = \bigotimes_{\Gamma_0(R)}^q \Gamma_1(R) / J_q$$

where $\bigotimes_{\Gamma_0(R)}^q \Gamma_1(R)$ is the qth tensor power of $\Gamma_1(R)$ over $\Gamma_0(R)$ and J_q is the subgroup of the tensor power generated by elements $x_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes x_q$ which satisfy $x_i + x_j = 1$ or $x_i + x_j = 0$ for some $i \neq j$. An element $x_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes x_q \mod J_q$ will be denoted by $\{x_1, \ldots, x_q\}$.

Note that $\Gamma_q(k) = K_q(k)$ for each field k and $\Gamma_q(R_1 \times R_2) \simeq \Gamma_q(R_1) \times \Gamma_q(R_2)$ for rings R_1 , R_2 .

Lemma 8. In one of the following two cases

- (i) A, R, B, π as in Proposition 4
- (ii) an n-dimensional local field K, an object X of \mathfrak{F}_{∞} , $A = [X, \underline{\mathfrak{O}}_K]$, $R = [X, k_{n-1}], B = [X, \underline{K}],$

let $U_i\Gamma_q(B)$ be the subgroup of $\Gamma_q(B)$ generated by elements $\{1+\pi^i x, y_1, \ldots, y_{q-1}\}$ such that $x \in A$, $y_j \in B^*$, $q, i \geqslant 1$.

Then.

(1) There is a homomorphism $\rho_0^q: \Gamma_q(R) \to \Gamma_q(B)/U_1\Gamma_q(B)$ such that

$$\rho_0^q(\{x_1,\ldots,x_q\}) = \{\widetilde{x_1},\ldots,\widetilde{x_q}\} \mod U_1\Gamma_q(B)$$

where $\widetilde{x}_i \in A$ is a representative of x_i . In case (i) (resp. (ii)) the induced map

$$\Gamma_q(R) + \Gamma_{q-1}(R) \to \Gamma_q(B)/U_1\Gamma_q(B), \quad (x,y) \mapsto \rho_0^q(x) + \{\rho_0^{q-1}(y), \pi\}$$

(resp.

$$\Gamma_q(R)/m + \Gamma_{q-1}(R)/m \to \Gamma_q(B)/(U_1\Gamma_q(B) + m\Gamma_q(B)),$$

$$(x,y) \mapsto \rho_0^q(x) + \{\rho_0^{q-1}(y), \pi\})$$

is bijective (resp. bijective for every non-zero integer m).

- (2) If m is an integer invertible in R then $U_1\Gamma_a(B)$ is m-divisible.
- (3) In case (i) assume that R is additively generated by R^* . In case (ii) assume that $\operatorname{char}(k_{n-1}) = p > 0$. Then there exists a unique homomorphism

$$\rho_i^q : \Omega_B^{q-1} \to U_i \Gamma_q(B) / U_{i+1} \Gamma_q(B)$$

such that

$$\rho_i^q(xdy_1/y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dy_{q-1}/y_{q-1}) = \{1 + \widetilde{x}\pi^i, \widetilde{y_1}, \dots, \widetilde{y_{q-1}}\} \mod U_{i+1}\Gamma_q(B)$$
 for every $x \in R, \ y_1, \dots, y_{q-1} \in R^*$. The induced map

$$\Omega_R^{q-1}\oplus\Omega_R^{q-2}\to U_i\Gamma_q(B)/U_{i+1}\Gamma_q(B),\quad (x,y)\mapsto \rho_i^q(x)+\left\{\rho_i^{q-1}(y),\pi\right\}$$

is surjective. If i is invertible in R then the homomorphism ρ_i^q is surjective.

Proof. In case (i) these results follow from Proposition 4 by Bass–Tate's method [2, Proposition 4.3] for (1), Bloch's method [3, §3] for (3) and by writing down the kernel of $R \otimes R^* \to \Omega^1_R$, $x \otimes y \mapsto x dy/y$ as in [9, §1 Lemma 5].

If X is an object of $\operatorname{pro}(\mathcal{F}_{n-1})$ then case (ii) is a special case of (i) except n=1 and $k_0=\mathbb{F}_2$ where $[X,\underline{k_0}]$ is not generated by $[X,\underline{k_0}]^*$ in general. But in this exceptional case it is easy to check directly all the assertions.

For an arbitrary X we present here only the proof of (3) because the proof of (1) is rather similar.

Put $k=k_{n-1}$. For the existence of ρ_i^q it suffices to consider the cases where $X=\underline{\Omega_k^{q-1}}$ and $X=\underline{k}\times\prod^{q-1}\underline{k^*}$ ($\prod^r Y$ denotes the product of r copies of Y). Note that these objects are in $\operatorname{pro}(\mathfrak{F}_{n-1})$ since $[X,\underline{\Omega_k^q}]=\Omega_{[X,\underline{k}]}^q$ for any X and q.

The uniqueness follows from the fact that $[X, \underline{\Omega}_k^{q-1}]$ is generated by elements of the form $xdc_1/c_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dc_{q-1}/c_{q-1}$ such that $x \in [X, \underline{k}]$ and $c_1, \ldots, c_{q-1} \in k^*$.

To prove the surjectivity we may assume $X=(1+\pi^i\underline{O}_K)\times\prod^{q-1}\underline{K}^*$ and it suffices to prove in this case that the typical element in $U_i\Gamma_q(B)/U_{i+1}\Gamma_q(B)$ belongs to the image of the homomorphism introduced in (3). Let \underline{U}_K be the object of \mathcal{F}_n which represents the functor $X\to [X,\underline{O}_K]^*$. By Proposition 4 there exist morphisms $\theta_1\colon\underline{K}^*\to\coprod_{i=0}^{p-1}\underline{U}_K\pi^i$ (the direct sum in \mathcal{F}_n) and $\theta_2\colon\underline{K}^*\to\underline{K}^*$ such that $x=\theta_1(x)\theta_2(x)^p$ for each X in \mathcal{F}_∞ and each $x\in[X,\underline{K}^*]$ (in the proof of (1) p is replaced by m). Since $\coprod_{i=0}^{p-1}\underline{U}_K\pi^i$ belongs to $\operatorname{pro}(\mathcal{F}_{n-1})$ and

(1) p is replaced by m). Since $\coprod_{i=0}^{n} \underline{U_K}\pi^i$ belongs to $\operatorname{pro}(\mathfrak{F}_{n-1})$ and $(1+\pi^i[X,\underline{\mathfrak{O}_K}])^p\subset 1+\pi^{i+1}[X,\underline{\mathfrak{O}_K}]$ we are reduced to the case where X is an object of $\operatorname{pro}(\mathfrak{F}_{n-1})$.

4. Norm groups

In this section we prove Theorem 3 and Proposition 1. In subsection 4.1 we reduce these results to Proposition 6.

4.1. Reduction steps.

Definition 6. Let k be a field and let $H: \mathcal{E}(k) \to \operatorname{Ab}$ be a functor such that $\varinjlim_{k' \in \mathcal{E}(k)} H(k') = 0$. Let $w \in H(k)$ (cf. Introduction). For a ring R over k and $q \geqslant 1$ define the subgroup $N_q(w,R)$ (resp. $L_q(w,R)$) of $\Gamma_q(R)$ as follows. An element x belongs to $N_q(w,R)$ (resp. $L_q(w,R)$) if and only if there exist a finite set J and element $0 \in J$,

a map $f: J \to J$ such that for some $n \ge 0$ the *n*th iteration f^n with respect to the composite is a constant map with value 0,

and a family $(E_j, x_j)_{j \in J}$ $(E_j \in \mathcal{E}(k)), x_j \in \Gamma_q(E_j \otimes_k R))$ satisfying the following conditions:

- (i) $E_0 = k \text{ and } x_0 = x.$
- (ii) $E_{f(j)} \subset E_j$ for every $j \in J$.
- (iii) Let $j \in f(J)$. Then there exists a family $(y_t, z_t)_{t \in f^{-1}(j)}$ $(y_t \in (E_t \otimes_k R)^*, z_t \in \Gamma_{q-1}(E_j \otimes_k R))$ such that $x_t = \{y_t, z_t\}$ for all $t \in f^{-1}(j)$ and

$$x_j = \sum_{t \in f^{-1}(j)} \{ N_{E_t \otimes_k R/E_j \otimes_k R}(y_t), z_t \}$$

where $N_{E_t \otimes_k R/E_j \otimes_k R}$ denotes the norm homomorphism

$$(E_t \otimes_k R)^* \to (E_j \otimes_k R)^*.$$

- (iv) If $j \in J \setminus f(J)$ then w belongs to the kernel of $H(k) \to H(E_j)$ (resp. then one of the following two assertions is valid:
 - (a) w belongs to the kernel of $H(k) \to H(E_j)$,
 - (b) x_j belongs to the image of $\Gamma(\operatorname{Spec}(E_j \otimes_k R), K_q(E_j)) \to \Gamma_q(E_j \otimes_k R)$, where $K_q(E_j)$ denotes the constant sheaf on $\operatorname{Spec}(E_j \otimes_k R)$ defined by the set $K_q(E_j)$).

Remark. If the groups $\Gamma_q(E_j \otimes_k R)$ have a suitable "norm" homomorphism then x is the sum of the "norms" of x_j such that $f^{-1}(j) = \emptyset$. In particular, in the case where R = k we get $N_q(w,k) \subset N_q(w)$ and $N_1(w,k) = N_1(w)$.

Definition 7. For a field k let $[\mathcal{E}(k), Ab]$ be the abelian category of all functors $\mathcal{E}(k) \to Ab$.

- (1) For $q\geqslant 0$ let $\mathcal{N}_{q,k}$ denote the full subcategory of $[\mathcal{E}(k),\mathrm{Ab}]$ consisting of functors H such that $\varinjlim_{k'\in\mathcal{E}(k)}H(k')=0$ and such that for every $k'\in\mathcal{E}(k),\ w\in H(k')$ the norm group $N_q(w)$ coincides with $K_q(k')$. Here $N_q(w)$ is defined with respect to the functor $\mathcal{E}(k')\to\mathrm{Ab}$.
- (2) If K is an n-dimensional local field and $q \ge 1$, let $\underline{\mathbb{N}}_{q,K}$ (resp. $\underline{\mathcal{L}}_{q,K}$) denote the full subcategory of $[\mathcal{E}(K), Ab]$ consisting of functors H such that

$$\varinjlim_{K' \in \mathcal{E}(K)} H(K') = 0$$

and such that for every $K' \in \mathcal{E}(K)$, $w \in H(K')$ and every object X of \mathcal{F}_{∞} the group $N_q(w, [X, \underline{K'}])$ (resp. $L_q(w, [X, \underline{K'}])$) coincides with $\Gamma_q([X, \underline{K'}])$.

Lemma 9. Let K be an n-dimensional local field and let H be an object of $\underline{\mathcal{L}}_{q,K}$. Then for every $w \in H(K)$ the group $N_q(w)$ is an open subgroup of $K_q(K)$ of finite index.

Proof. Consider the case where $X = \prod^q \underline{K^*}$. We can take a system $(E_j, x_j)_{j \in J}$ as in Definition 6 such that $E_0 = K$, x_0 is the canonical element in $\Gamma_q([X, \underline{K}])$ and such that if $j \notin f(J)$ and $w \notin \ker(H(K) \to H(E_j))$ then x_j is the image of an element θ_j of $\operatorname{lcf}(X, K_q(E_j))$. Let $\theta \in \operatorname{lcf}(X, K_q(K)/N_q(w))$ be the sum of $N_{E_j/K} \circ \theta_j \mod N_q(w)$. Then the canonical map $[e, X] = \prod^q K^* \to K_q(K)/N_q(w)$ comes from θ .

Definition 8. Let k be a field. A collection $\{\mathcal{C}_{k'}\}_{k'\in\mathcal{E}(k)}$ of full subcategories $\mathcal{C}_{k'}$ of $[\mathcal{E}(k'), Ab]$ is called *admissible* if and only if it satisfies conditions (i) – (iii) below.

- (i) Let $E \in \mathcal{E}(k)$. Then every subobject, quotient object, extension and filtered inductive limit (in the category of $[\mathcal{E}(E), Ab]$) of objects of \mathcal{C}_E belongs to \mathcal{C}_E .
- (ii) Let $E, E' \in \mathcal{E}(k)$ and $E \subset E'$. If H is in \mathcal{C}_E then the composite functor $\mathcal{E}(E') \to \mathcal{E}(E) \xrightarrow{H} \operatorname{Ab}$ is in $\mathcal{C}_{E'}$.
- (iii) Let $E \in \mathcal{E}(k)$ and H is in $[\mathcal{E}(E), Ab]$. Then H is in \mathcal{C}_E if conditions (a) and (b) below are satisfied for a prime p.
 - (a) For some $E' \in \mathcal{E}(E)$ such that |E'| : E| is prime to p the composite functor $(E') \to (E) \xrightarrow{H} Ab$ is in $\mathcal{C}_{E'}$.
 - (b) Let q be a prime number distinct from p and let S be a direct subordered set of $\mathcal{E}(E)$. If the degree of every finite extension of the field $\varinjlim_{E' \in S} E'$ is a power of p then $\lim_{E' \in S} H(E') = 0$.

Lemma 10.

- (1) For each field k and q the collection $\{\mathcal{N}_{q,k'}\}_{k'\in\mathcal{E}(k)}$ is admissible. If K is an n-dimensional local field then the collections $\{\underline{\mathcal{N}}_{q,k'}\}_{k'\in\mathcal{E}(k)}$ and $\{\underline{\mathcal{L}}_{q,k'}\}_{k'\in\mathcal{E}(k)}$ are admissible.
- (2) Let k be a field. Assume that a collection $\{\mathcal{C}_{k'}\}_{k'\in\mathcal{E}(k)}$ is admissible. Let $r\geqslant 1$ and for every prime p there exist $E\in\mathcal{E}(k)$ such that |E:k| is prime to p and such that the functor $H^r(\ ,\mathbb{Z}/p^r)\colon\mathcal{E}(E)\to Ab$ is in \mathcal{C}_E . Then for each $k'\in\mathcal{E}(k)$, each discrete torsion abelian group M endowed with a continuous action of $\mathrm{Gal}(k'^{\mathrm{sep}}/k')$ and each $i\geqslant r$ the functor

$$H^i(\ , M): \mathcal{E}(k') \to \mathsf{Ab}$$

is in $C_{k'}$.

Definition 9. For a field k, $r \ge 0$ and a non-zero integer m define the group $H_m^r(k)$ as follows.

If char(k) = 0 let

$$H_m^r(k) = H^r(k, \mu_m^{\otimes (r-1)}).$$

If char (k) = p > 0 and $m = m'p^i$ where m' is prime to p and $i \ge 0$ let

$$H_m^r(k) = H_{m'}^r(k, \mu_{m'}^{\otimes (r-1)}) \oplus \operatorname{coker}(F-1; C_i^{r-1}(k) \to C_i^{r-1}(k) / \{C_i^{r-2}(k), T\})$$

(where C_i^{\cdot} is the group defined in [3, Ch.II,§7], $C_i^r = 0$ for r < 0).

By the above results it suffices for the proof of Theorem 3 to prove the following Proposition 5 in the case where m is a prime number.

Proposition 5. Let K be an n-dimensional local field. Let $q, r \ge 1$ and let m be a non-zero integer. Then the functor $H_m^r \colon \mathcal{E}(K) \to \mathsf{Ab}$ is in $\mathcal{L}_{q,K}$ if q+r=n+1 and in $\underline{\mathcal{N}}_{q,K}$ if q+r>n+1.

Now we begin the proofs of Proposition 1 and Proposition 5.

Definition 10. Let K be a complete discrete valuation field, $r \ge 0$ and m be a non-zero integer.

(1) Let $H_{m,\mathrm{ur}}^r$ and $H_m^r/H_{m,\mathrm{ur}}^r$ be the functors $\mathcal{E}(K)\to \mathrm{Ab}$:

$$H_{m,\text{ur}}^r(K') = \ker(H_m^r(K') \to H_m^r(K'_{\text{ur}})),$$

 $(H_m^r/H_{m,\text{ur}}^r)(K') = H_m^r(K')/H_{m,\text{ur}}^r(K')$

where K'_{ur} is the maximal unramified extension of K'.

(2) Let I_m^r (resp. J_m^r) be the functor $\mathcal{E}(K) \to \operatorname{Ab}$ such that $I_m^r(K') = H_m^r(k')$ (resp. $J_m^r(K') = H_m^r(k')$) where k' is the residue field of K' and such that the homomorphism $I_m^r(K') \to I_m^r(K'')$ (resp. $J_m^r(K') \to J_m^r(K'')$) for $K' \subset K''$ is $j_{k''/k'}$ (resp. $e(K''|K')j_{k''/k'}$) where k'' is the residue field of K'', $j_{k''/k'}$ is the canonical homomorphism induced by the inclusion $k' \subset k''$ and e(K''|K') is the index of ramification of K''/K'.

Lemma 11. Let K and m be as in Definition 10.

(1) For $r \ge 1$ there exists an exact sequence of functors

$$0 \to I^r_m \to H^r_{m,\mathrm{ur}} \to J^{r-1}_m \to 0.$$

- (2) J_m^r is in $\mathcal{N}_{1,K}$ for every $r \ge 0$.
- (3) Let $q, r \ge 1$. Then I_m^r is in $\mathcal{N}_{q,K}$ if and only if $H_m^r : \mathcal{E}(k) \to \mathsf{Ab}$ is in $\mathcal{N}_{q-1,k}$ where k is the residue field of K.

Proof. The assertion (1) follows from [11]. The assertion (3) follows from the facts that $1+\mathcal{M}_K\subset N_{L/K}(L^*)$ for every unramified extension L of K and that there exists a canonical split exact sequence

$$0 \to K_q(k) \to K_q(K)/U_1K_q(K) \to K_{q-1}(k) \to 0.$$

The following proposition will be proved in 4.4.

Proposition 6. Let K be a complete discrete valuation field with residue field k. Let $q, r \ge 1$ and m be a non-zero integer. Assume that $[k:k^p] \le p^{q+r-2}$ if $\operatorname{char}(k) = p > 0$. Then:

- (1) $H_m^r/H_{m,\text{ur}}^r$ is in $\mathcal{N}_{q,K}$.
- (2) If K is an n-dimensional local field with $n \ge 1$ then $H_m^r/H_{m,ur}^r$ is in $\underline{\mathfrak{N}}_{q,K}$.

Proposition 1 follows from this proposition by Lemma 10 and Lemma 11 (note that if char (k) = p > 0 and $i \ge 0$ then $H_{p^i}^r(k)$ is isomorphic to $\ker(p^i : H^r(k) \to H^r(k))$ as it follows from [11]).

Lemma 12. Let K be an n-dimensional local field and let X be an object of \mathfrak{F}_{∞} . Consider the following cases.

- (i) q > n + 1 and m is a non-zero integer.
- (ii) q = n + 1, char (K) = p > 0 and m is a power of p.
- (iii) q = n + 1 and m is a non-zero integer.

Let $x \in \Gamma_q([X, \underline{K}])$. Then in cases (i) and (ii) (resp. in case (iii)) there exist a triple (J, 0, f) and a family $(E_j, x_j)_{j \in J}$ which satisfy all the conditions in Definition 6 with k = K except condition (iv), and which satisfy the following condition:

(iv)' If $j \in J \setminus f(J)$ then $x_j \in m\Gamma_q([X, \underline{E_j}])$ (resp. x_j belongs to $m\Gamma_q([X, \underline{E_j}])$ or to the image of $lcf(X, K_q(E_j)) \to \Gamma_q([X, E_j])$).

Corollary. Let K be an n-dimensional local field. Then $mK_{n+1}(K)$ is an open subgroup of finite index of $K_{n+1}(K)$ for every non-zero integer m.

This corollary follows from case (iii) above by the argument in the proof of Lemma 9.

Proof of Lemma 12. We may assume that m is a prime number.

First we consider case (ii). By Lemma 6 we may assume that there are elements $b_1, \ldots, b_{n+1} \in [X, \underline{K}]^*$ and $c_1, \ldots, c_{n+1} \in K^*$ such that $x = \{b_1, \ldots, b_{n+1}\}$ and $b_i \in [X, \underline{K}^p(c_i)]^*$ for each i. We may assume that $|K^p(c_1, \ldots, c_r)| : |K^p| = p^r$ and $c_{r+1} \in K^p(c_1, \ldots, c_r)$ for some $r \leq n$. Let $J = \{0, 1, \ldots, r\}$, and define $f: J \to J$ by f(j) = j - 1 for $j \geqslant 1$ and f(0) = 0. Put $E_j = K(c_1^{1/p}, \ldots, c_j^{1/p})$ and $x_j = \{b_1^{1/p}, \ldots, b_j^{1/p}, b_{j+1}, \ldots, b_{n+1}\}$. Then $x_r = p\{b_1^{1/p}, \ldots, b_{r+1}^{1/p}, b_{r+2}, \ldots, b_{n+1}\}$ in $\Gamma_{n+1}([X, \underline{E_r}])$.

Next we consider cases (i) and (iii). If K is a finite field then the assertion for (i) follows from Lemma 13 below and the assertion for (iii) is trivial. Assume $n \ge 1$ and let k be the residue field of K. By induction on n Lemma 8 (1) (2) and case (ii) of Lemma 12 show that we may assume $x \in U_1\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}])$, $\operatorname{char}(K) = 0$ and $m = \operatorname{char}(k) = p > 0$. Furthermore we may assume that K contains a primitive p th root ζ of 1. Let $e_K = v_K(p)$ and let π be a prime element of K. Then

$$U_i\Gamma_q([X,\underline{\mathfrak{O}}_K])\subset pU_1\Gamma_q([X,\underline{\mathfrak{O}}_K]), \quad \text{if } i>pe_K/(p-1).$$

From this and Lemma 8 (3) (and a computation of the map $x \mapsto x^p$ on $U_1\Gamma_q([X, \underline{\mathcal{O}}_K])$) it follows that $U_1\Gamma_q([X, \underline{K}])$ is p-divisible if q > n+1 and that there is a surjective

homomorphism

$$[X, \underline{\Omega_k^{n-1}}]/(1-C)[X, \underline{\Omega_k^{n-1}}] \to U_1\Gamma_{n+1}([X, \underline{K}])/pU_1\Gamma_{n+1}([X, \underline{K}]),$$
$$xdy_1/y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dy_{n-1}/y_{n-1} \mapsto \{1 + \widetilde{x}(\zeta - 1)^p, \widetilde{y_1}, \dots, \widetilde{y_{n_1}}, \pi\}$$

where C is the Cartier operator. By Lemma 7

$$[X,\underline{\Omega_k^{n-1}}]/(1-\mathbf{C})[X,\underline{\Omega_k^{n-1}}] = \mathrm{lcf}(X,\Omega_k^{n-1}/(1-\mathbf{C})\Omega_k^{n-1}). \qquad \qquad \Box$$

Lemma 13. Let K be a finite field and let X be an object of \mathfrak{F}_{∞} . Then

- (1) $\Gamma_q[X,\underline{K}] = 0$ for $q \ge 2$.
- (2) For every finite extension L of K the norm homomorphism $[X, \underline{L}]^* \to [X, \underline{K}]^*$ is surjective.

Proof. Follows from Lemma 5 (2).

Proof of Proposition 5 assuming Proposition 6. If K is a finite field, the assertion of Proposition 5 follows from Lemma 13.

Let $n \ge 1$. Let k be the residue field of K. Let I_m^r and I_m^r be as in Definition 10. Assume q + r = n + 1 (resp. q + r > n + 1). Using Lemma 8 (1) and the fact that

$$U_1\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}]) \subset N_{L/K}\Gamma_q([X,\underline{L}])$$

for every unramified extension L/K we can deduce that I_m^r is in $\underline{\mathcal{L}}_{q,K}$ (resp. $\underline{\mathcal{N}}_{q,K}$) from the induction hypothesis H_m^r : $\mathcal{E}(k) \to \operatorname{Ab}$ is in $\underline{\mathcal{L}}_{q-1,k}$ (resp. $\underline{\mathcal{N}}_{q-1,k}$). We can deduce J_m^{r-1} is in $\underline{\mathcal{L}}_{q,K}$ (resp. $\underline{\mathcal{N}}_{q,K}$) from the hypothesis H_m^{r-1} : $\mathcal{E}(k) \to \operatorname{Ab}$ is in $\underline{\mathcal{L}}_{q,k}$ (resp. $\underline{\mathcal{N}}_{q,k}$). Thus $H_{m,\mathrm{ur}}^r$ is in $\underline{\mathcal{L}}_{q,K}$ (resp. $\underline{\mathcal{N}}_{q,K}$).

4.2. Proof of Proposition 6.

Let k be a field and let m be a non-zero integer. Then $\bigoplus_{r\geqslant 0} H^r_m(k)$ (cf. Definition 9) has a natural right $\bigoplus_{q\geqslant 0} K_q(k)$ -module structure (if m is invertible in k this structure is defined by the cohomological symbol $h^q_{m,k}\colon K_q(k)/m\to H^q(k,\mu_m^{\otimes q})$ and the cupproduct, cf. [9, §3.1]). We denote the product in this structure by $\{w,a\}$ ($a\in \bigoplus_{q\geqslant 0} K_q(k),\ w\in \bigoplus_{r\geqslant 0} H^r_m(k)$).

Definition 11. Let K be a complete discrete valuation field with residue field k such that char(k) = p > 0. Let $r \ge 1$. We call an element w of $H_p^r(K)$ standard if and only if w is in one of the following forms (i) or (ii).

(i) $w = \{\chi, a_1, \ldots, a_{r-1}\}$ where χ is an element of $H^1_p(K)$ corresponding to a totally ramified cyclic extension of K of degree p, and a_1, \ldots, a_{r-1} are elements of \mathcal{O}_K^* such that

$$|k^p(\overline{a_1},\ldots,\overline{a_{r-1}}):k^p|=p^{r-1}$$

($\overline{a_i}$ denotes the residue of a_i).

(ii) $w = \{\chi, a_1, \dots, a_{r-2}, \pi\}$ where χ is an element of $H^1_p(K)$ corresponding to a cyclic extension of K of degree p whose residue field is an inseparable extension of k of degree p, π is a prime element of K and a_1, \dots, a_{r-2} are elements of \mathcal{O}_K^* such that $|k^p(\overline{a_1}, \dots, \overline{a_{r-2}}) : k^p| = p^{r-2}$.

Lemma 14. Let K and k be as in Definition 11. Assume that $|k:k^p|=p^{r-1}$. Then for every element $w \in H_p^r(K) \setminus H_{p,\mathrm{ur}}^r(K)$ there exists a finite extension L of K such that |L:K| is prime to p and such that the image of w in $H_p^r(L)$ is standard.

Proof. If char (K) = p the proof goes just as in the proof of [8, §4 Lemma 5] where the case of r = 2 was treated.

If char (K) = 0 we may assume that K contains a primitive p th root of 1. Then the cohomological symbol $h_{n,K}^r : K_r(K)/p \to H_n^r(K)$ is surjective and

$$\operatorname{coker}(h^r_{p,K};U_1K_r(K)\to H^r_p(K))\simeq \nu_{r-1}(k)$$

by [11] and $|k:k^p| = p^{r-1}$.

Here we are making the following:

Definition 12. Let K be a complete discrete valuation field. Then $U_iK_q(K)$ for $i, q \ge 1$ denotes $U_i\Gamma_q(K)$ of Lemma 8 case (i) (take $A = \mathcal{O}_K$ and B = K).

Definition 13. Let k be a field of characteristic p > 0. As in Milne [13] denote by $\nu_r(k)$ the kernel of the homomorphism

$$\Omega_k^r \to \Omega_k^r/d(\Omega_k^{r-1}), \quad xdy_1/y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dy_r/y_r \mapsto (x^p-x)dy_1/y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dy_r/y_r.$$

By [11, Lemma 2] for every element $\,\alpha\,$ of $\,\nu_{r-1}(k)\,$ there is a finite extension $\,k'\,$ of $\,k\,$ such that

|k':k| is prime to p and the image of α in $\nu_{r-1}(k')$ is the sum of elements of type

$$dx_1/x_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dx_r/x_r$$
.

Hence we can follow the method of the proof of [8, $\S4$ Lemma 5 or $\S2$ Proposition 2]. \square

Proof of Proposition 6. If m is invertible in k then $H_m^r = H_{m,\mathrm{ur}}^r$. Hence we may assume that $\mathrm{char}(k) = p > 0$ and $m = p^i$, $i \geqslant 1$. Since $\mathrm{ker}(p: H_{p^i}^r/H_{p^i,\mathrm{ur}}^r) \to H_{p^i}^r/H_{p^i,\mathrm{ur}}^r$ is isomorphic to $H_p^r/H_{p,\mathrm{ur}}^r$ by [11], we may assume m = p.

The proof of part (1) is rather similar to the proof of part (2). So we present here only the proof of part (2), but the method is directly applicable to the proof of (1).

The proof is divided in several steps. In the following K always denotes an n-dimensional local field with $n \ge 1$ and with residue field k such that $\operatorname{char}(k) = p > 0$, except in Lemma 21. K denotes an object of \mathcal{F}_{∞} .

Step 1. In this step w denotes a standard element of $H^r_p(K)$ and \overline{w} is its image in $(H^r_p/H^r_{p,\mathrm{ur}})(K)$. We shall prove here that $U_1\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}])\subset N(\overline{w},[X,\underline{K}])$. We fix a presentation of w as in (i) or (ii) of Definition 11. Let L be a cyclic extension of K corresponding to χ . In case (i) (resp. (ii)) let h be a prime element of L (resp. an element of \mathcal{O}_L such that the residue class \overline{h} is not contained in k). Let G be the subgroup of K^* generated by a_1,\ldots,a_{r-1} (resp. by a_1,\ldots,a_{r-2},π), by $1+\mathcal{M}_K$ and $N_{L/K}(h)$. Let l be the subfield of k generated by the residue classes of a_1,\ldots,a_{r-1} (resp. $a_1,\ldots,a_{r-2},N_{L/K}(h)$).

Let $i \geqslant 1$. Let $G_{i,q}$ be the subgroup of $U_i\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}])$ generated by $\{U_i\Gamma_{q-1}([X,\underline{K}]),G\}$ and $U_{i+1}\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}])$. Under these notation we have the following Lemma 15, 16,17.

Lemma 15.

- (1) $G_{i,q} \subset N_q(w, [X, \underline{K}]) + U_{i+1}\Gamma_q([X, \underline{K}]).$
- (2) The homomorphism ρ_i^q of Lemma 8 (3) induces the surjections

$$[X, \underline{\Omega_k^{q-1}}] \to [X, \underline{\Omega_{k/l}^{q-1}}] \xrightarrow{\overline{\rho_i^q}} U_1\Gamma_q([X, \underline{K}])/G_{i,q}.$$

(3) If ρ_i^q is defined using a prime element π which belongs to G then the above homomorphism $\overline{\rho_i^q}$ annihilates the image of the exterior derivation $d: [X, \underline{\Omega_{k/l}^{q-2}}] \to [X, \underline{\Omega_{k/l}^{q-1}}].$

Lemma 16. Let a be an element of K^* such that $v_K(a) = i$ and $a = a_1^{s(1)} \dots a_{r-1}^{s(r-1)} N_{L/K}(h)^{s(r)}$ (resp. $a = a_1^{s(1)} \dots a_{r-2}^{s(r-2)} \pi^{s(r-1)} N_{L/K}(h)^{s(r)}$) where s is a map $\{0, \dots, r\} \to \mathbb{Z}$ such that $p \nmid s(j)$ for some $j \neq r$. Then $1 - x^p a \in N_1(w, [X, \underline{K}])$ for each $x \in [X, \underline{\mathcal{O}}_K]$.

Proof. It follows from the fact that $w \in \{H_p^{r-1}(K), a\}$ and $1 - x^p a$ is the norm of $1 - xa^{1/p} \in [X, \underline{K(a^{1/p})}]^*$ $(\underline{K(a^{1/p})}$ denotes the ring object which represents the functor $X \to K(a^{1/p}) \otimes_K [X, \underline{K}]$).

Lemma 17. Let σ be a generator of $\operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$ and let $a = h^{-1}\sigma(h) - 1$, $b = N_{L/K}(a)$, $t = v_K(b)$. Let f = 1 in case (i) and let f = p in case (ii). Let $N: [X, \underline{L}]^* \to [X, \underline{K}]^*$ be the norm homomorphism. Then:

(1) If f|i and $1 \le i < t$ then for every $x \in \mathcal{M}_L^{i/f}[X, \underline{\mathcal{O}_L}]$

$$N(1+x) \equiv 1 + N(x) \mod \mathfrak{M}_K^{i+1}[X, \underline{\mathfrak{O}_K}].$$

(2) For every $x \in [X, \mathcal{O}_K]$

$$N(1+xa) \equiv 1 + (x^p - x)b \mod \mathcal{M}_K^{t+1}[X, \underline{\mathcal{O}_K}].$$

186

In case (ii) for every integer r prime to p and every $x \in [X, \mathcal{O}_K]$

$$N(1 + xh^r a) \equiv 1 + x^p N(h)^r b \mod \mathcal{M}_K^{t+1}[X, \mathcal{O}_K].$$

K. Kato

(3)

$$1+\mathcal{M}_K^{t+1}[X,\underline{\mathcal{O}_K}]\subset N(1+\mathcal{M}_L^{t/f+1}[X,\underline{\mathcal{O}_L}]).$$

Proof. Follows from the computation of the norm homomorphism $L^* \to K^*$ in Serre [15, Ch. V §3] and [8, §1].

From these lemmas we have

(1) If 0 < i < t then

$$U_i\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}]) \subset N_q(w,[X,\underline{K}]) + U_{i+1}\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}]).$$

- (2) $U_{t+1}\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}]) \subset N_q(w,[X,\underline{K}]).$
- (3) In case (ii) let $a_{r-1} = N_{L/K}(h)$. then in both cases (i) and (ii) the homomorphism

$$[X, \underline{\Omega_k^{q+r-2}}] \to U_1 \Gamma_q([X, \underline{K}]) / N_q(w, [X, \underline{K}]),$$

$$x d\overline{a_1} / \overline{a_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge d\overline{a_{r-1}} / \overline{a_{r-1}} \wedge dy_1 / y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dy_{q-1} / y_{q-1}$$

$$\mapsto \{1 + \widetilde{x}b, \widetilde{y_1}, \dots, \widetilde{y_{q-1}}\},$$

(
$$x \in [X, \underline{k}], y_i \in [X, \underline{k^*}]$$
) annihilates $(1 - C)[X, \underline{\Omega_k^{q+r-2}}]$.

Lemma 7 and (1), (2), (3) imply that $U_1\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}])$ is contained in the sum of $N_q(w,[X,\underline{K}])$ and the image of $lcf(X,U_{t+1}K_q(K))$.

Lemma 18. For each $u \in \mathcal{O}_K$ there exists an element ψ of $H^1_{p,\mathrm{ur}}(K)$ such that $(1+ub)N_{L/K}(h)^{-1}$ is contained in the norm group $N_{L'/K}L'^*$ where L' is the cyclic extension of K corresponding to $\chi + \psi$ (χ corresponds to L/K).

Proof. Follows from [9, §3.3 Lemma 15] (can be proved using the formula

$$N_{L_{\mathrm{ur}}/K_{\mathrm{ur}}}(1+xa) \equiv 1 + (x^p - x)b \mod b\mathcal{M}_{K_{\mathrm{ur}}}$$

for $x \in \mathcal{O}_{K_{\mathrm{nr}}}$.

Lemma 18 shows that 1 + ub is contained in the subgroup generated by $N_{L/K}L^*$ and $N_{L'/K}L'^*$, $\chi_L = 0$, $\chi_{L'} \in H^1_{p,\mathrm{ur}}(L')$.

Step 2. Next we prove that

$$U_1\Gamma_q([X,K]) \subset N(\overline{w},[X,K])$$

for every $w \in H_p^r(K)$ where \overline{w} is the image of w in $(H_p^r/H_{p,\mathrm{ur}}^r)(K)$.

Lemma 19. Let $q, r \geqslant 1$ and let $w \in H_p^r(K)$. Then there exists $i \geqslant 1$ such that $p^i\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K'}])$ and $U_{e(K'|K)i}\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K'}])$ are contained in $N_q(w_{K'},[X,\underline{K'}])$ for every $K' \in \mathcal{E}(K)$ where $w_{K'}$ denotes the image of w in $H_p^r(K')$ and e(K'|K) denotes the ramification index of K'/K.

Lemma 20. Let $i \ge 1$ and $x \in U_1\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}])$; (resp. $x = \{u_1, \ldots, u_q\}$ with $u_i \in [X, \mathcal{O}_K^*]$; resp. $x \in \Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}])$).

Then there exists a triple (J,0,f) and a family $(E_j,x_j)_{j\in J}$ which satisfy all the conditions of Definition 6 except (iv) and satisfy condition (iv)' below.

- (iv)' If $j \notin f(J)$ then x_j satisfy one of the following three properties:
 - (a) $x_j \in p^i \Gamma_q([X, E_j]).$
 - (b) $x_j \in U_{e(E_j|K)i}\overline{\Gamma_q}([X,\underline{E_j}]); (resp. (b) \ x_j \in U_1\Gamma_q([X,E_j]).$
 - (c) Let $\overline{E_j}$ be the residue field of E_j . There are elements c_1, \ldots, c_{q-1} of $\mathcal{O}_{E_j}^*$ such that $x_j \in \{U_1\Gamma_1([X,\underline{E_j}]),c_1,\ldots,c_{q-1}\}$ and $|\overline{E_j}^p(c_1,\ldots,c_{q-1}):\overline{E_j}^p|=p^{q-1};$ (resp. (c) There are elements b_1,\ldots,b_q of $[X,\mathcal{O}_{E_j}^*]$ and c_1,\ldots,c_q of $\mathcal{O}_{E_j}^*$ such that $x_j = \{b_1,\ldots,b_q\}$ and such that for each m the residue class $\overline{b_m} \in [X,\overline{E_j}]$ belongs to $[X,\overline{E_j}]^p[\overline{c_m}]$ and $|\overline{E_j}^p(c_1,\ldots,c_q):\overline{E_j}^p|=p^q);$ (resp. (c) There are elements b_1,\ldots,b_{q-1} of $[X,\mathcal{O}_{E_j}^*]$ and c_1,\ldots,c_{q-1} of $\mathcal{O}_{E_j}^*$ such that $x_j \in \{[X,\underline{E_j}]^*,b_1,\ldots,b_{q-1}\}$ and such that for each m the residue class $\overline{b_m} \in [X,\overline{E_j}]$ belongs to $[X,\overline{E_j}]^p[\overline{c_m}]$ and $|\overline{E_j}^p(c_1,\ldots,c_{q-1}):\overline{E_j}^p|=p^{q-1}).$

Using Lemma 19 and 20 it suffices for the purpose of this step to consider the following elements

 $\{u, c_1, \ldots, c_{q-1}\} \in U_1\Gamma_q([X, \underline{K}])$ such that $u \in U_1\Gamma_1([X, \underline{K}]), c_1, \ldots, c_{q-1} \in \mathcal{O}_K^*$ and $|k^p(\overline{c_1}, \ldots, \overline{c_{q-1}}) : k^p| = p^{q-1}$.

For each $i=1,\ldots,q-1$ and each $s\geqslant 0$ take a p^s th root $c_{i,s}$ of $-c_i$ satisfying $c_{i,s+1}^p=c_{i,s}$. Note that $N_{k(c_{i,s+1})/k(c_{i,s})}(-c_{i,s+1})=-c_{i,s}$. For each $m\geqslant 0$ write m in the form (q-1)s+r ($s\geqslant 0$, $0\leqslant r< q-1$). Let E_m be the finite extension of K of degree p^m generated by $c_{i,s+1}$ ($1\leqslant i\leqslant r$) and $c_{i,s}$ ($r+1\leqslant i\leqslant q-1$) and let

$$x_m = \{u, -c_{1,s+1}, \dots, -c_{r,s+1}, -c_{r+1,s}, \dots, -c_{q-1,s}\} \in \Gamma_q([X, \underline{E_m}]).$$

Then $E_{\infty}=\varinjlim E_m$ is a henselian discrete valuation field with residue field $\overline{E_{\infty}}$ satisfying $|\overline{E_{\infty}}:\overline{E_{\infty}}^p|\leqslant p^{r-1}$. Hence by Lemma 14 and Lemma 21 below there exists $m<\infty$ such that for some finite extension E'_m of E_m of degree prime to p the image of w in $H^r_p(E'_m)$ is standard. Let $J=\{0,1,\ldots,m,m'\}$, f(j)=j-1 for $1\leqslant j\leqslant m$, f(0)=0, f(m')=m, $E_{m'}=E'_m$ and

$$x_{m'} = \{u^{1/|E'_m:E_m|}, c_1, \ldots, c_{q-1}\}.$$

Then from Step 1 we deduce $\{u, c_1, \ldots, c_{q-1}\} \in N_q(\overline{w}, [X, \underline{K}]).$

Lemma 21. Let K be a henselian discrete valuation field, and let \widehat{K} be its completion. Then $H^r_m(K) \simeq H^r_m(\widehat{K})$ for every r and m.

Proof. If m is invertible in K this follows from the isomorphism $\operatorname{Gal}(\widehat{K}^{\operatorname{sep}}/\widehat{K}) \simeq \operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{sep}}/K)$ (cf. [1, Lemma 2.2.1]). Assume $\operatorname{char}(K) = p > 0$ and $m = p^i$ ($i \geq 1$). For a field k of characteristic p > 0 the group $H^r_{p^i}(k)$ is isomorphic to $(H^1_{p^i}(k) \otimes k^* \otimes \cdots \otimes k^*)/J$ where J is the subgroup of the tensor product generated by elements of the form (cf. [9, §2.2 Corollary 4 to Proposition 2])

- (i) $\chi \otimes a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_{r-1}$ such that $a_i = a_j$ for some $i \neq j$,
- (ii) $\chi \otimes a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_{r-1}$ such that $a_i \in N_{k_\chi/k} k_\chi^*$ for some i where k_χ is the extension of k corresponding to χ .

By the above isomorphism of the Galois groups $H^1_{p^i}(K) \simeq H^1_{p^i}(\widehat{K})$. Furthermore if L is a cyclic extension of K then $1+\mathcal{M}^n_K \subset N_{L/K}L^*$ and $1+\mathcal{M}^n_{\widehat{K}} \subset N_{L\widehat{K}/\widehat{K}}(L\widehat{K})^*$ for sufficiently large n. Since $K^*/(1+\mathcal{M}^n_K) \simeq \widehat{K}^*/(1+\mathcal{M}^n_{\widehat{K}})$, the lemma follows. \square

Step 3. In this step we prove that the subgroup of $\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}])$ generated by $U_1\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}])$ and elements of the form $\{u_1,\ldots,u_q\}$ $(u_i\in[X,\underline{\mathcal{O}}_K^*])$ is contained in $N_q(\overline{w},[X,\underline{K}])$. By Lemma 20 it suffices to consider elements $\{b_1,\ldots,b_q\}$ such that $b_i\in[X,\underline{\mathcal{O}}_K^*]$ and such that there are elements $c_j\in\mathcal{O}_K^*$ satisfying

$$|k^p(\overline{c_1},\ldots,\overline{c_q}):k^p|=p^q$$

and $\overline{b_i} \in [X,\underline{k}]^p[\overline{c_i}]$ for each i. Define fields E_m as in Step 2 replacing q-1 by q. Then $E_\infty = \varinjlim_{m} E_m$ is a henselian discrete valuation field with residue field $\overline{E_\infty}$ satisfying $|\overline{E_\infty}:\overline{E_\infty}^p| \leqslant p^{r-2}$. Hence $H_p^r(\widehat{E_\infty}) = H_{p,\mathrm{ur}}^r(\widehat{E_\infty})$. By Lemma 21 there exists $m < \infty$ such that $w_{E_m} \in H_{p,\mathrm{ur}}^r(E_m)$.

Step 4. Let w be a standard element. Then there exists a prime element π of K such that $\pi \in N_1(w, [X, \underline{K}]) = \Gamma_q([X, \underline{K}])$.

Step 5. Let w be any element of $H^r_p(K)$. To show that $\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}]) = N_q(\overline{w},[X,\underline{K}])$ it suffices using Lemma 20 to consider elements of $\Gamma_q([X,\underline{K}])$ of the form $\{x,b_1,\ldots,b_{q-1}\}$ ($x\in [X,\underline{K}]^*$, $b_i\in [X,\underline{O}_K^*]$) such that there are elements $c_1,\ldots,c_{q-1}\in \mathcal{O}_K^*$ satisfying $|k^p(\overline{c_1},\ldots,\overline{c_{q-1}}):k^p|=p^{q-1}$ and $\overline{b_i}\in [X,\underline{k}]^p[\overline{c_i}]$ for each i. The fields E_m are defined again as in Step 2, and we are reduced to the case where w is standard.

5. Proof of Theorem 2

Let K be an n-dimensional local field. By [9, §3 Proposition 1] $H^r(K) = 0$ for r > n+1 and there exists a canonical isomorphism $H^{n+1}(K) \simeq \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$. For $0 \le r \le n+1$ the canonical pairing

$$\{ , \}: H^r(K) \times K_{n+1-r}(K) \to H^{n+1}(K)$$

(see subsection 4.2) induces a homomorphism

$$\Phi_K^r: H^r(K) \to \operatorname{Hom}(K_{n+1-r}(K), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}).$$

if $w \in H^r(K)$ with $r \geqslant 1$ (resp. r=0) then $\Phi_K^r(w)$ annihilates the norm group $N_{n+1-r}(w)$ (resp. $\Phi_K^r(w)$ annihilates $mK_{n+1}(K)$ where m is the order of w). Since $N_{n+1-r}(w)$ (resp. $mK_{n+1}(K)$) is open in $K_{n+1-r}(K)$ by Theorem 3 (resp. Corollary to Lemma 12), $\Phi_K^r(w)$ is a continuous character of $K_{n+1-r}(K)$ of finite order.

5.1. Continuous characters of prime order.

In this subsection we shall prove that for every prime p the map Φ_K^r ($0 \le r \le n+1$) induces a bijection between $H_p^r(K)$ (cf. Definition 10) and the group of all continuous characters of order p of $K_{n+1-r}(K)$. We may assume that $n \ge 1$ and $1 \le r \le n$. Let k be the residue field of K. In the case where $\operatorname{char}(k) \ne p$ the above assertion follows by induction on n from the isomorphisms

$$H^r_p(k) \oplus H^{r-1}_p(k) \simeq H^r_p(K), \quad K_q(k)/p \oplus K_q(k)/p \simeq K_q(K)/p.$$

Now we consider the case of char (k) = p.

Definition 14. Let K be a complete discrete valuation field with residue field k of characteristic p > 0. For $r \ge 1$ and $i \ge 0$ we define the subgroup $T_iH_p^r(K)$ of $H_p^r(K)$ as follows.

(1) If $\operatorname{char}(K) = p$ then let $\delta_K^r : \Omega_K^{r-1} = C_1^{r-1}(K) \to H_p^r(K)$ be the canonical projection. Then $T_i H_p^r(K)$ is the subgroup of $H_p^r(K)$ generated by elements of the form

$$\delta_K^r(xdy_1/y_1 \wedge \dots \wedge dy_{r-1}/y_{r-1}), \quad x \in K, y_1, \dots, y_{r-1} \in K^*, v_K(x) \geqslant -i.$$

(2) If $\operatorname{char}(K) = 0$ then let ζ be a primitive pth root of 1, and let $L = K(\zeta)$. Let $j = (pe_K/(p-1) - i)e(L|K)$ where $e_K = v_K(p)$ and e(L|K) is the ramification index of L/K. If $j \geqslant 1$ let $U_jH_p^r(L)$ be the image of $U_jK_r(L)$ (cf. Definition 12) under the cohomological symbol $K_r(L)/p \to H_p^r(L)$. If $j \leqslant 0$, let $U_jH_p^r(L) = H_p^r(L)$. Then $T_iH_p^r(K)$ is the inverse image of $U_jH_p^r(L)$ under the canonical injection $H_p^r(K) \to H_p^r(L)$.

Remark. $T_iH_p^1(K)$ coincides with the subgroup consisting of elements which corresponds to cyclic extensions of K of degree p with ramification number $\leq i$ (the ramification number is defined as t of Lemma 17).

Let K be as in Definition 14, and assume that $|k:k^p|<\infty$. Fix $q,r\geqslant 1$ such that $|k:k^p|=p^{q+r-2}$. Let $T_i=T_iH_n^r(K)$, for $i\geqslant 0$; let U_i be the image of $U_iK_q(K)$ in $K_q(K)/p$ for $i \ge 1$, and let $U_0 = K_q(K)/p$. Let $e = v_K(p)$ $(= \infty \text{ if } \operatorname{char}(K) = p)$. Fix a prime element π of K. Via the homomorphism

$$(x,y) \mapsto \rho_i^q(x) + \{\rho_i^{q-1}(y), \pi\}$$

of Lemma 8 whose kernel is known by [11], we identify U_i/U_{i+1} with the following groups:

- (1) $K_q(k)/p \oplus K_{q-1}(k)/p$ if i = 0.
- (2) Ω_k^{q-1} if 0 < i < pe/(p-1) and i is prime to p.
- (3) $\Omega_k^{q-1}/\Omega_{k,d=0}^{q-1} \oplus \Omega_k^{q-2}/\Omega_{k,d=0}^{q-2}$ if 0 < i < pe/(p-1) and p|i. (4) $\Omega_k^{q-1}/D_{a,k}^{q-1} \oplus \Omega_k^{q-2}/D_{a,k}^{q-2}$ if char(K) = 0, pe/(p-1) is an integer and i = 1
- (5) 0 if i > pe/(p-1).

Here in (3) $\Omega_{k,d=0}^q$ ($q \geqslant 0$) denotes the kernel of the exterior derivation

 $d: \Omega_k^q \to \Omega_k^{q+1}$. In (4) a denotes the residue class of $p\pi^{-e}$ where $e = v_K(p)$ and $D_{a,k}$ denotes the subgroup of Ω_k^q generated by $d(\Omega_k^{q-1})$ and elements of the form

$$(x^p + ax)dy_1/y_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dy_q/y_q$$
.

Note that $H^{r+1}_p(K)\simeq H^{q+r-1}_p(k)$ by [11]. Let $\delta=\delta^{q+r-1}_k\colon \Omega^{q+r-2}_k\to H^{q+r-1}_p(k)$ (Definition 14).

Lemma 22. In the canonical pairing

$$H_p^r(K) \times K_q(K)/p \to H_p^{q+r}(K) \simeq H_p^{q+r-1}(k)$$

 T_i annihilates U_{i+1} for each $i \ge 0$. Furthermore,

(1) $T_0 = H_{p,\mathrm{ur}}^r(k) \simeq H_p^r(k) \oplus H_p^{r-1}(k)$, and the induced pairing

$$T_0\times U_0/U_1\to H^{q+r-1}_p(k)$$

is identified with the direct sum of the canonical pairings

$$H_p^r(k) \times K_{q-1}(k)/p \to H_p^{q+r-1}(k), \quad H_p^{r-1}(k) \times K_q(k)/p \to H_p^{q+r-1}(k).$$

(2) If 0 < i < pe/(p-1) and i is prime to p then there exists an isomorphism

$$T_i/T_{i-1} \simeq \Omega_k^{r-1}$$

such that the induced pairing $T_i/T_{i-1} \times U_i/U_{i+1} \to H_p^{q+r-1}(k)$ is identified with

$$\Omega_k^{r-1} \times \Omega_k^{q-1} \to H_p^{q+r-1}(k), \quad (w,v) \mapsto \delta(w \wedge v).$$

(3) If 0 < i < pe/(p-1) and p|i then there exists an isomorphism

$$T_i/T_{i-1} \simeq \Omega_k^{r-1}/\Omega_{k,d=0}^{r-1} \oplus \Omega_k^{r-2}/\Omega_{k,d=0}^{r-2}$$

such that the induced pairing is identified with

$$(w_1 \oplus w_2, v_1 \oplus v_2) \mapsto \delta(dw_1 \wedge v_2 + dw_2 \wedge v_1).$$

(4) If char (K) = 0 and pe/(p-1) is not an integer, then $H_p^r(K) = T_i$ for the maximal integer i smaller than pe/(p-1). Assume that char (K) = 0 and pe/(p-1) is an integer. Let a be the residue element of $p\pi^{-e}$ and let for $s \ge 0$

$$\nu_s(a, F) = \ker(\Omega_{k,d=0}^s \to \Omega_k^s, \quad w \mapsto C(w) + aw)$$

(C denotes the Cartier operator). Then there exists an isomorphism

$$T_{pe/(p-1)}/T_{pe/(p-1)-1} \simeq \nu_r(a,k) \oplus \nu_{r-1}(a,k)$$

such that the induced pairing is identified with

$$(w_1 \oplus w_2, v_1 \oplus v_2) \mapsto \delta(w_1 \wedge v_2 + w_2 \wedge v_1).$$

Proof. If $\operatorname{char}(K) = p$ the lemma follows from a computation in the differential modules Ω_K^s (s = r - 1, q + r - 1). In the case where $\operatorname{char}(K) = 0$ let ζ be a primitive p th root of 1 and let $L = K(\zeta)$. Then the cohomological symbol $K_r(L)/p \to H_p^r(L)$ is surjective and the structure of $H_p^r(L)$ is explicitly given in [11]. Since

$$H_p^r(K) \simeq \{x \in H_p^r(L) : \sigma(x) = x \text{ for all } \sigma \in Gal(L/K)\},$$

the structure of $H_p^r(K)$ is deduced from that of $H_p^r(L)$ and the description of the pairing

$$H_n^r(K) \times K_q(K)/p \to H_n^{q+r}(K)$$

follows from a computation of the pairing

$$K_r(L)/p \times K_q(L)/p \to K_{q+r}(L)/p.$$

Lemma 23. Let K be an n-dimensional local field such that $\operatorname{char}(K) = p > 0$. Then the canonical map $\delta_K^n \colon \Omega_K^n \to H_p^{n+1}(K) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/p$ (cf. Definition 14) comes from a morphism $\Omega_K^n \to \mathbb{Z}/p$ of \mathcal{A}_{∞} .

Proof. Indeed it comes from the composite morphism of \mathfrak{F}_{∞}

$$\underline{\Omega^n_K} \xrightarrow{\theta_2} k_0 \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Tr}_{k_0/\mathbb{F}_p}} \mathbb{F}_p$$

defined by Lemma 7.

Now let K be an n-dimensional local field ($n \ge 1$) with residue field k such that char(k) = p > 0. Let $1 \le r \le n$, q = n + 1 - r, and let T_i and U_i ($i \ge 0$) be as in Lemma 22.

The injectivity of the map induced by $\Phi^r_{\mathcal{K}}$

$$H_p^r(K) \to \operatorname{Hom}(K_{n+1-r}(K)/p, \mathbb{Z}/p)$$

follows by induction on n from the injectivity of $T_i/T_{i-1} \to \operatorname{Hom}(U_i/U_{i+1}, \mathbb{Z}/p)$, $i \ge 1$. Note that this injectivity for all prime p implies the injectivity of Φ_K^r .

Now let $\varphi: K_{n+1-r}(K) \to \mathbb{Z}/p$ be a continuous character of order p. We prove that there is an element w of $H_p^r(K)$ such that $\varphi = \Phi_K^r(w)$.

The continuity of φ implies that there exists $i \geqslant 1$ such that

$$\varphi(\{x_1, \dots, x_{n+1-r}\}) = 0$$
 for all $x_1, \dots, x_{n+1-r} \in 1 + \mathcal{M}_K^i$.

Using Graham's method [6, Lemma 6] we deduce that $\varphi(U_i) = 0$ for some $i \ge 1$. We prove the following assertion (A_i) $(i \ge 0)$ by downward induction on i.

 (A_i) The restriction of φ to U_i coincides with the restriction of $\Phi_K^r(w)$ for some $w \in H_p^r(K)$.

Indeed, by induction on i there exists $w \in H_p^r(K)$ such that the continuous character $\varphi' = \varphi - \Phi_K^r(w)$ annihilates U_{i+1} .

In the case where $i \ge 1$ the continuity of φ' implies that the map

$$\Omega_k^{n-r} \oplus \Omega_k^{n-r-1} \xrightarrow{\text{Lemma } 8} U_i/U_{i+1} \xrightarrow{\varphi'} \mathbb{Z}/p$$

comes from a morphism of \mathcal{F}_{∞} . By additive duality of Proposition 3 and Lemma 23 applied to k the above map is expressed in the form

$$(v_1, v_2) \mapsto \delta_k^n(w_1 \wedge v_2 + w_2 \wedge v_1)$$

for some $w_1 \in \Omega_k^n, w_2 \in \Omega_k^{r-1}$. By the following argument the restriction of φ' to U_i/U_{i+1} is induced by an element of T_i/T_{i-1} . For example, assume $\operatorname{char}(K) = 0$ and i = pe/(p-1) (the other cases are treated similarly and more easily). Since φ' annihilates $d(\Omega_k^{n-r-1}) \oplus d(\Omega_k^{n-r-2})$ and δ_k^n annihilates $d(\Omega_k^{n-2})$ we get

$$\delta_k^n(dw_1 \wedge v_2) = \pm \delta_k^n(w_2 \wedge dv_2) = 0$$
 for all v_2 .

Therefore $dw_1 = 0$. For every $x \in F$, $y_1, \ldots, y_{n-r-1} \in F^*$ we have

$$\delta_k^n \Big((\mathbf{C}(w_1) + aw_1) \wedge x \frac{dy_1}{y_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{dy_{n-r-1}}{y_{n-r-1}} \Big) = \delta_k^n \Big(w_1 \wedge (x^p + ax) \frac{dy_1}{y_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{dy_{n-r-1}}{y_{n-r-1}} \Big) = \mathbf{0}$$

(where a is as in Lemma 22 (4)). Hence $w_1 \in \nu_r(a, k)$ and similarly $w_2 \in \nu_{r-1}(a, k)$.

In the case where i=0 Lemma 22 (1) and induction on n imply that there is an element $w \in T_0$ such that $\varphi' = \Phi_K^r(w)$.

5.2. Continuous characters of higher orders.

In treatment of continuous characters of higher order the following proposition will play a key role.

Proposition 7. Let K be an n-dimensional local field. Let p be a prime number distinct from the characteristic of K. Assume that K contains a primitive p th root ζ of 1. Let $r \ge 0$ and $w \in H^r(K)$. Then the following two conditions are equivalent.

- (1) w = pw' for some $w' \in H^r(K)$.
- (2) $\{w,\zeta\} = 0$ in $H^{r+1}(K)$.

Proof. We may assume that $0 \le r \le n$. Let $\delta_r: H^r(K) \to H^{r+1}(K, \mathbb{Z}/p)$ be the connecting homomorphism induced by the exact sequence of $\operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{sep}}/K)$ -modules

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z}/p \to \varinjlim{}_i \, \mu_{p^i}^{\otimes (r-1)} \xrightarrow{p} \varinjlim{}_i \, \mu_{p^i}^{\otimes (r-1)} \to 0.$$

Condition (1) is clearly equivalent to $\delta_r(w) = 0$.

First we prove the proposition in the case where r = n. Since the kernel of

$$\delta_n: H^n(K) \to H^{n+1}(K, \mathbb{Z}/p) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/p$$

is contained in the kernel of the homomorphism $\{\ ,\zeta\}$: $H^n(K)\to H^{n+1}(K)$ it suffices to prove that the latter homomorphism is not a zero map. Let i be the maximal natural number such that K contains a primitive p^i th root of 1. Since the image χ of a primitive p^i th root of 1 under the composite map

$$K^*/K^{*p} \simeq H^1(K, \mu_p) \simeq H^1(K, \mathbb{Z}/p) \to H^1(K)$$

is not zero, the injectivity of Φ_K^1 shows that there is an element a of $K_n(K)$ such that $\{\chi, a\} \neq 0$. Let w be the image of a under the composite map induced by the cohomological symbol

$$K_n(K)/p^i \to H^n(K, \mu_{p^i}^{\otimes n}) \simeq H^n(K, \mu_{p^i}^{\otimes (n-1)}) \to H^n(K).$$

Then $\{\chi, a\} = \pm \{w, \zeta\}$.

Next we consider the general case of $0 \leqslant r \leqslant n$. Let w be an element of $H^r(K)$ such that $\{w,\zeta\}=0$. Since the proposition holds for r=n we get $\{\delta_r(w),a\}=\delta_n(\{w,a\})=0$ for all $a\in K_{n-r}(K)$. The injectivity of Φ_K^{r+1} implies $\delta_r(w)=0$. \square

Remark. We conjecture that condition (1) is equivalent to condition (2) for every field K.

This conjecture is true if $\bigoplus_{r\geqslant 1}H^r(K)$ is generated by $H^1(K)$ as a $\bigoplus_{q\geqslant 0}K_q(K)$ -module.

Completion of the proof of Theorem 2. Let φ be a non-zero continuous character of $K_{n+1-r}(K)$ of finite order, and let p be a prime divisor of the order of φ . By induction on the order there exists an element w of $H^r(K)$ such that $p\varphi = \Phi_K^r(w)$.

If char (K) = p then $H^r(K)$ is p-divisible. If char $(K) \neq p$, let $L = K(\zeta)$ where ζ is a primitive pth root of 1 and let w_L be the image of w in $H^r(L)$. Then $\Phi^r_L(w_L)$: $K_{n+1-r}(L) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ coincides with the composite

$$K_{n+1-r}(L) \xrightarrow{N_{L/K}} K_{n+1-r}(K) \xrightarrow{p\varphi} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

and hence $\{w_L, \zeta, a\} = 0$ in $H^{n+1}(L)$ for all $a \in K_{n-r}(L)$. The injectivity of Φ_L^{r+1} and Proposition 7 imply that $w_L \in pH^r(L)$. Since |L:K| is prime to p, w belongs to $pH^r(K)$.

Thus there is an element w' of $H^r(K)$ such that w = pw'. Then $\varphi - \Phi_K^r(w')$ is a continuous character annihilated by p.

References

- [1] M. Artin, Dimension cohomologique; premiers résultats, Théorie des topos et cohomologie etale des schémas, Tome 3, Exposé X, Lecture Notes in Math. 305, Springer, Berlin 1973, 43–63
- [2] H. Bass, J. Tate, The Milnor ring of a global field, Algebraic *K*-theory II, Lecture Notes in Math. 342, Springer, Berlin 1972, 349–446.
- [3] S. Bloch, Algebraic *K*-theory and crystalline cohomology, Publ. Math. IHES 47, 1977, 187–268.
- [4] P. Cartier, Une nouvelle opération sur les formes différentielles, C. R. Acad. Sc. Paris 244, 1957, 426–428.
- [5] P. Deligne, Cohomologie à support propre et construction du functeur $f^!$, in R. Hartshorne, Residue and duality, Lecture Notes in Math. 20, Springer, Berlin 1966, 404–421.
- [6] J. Graham, Continuous symbols on fields of formal power series, Algebraic *K*-theory II, Lecture Notes in Math. 342, Springer, Berlin 1972, 474–486.
- [7] A. Grothendieck, Elements de Géométrie Algébrique IV, Première Partie, Publ. Math. IHES 20, 1964.
- [8] K. Kato, A generalization of local class field theory by using *K*-groups I, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sec. IA 26 No.2, 1979, 303–376.
- [9] K. Kato, A generalization of local class field theory by using *K*-groups II, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sec. IA 27 No.3, 1980, 603–683.
- [10] K. Kato, A generalization of local class field theory by using *K*-groups III, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sec. IA 29 No.1, 1982, 31–42.
- [11] K. Kato, Galois cohomology of complete discrete valuation fields, Algebraic *K*-theory, Part II (Oberwolfach, 1980), Lecture Notes in Math. 967, 1982, 215–238.
- [12] S. Lefschetz, Algebraic Topology, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ., 1942.
- [13] J. S. Milne, Duality in flat cohomology of a surface, Ann. Sc. Ec. Norm. Sup. 4ème série 9, 1976, 171–202.

- [14] J. Milnor, Algebraic K-theory and quadratic forms, Invent. Math. 9, 1970, 318–344.
- [15] J.-P. Serre, Corps Locaux, Hermann, Paris 1962.
- [16] J.-P. Serre, Cohomologie Galoisienne, Lecture Notes in Math. 5, Springer, Berlin 1965.
- [17] A. Weil, Basic Number Theory, Springer, Berlin 1967.

Department of Mathematics University of Tokyo 3-8-1 Komaba Meguro-Ku Tokyo 153-8914 Japan